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PREFACE  

Sustaining Global Halal Ecosystem covers 20 articles of a wide range of interesting insights 

on Halal and Islamic perspectives, represents collaborative efforts by academicians who have 

presented their papers at International Halal Management Conference in Maldives, 2018 

organised by Faculty Economic Muamalat (FEM), Universiti Sains Islam (USIM) and 

Maldives Centre for Islamic Finance. The conference was held in effort to provide a more 

comprehensive understanding of current global Halal challenges that integrates the Naqli and 

Aqli knowledge.  

 

The global halal market is valued at more than US$2 trillion and is one of the fastest-growing 

global consumer markets. Growing at an estimated annual rate of 20%, the industry is valued 

at about USD560 billion a year. Hence, making it one of the fastest growing consumer 

segments in the world. The global halal market of 1.8 billion Muslims is no longer confined to 

food and food related products. The halal industry has now expanded beyond the food sector 

to include pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, health products, and medical devices as well as service 

sector components such as tourism, logistics, marketing, print and electronic media, packaging, 

branding and financing– presenting a major global opportunity. 

 

Since the establishment of the university, the field of halal has been one of USIM research 

niche areas. USIM has published many halal researches papers, developed halal products/food 

and conducted halal courses for undergraduate and postgraduate students as well as industrial 

players. USIM has also collaborated with many local and international organizations in halal 

research, consultancies, trainings, and discussions.  

 

The conceptual and empirical studies in this book serve as a holistic for development of global 

halal from different areas. The Sustaining Global Halal Ecosystem is recommended for the 

students and practitioners of the halal business industry. This book offers a complete 

relationship of halal and Islamic principles with diverse practices as highlighted in each theme. 

The editors would like to extend their gratitude to all the contributors who for their great efforts, 

invaluable knowledge and passion have made this e-book an exceptional one and to all the 

committee members of IHMC2018 who have given their support and time in making this book 

a reality.  
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HALAL HOSPITALITY:  

WHAT DO THE CUSTOMERS VALUE? 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Halal tourism is one of the emerging fields to be focused on and also part of the halal ecosystem 

being promoted by the Malaysian government. The growth of halal tourism is being influenced 

by several factors. Global Muslim Travel Index 2017 (www.crescentrating.com) listed seven key 

drivers that shaped the growth of the Muslim travel market: 

 

1. Growing Muslim population; 

2. Growing middle class / disposable income; 

3. Younger population; 

4. Increasing access to travel information; 

5. Increasing availability of Muslim-friendly travel services and facilities; 

6. Ramadhan travel; and 

7. Business travel.  

  

http://www.crescentrating.com/
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Halal tourism is defined as the use or engagement of any object or action by Muslim travellers 

that conforms to the Islamic teachings or facilitates the practice of the religion (Nur Sa’adah 

Muhamad et al., 2017). In a layman term, the phrase refers to the specific travelling habits and 

expectations of Muslim tourists. Basically, these clients are looking for services in accordance 

to their religious principles, such as restaurants serving halal meat/food and hotels with 

dedicated prayer areas (The Star Online, 2014).  

Muslims around the world nowadays travel everywhere, not just limited to Muslim countries 

or only to perform hajj and umrah to the Holy Land – Mecca and Madinah. Despite the 

challenges of finding halal food during travelling, Muslim travellers still explore other parts of 

the world. Thus, several Muslim-minority countries such as Japan, South Korea and Taiwan 

have started to promote their own brand of halal tourism (Henderson, 2016; Razzaq, Hall & 

Prayag, 2016).  

 

The demand of halal tourism has also increased significantly with the increase of the number 

of Muslims who become more concerned with finding products and services that complement 

their faith. Halal tourism can be seen as a tourism activity that is more aligned with Islamic 

Law and traditions (www.muslimbreak.com). On the other hand, halal hospitality is a subset of 

halal tourism, whereby Muslim travellers seek for hotels or accommodations that offer halal 

friendly surroundings – making it a  priority to have a restaurant that serves halal food.  

 

Meanwhile, halal hospitality is one of an important division in halal tourism that includes things 

such as food, drinks, accommodation, recreation, entertainment and many others. Most of 

existing studies were looking at the service providers aspects; however, lacking in the 

perspectives of customers when deciding upon a place to stay during the vacations. This 

proposed study embarks upon the following objectives:  

 

1. To investigate factors that has been considered by customers in choosing halal 

hospitality. 

2. To assess the available amenities provided by halal hospitality providers.  

3. To investigate the readiness of halal hospitality providers in fulfilling customers’ 

expectations. 

  

http://www.muslimbreak.com/
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Halal Tourism in Malaysia 

 

Malaysia is among the chosen country to receive many tourists throughout a year. In 2017, 

the tourist statistics from Tourism Malaysia is presented in Figure 1. The government of 

Malaysia has one ministry that is responsible for tourism, culture, archives, library, museum, 

heritage, arts, theatre, handicraft, visual arts, convention, exhibition, Islamic tourism and craft 

- Ministry of Tourism and Culture. The government of Malaysia also approved the setting up 

of Islamic Tourism Centre (ITC) on 20th February 2009, with its core activity to facilitate the 

Ministry of Tourism and Culture Malaysia in undertaking strategic research for tourism 

policy formulation that will enhance travel and sustainable tourism development of the 

Malaysian tourism industry (http://www.itc.gov.my/). Malaysia is also rated as number one in 

Top 10 OIC Destinations in 2017 by MasterCard and Crescent Rating Global Muslim Travel 

Index 2017 (www.crescentrating.com). Other recognition received by Malaysia in Islamic 

tourism sector is presented in Figure 2.  

 

 

 

Figure 1: Overview of Tourism Industry in Malaysia 

http://www.itc.gov.my/
http://www.crescentrating.com/
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Figure 2: Malaysia’s Accolades in the Islamic Tourism Sector (source: www.itc.gov.my) 

 

Malaysia is being chosen as one of the preferred destinations by Muslim travellers due to 

several reasons:  

 

1. Almost all major hotels, restaurants and shopping malls are equipped with the facilities and 

amenities required by Muslim travellers. 

2. A large majority of hotels offer prayer facilities – such as designated prayer rooms, prayer 

mats as well as timetables and Qiblah signs marked in rooms  for Muslim guests praying 

needs 

3. Most shopping malls house halal restaurants as well as prayer rooms to ensure a hassle-free 

shopping experience for Muslim shoppers. 

4. Halal food can be readily found across the country and an increasing number of restaurants 

have halal certification (www.crescentrating.com). 

 

  

http://www.itc.gov.my/
http://www.crescentrating.com/
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Middle Eastern travellers especially from Gulf States would prefer to visit Malaysia in August 

because it is usually the hottest period in their home countries. They would travel to other 

countries for leisure or shopping pursuits (www.crescentrating.com). Currently, ITC is also 

working hard to promote “Muslim Friendly Malaysia” for Muslim travellers around the world 

by providing guides to Islamic festivals in Malaysia and also mosque trails in Malaysia – just 

to name few of the efforts taken. Halal logo or a tagline especially for tourism industry is really 

needed when it comes to promote the Sharia compliance aspects of the industry.  

 

Halal Hospitality and Recognition 

 

Hospitality means the act of being friendly and welcoming to guests and visitors; food, drink, 

entertainment and many more that an organization provides for guests or business partners 

(Cambridge Dictionary). By looking at the definition of hospitality, hospitality in tourism 

industry relates to anything and everything being offered to the guests. Therefore, halal 

hospitality in the proposed research will be focusing on anything and everything offered by the 

hotel or accommodation providers to the guests and it must be Sharia compliant. Beside food 

and beverages, halal hospitality includes recreation, recreation and wellness facilities, tour 

package (travel arrangements includes transportation, accommodation, tourist services, travel 

agent – just to name few), accommodation, public musalla (prayer room), public washroom 

and many other related services.  

 

In 2015, Salam Standard was launched as the world’s first hotel reference tool dedicated to 

Muslim travellers and it is divided into four categories: Bronze (basic Muslim facilities), Silver 

(medium Muslim facilities), Gold (extensive Muslim facilities) and Platinum (outstanding 

Muslim facilities) based on the range of amenities and services offered by each participating 

property – including prayer mat, praying direction (Qibla) and alcohol policies 

(https://www.salamstandard.org/). If the hotel receives Platinum standard, it means that the whole 

premise is alcohol-free.  

 

Realizing the importance of providing halal hospitality services guidelines, Malaysia has 

produced a Malaysian Standard, MS 2610:2015 – Muslim Friendly Hospitality Services – 

Requirements. This standard provides guidelines on three critical components of the Islamic 

tourism supply chain: accommodation premises, tour packages and tourist guides 

http://www.crescentrating.com/
https://www.salamstandard.org/
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(http://www.msonline.gov.my). According to the MS 2610:2015, an accommodation premise is 

defined as: 

 

“Any building, including hostels, hotels, inns, boarding-houses, rest houses, home 

stays and lodging house, held out by the proprietor, owner or manager, either 

wholly or partly, as offering lodging or sleeping accommodation to tourists for hire 

or any other form of reward, whether or not food or drink is also offered.” 

(MS 2610:2015, page 1) 

 

During the 2nd Mini Symposium on Islamic Tourism organized by Islamic Tourism Centre 

(ITC) on 19-20 April 2018, the keynote speaker, hon. Datuk Mohd Ilyas bin Zainol Abidin, 

Managing Director of Biztel Sdn. Bhd. highlighted that the hotel industry has demanded halal 

certification or halal logo specifically for the industry itself (not the same as halal certification 

by JAKIM for the manufacturers or producers) and demands the certification to be done by the 

industry players, not government body. This is very important in making sure that customers 

know about the hotels that have been awarded halal or Sharia Compliance status.  

 

Sharia Compliant vs. Islamic Hotel Concept 

 

De Palma Hotel in Ampang is known as the first Sharia compliant hotel in Malaysia. Apart 

from that, findings from a study by Mohd Hyrul Abu Karim et al. (2017) state that there are 

several accommodation premises that have applied the Islamic hotel concept (Adya Hotel, 

Langkawi) and also Sharia compliant hotel concept (Perdana Hotel, Kota Bharu), Both hotels 

offer additional Islamic hotel guestrooms features such as providing al-Quran, prayer mat,  

Qibla sign, prayer schedule, spacious bedrooms for Muslim guest to perform their prayers, 

bidets in the bathroom, rooms decoration should not depict the human and animal form and 

printed information on nearby mosque, halal restaurant and other groceries (Mohd Hyrul Abu 

Karim et al., 2017). However, both of the hotels did not practice bed and toilet cannot be placed 

facing the direction of Makkah. A study by Nor Zafir et al. (2014) found out that the Sharia 

compliant concept practiced by the hotel is only applicable in the restaurant, as said by one of 

the respondents in their study.  

  

http://www.msonline.gov.my/
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Consumers Reasons in Choosing a Place to Stay 

 

Most of the available studies were looking at the attributes offered by the hotels or 

accommodation premises. Not much has been done in terms of looking at the issue from the 

consumers’ point of view. Before the consumers book any accommodation for their stay during 

their vacation, they might have several considerations that will determine their decision. One 

of the previous studies found that location, recommendation of friends / tourist agency, price, 

personal experiences, promotion and hotel facilities are among the reasons consumers consider 

in choosing the hotel (Baruca & Civre, 2012).  

 

In relation to who is in charge of travel decision-making process and planning in a Muslim 

family, Halal Travel Report 2016 found that it is the Muslim women. Muslim women have a 

key role in destination selection –their main aim is to have activities to keep the whole family 

happy. In addition, usually women make their decisions based on word of mouth and input 

from family and friends (www.sutra.my). In addition: 

 

“The report also called for the industry to recognise diversity among Muslim 

holidaygoers. An Amadeus travel agent customer said: “Muslims travelling from 

Egypt will not be the same as those travelling from Saudi. Even within a market, 

there are big differences.” The six variables are: comfort, exploration, core family, 

extended family, deal-seeking and simplicity-seeking. In addition to that, the report 

also outlined three themes on the needs of Muslim travellers. They are: maximising 

trip value, relevant accommodation and family-friendly destinations. As for trip 

value, Muslim tourists like holiday packages but find them basic and inflexible. 

Meanwhile, apartments and chain hotels are preferred accommodation. When it 

comes to destinations, Muslim travellers prefer to explore within their comfort 

zones. This includes excursions that integrate halal dining options and praying 

possibilities.”  

(www.sutra.my) 

 

  

http://www.sutra.my/
http://www.sutra.my/
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According to one article published online (https://www.hospitalitynet.org), there is one study 

being conducted that explored traveller decision-making. The findings revealed that there are 

six important factors when traveller decided on a hotel to stay: 

 

1. Value for money. 

2. Location (proximity). 

3. Local experience (neighbourhood). 

4. Accommodation type. 

5. Accommodation details.  

6. Ease and reliability of booking. 

 

Apart from that, the customers can always confirm the above criteria by referrals, 

ratings/reviews, past experience, special offers/deals, cost, written description and images 

(https://www.hospitalitynet.org).  

 

RESEARCH  METHODOLOGY 

In order to achieve the stated objectives of this study, the research is designed using a mixed 

method approaches – combining qualitative and quantitative methods. Apart from the physical 

elements factors being studied in halal hospitality, this study also intend to further look at other 

factors as well by adopting the qualitative approach before the quantitative approach. 

 

 It begins with the preparation stage whereby the researchers will analyze all the available 

literature on the subjects being studied - to find the comprehensive information that can be used 

in a later stage (content analysis). Apart from that, information on halal hospitality providers 

will also be gathered (primary and secondary data), in order to assess what they have already 

provided to the customers.  

 

The next step is organizing a focus group study. The second stage will involve potential 

customers of halal hospitality and a focus group discussion will be conducted to get what they 

are expecting when deciding on halal hospitality. By having focus group sessions, more 

insights from the customers on halal hospitality and relevant issues will be gathered.  

 

https://www.hospitalitynet.org/
https://www.hospitalitynet.org/
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The findings of this focus group then will be used in developing a survey questionnaire. The 

third stage is conducting a survey. In this stage, quantitative data collection will be conducted 

in relation to know what are the factors that have been considered by customers when choosing 

halal hospitality. The next stage will be analyzing and finalizing the findings from both 

qualitative and quantitative approaches and the findings of this study will be disseminated as 

proceedings and journal article.  

 

EXPECTED FINDINGS 

 

The proposed research is observing the halal hospitality, one of the aspects that are very 

essential for a country or a specific attraction place to consider before they seriously promote 

halal tourism. Limited numbers of studies havebeen conducted on the consumers take in this 

issue, especially on what are the consumers’ expectations and values in halal hospitality. It is 

hoped that customers’ opinions and views will be taken into consideration in the development 

of halal hospitality especially in Malaysia. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Moving towards halal tourism and in alignment with Visit Malaysia in Year 2020, the proposed 

study would like to focus on what are the factors that have been considered by customers in 

choosing halal hospitality. By knowing this valuable information, halal hospitality providers 

might want to improve their current offers to better suit the customers’ needs and wants. 

Matching the needs and wants of potential customers might boost the demand of the halal 

hospitality providers, thus increasing the sales.   
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SHARIAH COMPLIANT HOTEL (SCH) 

PRACTICES AND BEHAVIOURAL INTENTION 

AT A FIVE-STAR RATED HOTEL IN MALAYSIA. 

A NOTE. 
 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Malaysian has taken an opportunity in introducing Islamic hotels and Islamic tourism as 

another form of tourist services as an initiative to become an Islamic Tourism hub. The Islamic 

hotel brand concept indirectly endorses and provides services and facilities that cater to the 

needs of billions of Muslims as they are able to easily engage their culture in the practice of 

Islam (Javed, 2007). Muslim countries including Malaysia have been increasingly attracting 

Muslim Middle Eastern tourists since the September 11th attack. Recently, it has been perceived 

that there is an increasing interest and demands on Islamic hospitality and services that have 

been recognized in Malaysia by many countries especially from the Middle East and Southeast 

Asia (Samori & Sabtu, 2014). In addition, Malaysia also received more than 139,000 tourists 

from Iran and 24,212 million tourists from the UAE. Due to the rising number of Muslim 

tourists despite the world affairs, the demands of Muslim-friendly service have been mounting. 

Furthermore, Muslim tourists spent RM 4,735,775 million in 2007 and the amount boosted to 

RM 5,784,884 million in 2010, which embodied approximately 23.5% of the total number of 

tourist arrivals in Malaysia in 2010 (Rasid, 2016). The majority of these Muslim tourists were 

from neighbouring countries such as Indonesia, Singapore, Brunei and India. However, 

UNWTO (2008) declared that apart of Muslim tourists, Malaysia and UAE also have a record 

as having the highest non-Muslim tourists too. These statistics showed unrealized potentials 

among Muslim and non-Muslim markets and significant obstacles to destination development, 
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although the often-substantial scale of domestic tourism should not be forgotten (Zamani & 

Henderson, 2010). 

 

  Table 1: Operational Definition for Hotel Classification 

Type Definitions 

Conventional Hotel A hotel that provides full services. There is no segregation 

based on religious needs. Its management and operation 

doesn’t need to comply with Shariah requirements. 

Muslim-Friendly Hotel A hotel that complies with the needs of Muslim travellers, but 

doesn’t benchmark itself to a certain legislation, law, and 

standards. For an example, provide halal food and Muslim 

amenities in the room, but has entertainment outlet such as a 

night club and separate bar services. 

Dry Hotel Hotel operation that does not serve alcohol throughout its 

premises 

Shariah Compliant A hotel that fulfils the needs of Muslim travellers in 

accordance with Shariah law. These hotels are usually 

benchmarked and adopting a certain standard, law and 

legislation to be certified Shariah compliant. Adopting total 

compliance towards Shariah needs according to Islamic 

teaching and practices throughout the management and 

operations. 
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In the hotel industry, there is a growing demand in hotels that offer facilities and rooms that 

implement the Shariah law (Rosenberg & Choufany, 2009; Siddiqui, 2011). Several factors 

contributed to the growth of Shariah compliant hotels such as the increase efforts to develop 

tourism industry among Organizational of Islamic Conference (OIC) countries that enhanced 

travelling within its members, and the attractiveness of high spending and lucrative market of 

Middle East travellers that sparks interest of many hotels to provide Islamic services to fulfil 

their needs. Halal revolution has created high awareness among Muslim travellers regarding 

their religious needs. It creates an opportunity to serve the Muslim tourists’ needs, and the 

growth of Islamic banking and finance increased investors’ interest to invest in halal products 

and services such as Shariah Compliant Hotel (SCH). The fast-growing Muslim market is 

estimated at USD$500 billion annually and the halal market which is worth USD$2.1 trillion 

have increased the popularity and visibility of the SCH (Zailani, Omar & Kapong, 2011; Kaaki, 

2008; Mohamad, Yahya, Azer & Hamzah, 2013).  

 

Many hotel operators practice Shariah compliant concept in their business operations nowadays 

due to the influence of international brands that have customized and implemented such 

concept (Ahmat, Ridzuan, Din, Zainol & Razali, 2015). One reason is because SCH practices 

focus on hygiene, safety and quality assurance where the product must be prepared clean, safe 

and well taken care of with decent presentation and served in a proper manner and quality. 

These benefits are not only limited to Muslims but also to non-Muslims (Henderson, 2010; 

Samori & Rahman, 2013; Ahmat & Zahari, 2012).  

 

According to Al-Rousan, Ramzi and Mohamed (2010), the hotel industry, in which its services 

depend on building long-term relationships, needs to maintain guests’ loyalty.  The ability to 

retain loyal guests plays an important role towards the hotel performance and profitability. 

Thus, the management of the hotels needs to search for ways and strategies to proliferate their 

guests’ behavioural intention. Syaqirah and Faizurrahman (2013) indicated that behavioural 

intention occurs when the guests continue to purchase a product or service over an extended 

period of time. Previous studies have shown that behavioural intention to a particular hotel 

originates from the aspects of service quality dimensions (Parasuraman, 1985), food and 

beverages (Siguaw, Simpson & Kasikci, 2006), location (Ramanathan & Ramanathan, 2010), 

physical facilities (Nasution & Wiradiputra, 2010), room service quality (Syaqirah et al., 2013), 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) activities (Marti’nez, Perez’ & Rodri’guez del, 2013; 

Othman & Hemdi, 2015), staff service (Sim, Mak & Jones, 2006; Prasad, Wirtz & Yu, 2014) 
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and ambient conditions (Suh, Moon, Han, & Ham, 2015). 

 

Nevertheless, the number of hotels that offer a full service of SCH is still at the infancy stage 

(Kamarulzaman, Ghani & Madun, 2015; Idris & Wahab, 2015) and there is a lack of 

comprehensive studies found in Islamic or Shariah compliant practices in the context of 

Malaysia hospitality industry (Zailani et al., 2011). The practices become more challenging for 

four-star and five-star hotels since the provision of high-class bars for the guests’ leisure is 

recorded as one of their key operations that produce higher revenues (Writer, 2009). Other 

literatures also supported where one of the problems may derive from not serving or using 

alcohol in their food and beverage operations since alcohol brings profits and constitute a 

generous portion of revenue for many hotels. Most of the international hotel managements 

seem to be hesitant to operate as an Islamic hotel because of this reason. Furthermore, an 

indirect impact will occur where the number of visitors who only wish to dine at the hotel and 

also the number of tourists who want to stay at the hotel will decrease (Razalli, Shuib & Yusoff, 

2013). But, there are no barriers for four or five star hotels to implement Shariah compliant 

hotel concept; it all depends on the decisions of the owner or board of director of the hotel to 

choose a path for their barakah salary (Karim, Ahmad & Zainol, 2017). Malaysian Association 

of Hotel (MAH) has listed 103 hotels that are rated as five-star with 100 rooms and above in 

Malaysia. Most five-star rated hotels are international brands that have influenced other hotel 

operators to apply Shariah compliant concept in their business. However, a few of them 

especially conventional hotels are in a dilemma on how to position the hotel and promote this 

concept to non-Muslim guests (Ahmat, Ridzuan, Din, Zainol & Razali, 2015). Thus, this study 

aims to examine the behavioural intention of hotel guests towards Shariah compliant practices, 

which capitalizes a five-star rated hotel as a study setting. 
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ISLAMIC TOURISM 

 

Islamic tourism becomes a new product in the tourism industry, which provides holiday 

destinations that are guided by Shariah laws and principles for Muslim families (Duman, 2011; 

Razalli et al., 2013). Therefore, in order to attract more tourists to Malaysia, the number of 

SCH should be increased in order to serve the religious needs of Muslims. Moreover, most of 

the hoteliers need to ensure that the halal concept is not just applied in the context of food, but 

also in other operational aspects of the SCH as well. 

 

Islamic tourism refers to the participants of the activity which are Muslims, locations (i.e. 

Islamic destinations), products (for example, accommodation and F&B), dimensions (for 

example economic, cultural and religious) and management of the service production process 

(for example marketing and ethics). From the definitions, generally, the initiation act of 

travelling is referred to motivations. Since every deed in Islam starts with the intention and 

then the results appear consequently, so in the Islamic form of travelling, motivations is 

considered as an important part (Din, 1989). 

 

To many researchers, religion is an essential element of human culture and is associated with 

many facets of individuals’ life and behaviour (Bailey & Sood, 1993; McDaniel & Burnett, 

1990; Walter, 2002; Wilkes, Burnett & Howell, 1986). The authors stated that it is important 

to fulfil the religious needs by satisfying the customers. Weidenfeld (2006) also agreed that 

satisfying religious needs at a hotel has an effect on the satisfaction level of the tourists. 

Supporting Weidenfeld’s conclusions, Weidenfeld and Ron (2008) argued that the relationship 

between tourism and religion establishes a valid and imperative area of research. They further 

detailed that fulfilling religious needs in the tourism industry should be taken into consideration 

especially in the marketing process. They alleged that religious needs should be met in all 

tourism businesses and facilities such as attractions, airports, visitor information centres and 

food outlets.   
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HOTEL INDUSTRY IN MALAYSIA 

 

Tourism is vital for many countries such as the U.A.E, Egypt, Greece, Thailand as well as 

country islands such as the Bahamas, Fiji, Maldives and the Seychelles, due to a large intake 

of money for businesses and employment opportunities. In Malaysia, tourism industry is the 

third largest contributor to the Malaysian economy with a Growth National Income (GNI) total 

of RM73.3 billion in 2016 and is poised to relish consistent growth (Economy Transformation 

Programme Annual Report, 2016). Today, Malaysia has a strong global tourism position. 

Malaysia was ranked as the 10th most-visited nation on the World Tourism Organisation 

(UNWTO)’s Tourism Highlights 2013 Edition. Malaysia received 26.76 million tourists in 

2016 as compared to 25.72 million tourists in 2015 (Tourism Malaysia, 2016).  

 

According to the Economic Transformation Programme Annual Report (2016), Malaysia will 

receive 36 million tourist arrivals and RM168 billion tourist receipts in the year 2020. The 

development of the tourism industry has increased the hotel room supply. Based on the research 

division of the Ministry of Tourism and Culture Malaysia (MOTAC), the total number of hotels 

in Malaysia for 2016 is 4,961 hotels with 321,972 rooms and an average occupancy rate (AOR) 

of 65.2%. As more hotels are built, competitions for guests become stiffer. Hotels need to be 

innovative and proactive in attracting guests in order to compete and sustain in the industry.  

 

Behavioural intention is a major consideration for competitive advantages. Besides good 

services and excellent physical facilities of the hotel, practices of Shariah Compliant Hotel 

(SCH) towards administration, common area, bedroom, service and food and beverages (F&B) 

are also important in influencing behavioural intention. Previous studies on SCH have found 

significant influences towards hotel opportunities and challenges (Saad,Ali & Abdel-Ati, 2014; 

Samori & Rahman, 2013), SCH attributes (Jurattanasan & Jaroenwisan, 2014; Sahida, 

Rahman, Awang & Man, 2011; Shuriye & Daud, 2014), SCH guidelines (Samori & Sabtu, 

2014) and guests’ perceptions (Ahmat & Zahari, 2012). 
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SHARIAH COMPLIANT HOTEL IN MALAYSIA 

 

Shariah is an Arabic word which means the path that should be followed by Muslims (Doi, 

1984). Moreover, Shariah also means the totality of Allah’s commands which regulate life for 

every Muslim in all aspects of life. The lodging sector consists of all the hotel businesses that 

provide accommodation service to the guest. Today, Shariah Compliant Hotel (SCH) is 

classified as a service innovation because SCH offers a new service concept that is adopted and 

implemented by many hotels in Asia especially in Malaysia (Salleh, Hamid, Hashim, & Omain, 

2014). Malaysia is known as an Islamic country with a dominant percentage of the Muslim 

population (61.3%). Most of the hotels in Malaysia provide facilities such as the qiblah 

direction in each room; prayer mat and also halal food which make it convenient for Muslim 

tourists to travel in Malaysia.   

 

The concept of SCH is being implemented in Malaysia and currently, a number of hotels are 

applying the concept, and some has been recognized as ‘Muslim-Friendly’ hotels by UCSC 

under various classification scales that consist of IQS-1 until IQS-7. Islamic Quality Standard 

(IQS) for hotel industry is a formulation that was developed by Professor Shaya’a Othman, the 

Advisor of Universal Crescent Standard Centre (UCSC) and Associate Professor Dr. Nor’ain 

Othman, from Faculty of Hotel and Tourism Management, Universiti Teknologi Mara (UiTM). 

This IQS system has attracted the UCSC to broadcast as well as to be implemented as a tool to 

measure and guide classifying level of hotel quality not only in Malaysia, but also hotels 

worldwide. The invention of IQS serves as an alternative to present categorizations or levels 

of standards (known as star-rating) which is being implemented broadly by the west (Europe 

and Australia). This kind of service standard innovation can be an introduction towards Islamic 

standard in both Islamic as well as tourism industry as a whole.  

 

De Palma Hotel, for example, is the first hotel in Malaysia that was recognized as a SCH in the 

hotel industry in Malaysia.  De Palma Groups, which is owned by the Government of Selangor, 

claimed to be the first hotel that implemented the concept in Malaysia as well as in the Asia 

Region (Ahmat et al., 2012).  
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SHARIAH COMPLIANT HOTEL PRACTICES 

 

The term of Shariah Compliant Hotel (SCH) can be defined as services that are provided in 

accordance to the Shariah principles and practices where it is not only limited to serve alcoholic 

beverages and serve only halal food and drink (Zailani et al., 2011). Rosenberg et al. (2009) 

classified SCH practices into three categories namely operations, interior design and financial. 

Later, Henderson (2010) has simplified the attributes from Rosenberg et al. (2009).  

 

 

Table 2: SCH Attributes by Henderson (2010) 

 

1. Halal food and no alcohol to be served on the premises or hotel 

2. Having the Holy Book Quran, prayer mat and arrow that indicating the 

direction of qiblat in each room 

3. Beds and toilets positioned not to face the qiblat 

4. Prayer room available on the premises and hotels 

5. No inappropriate entertainment 

6. Predominantly Muslim staffs with a proper Islamic code of dressing 

7. Separate salon, recreational facilities and swimming pool for men and 

women 

8. Separate room/floor for unmarried couple between male and female 

9. Guest dressing code 

10. No gambling and alcohol drinks in the hotel lobby or restaurants 

11. No prohibited foods and beverages in the hotel fridge 

12. Islamic funding 
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For the purpose of this study, SCH dimensions pertaining to administration, common areas, 

bedroom, service and F&B were chosen since these practices are derived from various 

frameworks such as the halal certification system by JAKIM, Islamic Quality Standard (IQS) 

for Hotel, Islamic human resources management, Islamic marketing and Islamic finance 

(Razalli, Ismail & Yaacob, 2015). 

 

SCH in Administrative Practices 

 

In the administration section, previous studies considered managerial, financial and human 

resource practices to be included. In order to perform an operation in accordance with the 

Islamic concepts, a group of religious advisors who are responsible to monitor hotel operations 

compliance with Shariah is required (Ahmat et al., 2012). Without proper guidelines in carrying 

out halal operations, the goal of SCH cannot be easily achieved. Razalli et al., (2015) suggested 

that the management should establish a Shariah advisory committee for the purpose of 

evaluating and monitoring the continuous improvement of the degree of compliance of the 

hotel, setting Islamic quality principles as a hotel policy, creating and monitoring the 

compliance audit and implementing the improvement program based on the output of the 

internal audit report. 

 

While, in terms of the financial practices, the SCH should pay the zakah (if it is owned by a 

Muslim) or sponsor a social responsibility program (for a non-Muslim) each year. The main 

objective of zakah is to purify one’s wealth and to ensure equal allocation of wealth to everyone 

(Vejzagic & Smolo, 2011).Besides zakah, suggestion is also made on Islamic finance to be 

applied to the hotel in terms of salary payment, income saving and investment. Islamic 

Muamalatin principle, permits any transactions (Qawaid Fiqh) as long as the transactions do 

not involve prohibited elements such as usury (riba) (refer to Al-Qur’an, Al-Baqarah: 275; 

Ismail, Kamarudin and Sarman, 2013). For income saving, the hotel can choose wadiah or 

mudharabah accounts offered by any bank in this country. For any form of retail trade, food 

and laundry services, generally al-bay’ (trade) contract can be applied. Finally, for storage 

services, wadiah contract (savings) can be used.  

For the consistent supply of raw material transactions such as food from the suppliers, Istijrar 

contract may be highlighted. Istijrar is a supply contract in Islam with the terms and conditions 

agreed between the two parties.  
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In terms of human resource, the management should hire a certain number of Muslim staff and 

provide suitable resources for them to perform their rights as Muslims. Rana and Malik (2016) 

have elaborated the application of Islamic human resource in today’s organizations. Razalli et 

al., (2015) recommends that at least 30% of hire should be Muslims, the Muslims dress 

code/attire should be imposed, providence of prayer room for staff, providence of gender 

specific changing room, time allocation for Friday prayers (for men) and also routine prayers 

(men and women), provision of training to staff to be helpful and assurance of safety and 

security of the staff on the property. 

 

SCH in Common Area Practices 

 

The second practice is related to the public areas in the hotel. This category concerns with the 

aurah or the social interaction between men and women in Islam, Islamic entertainment and 

the usage of halal products. The practices are separate facilities for men and women or at least 

provision of segregated time slots for men and women. For operations, the hotel must follow 

according to Shariah and Islamic laws. All the permissible elements need to be practiced in the 

hotel operation. Unmarried couples are not allowed to check in, which means that the hotel 

should request the marriage certificate upon checking in. Besides, the hotel should not allow 

any drug-dealing activities within its premises. Hence, for the hotel’s interior and design, the 

design of the hotel includes the building and decoration of the hotel should not display any art 

similar to human or display any form of jewels which reflect the symbols of living beings; and 

the layout of furniture must meet the Shariah principles (Shahida et al., 2011; Samori et al., 

2013).  

 

Nowadays, most of the hoteliers, marketers and business players pay greater attention to the 

notion of Islamic hotels, which are characterized by prayer facilities, a ban on alcohol and 

gender segregation for certain amenities (Henderson, 2010). The term Shariah compliant is 

sometimes applied and is accurate for properties in conservative Muslim countries such as 

Saudi Arabia, which are already bound by Shariah law, whereas Dubai in the United Arab 

Emirates is less restrictive. Therefore, there are some attributes of facilities and accommodation 

of SCH as explained by some scholars. According to Henderson (2003) SCH have free 

accommodations, no indoor disco or nightlife hotel, provide gender- segregated fitness and 

sport facilities to avoid free mixing between males and females, offer separate swimming pools 

and recreational facilities, availability of prayer rooms on site, women floor and Islamic 
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entertainment programs. In most hotels nowadays, gender mixing is allowable in swimming 

pools, hence resulting in the Muslim women guests’ inability to enjoy such activity because the 

standard rules require them to wear swimming attires that are not conforming to Islamic 

teachings. As such, hoteliers should provide options in an attempt to provide swimming 

opportunities for both genders that are in accordance to their religious beliefs.  

 

The availability of prayer room is also considered as one of the crucial facilities for Muslims. 

Mohsin (2005) conducted a study on Peninsular Malaysians’ attitude towards choosing the 

Northern Territory of Australia as a holiday tourism destination and found that Muslim 

respondents were concerned about the availability of prayer rooms. Bahardeen (2014) also 

suggested that the availability of prayer rooms at tourist destinations may increase satisfaction 

levels. Mohsin and Ryan (1997) further recommend that the ease of access to Islamic services 

are important upon exploring Malaysian and Indonesian business people’s attitude towards the 

possibility of holidaying in Australia.  

 

SCH in Bedroom Practices 

 

The third practice is solely applicable to the guest’s room. The rooms to be provided with certain 

facilities and amenities such as qiblah sign on the direction of Mecca, Quran, prayer mat, prayer 

schedule, bidet, halal toiletries, halal in-room food, Islamic in-room entertainment and no 

alcoholic beverages. Furthermore, the hotel must provide smoking and non-smoking room due 

to the fact that smoking is deemed as haram in Malaysia (JAKIM, 1995). In other words, it is 

simply about creating the right themes, ambiances, architecture, and any contingent support that 

would make Muslim customers feel at ease during their stay (Razalli et al., 2013). 

 

Prayukyong, Sophon, Hongpukdee and Charupas (2007) reported that customers’ acceptance 

and satisfaction with hotel guestrooms is an important contribution to the tourism industry. 

Customers’ perceptions of satisfaction are mostly dependent on the factors of room quality, 

hotel facilities, room amenities and quality of staff service, resulting in repeat customers and 

favourable word-of-mouth exchanges (Cronin & Taylor, 1992). This makes it crucial for hotel 

operators to provide high quality facilities and service to ensure customers’ acceptance and 

satisfaction. 
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SCH in Service Practices 

 

Hotel is a service organization and the heart of a hotel operation lies at the front office 

department, where the customers interact with the hotel services. Among service practices that 

should be included are Islamic greeting, notification of the banning of alcoholic drink, 

information on halal restaurant, mosque and groceries, wake up call for subuh prayer, halal 

products or services (for example, wedding packages, tour, seminar/conference, no gambling 

products/services, halal shopping arcade, halal detergent for laundry, ethical and fair pricing 

(for example, absence of price discrimination and price display/information on room, meal and 

other products), ethical place (for example, proper location and absence of unnecessary delay 

for customer services) and ethical promotional activities (for example, absence of sexual appeal 

and absence of manipulation).  

 

In Malaysia, there are many hotels that provide some facilities and activities in line with the 

Islamic values. For example, during Ramadhan and fasting season, some hotels organize the 

Bazaar Ramadhan, Ramadhan Buffet for iftar, sahur meal and prayer room to perform tarawih 

prayer (Idris & Wahab, 2015). It is pertinent to note that Muslim tourists especially from West 

Asia are increasingly sensitive and want access to more sophisticated holiday destination. 

Besides that, as Malaysia is moving towards the formation of SCH, there are a few hotels 

currently serve basic facilities to fulfil the Muslim tourists’ need for example, De Palma Hotel 

Ampang and PNB Perdana Hotel and Suites, Kuala Lumpur. 
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SCH in Food and Beverages (F&B) Practices 

 

Food is the most crucial part of the overall restaurant experience (Sulek & Hensley, 2004). They 

lumped all food attributes into only one variable, food quality, whereas Kivela, Inbakaran and 

Reece (1999) who designed a model of dining satisfaction and return patronage, stated that food 

quality have many attributes. According to Peri (2006), food quality is an absolute requirement 

to satisfy the needs and expectations of restaurant customers. Knowing the importance of food 

quality in the restaurant business, previous studies have examined various food quality 

attributes. 

 

The hotel obtains halal certification not only for the kitchen but for its restaurant for all meals 

including the room service. The certification of halal program such as in Malaysia would 

undergo a strict guidelines and inspections in various aspects including the food, preparation 

and storage and handling. This certification would ensure that food available at the hotels is 

halal for Muslim consumption. Quantaniah, Noreina and Syakinah (2013) stated that the global 

market for halal products today is rapidly growing and halal is no longer related to religious 

obligation or observance, but it can be considered as the standard of choice for Muslims as well 

as non-Muslims worldwide. The Muslims’ awareness towards halal concept is also increasing 

and this has opened up the demand for halal foods in compliance with their religious 

requirement.  

 

The application of halal is applied to all stages of processing which is ‘from farm to table’. It 

emphasizes safety, hygiene and wholesomeness of food, process attributes and ‘halalness’ 

(Rezai, Teng, Mohamed & Shamsudin, 2012; Rezai, Mohamed & Shamsudin, 2015). In halal 

food, cleanliness and hygiene is very closely related to food safety (Yusoff, 2004). Halal food 

is one of the most significant elements of Islamic tourism especially to hotel industry; which is 

a concern for Muslim travellers and SCH practices. Halal food is the number one way of 

meeting the needs of Islamic travellers and is considered by many to be the top requirement. 

This is an extremely important part of Muslim culture and it involves the preparation of food in 

accordance with Islamic laws. In addition, consumption of any food or drinks with alcoholic 

content is also prohibited. In fact, it is also not permissible for Muslims to visit places where 

alcohol is consumed and gambling is practiced (Din, 1989; Henderson, 2003; Rezai et al., 

2015). 

 



25 

 

In Malaysia, JAKIM is the authority body that gives halal certification with cooperation with 

other government agencies such as State Islamic Religious Department (JAIN) and State 

Islamic Religious Council (MAIN). According to the statistics released by JAKIM, there were 

only 390 hotels awarded with halal certification. The number of halal certification of hotel/ 

kitchen hotel/ restaurant hotel issued by JAKIM was 131 hotels and the other 259 hotels were 

issued by JAIN. From the statistics in 2011, the number of hotels in Malaysia is 1,574 including 

resorts, but only 366 hotels or less than 25 percent were awarded with halal certification for 

food served in their premises.  

 

In relation to the service quality for hotel, it refers to cleanliness, comfortable and well-

maintained rooms, a content location and safety place including conducive room facilities. 

Guest always looks for the cleanliness and friendly services. SCH has fulfilled this kind of 

needs. When the hotel transform to SCH, they must make sure that, for example their food is 

halal and get halal certificate from JAKIM. Previous study on satisfaction levels among Asian 

and Western tourists especially Muslims using Malaysian hotels has concluded that the factor 

of halal food and beverage plays an important role in determining the overall acceptance and 

satisfaction (Chin& David, 2005;Poona& Yong, 2005). 

 

BEHAVIOURAL INTENTION 

 

Customer satisfaction is a business philosophy which tends to relate to the creation of value for 

customers; it is about anticipating and managing customers ‘expectations and demonstrating 

the ability and responsibility to satisfy their needs. Quality of service and customer satisfaction 

is critical factors for success of any business. Customer satisfaction is the outcome of 

customer’s perception of the value received in a transaction or relationship. In order to achieve 

customer satisfaction, it is important to recognize and to anticipate customers' needs and to be 

able to satisfy them. Hotels are increasing their investments to improve service quality and the 

perceived value for guests in order to achieve better customer satisfaction and loyalty, thus 

resulting in better relationships with each customer (Jones, Mak & Sim, 2007). Guest 

satisfaction is the starting point to build guest loyalty or guest retention which is essential in 

maintaining a long-term relationship. 
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Behavioural intention is defined as the process where customers continue to buy products and 

services within a determined time period (Narayandas, 1996; Prus & Brandt, 1995; Egan, 2011; 

Solomon, 2012). Behavioural intention occurs when a customer is loyal to a company, a brand 

or a specific product or service, expressing long-term commitment and refusing to purchase 

from competitors. In the context of this study, behavioural intention is defined as the intention 

to revisit and recommend to others about a particular hotel (Bigne, Sanchez & Sanchez, 2001). 

The measures of behavioural intention can be accessed through repurchase intention. 

Repurchase intention are usually obtained from surveys of current customers assessing their 

tendency to purchase the same brand, same product or service from the same company. Cronin, 

Brandy and Hult (2000) have treated behavioural intentions and repurchase intention as 

synonymous constructs. Failure to pay attention to those hotel attributes that is considered the 

most influential in choice intention by hotel guests may lead to negative evaluation of the hotel, 

eventually reducing the chance of repeat patronage by the hotel guests to the same hotel 

(Ranaweera & Prabhu, 2003). 

 

CONCLUSION  

 

Islamic tourism needs to be more dynamic in offering products and services in satisfying over 

billion of the Muslims’ population. Shariah Compliant Hotel (SCH) practices would be able to 

play a major role in the tourism industry by providing the specific need of Muslim travellers. 

However, the SCH practices are still at the infancy stage and the attributes of compliance are 

currently not standardized. Therefore, the purposes of this study are to introduce five practices 

of SCH, to further define and extend the SCH practices for the hotel industry. This study will 

contribute to Islamic Marketing literature by exploring new product line in the hospitality 

industry and the factors that possibly lead hotel guests’ behavioural intention. Hence, the 

findings in this study will help hotels managers and operators to strategize in maintaining 

guests’ loyalty. It will help hotel managers and operators to plan and implement approaches in 

shaping guests’ positive impression of the hotel and consequently, be able to persuade the 

guests to revisit the hotel. With this understanding, hotel companies would be able to formulate 

proper guidelines and effective strategies in pursuing the new SCH practices. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

Setting of Maldives and Tourism Scenario in Maldives 

 

The Republic of Maldives, located in the northern Indian Ocean off the southern tip of India 

and Sri Lanka, consists of 1,190 islands and draws over 600,000 tourists annually (Zubair et 

al., 2011).  The islands of the Maldives are undeniably one of the most idyllically  beautiful 

tropical places in the world. Its’ blue turquoise ocean, pristine white sandy beaches and 

extensive coral reefs constantly beckons tourists from all over the world. Owing to the very 

small size of the Maldivian islands in the archipelago, each island has been adapted to a specific 

use and can be viewed in the context of an archipelagic micro-state. Malé is the capital-island, 

Hulhumalé is the airport-island and Thilafushi is known as the trash island and is the dump site 

for the country. Maldives developed their own distinctive concept of Resort Islands to capture 

the tourism market and make tourism industry as their major source of income and driver of 

economic growth. This decision was based initially on economic, political, moral and religious 

grounds. To preserve Maldivian Muslim inhabitant’s identity and avoid cross-cultural conflict, 

tourism and non-Muslim westerner tourists are contained on dedicated resort islands.  Allowing 

affluent non-Muslim tourists to indulge in their hedonistic lifestyle without faith-based 

restrictions in a heavenly environment.  To cater to this target market, these resort islands 

provide a very high standard of accommodation, services and facilities (Bénédicte Auvray, 
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2010). In 2009, a change in regulations officially allowed tourists to stay among the local 

population, resulting in many local island guesthouses sprouting up in the Maldives, as the more 

budget conscious tourists descend on this tropical paradise.  

 

It’s Attraction as a Tourist Destination 

 

Maldives rely heavily on access to international tourism market as its domestic tourist market 

is almost negligible. Having over 60 local dive sites across the islands, with remarkable 

underwater scenery and clear water, Maldives has consistently been ranked among the 

best diving destinations of the world (Garrod et al. 2007; Kenwood Travel, 2018).  According to 

a global wide survey conducted by Agoda.com, Maldives is recognised as the world's most 

desired honeymoon destination (CNN Travel, 2014).  The rapid growth of tourism Maldives is 

reflected by the fast growing numbers of resort islands; from just two resorts with a capacity of 

about 280 beds in 1972, to over 105 resorts located in different atolls, at present.  The number 

of tourist arrivals has also recorded a consistent growth from a total of 1 million tourists in 2012 

to 1.2 million in 2016 (Ministry of Tourism, Republic of Maldives, 2017).  Also, the number 

of tourist arrivals from middle east have shown an increasing trend from 21,843 in 2012 to 

51,330 in 2016 (Ministry of Tourism, Republic of Maldives, 2017). 

 

  

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Honeymoon
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Muslim Friendly Tourism versus Halal Tourism 

 

World Tourism Organization’s (UNWTO) defined tourism as activities comprising of persons 

travelling to and staying in places outside their usual environment for not more than one 

consecutive year for leisure, business and other purposes (Goeldner and Ritchie, 2007).   Cook 

et al. (2014) noted that tourism is the temporary movement of people to destinations outside 

their normal places of work and residence, the activities undertaken during their stay in those 

destinations, and the facilities created to cater to their needs. 

 

Based on the State of the Global Islamic Economy report, produced by Thomson Reuters in 

collaboration with Dinar Standard, the global Muslim travel market was worth USD$140 billion 

in 2013, and represents 11.5 percent of global expenditure. The same report envisages that the 

segment is expected to be worth USD$238 billion in 2019 and represent 13 percent of global 

expenditure (Thomson Reuters, 2014).  Thus, Muslim tourists represent a large niche market 

for tourism industry and must be taken seriously by economies that have substantial tourism 

revenues.  

 

Islam itself encourages Muslims to travel for the sake of observing Allah's beautiful creations; 

to ponder upon every grace that He has granted to each of us; to instil the sense of gratefulness 

and thankfulness. History has shown that majority of the most famous explorers like Ibn 

Battuta, Ibn Fadlan, Admiral Cheng Ho, to name a few, were Muslims. Al-Imam Al-Shafei 

said:  

 

“Leave your country in search of loftiness and travel! For in travel there are 

five benefits: Relief of adversity, earning of livelihood, knowledge, etiquettes, 

and noble companionship”. 
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Halal is an Islamic term, derived from Arabic word which means permissible. In a broader 

scope it covers the concept of ‘Halalan Toyyiban’ which includes safe, clean and quality; as 

described in Surah Al ‘ An’am, verse 145 ; Al’Araf, verse 157; Al Maidah verses 1, 4, 5 and 

88. Clearly, from these verses everything is Halal (permitted) unless there is unwavering proof 

that it is Haram (forbidden). So, it’s what happens during the journey while travelling itself that 

might cause a specific trip to be unacceptable.  

 

Indeed, when Muslims travel to another destination for less than one year and if all the activities, 

facilities, actions and objectives are permissible according to Islamic jurisprudence, this activity 

can be referred to as “Halal tourism”. By the same reasoning, a non-Muslim tourist can claim 

the same if he/she consumes Halal food and attends Halal entertainment outlets as long as the 

activities related to the claim are genuinely permissible in Islam. 

 

Conversely, the term ‘Muslim-friendly Tourism’ indicates an attempt to make the tourism 

experience pleasurable to observant Muslims and is therefore not the same as the concept of 

‘Halal tourism’. Whilst the latter means the company must provide fully Halal products and 

services and is not allowed to offer non-Halal products and services, the term ‘Muslim-friendly’ 

company could provide both Halal and non-Halal products and services but in a different 

segregated place or section. It is this latter concept that many believe would not alienate the 

current non-Muslim tourists who make up the major portion of Maldives tourist market. 

 

Battour (2018) stated that Muslim-friendly destinations refers to destinations that offer 

satisfactory ‘Halal’ services such as Halal food and beverages, Halal entertainment, separate 

swimming pools for males and female, comfortable Musollah for Muslims to perform their 

daily prayers, etc.  
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Muslim Tourist Behaviour and Needs 

 

Consumer buying behaviour refers to a set of activities which involves the purchase and use of 

goods and services which resulted from the customers’ emotional and mental needs and 

behavioural responses (Kardes et al., 2011). While, a study conducted by Mill and Morrison 

(2002) summarised that travel behaviour is a continuous process that includes diverse yet 

interrelated periods that cannot all the time be evaluated individually and a more recent study 

indicated among other factors, that religion dictates the choice of destinations and tourism 

products (Weidenfeld and Ron, 2008). 

 

Islam embraces all domains of life and the Quran and prophetic teachings and traditions provide 

complete guidance about the protocol to be followed; be it individual and social, material and 

moral, economic and political, legal and cultural, national and international. As previously 

stated, Muslims are encouraged to travel in order to appreciate God’s beautiful creations and 

be thankful for God’s grace. Travelling also leads to not only acquisition of knowledge but is a 

test of patience and perseverance (Zamni-Farahani and Henderson, 2010).  However, in order 

to gain the ultimate benefit, both materially and spiritually, Muslims are constantly reminded 

to observe the Islamic code of conduct while travelling be it for business, pleasure, or a 

pilgrimage thus making them particularly sensitive and careful about observing this 

requirement.  

 

Sayyiduna Abu Hurairah r.a. narrates that the Prophet Muhammad p.b.u.h. said:  

 

“Allah the Almighty is pure and accepts only that which is pure. Allah (swt) has 

commanded the faithful to do that which he commanded the Messengers, and 

the Almighty has said: “O Messengers! Eat of the pure things and do right”. 

And Allah the Almighty has said: “O you who believe! Eat of the pure things 

We have provided you.”, then Rasulullah p.b.u.h. mentioned (the case of) a man 

travelling on a long ardous journey, greatly troubled and distressed, with 

disheveled hair crying to Allah swt, O my Lord! O my Lord! But, his food is 

haram, his drink is haram, his dress is haram and he is nourished with haram. 

How then his prayers be accepted”. 
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To date, several non-Muslim countries such as Japan, Philippines and even Brazil have 

recognized the immense potential of the Muslim tourist market and are offering Muslim-

friendly options to address problems Muslim tourist face when travelling to their country. In 

2014, Philippines launched special packages during Eid Fitr and Eid Adha targeted at young 

Muslims and families from Saudi Arabia and United Arabs Emirates (TTG Asia, 2014).  Japan 

too has shown its commitment towards Muslim tourists and allocated prayer rooms in major 

airports, published Muslim-friendly booklets on availability of Halal food at various restaurants 

and location of prayer places plus encouraged restaurants and hotels to offer Halal food and 

Muslim friendly facilities respectively (The National, 2014).The importance of providing 

Muslim friendly amenities and facilities can be overly stressed as indicated in a study conducted 

by Chandra (2014) whereby of the 50 Muslim tourists interviewed all stated that they preferred 

Halal travel over conventional travel.  

 

Muslim Friendly Hospitality and Facilities 

 

Collins and Tisdell (2002) argued that since religion is one of the important factors in the 

decision-making process when choosing travel destinations, as it determines tourist satisfaction 

and encourage return visits; it is important to ensure that religious elements are available in that 

destination. While according to Uysal et al.(2008), a study of the specific attributes of any given 

destination would provide insights that destination marketers could use in developing and 

promoting their tourism destinations.  

 

With this in mind, policy makers, industry players and marketers, should be guided by Shariah 

jurisprudence and develop policies with regards to the development of Halal tourism 

infrastructure and facilities, travel packages and activities. It will also assist and help them to 

design messages for promotions in order to attract the fast-growing Muslim tourist market.  In 

addition, they must also respect that the concept of Halal is not just restricted to food, but in 

reality, covers all aspects related to tourism. These aspects should be used to cater for Muslims 

consumer behaviour and unique needs. This includes any Shariah compliant products and 

services, ranging from prayer rooms to bank transactions, cosmetics to vaccines, entertainment 

and facilities. In fact, to allay any suspicions Muslims might have about Halal authentication, 

governments and industries, should also implement a Halal assurance system.  

 



38 

 

In summary, the following aspects are the main areas of concern for Muslim travellers; i) 

Muslim friendly hotels, ii) Muslim friendly airport, iii) Muslim friendly holiday packages that 

include destination, entertainment and activities (sports), iv) Muslim friendly tourism webpage 

and mobile apps, v) Muslim friendly healthcare facilities, and vi) code of dressing. 

 

Whilst Maldives has a tourism board that is excellent in promoting Maldives as a tropical 

paradise and participates in not less than 16 international Tourism and Trade Fair, not much 

concerted effort has been done to promote the archipelago to the Muslim tourists as a whole.  

As shown in Table 1, most fairs participated by the Ministry of Tourism, Republic of Maldives 

in 2016 were in the western countries such as Spain, Germany, UK, and Switzerland.  

Therefore, this study intends to explore market potential for Maldives as a Muslim friendly 

tourist destination. 
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Table 1: Tourism Marketing and Promotional Fairs 2016 

No. Name of fair  City/Country Dates Type of fair 

1.  FITUR  Madrid, Spain 20-24 Jan Trade & 

Consumer 

2.  Boot (with LAM)  Düsseldorf, Germany 23-31 Jan Dive 

3.  EMITT  Istanbul, Turkey 28-31 Jan Trade & 

Consumer 

4.  Fespo  Zürich, Switzerland 28-31 Jan Trade & 

Consumer 

5.  OTM  Mumbai 18-20 Feb Trade 

6.  ITB  Berlin, Germany 9-13 Mar Trade & 

Consumer 

7.  MITT  Moscow, Russia 23-26 March Trade & 

Consumer 

8.  WTM  Africa Cape Town, 

South Africa 

6-8 April Trade 

9.  ATM  Dubai, UAE 25-28 April Trade & 

Consumer 

10.  China-South Asia Expo  Kunming, China  12 - 17 June Trade & 

Consumer 

11.  IFTM Top Resa  Paris, France  20 - 23 Sept  Trade 

12.  JATA WTF  Tokyo, Japan  22-25 Sep Trade & 

Consumer 

13.  3rd Sichuan 

International Tourism 

Expo  

Sichuan, China  23 - 28 Sept Consumer 

14.  TTG Incontri  Rimini, Italy  13-15 Oct Trade 

15.  WTM  London, UK  7 - 9 Nov Trade 

16.  CITM  Shanghai, China  11 -13 Nov Trade & 

Consumer 

 

Source: Ministry of Tourism, Republic of Maldives (Tourism Yearbook 2017)  
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METHODOLOGY 

 

In this study, two (2) types of data collection have been conducted.  First, focus group discussion 

was held in order to explore market potential for Maldives as a Muslim friendly tourism 

destination.  Focus group discussion was chosen because by forming a group of individuals 

together and inducing a topic of discussion toward the collective attitudes and beliefs of the 

participants, the dynamic transmission of ideas will yield untapped responses and meaningful 

information (Bryman 1988).  For the purpose of this study, one focus group discussion 

involving six (6) participants was conducted.  The participants were recruited from officials 

directly involved in tourism activities in Maldives including hotel managers and officers from 

Ministry of Tourism Maldives.  The discussion topics contained issues relating to the 

participants’ observation on Muslim tourist visiting Maldives, westerners’ perceptions towards 

Maldives as a tourist destination, and promotional activities conducted to attract Muslim 

tourists.  Participants were asked to give feedback based on their own views.  They were 

encouraged to add any additional information they considered important.  The focus group 

session was audio taped with the permission of the participants.  Then, the focus group 

discussion was transcribed and analysed using methods such as categorisation, classification 

and coding (Trochim 2006).   

 

Secondly, to investigate Muslim friendly services that offered by guest houses, hotels and 

resorts to their guests, a survey questionnaire was emailed to hotel, guest house and resort 

managers in Maldives.  A total number of 450 guest house, 14 hotel, and 127 resort managers 

were approached and respondents were requested to provide a response on the availability of 

Muslim friendly services offered to their guests.  A number of Muslim friendly services were 

identified and included in the survey questionnaire including water-friendly washroom, no 

alcohol and pork served at the restaurant, nearby mosque, nearby Muslim friendly food outlets, 

location in Muslim neighbourhood, Muslim employees ratio, prayer direction marked in the 

room, no adult TV channels, no discotheque and not part of a gambling resort.  
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RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 

 

1. Focus group discussion 

 

For the purpose of reporting the results of the focus group discussion, findings are organised by 

topics that arose during discussion that are relevant and pertinent to this study.  Findings have 

been grouped according to the answers given on a specific question, yielding majority opinions 

and views.   

 

1.1 Main observation among Muslim tourists 

 

Participants were asked on their main observation of Muslim tourists.  Majority of them 

mentioned that Muslim tourists were mainly concerned about the food served at the restaurants.  

For instance, tourists would raise the issue whether the food or beverage is halal or not.  

According to the participants, some major operators do not serve pork in the main restaurant, 

nevertheless it is served at the second restaurant of the resort.  This applies the same for the use 

of alcohol in cooking.  Also, although food are often kept labelled and separated, cross 

contamination may occur as resorts do not use separate grills or utensils when handling halal 

and non-halal materials.  

 

Among Muslim men tourists, they were particular in terms of Jum’a prayer (Friday prayer) and 

the availability of mosque for them to perform prayer.  At the moment, as a Muslim country, 

all resorts have mosque that allow the locals and tourists to perform prayer.   

 

1.2 Westerners tourists’ perception towards Maldives 

 

In the focus group discussion, participants were asked on the western tourists’ perception 

towards Maldives.  Majority of them mentioned that Maldives as a place for peace and 

relaxation.  Tourists who came with families considered the place to have less nudity elements 

as compared to western standards.  Participants of the focus group informed that Malvides 

implement no-nude policy, however, bikini is allowed in resorts and not limited to special area.   
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1.3 Promotional activities  

 

When the participants were asked to share their views on promotional activities among hotels 

and resorts that specifically targeting the Muslim tourists, majority of them agreed that most 

resorts and hotels do not highlight the ‘Muslim’ factor.  To the best knowledge of the 

participants, no specific channel has been used by hotels or resorts to reach Muslim travellers.  

Nevertheless, hotels and resorts participated in events dedicated to the Middle Eastern or Arab 

countries to promote Malvides.  For instance, in 2017, Maldives have participated in tourism 

fairs in Dubai and Istanbul (Ministry of Tourism, Republic of Malvies, 2017).  During the event, 

they used modest pictures and promoted Maldives as a very accommodating place.   

 

1.4 Maldives as Muslim friendly tourism destination 

 

Participants were asked on positioning Maldives as Muslim friendly tourist destinations.  All 

focus group participants agreed that there should be a specific hotel or resort that target the 

Halal conscious travellers, however, branding ‘Muslim Friendly’ or ‘Halal Travel’ could 

damage the ‘Maldives’ brand if marketed directly.  At the moment, Muslim travellers visiting 

Maldives would request a personalised travel package to cater to their specific needs.  Since no 

specific marketing effort has been made to target the Muslim travellers, participants 

acknowledged the importance of word of mouth marketing and social media in marketing 

Maldives to Muslim tourists.   

 

2. Survey questionnaire 

 

Table 2 shows availability of Muslim friendly services offered by guest houses, hotels and 

resorts.  Generally, all types of accommodation provided water-friendly washroom, located near 

mosques and not part of a gambling resort.  For guest houses, all Muslim friendly services were 

provided except for prayer direction marked in the room and availability of adult TV channels 

in the room.  Similar results were found for hotel, nevertheless, more than 20 percent of the 

hotels claimed that they served alcohol and availability of discotheque in the premise.  

Meanwhile, results for resort show that they provided water-friendly washroom, located near 

mosques, and not part of a gambling resort. 
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Table 2: Muslim Friendly Services Provided by Guest  

Muslim Friendly Services Types of accommodation 

Guest house Hotel Resort 

 N=450 % N=14 % N=127 % 

Water-friendly washroom 450 100 14 100 127 100 

No alcohol served 450 100 11 79 - - 

No pork served 450 100 11 79 - - 

Mosques near by 450 100 14 100 127 100 

Muslim friendly food outlets near by 450 100 11 79 - - 

Muslim neighbourhood 450 100 14 100 - - 

Muslim employees ratio (>50 percent) 450 100 14 100 127 100 

Prayer direction marked in the room - - - - - - 

No  adult TV channels in the room - - - - - - 

No discotheque 450 100 11 79 - - 

Not part of a gambling resort 450 100 14 100 127 100 

 

 

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 

 
 

This study is an on-going research that intends to explore market potential for Maldives as 

Muslim friendly tourism.  As of this stage of research, findings from focus group discussion 

with officials who directly involved in tourism activities in Maldives revealed that Muslim 

tourists have shown specific requirements in terms of food and beverage, and leisure activities, 

nevertheless, non-Muslim tourists visiting Maldives have given positive perception towards the 

country even though Maldives population is 100 percent Muslim.  Findings from survey 

questionnaire showed that all types of accommodation provided water-friendly washroom, 

located near mosques and not part of a gambling resort.  Although most resorts in the study 

claimed that they served alcohol and pork, further investigation need to be conducted to 

understand whether those non-halal products were segregated from the halal products or not.  

In the next stage of research, a number of focus group discussions and interviews will be 

conducted specifically with Maldives officials and tourists to investigate the country’s readiness 

in preparing Maldives as Muslim friendly tourist destinations. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

It is well established that a healthy lifestyle is of benefit in the prevention of disease and 

promotion of well-being (WHO, 1990). Basically, unhealthy lifestyle particularly based on a 

poor dietary practices, physical inactivity and smoking. These are the major risk factors for the 

conditions like overweight, obesity and chronic non-communicable diseases (Chitson,  1994; 

Kruger et al. 2005; Steyn and Damasceno, 2006). In Malaysia, non-communicable diseases 

surpass the communicable diseases in terms of morbidity and mortality. Non-Communicable 

Disease (NCD) such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer are the major causes of 

admissions and deaths in government hospitals (Health Facts, 2012). Health promotion for a 

healthy lifestyle and wellness has been the focus of the Ministry of Health Malaysia (MOH).  

  



47 

 

BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY 

 

Based on findings from the 2015 National Health and Morbidity Survey, Putrajaya is a place in 

the city with the highest percentage of overweight, obese and abdominally obese people in the 

country (NHMS, 2015). The study also suggests that the administrative capital’s population has 

a 37% chance of being overweight, while the obesity rate stood at 43%. Even more startling, 

the NHMS said government and semi-government employees took the cake as those struggling 

most with obesity, with a 40.3% rate (NHMS, 2015). 

 

Our healthcare delivery systems are facing increasing pressure to provide quality care to 

patients with NCDs and their various complications. Chronic diseases place a substantial 

economic burden on society. The researchers, healthcare organizations and health advocates 

have used the Internet to deliver healthcare services and information efficiently and cost 

effectively (Crabb, Rafie, & Weingardt, 2010; Rideout et al., 2005; Wagner et al., 2004; Wright 

& Hill, 2009). A great deal of private and public investment has gone into web-based health 

interventions and the development of health and medical websites (Crabb et al., 2012).  

 

With the rapid development of the internet, health information seeking has become more 

convenient to many people to access a number of online health resources, ranging from healthy 

lifestyle advices to details of diseases. These are readily available in various websites including 

official government health websites, private health service websites and online community 

forums. People seem to prefer to retrieve health information by themselves to assist their 

decision-making processes. The Internet has become an economic and convenient channel to 

obtain such information. Internet-mediated health ICTs can enhance individual self-

management capabilities and thereby improve important outcomes such as health-related 

quality of life (Wagner et al., 2004; Jones & Goldsmith, 2009; Solomon et al., 2012). 

 

The study of health information seeking and e-health literacy on online health information 

seeking behaviour among government employees in Putrajaya using the internet  is yet to be 

studied in Malaysia. However; there is one study about the influence of health literacy on health 

information seeking behaviour among students in public university. This study concludes that 

the influences of health literacy towards health information seeking behaviour among 

Malaysian university students are moderate on health literacy skills as a whole. While nearly 
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30 percent of respondents were categorized as delinquent. This implies that every 10 university 

students, 3 of whom have low levels of health literacy (Hamzah, M. R., Mohamad, E., & 

Abdullah, M. Y. (2016). 

 

In the United States, the study on “e-Health Literacy and Web 2.0 online  health information 

seeking Behaviours among Baby Boomers and Older Adults “ showed that almost 90% of older 

Web 2.0 users are reported using popular Web 2.0 websites, such as Facebook and Twitter to 

find and share health information. Those respondents who used Web 2.0 are reported to have 

greater e-Health literacy than those who did not use Web 2.0. The younger generation with 

more education and uses more electronic devices were significantly associated with greater e-

Health literacy. However, women are three times more likely than men to use Web 2.0 for 

health information and those with more education produce a greater use of Web 2.0 for health 

information, with college graduates and post graduates are nearly 2 to 7 times more likely than 

non-high school graduates to use Web 2.0 for health information. 

 

The researchers find that it is interesting to further this study on the government employees of 

Malaysia especially in Putrajaya because it is the centre of government administration in this 

country and based from the report, Putrajaya has the highest obese rate in Malaysia. 

Furthermore, it seems that most of the workers in Putrajaya are government employees (NHMS, 

2015). The researchers believe that this study is very important in reflecting the image of the 

government employees especially those employees who are working in Putrajaya. 
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PROBLEM STATEMENT 

 

Basically in order to  satisfy our  health information needs, we tend to seek additional health 

information using various information sources, including the Internet, newspaper, television, 

and family members (Caiata-Zufferey, Abraham, Sommerhalder & Schulz, 2010; Czaja, 

Manfredi, & Price, 2003; Rozmovits & Ziebland, 2004; Ziebland et al., 2004).  However, our 

involvement for health information related search is still interesting to be discovered. Based 

from the report, the highest obese state in Malaysia is Putrajaya which is most of the worker 

are government employees (NHMS, 2015). The researchers believed that this study is very 

important in reflecting the image of the government employees especially those employees who 

are working in Putrajaya. Currently it is unknown whether government employees have the 

capability or the confidence to seek, find, understand and appraise health information from 

electronic sources and apply that knowledge to a health problem. Without sufficient knowledge, 

skills, abilities and other attributes (Chan & Kaufman, 2011), government employees are 

probably exposed to a non-credible online health information; information that could lead to 

both intentional and unintentional health risk behaviours (Rice, 2006). 

 

Individuals are seeking health information from a variety of different sources, including 

interpersonal interactions, television, print media and the Internet (Galarce EM, Ramanadhan 

S, Viswanath K, 2011). However, with 53 percent of adults having intermediate levels of health 

literacy (Kutner M, Greenberg E, Jin Y, Paulsen C, 2006) it has become evident that health 

literacy is an issue that warrants further attention, as national literacy levels in regards to health 

have been found to be low (Hay, 2010; Koh & Rudd, 2015; Torpy et al, 2011).Hence, it is 

important for the researchers to look into the area of  health information seeking and e-Health 

Literacy and how this information can influence governments employees to improve their 

health based on online health information seeking behaviour.  

 

Therefore, a fundamental gap exists with regard to understanding the level of government 

employees in Putrajaya perceive health status when using health information seeking and e-

Health literacy to seek, find, and appraise to the benefits of their health.  Exploring factors 

associated with online health information seeking behaviour among government employees 

will make them ideal candidates for receiving health information and self-management support 

resources and at the same time share the health information with others. Considering these gaps 
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in knowledge, this study will further examine the relationships between demographic 

characteristics, experiences, salience and belief under the comprehensive model of information 

seeking and e-Health literacy using the eHeals. This study also aims to determine consumers’ 

combined knowledge, confidence, and perceived skills in finding, evaluating and applying 

electronic health information to health problems scale to predict the outcome of online health 

information seeking behaviour among government employees in Putrajaya. The researchers 

believe that this will help the outcome of government employees in Putrajaya to acknowledge 

a healthy lifestyle in order to avoid the Non-Communicable Disease (NCD) among them. 

 

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY 
 

 

The purpose of this study is to investigate the health information seeking and e-Health literacy 

on online health information seeking behaviour among government employees in Putrajaya 

using the internet. The researchers will examine the health information seeking and e-Health 

literacy as a predictor, positing that there are characteristics necessary for the delivery of health 

information towards online health information seeking behaviour. The researchers then 

consider the applicability of Internet as health information source. The internet broad-ranging 

reach allows health information-based programs to communicate with large audiences. 

Therefore, if the internet health information can be used as a moderator for better e-Health 

Literacy and health information seeking among the government employees for health decision, 

then it will make good sense for the government to promote more online health information to 

its audiences. Hopefully the result of this study is able to educate people to participate more on 

health information seeking and use information to make health decision and influence the 

healthy lifestyle especially among government employees in Putrajaya. 
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LIMITATION OF STUDY 

 

The limitation of this study is to focus on health information seeking using online medium 

which is the internet and e-Health literacy score among government employees who work in 

Putrajaya based from the eHeals scale (Norman & Skinner, 2006). The eHeals determines 

consumers’ combined knowledge, confidence, and perceived skills finding, evaluating, and 

applying electronic health information to health problems focusing on the mechanisms that are 

unique to managing one’s health and using the internet for that purpose (Norman & Skinner, 

2006). The other theory that is used in this study is comprehensive model of information seeking 

(CMIS) theory (Johnson, 1997). The moderator of this study is internet health information 

usage. The effectiveness of information seeking, competencies of e-Health literacy and internet 

health information activity can play a big role in transforming government employees to be 

savvy on health information.  

 

Previous studies in this area are limited in some respects. First, most studies have focused 

primarily on public health campaigns, while relatively ignoring the ordinary flow of health 

information in mass media and on the internet (Brown & Walsh-Childers, 2002; Stryker, 2003; 

Yanovitzky & Stryker, 2001). This is because the effects of media may be attributable to public 

health campaign messages, which are strategically produced and diffused within a specific 

period of time and at the same time media effects on health behaviours can manifest themselves 

in a less strategic way. Based on technical aspects, this study will be focusing on measuring the 

interrelationship of health information seeking and e-Health literacy through the moderation of 

Internet health information usage. The present study will be conducted at government agencies 

in Putrajaya by using purposive sampling method. 
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SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY 

 

The Ministry of Health concerns on the population health state and realizes that there is a wide 

gap between Malaysian health knowledge and their health behaviour (MOH 2010). The gap is 

illustrated by a rise in the prevalence of obesity and overweight. In 2010, the country ranked 

top in both the prevalence of obesity and overweight in south-east Asia, placed sixth in the 

prevalence of obesity (seventh in the prevalence of overweight) in Asia, and ranked 39th in the 

prevalence of obesity (44th in overweight prevalence) worldwide. 

 

Based on the research objectives, this study is expected to benefit many people and community 

especially government employees because it is consistent with the Ministry of Health Malaysia 

Strategic plan for (2016-2020) under the Malaysia 11th Plan. Under this plan, there are 8 pillars 

of health focus to the benefit of the Malaysian people and two of the focuses are to create a 

healthy ecosystem as a contributor towards disease prevention and a healthy lifestyle as well as 

use ICT for Health Transformation. 

 

In realizing the Ministry of Health Malaysia Strategic plan for (2016-2020) under the Malaysia 

11th Plan objectives, the researchers must determine whether the population perceive online 

health information to be useful and if they are e-Health literate. This study will measure 

government employees in the state of Putrajaya e-Health literacy and online health information 

seeking behaviour. In addition, if Internet health information channels are to improve public 

health, while avoiding the perpetuation of further social inequalities, the divergence between 

what e-Health is provided and what individuals can access and use must be resolved (Norman 

& Skinner, 2006). 
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

e-Health Literacy 

 

e-Health literacy is defined as the ability to seek, find, understand, and appraise health 

information from electronic resources and apply that knowledge to solving a health problem or 

making a health-related decision (Norman, Skinner, 2006). The construct and development of 

e-Health literacy represents a foundational skill set that combines six forms of literacy that 

could extend beyond traditional definitions of health literacy and numeracy to include. The six 

forms of literacy are traditional, information, media, health, scientific, and computer. Health 

literacy is defined as the degree to which individuals can obtain, process, and understand the 

basic health information and services they need to make appropriate health decisions. (Institute 

Of Medicine, Health Literacy a prescription to end confusion, 2004). This e-Health literacy 

scale is important to assess the e-Health literacy among government employees especially in 

Putrajaya because the alarming numbers  of NCD’S among them are increasing (NHMS, 2015). 

By implementing this scale, the result of it will indicate the level of e-Health literacy among 

the government employees and this scale will support whether government employees have 

high or low e-Health literacy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: e-Health Literacy Lily Model (Norman & Skinner, 2006). 
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Internet Health Information Usage 

 

Internet has become a useful means for people to get health information because individuals 

can access health information online with convenience and efficiency (Avery et al., 2010; 

Hayes, 1998). The Internet plays an important role in facilitating the health information seeking 

of individuals with physical problems (Bundorf et al., 2006). This is because the Internet 

provides higher accessibility to people needing health information, especially for people facing 

a lack of resources (e.g., income or mobility). According to the Pew Research Center (Fox & 

Duggan, 2013), 72% (more than 100 million) of Internet users in the U.S. search for health-

related information such as a symptom related to diseases, treatment options, and 

medications―via the Internet. These individuals use various types of digital devices such as 

Personal Computers (PCs), Personal Digital Assistants (PDAs), and smartphones to get 

information with a low search cost and convenient time (Mosa, Yoo, & Sheets, 2012). Previous 

research indicates that those who use the Internet as a primary source for health information are 

more health conscious, more concerned about their health, and more likely to engage in healthy 

behaviours than those who did not use the Internet as a primary information source (Dutta-

Bergman’s, 2004).However, it is interesting to find out whether Internet health information 

usage can moderate the demographics, salience, experience, belief and e-Health literacy 

towards online health information seeking behaviour among government employees in 

Putrajaya .   

 

Online Health Information Seeking Behaviour (OHISB) 

 

The majority of adults look for health information to improve their quality of life (Sharit, J., 

Hernandez, M. A., Nair, S. N, Kuhn, T., and Czaja, S.J, 2011).  Based on previous literature, as 

long as the information is retrieved from the Internet, it clearly shows that the person has the 

online health information seeking behaviour (ECDC, 2012). In this circumstance, the audience 

will use the information tools either they are manual or computer-based system (Ahenkorah-

Marfo, M., Teye V. and Senyah Y., 2011). There are many factors that can contribute to this 

behaviour such as the types of information sought, reasons and experience level (ECDC, 2012). 

Based on the previous literature, health information seeking can be conceptualized and 

measured by its different dimensions of amount and frequency (Johnson & Meischke, 1993). 

In previous literature, health information seeking is operational zed and measured by various 

means, including time spent in searching information sources (Shaw et al., 2008), the number 
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of health topics sought, and the number of information sources used (Nagler et al., 2010). Based 

on the previous result of studies and literatures by many scholars, the researchers are convinced 

to adapt and examine these studies on using health information seeking and e-Health Literacy 

variable towards OHISB especially in the context of government employees in Putrajaya. 

However, this current study may cause differences of results because the demographic 

representation and the different ways of operational zing it. However, based on previous 

literature, the researchers are convinced that there are some significant contributions between 

health information seeking and e-Health literacy toward OHISB for this study among 

government employees in the state of Putrajaya. 

 

Comprehensive Model of Information Seeking (CMIS) 

 

Johnson’s (1997) ‘‘Comprehensive Model of Information Seeking’’ (CMIS) has been widely 

used in literature on health information and the seeking of health information (e.g., Case, 

Andrews, Johnson, & Allard, 2005; Rice, McCreadie, & Chang, 2001). In the context of seeking 

information related especially to cancer, CMIS has seven factors grouped under three categories 

which are antecedent, information carrier factors, and information-seeking actions (Johnson et 

al., 2001; Johnson & Meischke, 1993). Antecedents in the first column are the main factors 

affecting individuals’ health information seeking. The antecedents include demographic 

characteristics, personal experience with health conditions, salience, and beliefs. In the second 

column, information carrier factors refer to individuals’ perceptions of the features and 

conditions of information sources. The information carrier factors include two main sub-factors 

which are the characteristics and the utility of the information sources selected. 

 

The final component of the CMIS is information seeking actions. In addition to examining the 

applicability of the CMIS in a new context, testing the model will help identify government 

employees’ information seeking traits. Findings of this study have the potential to advance the 

CMIS as a theoretical framework, as well as provide practical communication insights for better 

healthy lifestyle to further reduce the prevalence of NCD among government employees in 

Putrajaya. 
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 Figure 2: Johnson’s Comprehensive Model Of Information Seeking 

 

 

 

Demographic Characteristics 

 

Demographic characteristics are elements such as age, gender, race, income, and education that 

predispose individuals to health behaviours or act as barriers to seeking health information. 

Recent studies of online health information seeking Behaviour (OHISB), which focus on cancer 

information, have included demographic characteristics such as age, sex, race, education, and 

income (Hartoonian et al., 2014; Johnson & Meischke, 1993; Robinson, Thompson, & Tian, 

2006; Ruppel, 2016). Studies also have found that demographics do contribute to some extent 

to HISB, which is consistent with the CMIS. Previous study also found that gender was a 

significant predictor of Online Cancer Information System (OCIS), such that male cancer 

patients engaged in greater OHISB than female cancer patients (Robinson et al. , 2006). Based 

on this paper, the researchers are convinced that demographic characteristics can play some part 

in determining the outcome of the study on government employees in Putrajaya.   
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Direct Experience 

The key concept of experience with health conditions is linked with an individual's degree of 

personal experience with diseases (e.g., time since cancer diagnosis) or general health 

conditions (e.g., self-rated health). Nevertheless, cancer related information seeking could be 

triggered by a person’s degree of personal experience with this disease, either through cancer 

symptoms or diagnosis for themselves or in their personal networks (Johnson et al., 2001; 

Johnson & Meischke, 1993). Based on the research, experience was measured by individuals’ 

perceived symptoms related to cancer, experienced pain, and concerns about cancer (Johnson 

and Meischke, 1993).However, in this study, the researcher will not use a person with cancer 

related experience for the sample population. The researcher will use government employees 

with general health conditions for the survey purpose. Previous study had used perceived 

general health as a measure of direct experience (Hartoonian et al., 2014; Oh, 2015). Although 

it is assessed as one’s familiarity with a particular health condition. Granted the unique barriers 

faced by those using the Web to acquire health information, one’s familiarity with the Web is 

likely an important predictor of Web use behaviour and outcomes. 

Salience of Information 

Salience means personal significance and interests (Johnson & Meischke, 1993). However, 

according to the comprehensive model of information seeking (CMIS), individuals are usually 

motivated to search for information when they realize that they are missing some salient 

information (Case et al., 2005). In referring to this, salience also refers to the extent to which 

people are missing personally significant resources and events (Johnson, 1997). Johnson had 

suggested that more uncertain or limited knowledge can cause people to seek more information. 

Based on this idea, Johnson regarded insufficient information environments as a factor of 

salience. According to his research, salience was measured by individuals’ perceived needs and 

necessity for information and assistance of others (Johnson et al., 1995). Regarding this, the 

concept of salience supports the view that information seeking is greatly influenced by an 

individual’s unfulfilled needs for health information. Previous literature suggested that salient 

information needs recognize that people’s knowledge is inadequate to satisfy their goals (Case, 

2007). Therefore, it is possible that if government employees in Putrajaya cannot get sufficient 

or accurate information about health care from health professionals, they may have higher 

salience health information needs. 
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Beliefs (Self Efficacy) 

 

Belief in the manner of Comprehensive Model of Information Seeking (CMIS) points out that, 

individuals’ health beliefs strongly affect not only information carrier factors (e.g., trust in 

information sources), but also the individuals’ exposure to information sources (information 

seeking action). Based on CMIS, beliefs refer to an individual’s feeling of self-efficacy, which 

is “the extent to which individuals perceives they control the future or perceive that there are 

efficacious methods of prevention, treatment, and control” (Johnson et al., 2001). This 

definition support that if individuals have a low sense of self-efficacy or believe that knowing 

more about a cancer will not allow them to solve their problems, then they are not likely to seek 

health information. Basically, perceptions of powerlessness can lead to insufficient health-

related knowledge (Caiata-Zufferey et al., 2010; Leydon et al., 2000), because people have no 

motivation to learn more about their health care when they feel like they have no control 

(Caiata-Zufferey et al., 2010). Based on this current study, the importance of belief in Internet 

use as various types of efficacy in the CMIS suggests that perceptions of one’s Internet self-

efficacy of government employees in Putrajaya may be an important predictor of Internet use 

for medical information. 

 

Information Carrier Characteristics (Trust in Internet Health Information). 

 

In the CMIS, information carrier factors include information carrier characteristics and utility. 

Previous research supports the propositions that information-carrier characteristics both directly 

and indirectly (through utility) influence HISB (Johnson & Meischke, 1993). In a test of the 

model with traditional media, Johnson and Meischke (1993) found that the strongest path in the 

CMIS model was the one from information-carrier characteristics to utility. Support for the role 

of information-carrier characteristics in the CMIS has also been found in online contexts. This 

paper will use trust in internet under information carrier factor because the researchers believe 

that this predictor can support the study based on the given evidence from the previous study, 

especially to the government employees in Putrajaya. In this study the information carrier 

characteristic variable, trust in website and internet was assessed using five items adapted from 

S. Wang, Beatty, and Foxx (2004). Considering trust in internet health information related in 

many studies of CMIS and OHISB, it is believed that the variable used can predict the behaviour 

of government employee’s trust in internet health information for the health-related benefit. 
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CONCLUSION 
 

This concept paper presented an overview of information seeking behaviour for health 

information seeking using the internet which is built on current literatures and theories. 

Basically, this study is important as we can determine the co-existence between human 

communication and the technology usage in internet for health information impact. 

Nevertheless, the internet which acts as a useful tool to retrieve information still makes it the 

best source to seek for health information on health information seeking behaviours. This topic 

also will produce a significant understanding on the reliability of internet usage and e-Health 

services on the internet to provide tonnes of information regarding health to an individual and 

communities to establish a connection between people in the society especially the government 

employees and to justify the effects of health information seeking behaviour communication. 

The online health information seeking among the government employees is important for their 

own health in order to portray good example toward a healthier lifestyle among the government 

employees and the community.  
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STORYTELLING: POTENTIAL APPLICATION 

IN HALAL EXECUTIVE TRAINING 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

‘Once upon a time, in a far, far away land. There is a girl who loves to travel…..’ 

 

The above sentences are not new to us. Human had been telling, hearing and exchanging stories 

to one another for thousands of years. Stories which includes myths, legends and folktales have 

been used by human to impart wisdom, knowledge and culture (McLellan, 2002, Reamy, 2002). 

It is the nature of human being to narrate in order to bring more or less significant aspects of 

our lives to life to other people. Stories have long been recognized as useful in organization and 

training purposes such as for problem solving (Mitroff and Kilmann, 1975), communication of 

complex ideas (Snowden 2000), learning facilitatation (Sole and Wilson, 2002) and new ideas 

presentation (Brown, Denning, Groh and Prusak, 2005). This paper explores the potential of 

storytelling technique in human capital development, particularly for halal industry.  

 

“Halal” is one of contemporary issue that is heavily discussed in the Muslim community.  There 

is no doubt that halal industry is important for Muslims to ensure they can get halal goods and 

services. Records show that the global halal industry is continuously growing, with the 
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worldwide halal food industry valued at USD 667 billion and its annual growth at 16 per cent 

a year (DagangHalal.com Nov 2016). Worldwide spending on global halal food and lifestyle 

products could rise 10.8 per cent a year until 2019 to create an international industry worth 

USD3.7 trillion (Global Islamic Economy Report, 2017). According to the latest Global Islamic 

Economy Report, the halal food sector alone will grow to a valuation of USD2.537 trillion by 

2019, up from USD795 billion in 2014, equating to 21.2 percent of global food expenditure.  

Malaysian halal industry contributes over seven per cent to the nation’s gross domestic product. 

It has also exported RM42 billion worth of halal products, attracted RM12 billion in 

investments and generated almost 250,000 jobs so far (Bidin, 2017). According to Ai 'han Mujar 

& Hassan (2014), the increase in value and production volume of halal commodities is due 

largely to the increase in demand from especially the Muslim population and it has greatly 

impacted the growth and development of food industry in the country and the economy in 

general. The halal industry has now expanded well beyond the food sector further widening the 

economic potentials for halal. There is more to the halal industry than what meets the eye 

despite the religious code it represents. 

 

Halal industry has grown greatly for the past years and is expecting to grow more in future. The 

industry also has covered wider sectors such as food and beverages, pharmaceutical products, 

cosmetics, logistics, tourism, health and fashion. The expansion of the halal industry leads to 

the need of halal expertise and competent personnel to strengthen the halal industries 

around the world. One of important personnel in halal business organisation is the halal 

executive. Halal executive plays an important role in the development and monitoring of 

halal assurance system (HAS) of a company. Therefore, an effective and efficient training 

needs to be provided to the halal executive. The Department of Islamic Development 

Malaysia (JAKIM) is enforcing compulsory courses and training to all halal executives in 

the industry in this country through the Halal Professional Board Malaysia. One of the 

modules in the training is related to halal governance, particularly on the halal internal 

committee. 

 

This paper explores the potential of conducting the halal governance module, particularly 

relating to internal halal committee, through participation in and application of storytelling 

technique. In the next section, this paper discusses the development of Consortium of Malaysian 

Halal Institutes and the Halal Professional Board Malaysia.  The definition of stories and 
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storytelling, which is the basis of the paper, is discussed in the next section. Then, the paper 

discusses the format and structure of stories. The potential application of storytelling in halal 

executive program is discussed in the next section.  The paper ends with the statement of the 

future direction of the project, which is expected to enhance the halal training industry. 

 

CONSORTIUM OF MALAYSIAN HALAL INSTITUTES (KIHIM4) 
 

Malaysia is the only country in the world where the halal industry development agenda is 

backed by the government. This translates into the existence of a unique ecosystem that allows 

a synergy between the private and public sectors.  As one of the strategiesto cope with the 

demand of halal industry, the Malaysian Halal Institute Consortium (KIHIM) wasestablished 

on 8 August 2017 to assist the nation in empowering the halal industry locally and 

internationally. A Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) wassigned between four universities 

as a  strategic partnership, namely  Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM), International Islamic 

University Malaysia (IIUM), Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia (USIM) and Universiti Malaya 

(UM). 

 

This consortium is aimed at forming a collaboration in the development of research expertise 

and the development for the benefit of the halal industry and networking at the national and 

international levels. Universiti Putra Malaysia, Universiti Malaya, USIM and International 

Islamic University Malaysia would focus on research collaboration, information sharing for the 

use of the halal industry, development of talent and skills and cooperation in producing halal 

products and services.The MoU involved four of the halal institutes of those public universities, 

namely, INHART (IIUM) - International Institute of Halal Research and Training, HPRI (UPM) 

- Halal Products Research Institute, IHRUM (UM) - Center for International Halal Research 

University of Malaya andInstitute of Halal Research and Management IHRAM (USIM). 

 

In April 2018, KIHIM and QSR Brands (M) Holdings Bhd signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) to collaborate to implement several activities that could help to 

strengthen the halal industry. QSR Brand is a well-known local company which operate KFC 

and Pizza Hut restaurants. This company is also involved in other businesses, namely poultry 

farming, bakery and production of sauce. The signing of the MOU was held in conjunction with 

 
4 It is acronym for Konsortium Institut Halal Malaysia (KIHIM). 
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the Opening of the 9th Halal Certification Body Convention 2018 organized by the Islamic 

Development Department of Malaysia (JAKIM). Through this strategic alliance, it would help 

to intensify the development of halal industry and positionMalaysia to take the lead. 

 

HALAL PROFESSIONAL BOARD (HPB)  

 

Halal Professional Board Malaysia (HPB) is established by the Department of Islamic 

Development Malaysia (JAKIM) to provide the certified halal expertise and competent 

personnel to strengthen the halal industries around the world. One of its roles is to provide 

courses and training to all halal executives and halal internal auditors in the industry in 

Malaysia.  

In February 2018, JAKIM announced that the department was in the process of enforcing 

compulsory courses and training to all halal executives in the industry in this country through 

the Halal Professional Board Malaysia (HPB) to ensure that they have the same knowledge 

and are not left out from the developments and activities of the halal authorities. 

HPB introduced two major courses in halal; Halal Executive and Halal Internal Auditors. The 

halal executive courses are focused on Halal Assurance System (HAS) implementation, HAS 

Documentation requirement, Internal Halal Committee and Maintaining Post-Halal 

compliance. Whereas the halal internal auditors’ courses will cover all aspects of the Halal 

Auditing phases, Auditors competency and Performing the audit exercise. Certificates of 

Completion/ Certificate of Attendance will be issued by the respective authority under the 

HPB/KIHIM upon successful participation. These two major courses are open to both local and 

International participants coming from Manufacturers and Exporters of Halal, Government 

agencies related to Halal, Universities & Research Institutes and Certification Bodies 

(CBs).The trainers comprise of JAKIM Halal Hub Officers as well as certified trainers from 

local universities. 

Halal executive courses intend to provide Halal Executives with Shariah and technical 

knowledge in the implementation of halal in the industry as well as to ensure halal related 

matters are adhered to and are in accordance to Shariah principles.  

 

This training will also equip halal executives with the relevant knowledge and skills for them 

to be competent in halal. Participants will be assessed through written assessment as their final 

credit hours to successfully obtain the certificate.  
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The content of the course includes the following: 

 

1. Halal Manual and Records Administration 

2. Internal Halal Committee (IHC) Programme Administration 

3. Halal Quality Assurance 

4. Halal Certification Process 

5. Halal Internal Audit Facilitation 

6. Written Assessment 

 

Internal Halal Auditing Course aims to provide halal executives with Shariah and technical 

knowledge in the internal halal auditing exercise as well as to equip halal internal auditors with 

the relevant knowledge and skills for them to be competent in halal auditing. Participants will 

be assessed through a written assessment as their final credit hours to successfully obtain the 

certificate.  

 

The content of the course consists of the following: 

 

1. Pre-Audit Meeting Coordination 

2. Audit Tools Preparation 

3. Opening Meeting 

4. Documentation Audit 

5. Site Audit 

6. Audit Finding Report 

7. Closing Meeting 

8. Follow-up Audit 
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THE ART OF STORYTELLING 
 

Story plays an important part in storytelling.  Story can be defined as  

 

“a sequence of actions and experiences done or undergone by a certain number of 

people, whether real or imaginary. These people are presented either in situations 

that change or as reacting to such change. In turn, these changes reveal hidden 

aspects of the situation and the people involved, and engender a new predicament, 

which calls for thought, action or both. This response to the new situation leads the 

story towards its conclusion”  

(Ricoeur,1984 pp 150)   

 

Storytelling has been used for teaching, learning and training. Rositter (2002) explains that 

storytelling is a form of communication – a means of teaching lessons and passing history down 

from one generation to another. Storytelling also may improve learning by actively engaging 

learners in the information they are being exposed (Richter & Koppett, 2000). Richter and 

Koppett (2000) also provide the benefit of storytelling where storytelling can assist the learning 

process due to the level of active engagement created which stimulated by vivid images. 

Storytelling may promote character identification thus improved understanding and ability of 

the learner to apply what they have learned (Richter & Koppett, 2000). Indeed, there are two 

roles of stories in training program, namely to teach specific lesson and as directives of 

employee behaviours. 

 

Based on a web-based learning environment, Heo (2004) describes a four phased approach for 

using storytelling in enhancing student learning. Firstly, Heo (2004) states that the trainer 

should provide an introduction. The learning objectives are clearly described and the context 

explained in the first phase. Secondly, a pre-designed story is told in an interactive mode.  The 

story should have the principles of the lesson. Thirdly, the story’s concept is discussed and 

reviewed, either by text, graphic formats or both. Fourthly, learners have to respond to the story, 

in writing and then in an oral format. One way of responding is that the learner re-tells the 

stories, especially based on their own similar experiences. Heo (2004) contends that the result 

of responding and retelling the story could transform the experience that enhances learning 

based on own reflection. 
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Table 1: Components of Effective Story 

Component Details 

The setting A description of the time, place, characters and context so you 

provide something the audience can mentally image and feel a part 

of. 

Build up A sequence of events that warns the listener that something (usually 

some type of conflict) is about to happen. This creates suspense, 

interest and attention. 

Crisis The climax or high point of the story. This is also the place to 

introduce a new element and/or a turning point. 

Learning Point out what the central character(s) learned. Here lies the lesson 

of the story. 

How change ensued in the 

character(s) behaviours, 

awareness, abilities: 

The storyteller focuses on the learning to be retained by the listener 

and is cautioned to not assume that the listener always understands 

the lesson of the story. 

 

 

Morgan and Dennehy (1997) state that components of an effective story embrace five sequential 

components which can be summarised in the following table. 

 

Storytelling technique also has been utilized in training. Ponder et al.(2003)  use interactive 

stories tool for training on decision-making. They use interactive stories, which are defined as 

stories with the actions done in the environment influence the story. However, Ponder et al 

(2003) claim that interactive are not suitable for procedural training such as a maintenance 

procedure. Beside training staffs at managerial level, storytelling technique has also been used 

for non-skilled workers.  

 

Ladeira and Cutrell (2010) use storytelling in training skills to low-income and low-literacy 

workers. The study utilized dramatized stories in promoting the use of technology and 

agricultural education. 
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STORYTELLING FOR HALAL EXECUTIVE PROGRAM  

 

This paper aims to explore the usage of the storytelling approach for training, particularly for 

the Halal Executive Program (HEP), offered by Institute of Halal Research and 

Management (IHRAM), Universiti Saints Islam Malaysia. HEP is developed based on the 

framework and standard of the Department of Islamic Development Malaysia (JAKIM), as the 

sole authority for the halal industry. Due to diverse participants’ background as well as sectors 

that they are coming from, having the different and multiple approaches in teaching and 

learning can benefit the participants. Teaching and learning activities that are not tied up to 

traditional teachers-centered learning can help the participants to grasp the knowledge and skills 

in an interesting and effective way of hands-on activities. As the program is not only limited to 

knowledge-based module, the idea of introducing students-centered teaching approaches such 

as storytelling in the training can help trainees to increase understanding, experience and share 

real stories in governing the halal industry. Trainees are provoked to follow the story, engage 

and participate to attain the learning outcome.  

 

There are six modules that should be embarked by the participants of HEP. However, the focus 

of this paper is on the governance module which is related to Internal Halal Committee Program 

Administration. There are four main areas under Halal governance module: 

1. Formation of Internal Halal Committee (IHC) 

2. Manage IHC Meeting 

3. Implement Halal Training Program 

As a preliminary start up, the project of the study will focus on the first area of governance 

module, which is the IHC formation. Constructive alignment between teaching and learning 

activities as well as assessment is required to help the learners to achieve the course/module 

learning outcomes (LO) and lastly contribute to program learning outcome. Based on this 

reason, the storytelling activities of the module should be designed following the LOs. There 

are five learning outcomes for the topic, and this paper selects two LOs to be part of the 

storytelling design.  
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The selected learning outcomes are:  

1. to understand the guidelines for halal assurance system of Malaysia halal certification 

on IHC and,  

2. to understand the company’s internal halal policy on appointment of IHC 

The LOs needs the learners to be equipped with some knowledge on the regulations and 

guidelines on IHC. This includes the Guideline for Halal Assurance Management System issued 

by JAKIM. In addition, the next LOs are on the practical aspect of applying those guidelines in 

the company. 

 

Storytelling design needs information collection and planning (Hack et.al 2015). Based on 

Morgan and Dennehy (1997) there are five sequential components for effective story telling 

including setting, build up, Crisis, Learning and How change ensued in the character(s) 

behaviours, awareness, and abilities. This paper follows Morgan and Dennehy (1997) to 

develop a proper content step in designing the storytelling for IHC (refer to Table 2). 

 

Table 2: Proposed content of story for IHC Formation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Adapted based on Morgan and Dennehy (1997) 

Component Details 

The setting Time: In a process for formation of IHC 

Place : Business organization – preparing HAS (company owned by a 

non-muslim) 

Main Character: Newly appointed Halal Executive  

Sub Characters: The management of the company 

(To provide a context – participants of the program can mentally image 

and feel part of the IHC formation process). 

Build up Company’s internal policy on internal committee formation, which 

should be based on guidelines for Halal Assurance Management System. 

To creates suspense, interest and attention: 

Who should be responsible? Who should be the chairman? What are the 

criteria? Etc 

Crisis High point of the story/element/turning point. 

Conflicts arise as the agreed committee by the top management 

(interference by management) is not consistent with guideline. 

Learning The responsibilities of Halal Executive in the formation of IHC based on 

the Guidelines for Halal Assurance Management System of Malaysia 

How change ensued in 

the character(s) 

behaviors, awareness, 

abilities 

Lesson of the stories 

The composition of IHC members, by drawing the organization chart.  

Explain the roles and responsibilities of IHC members 
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For the first component, the place of the program is business organization that applies for Halal 

certification from JAKIM. This company is in the middle of preparing an internal Halal 

Assurance System (HAS). The main character that will be developed in the story is the newly 

appointed Halal Executive and the sub characters are the management of the company. Learners 

are expected to provide some solutions at the end of the activities.  

 

The second component is built up stage. The responsibility of the characters is decided at this 

stage. Urgency situation is developed in this component to attract some interest of the learners 

to participate and engage in the story.  

 

The third component is developed in storytelling to provoke the learners and stimulate them to 

think critically. The storytelling continues and increases the momentum and climax of conflict 

when the committees that are proposed by the top management are not consistent with the 

guideline.  

 

The fourth component, learning, is the phase where the main characters (Halal 

executives/participants) go through the learning process to adopt the guidelines in the 

management. This phase requires the responsible staff to be familiar with the guidelines.  

 

The last component requires the participants to discuss the composition of the committee, their 

educational/expertise background. The roles of the responsibilities of the IHC are also listed. 

Using the organization chart that is prepared earlier, participants will present the findings to the 

class.  
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CONCLUSION  
 

Storytelling is one of the learning tools that are suitable to be adopted for Halal training. This 

tool is selected due to its ability to increase learners’ understanding and; encourage and 

stimulate them to solve the situation in an effective way. As part of the preliminary study, this 

paper proposes the step to develop the content for storytelling in the Halal Executive Program 

(HEP). As future research, this study will be extended to design a story in an interactive mode, 

obtain feedback from the industry and test the story in a Halal Executive Program. The survey 

on the feedback of the storytelling activities will be collected from the respondents/participants 

who are following the activities where the concept is reviewed with the participants. Changes 

and improvement on the storytelling activities will be made accordingly from the validation 

and survey processes. As this initial storytelling activities starts from the traditional approach, 

the study will explore another approach by exploring the platform of storytelling (e.g. digital) 

based on the developed story. Having multiple ways in teaching and learning activities, such as 

storytelling, could enhance the Halal Executive training program and thus, it will deliver a 

competent executive. 
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OPTIMIZATION OF BENTONITE SELF-

FOAMING CLAY SOAP (SFCS) FORMULATION 

FOR ISLAMIC NAJIS CLEANSING AND ITS 

ANTIBACTERIAL ACTIVITY AGAINST 

BACTERIA FROM DOG’S SALIVA 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The formulation of severe najis (mughalladhoh) cleansing which containing combination soap 

and clay is still further developed as the synergetic effect of clay-surfactant on bacteria 

adsorption have already reported by Hrenovic, Rozic, Sekovanic, and Anic-Vucinic (2008). 

The existence of clay including bentonite, on soap systems also can be used as stabilizer 

(Bournival, Ata, & Wanless, 2015; Cui, Cui, Cui, Chen, & Binks, 2010; Zhang, Sun, Dong, 

Li, & Xu, 2008). This provides both opportunities and challenges to the development of clay-

based cleansing to be more practical usage and stable in storage. Therefore, we study the 

development of a self-foaming clay soap (SFCS) formulation using bentonite clay, a liquid 

clay soap which prepared in light viscosity that can easily form stable foam when revealed 

from its container. 

 

However, the light viscosity of SFCS and the optimized amount of clay and other ingredients 

involved in the formulation lead a tricky preparation. Therefore, optimization should be 

conducted to find out the best formulation. In order to overcome the shortcomings of   the 

traditional optimization method, multivariate statistical techniques, such as D-optimal mixture 

design, were used to obtain the desired characteristics and functional stability of formulation 

(Djuris, Vasiljevic, Jokic, & Ibric, 2014). D-optimal mixture design has been widely used in 
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product formulation, especially in pharmaceutical and cosmeceutical industries. In addition, 

using D-optimal mixture design is reported to be the reduction in the number of experimental 

runs needed to evaluate multiple variables and responses (Shaviklo & Rafipour, 2014). 

 

MATERIALS AND METHODS 

 

Materials 

 

The materials used in this study are potassium cocoate and cocamidopropyl betaine produced 

by PT. Ajinomoto, Clay Bentonite from Brenntag Specialties, Inc. and ethylenediaminatetra 

acetic acid, glycerine and sodium ether lauryl sulfate (SELS) purchased from PT. Brataco. All 

materials were in pharmaceutical grade. 

 

Methods 

 

Preparation of Bentonite SFCS 

Amount of bentonite (Table 1) was soaked first with 50 g amount of water for 24 hours. The 

next day, varied amount of SELS were dissolved with 10 g of glycerin at temperature of 40℃. 

After the SELS were dissolved, bentonite was added into mixture and sterilized for 24 hours. 

Then, cocamidopropyl betaine, ethylenediaminatetra acetate acid were added and slowly 

homogenized using stir bar. Homogeneous preparations were allowed to stand for 1 hour and 

water was added at100 grams. Further evaluations were conducted after 24-hour storage. 

 

Table 1:Formulation of Bentonite SFCS 

Ingredients Amount (%) (w/w) 

Bentonite 3-5 

Cocamidopropyl betaine 1-3 

Potassium cocoate 1-5 

Sodium Ether Lauryl Sulphate (SELS) 2-7 

Ethylenediaminetetra acetic acid 0.1 

Glyserin 10 

Aquadest  ad 100 
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D-Optimal Mixture Design (DMD) of Bentonite SFCS 

 

The D-optimal mixture design was employed using Design software (version 10.0). The 

independent variables notated as (X) were the amount of 4 components in the formulation which 

are the amount of clay bentonite (X1%), sodium ether lauryl sulphate (SELS) (X2, %), 

potassium cocoate (X3, %) and Cocamidopropyl betaine (X4, %).  

 

The dependent variables or responses symbolized by (Y) were zeta potential (Y1, mV), viscosity 

(Y2, cps) and foamability (Y3,mL). The coded of independent variables and dependent variables 

were summarized in Table 2.  

 

The polynomial regression equation was used to generate the model of responses. The statistical 

parameters, including the adjusted multiple correlation coefficients (adjusted 𝑅2), lack of fit 

and regression (𝑃 value) were used to evaluate and select the model of responses (Maher, 

Fenelon, Zhou, Kamrul Haque, & Roos, 2011).  

 

Table 2: Summary of coded level of independent variables and response variables 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Variables 

Coded level of Independent 

Variables Response Variables 

Low level High level 

Bentonite (X1) 3 % 5% 

• Zeta potential (Y1, mV) 

• Viscosity (Y2, cps) 

• Foamability (Y3,mL) 

Sodium ether lauryl sulphate 

(SELS) (X2) 
5% 7% 

Potassium cocoate (X3) 4% 6% 

Cocamidopropyl betaine 

(X4) 
2% 4% 
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RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 
 

Results of three dependent variables (responses) from experimental design, viscosity (Y2, cps), 

foamability (Y3,mL) and zeta potential (Y1, mV) ranged from (-17.0333)-(-2.7000) mV, 

1.6700-74.7333 cps and 10.7033-12.1667 mL, respectively (Table 3). Statistically, all 

responses have significant model (p<0.005) and insignificant lack of fit (p>0.005) (Table 

4),indicated the fittest model toward the responses (Borhan, Abd Gani, & Shamsuddin, 2014; 

Tsai et al., 2013). The significant p-value of each coefficient indicated that each independent 

factor has strong effect towards the responses. 

 

The effect of independent variables to viscosity response followed the quadratic model shown 

in equation (1). According to equation (1) and Figure 1a, it was illustrated that the amount of 

clay bentonite (X1) and SELS (X2) has a positive effect on the viscosity response. The 

increasing viscosity due to the existence of clay also was found by Swain et al (Swain & Isayev, 

2007; Whitby & Garcia, 2014). The reduced 2FI model was depicted in Figure 1b and equation 

(2) for foamability response. Negative effect of the model shown in equation (2) and Figure 1b, 

were associated to the amount of SELS (X2) and the interaction with potassium cocoate (X2X3). 

This phenomenon is quite surprisingly as their functions were surfactant and stabilizer. Also, it 

was found that the amount of clay did not significantly affect to foamability. 

 

The linear model was shown in Equation (3) and the 3D graphs in Figure 1c for zeta potential 

response as stability indicator, illustrated the positive effect of amount SELS (X2), while other 

independent factors did not significantly affect the zeta potential response.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



78 

 

Table 3. Experimental design and data obtained from D-optimal mixture design 

 

X1: bentonite (%), X2: sodium ether lauryl sulphate (SELS) (%), X3: potassium cocoate (%), X4: 

cocoamidopropyl betaine (%) 

Y1: viscosity (cps), Y2: foamibility (mL), Y3: zeta potential (mV) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Std Run Component Response 

X1 X2 X3 X4 Y1 Y2 Y3 

8 1 3.00 4.50 5.00 3.00 16.9333 11.2333 -3.5000 

4 2 5.00 7.00 3.00 2.00 74.7333 11.3333 -4.2333 

3 3 1.00 7.00 3.00 2.00 2.0400 11.7333 -7.3333 

13 4 3.00 2.00 1.00 2.00 9.7267 11.2333 -14.2000 

6 5 3.00 4.50 5.00 1.00 11.4000 11.4667 -13.1000 

15 6 3.00 2.00 5.00 2.00 8.7600 12.1667 -5.6333 

10 7 5.00 4.50 3.00 1.00 49.0333 11.1667 -3.9333 

12 8 5.00 4.50 3.00 3.00 32.5333 11.4000 -4.4333 

20 9 5.00 4.50 5.00 2.00 33.0333 12.0667 -5.3000 

25 10 3.00 4.50 3.00 2.00 9.2667 11.8333 -4.3333 

16 11 3.00 7.00 5.00 2.00 13.6667 10.0000 -2.7000 

7 12 3.00 4.50 1.00 3.00 9.0000 11.0000 -3.7667 

24 13 3.00 7.00 3.00 3.00 11.9000 10.8667 -8.9000 

22 14 3.00 7.00 3.00 1.00 8.9267 11.5667 -9.1333 

18 15 5.00 4.50 1.00 2.00 44.8333 12.1667 -9.6000 

9 16 1.00 4.50 3.00 1.00 2.3600 10.7333 -13.5667 

2 17 5.00 2.00 3.00 2.00 20.9333 1.5000 -16.2667 

23 18 3.00 2.00 3.00 3.00 1.6700 12.0000 -17.0333 

1 19 1.00 2.00 3.00 2.00 4.0800 11.6333 -13.5000 

5 20 3.00 4.50 1.00 1.00 10.9667 11.5000 -13.6333 

17 21 1.00 4.50 1.00 2.00 0.8000 11.6333 -10.4667 

14 22 3.00 7.00 1.00 2.00 18.600 11.6333 -9.5333 

21 23 3.00 2.00 3.00 1.00 3.0400 11.8667 -12.8000 

11 24 1.00 4.50 3.00 3.00 2.7200 11.8000 -10.7667 

19 25 1.00 4.50 5.00 2.00 4.5600 12.1333 -8.9667 
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Table 4: Analysis Variance (ANOVA) for model of responses 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Viscosity (Y1) =19,8783X1 + 6,80473X2 + 13,96X1X2 + 12,3416X1X1 …………..…… (1) 

Foamability (Y2) = -0,272225X2 -0,641675X2X3……………………………………..… (2) 

Zeta Potential (Y3) = 3,13334X2 ……………………………………….……………….. (3) 

 

 

 

 

a           b              c     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Three dimensional (3D) graphs illustrate the effect of independent variables to 

responses. a. Effect of clay bentonite (X1) and SELS (X2) on viscosity response, b. Effect 

of SELS (X2) and potassium cocoate (X3) on foamability response, c. Effect of Effect of 

clay bentonite (X1) and SELS (X2) on zeta potential response

Parameter 

ANOVA 

Viscosity (cP) 

 

Foamability (cm) Zeta Potential (mV) 

Model (p<0,05) 0.0003 

Significant 

0.0027 

Significant 

0.0085 

Significant 

R-squared 0.9120 0.4167 0.2560 

Adj R-squared 0.8943 0,3635 0.2237 

A 0.0001 - - 

B 0.0066 0.0284 0.0052 

AB 0.0024 - - 

BC - 0.0042 - 

A2 0.0109 - - 

Model response Quadratic Reduced 2FI Linear 
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Table 5: The optimized formula and verification on responses between prediction and 

observation 

 

Optimized Formula Amount 

(%) 

Response Prediction Observation Bias 

(%) 

Bentonite (X1) 5.00 Viscosity 35.8163 cps 36.4556±1.633

5 

1.7849 

Sodium ether lauryl 

sulphate (SELS) (X2) 

2.20 Foamability 11.1685 mL 11.3556±0.202

3 

1.6752 

Potassium cocoate 

(X3) 

1.00 Zeta 

potential 

-13.5171 

mV 

-

11.8333±0.805

7 

12.4568 

Cocamidopropyl 

betaine (X4) 

1.00     

 

 

Verification of models were conducted on the obtained optimized-formula with criteria of the 

minimized viscosity, maximized foamibility, in target of zeta potential (-17 mV), maximized 

clay bentonite amount, minimized SELS, potassium cocoate and cocamidopropyl betaine 

amount. The bias values (%) between prediction and observation value of viscosity and 

foamability responses were less than 5 % indicates the models were all statistically satisfied 

(Borhan et al., 2014). 

 

Antibacterial test 

 

 
Figure 2. Percent reduction of Proteins mirabilis colony from liquid soap and self-foam soap 
 

Addition of clay to self-foaming preparations led to a less significant increase in the percent 

value of bacterial reduction. The increase of clay also has antibacterial activity with adsorption 

mechanism. Bacteria have cells that are rich in nucleic acids, which contain many negative 

charges in the form of phosphate groups. Clay has an anion charge that can make bacteria 

attached to the clay surface. The activity of the clay causes a synergistic effect with the 
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surfactant so that it can cause the antibacterial activity of the clay to increase. The surfactant 

itself has antibacterial activity that can reduce surface tension (Ambily & Jisha, 2012). 

 

Table 6. Amount of bacteria absorpted by liquid soap and self-foam soap 

 

Product Amount of bacteria 

(colony forming unit/CFU) 

Liquid soap bentonite 121.00 

Self-foam bentonite  120.33 
  

 

The result of antibacterial activity test of self-foaming clay soap (SFCS) also showed that with 

different clay material the antibacterial activity of the preparation was also different. This is 

supported by the literature that different clays have different antibacterial activity as well (Cao 

et al., 2011; Haydel, Remenih, & Williams, 2008; Hong et al., 2015; Jiang, Huang, Cai, Rong, 

& Chen, 2007), because different types of clay have different form of mineral compounds and 

different charge content, this charge is also responsible for the activity antibacterial from clay. 

The affinity of bacteria against the clay, hydrocarbon bonds and electrostatic interactions are 

the main forces governing bacterial adsorption on clay (Rong, Chen, Huang, Cai, & Liang, 

2010). 

CONCLUSIONS 

 

This present study showed that D-optimal mixture design of 4 independent variables (amount 

of clay bentonite, SELS, potassium cocate and Cocamidopropyl betaine) with 3 responses (zeta 

potential, viscosity and foamability) can be applied to optimize bentonite SFCS formulation. 

The models depicted from experimental design were significant to explain the effect of each 

variable independent toward response models. The self-foaming bentonite soap (SFCS 

bentonite) was proven has higher antibacterial activity than non-clay soap (liquid soap). 
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INTRODUCTION 

Halal product consumption is an order from Allah and an essential part of the Islamic faith. 

From spiritual devotion to religious conviction, Halal is fast becoming a profitable industry; 

expected to be worth USD1.6 trillion worldwide by 2018. It is certainly an industry that cannot 

be ignored, especially by companies which are keen to make their mark internationally. Halal 

should not be viewed as a purely religious centered but a realm of business and trade, and it is 

becoming a global symbol for quality assurance and lifestyle choices. As a highly reputed and 

recognized Muslim country, Malaysia is one of the pioneers in promoting Halal throughout the 

world and is well poised to play a leading role in boosting the Halal industry. The Malaysian 

government efforts and supports are admirable for instance, setting up Halal certification 

authority, providing incentives for Halal businesses, funding research on Halal related studies 

through universities and research institutes as well as organizing Halal training for industry 

practitioners. This is to promote the Halal industry with the objective to make Malaysia the 

global Halal hub for production and trade in Halal goods and services. 
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The Halal industry is also unique for being the largest industry where Islamic values are upheld 

throughout the whole production process, from raw materials sourcing, purchasing, financing, 

storage, manufacturing, further processing, distribution, logistics and retailing up to the 

consumption of products, where consumers are the utmost driver to the growth of this industry. 

In order to assure the consistency of quality standard and guidelines, over 100 Halal 

certification agencies worldwide such as JAKIM (Malaysia), Majelis Ulama Indonesia (MUI), 

The Islamic Religious Council of Singapore (MUIS), The Halal Institute of Thailand, Halal 

Australia, The Muslim Food Board (United Kingdom) and ISWA Halal Certification (United 

State of America) are authorized to certify Halal certification of Halal products. Companies 

awarded with Halal accreditation are given a trust to carry the responsibility to deliver a pure, 

hygienic and healthy product and services.  

 

Many businesses might not be aware that having a Halal certified business carries a very high 

responsibility towards Muslim consumers (Ibrahim et al, 2010). A business should put 

corporate social responsibility (CSR) as part of their strategic planning so that their business 

will be socially involved with the society (Ibrahim et al, 2010). In Halal business, the concept 

of CSR must be based on the Islamic business ethics which emphasize humanity while 

maintaining God’s order (Ahmad, S.F., 1991). The Halal rules and regulations based on the 

Islamic law, Halal certification requirements and the Halal standard become the basis for the 

Halal businesses to meet the legal responsibilities of the CSR pyramid (Ibrahim et al, 2010). 

 

Although government, authorization bodies and NGOs are actively promoting and encouraging 

companies to apply and comply with Halal certification, the number of unethical practices and 

violation of Halal certification (against CSR concept) among companies are increasing. There 

are cases where Halal certification has been revoked due to failure to follow the Halal standard. 

For example, Cadbury had to withdraw their Cadbury Dairy Milk Hazelnut and Cadbury Dairy 

Milk Roast Almond from the market due to a claim that the products contain traces of porcine 

elements. In United States, two McDonald outlets lostUS$700,000 in a lawsuit 

for violating their promises of serving Halal food while Midamar Corp., a beef supplier 

company based in Iowa has been accused for fraud for not meeting the Halal standards in cow 

slaughtering process. Following the breakout news of Halal violations, customer responded 

with acts such as conducting boycotts, relaying negative word of mouth and switching to other 

competitors that would bring damage to the brand and company reputation.  
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Moreover, severity of violation has been found to affect customer's trust and behaviour in trust 

repair (Bansal & Zahedi, 2015) and service failure recovery (Hess, 2003; Weun et al, 2004; 

McQuilken, 2010). Although consumers may have different perceptions and responses towards 

the seriousness of Halal violation by companies, the incident should not be treated as isolated 

issues. Unfortunately, minimal studies have been carried out on investigating Halal violation 

effect. Previous studies on Halal mainly focused on supply chain management (Tieman, et al, 

2014), purchase intention (Mukhtar and Butt, 2012), Halal certification (Marzuki, et al, 2012), 

and Halal products such as cosmetics (Aounand Tournois, 2015). Since this is a conceptual 

paper, the data and findings will be reported once data collection and analysis are completed. 

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 

The concept of corporate social responsibility has been widely discussed in the literature but its 

generally accepted definition is still debatable (Green & Peloza, 2011; Jamali, 2008). This is 

because the concept has been conceptualized from various angles (McDonald & Lai, 2011), 

such as economic perspective (Friedman, 1962), good corporate citizenship (Hemphill, 2004), 

and also from a broader perspective which covers economic, legal, ethical and philanthropy 

(Carroll, 1979). Among earlier definitions are from Bowen (1953:6) who defined CSR as the 

obligations of businessmen to pursue those policies, to make those decisions, or to follow those 

lines of actions which are desirable in terms of the objectives and values of our society. Other 

researchers such as Brown and Dacin (1997:68) define CSR as the company’s status and 

activities with respect to its perceived societal or, at least, stakeholder obligations. The concept 

has also been discussed in the literature from other perspectives such as consumer’s economics 

and theoretical perspective (McDonald & Lai, 2011). From the perspective of Halal business, 

the concept of CSR must be based on the Islamic business ethics which emphasize the 

benefiting of humanity while maintaining God’s order (Ahmad, S.F., 1991). The Halal rules 

and regulations are based on the Islamic law, Halal certification requirements and the Halal 

standards become the basis for the Halal businesses to meet the legal responsibilities of the CSR 

pyramid (Ibrahim et al, 2010). 
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Boycott on Violation of Halal Certification 

Dissatisfaction experiences are ordinary events in the marketplace. Unethical corporate 

behaviours frequently result in strong reactions from consumers and may elicit negative 

consumer emotions and behaviour (Lindenmeier, 2012). There are several ways consumers 

react to mistreatment by companies. One of it is products boycott. A boycott involves 

consumers abstaining from purchasing products owing to some form of ideological discontent 

with companies or certain countries (Lee, et al 2009). Lavorata (2014) argue that boycott occurs 

when some consumers avoid specific products and brands due to companies’ ethical credibility. 

Most consumers participate in boycotts as a way to express severe dissatisfaction (Braunsberger 

and Buckler, 2011). They claim that consumers participate in boycott because they want to 

force company to change or abandon behaviours that are considered to be unethical or socially 

irresponsible. Boycott is also a tool used by consumer to empower the disadvantaged and pursue 

conflicting ethical aims (Glazer, et al. 2010). In the case of Halal, once a product is found to 

violate the Halal certification awarded whether it is a speculation or actual incident, consumer 

especially Muslim consumers are expected to feel betrayed and angry. This will lead them to 

engage in negative consumption behaviour such as boycott. Gregoire and Fisher (2008) 

reported that the higher level of the feeling of betrayal, the higher the level of retaliation. Thus, 

in this study we predict that boycott participation on the product that is found violating Halal 

certification will be higher when the case is more severe, higher feeling of betrayal and low 

recovery satisfaction by consumer. Consumer feeling of betrayal will be represented in 

psychological contract violation construct. 
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Severity of violation on Halal 

 

Severity refers to the customer’s perceived intensity of the service failure (Weun et al., 2004) 

or the magnitude of loss experienced by customers as an outcome of the service failure or 

violation (Hess et al., 2008; Hsieh, 2012). The impact of violation on customers is likely to be 

related to their subjective evaluation of the intensity or seriousness (severity) of the violation. 

Additionally, customers’ losses due to violation could be tangible monetary loss or intangible 

emotional losses such as frustration, feelings of betrayal or inconvenience (Hess et al., 2008).  

Based on this, this study operationalizes severity of violation on Halal as customer’s perceived 

seriousness of the violation and the magnitude of loss experienced by customers as an outcome 

of the violation. It is expected that higher loss is incurred from a severe violation as compared 

to a minor violation and the higher the severity of the violation on Halal, the higher the 

retaliation and engagement in the boycott. 

 

Recovery Satisfaction 

 

Once a company faces Halal violation incident, recovery action should be taken immediately. 

Reports of investigation, public announcement, apologies, rebranding and new advertisement 

are some of the strategies taken by companies to recover from the damage. Service recovery is 

designed not just to resolve problem but also to alter negative behaviour from dissatisfied 

customers (such as boycott), and ultimately retain these customers (Gronroos, 1988; Miller et 

al., 2000). It is also crucial to ensure that consumers are satisfied with the recovery efforts by 

the company. However, until recently, research on customers’ satisfaction following a service 

recovery has been limited. Thus, consumers’ satisfaction towards the recovery action taken 

following to the violation issues will be tested. 

 

Psychological Contract Violation (PCV) 

 

Psychological contract is an individual's belief in mutual obligations between that person and 

another party such as another person or organization (Rousseau, 1989). This belief is predicated 

on the perception that a promise has been made and a consideration offered in exchange for the 

bind between all parties to some set of reciprocal obligations.Psychological contracts are 

broader in nature than legal contracts, and they include perceptual, unwritten, and implicit terms 

that cannot be explicitly incorporated in a legal contract. This term has been widely used in the 
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management field to picture the relationship between employee and the employer. 

Psychological contract has been an important study in the industry and any organization 

(Mohamed & Nor, 2013; Kiazad, Seibert, & Kraimer, 2014) for its positive outcome (Conway 

& Briner, 2002; Coyle-Shapiro & Kessler, 2002). However, the psychological contract can be 

breached if any of the parties failed to meet their obligation and may lead to psychological 

contract violation (PCV) (Rousseau, 1989; Robinson & Rousseau, 1994).  The failure of one 

party to fulfil their promise can be expected to erode both the relationship and the affected 

party's beliefs in the reciprocal obligations. Based on the literature that has validated the 

fundamental role of a psychological contract violation (PCV) and its potentially destructive 

impact on organizational relationships (Niehoff and Paul, 2001, Pate and Malone 2000, 

Robinson 1996, Rousseau 1989), this study proposes that PCV should be central to the 

understanding of Halal violation effects. Extending the literature (Rousseau 1989) to Halal 

violation, a consumer may perceive PCV if an individual seller or company fails to adequately 

fulfil its contractual obligations which is by following the guideline provided in achieving and 

maintaining JAKIM Halal certification, that includes hygienic issues or the presence of traces 

of porcine or alcohol during the production process and the end product. A company’s failure 

to fulfil its promises to customers in terms of convincing the Halal status of its product is 

expected to moderate the relationship between severity of violation and recovery satisfaction 

on boycott.  

 

HYPOTHESIS 

 

H1:  Severity of violation on Halal is associated with boycott. 

H2: Recovery satisfaction of the violation on Halal is associated with boycott. 

H3:  Psychological contract violation (PCV) is associated with boycott. 

H4:  Psychological contract violation (PCV) moderates the relationship between 

severity of violation on Halal and boycott. 

H5:  Psychological contract violation (PCV) moderates the relationship between 

recovery satisfaction and boycott. 

H6: Corporate social responsibility (CSR) moderates the relationship between severity 

of violation on Halal and boycott. 

H7: Corporate social responsibility (CSR) moderates the relationship between 

recovery satisfaction and boycott. 
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RESEARCH DESIGN 

Based on the objectives of the research, this study will adopt a multi-method research design. 

At the first stage of the research, a qualitative research design using an in-depth interview will 

be applied to explicate the response of consumers. Then, the cross-sectional survey research 

design using self-administered questionnaires will be applied. 

 

Population and Sampling 

Research survey questionnaires will be piloted, constructed and tested. Sampling will be 

selected by using quota sampling method. The questionnaire will be administered by using a 

drop-off collection technique. Target population focuses on consumers who consume Halal 

products in Malaysia. The interview schedule will be constructed and piloted before the actual 

data collection. A total of 800 consumers will be selected. Data from Selangor and Federal 

Territories that includes consumers in urban and rural areas will be collected. Data through on-

site observation and document analysis will also be conducted throughout the data collection 

process to complement the findings garnered from the interview and survey. 

 

Measurement Items 

Generally, all construct measures in the literature will be directly employed but necessary 

modification and adaptation will be made for any unsuitable items to suit the local context and 

purpose of study (Gu et al., 2008). Only scales that have reliability coefficient of Cronbach 

Alpha above the acceptable level of 0.7 or item factor loading above 0.5 will be employed as 

suggested by Nunally (1978). In addition, this study will adopt 5-point Likert scale because it 

is more reliable, and it can produce interval data that provides a greater volume of data than 

other scales (Cooper and Schindler, 1998).  

 

DATA ANALYSIS 
 

Qualitative data will be analyzed to generate an insight into the research problem and to assist 

in the interpretation of the quantitative results. Quantitative data analysis will be done according 

to two-step approach recommended by Gerbing and Anderson (1988): (1) estimating the 

measurement model; (2) analyzing the model and estimating path coefficient. The analysis will 

be done by using SPSS and SEM-PLS 3.0.  
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INTRODUCTION 

The term halal is not an extraterrestrial concept anymore. This is due to the growing trend of 

global halal industry and also the growing Muslim population worldwide. Currently, there are 

about 1.84 billion Muslims globally, making up about 24.4 per cent of the world’s population. 

By 2030, the number is expected to reach 2.2 billion (New Sraits Times Online, 9 April 2018). 

While halal is perhaps most often associated with food and drink, there are in fact a wide range 

of halal services which can be offered including healthcare, travel, tourism and financial 

services. With all the development and growth of this industry, it is important for all related 

entities especially the halal industrial players to understand halal-related issues. Islam is a 

sacred religion, and it should not be used as a tool for marketing per-se. Consumers should not 

be misled into choosing the product or service with Islamic label, but the end-result is not as 

good as what they get. 
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HALAL INDUSTRY IN MALAYSIA 
 

There are a lot of bodies involved in empowering Malaysia’s halal industry. Among the most 

important body is the government itself. The vision for Malaysia to be an international halal 

hub was developed during the early reign of the fifth Prime Minister, Datuk Seri Abdullah 

Ahmad Badawi. This initiative has led to the strong role of the Malaysian government to lead 

and support initiatives and efforts by players in the halal industry.  This includes establishing 

the Halal Industry Development Corporation (HDC) as the driving machine to manage key 

areas of the Malaysian halal industry, particularly in terms of certification and logo recognition. 

The role of the Malaysian government in halal certification has also increased the credibility of 

the Malaysian halal logo as compared to other halal-producing countries (Raja Nerina Raja 

Yusof, 2013).  

 

There are several organizations involved directly and indirectly in the Malaysia Halal food 

industry locally as well as globally. They can be classified according to their functions either 

as a policy-maker, supervisory bodies and others. Among the most important organization that 

was established is the Department of Islamic Development Malaysia or Jabatan Kemajuan 

Islam Malaysia (JAKIM). JAKIM plays an important role in certifying and approving halal 

applications from various sectors e.g. the halal suppliers, halal premises as well as the halal 

products. JAKIM halal logo has been accepted and recognized worldwide. Besides, JAKIM has 

also developed the Halal portal whereby the consumer may check and be kept updated on 

current issues relating to halal.  

 

Additionally, Halal Development Corporation (HDC) which was established in September 

2006 aims at standardizing the development of halal industries in Malaysia. HDC focuses on 

the development of halal standard, halal audit and certification and also the development of 

halal products and service capacity. Further, HDC also supports the participation of the 

Malaysia’s halal companies in the global market. Among the activities offered is the halal-

related training for example Halal Executive Program (HEP), Halal Awareness Program (HAP) 

and many more (Nurul Aini et.al, 2016). 
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With reference to Malaysia’s Halal Certification, The MS1500:2004 was the first documented 

standard on halal food established by the Malaysian government as an initiative to produce a 

more coordinated halal guideline in the country. Prior to 2004, the country had no national 

standards for producing halal products and only referred to informal documents and procedures 

produced by the Department of Islamic Development Malaysia (JAKIM). Standards Malaysia, 

under the Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation, has been given the responsibility to 

develop the local halal standards. However, in October 2009 this standard was replaced by 

MS1500:2009 –Halal Food – Production, Preparation, Handling and Storage –General 

Guidelines (Second Revision).  

 

This standard MS1500:2009 is best used with two other standards which are MS1480 –Food 

Safety according to the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) system and MS 

1514 – General principles of food hygiene. Elements from GMP (Good Manufacturing 

Practices) are included in the halal standards to strengthen the safety and hygiene components 

in the manufacturing process Now, there are various standards that have been developed by 

Standards Malaysia and although it is still optional for firms to adopt these standards, many 

advantages await those that are halal-compliant (Halal Industry Development Corporation, 

2012). 

 

Other than what has been stated above, there are various initiatives that have been taken by 

Malaysia in empowering the halal industry. Malaysia has established a Technical Committee 

on Halal Food and Islamic Consumer Products which provides seminars and courses to educate 

people on the halal standard and certification. Malaysia initiated the World Halal Forum, 

Malaysian International halal Showcase (MIHAS) and World Halal Research as annual events 

since 2004, which became the largest events in gathering global halal industry players, 

entrepreneurs and academicians. Currently it seems that Malaysia has a lot of positive 

development and will continue its effort in developing this industry. 

 

  



97 

 

THE USE OF ISLAMIC ELEMENTS: PROBLEM BACKGROUND AND 

STATEMENT 

 
The concern for the misuse of the Quranic verses and Prophetic traditions for marketing 

purposes has been overwhelming due to the non-existence of Shariah guidelines and parameters 

by regulators. In some cases, non-Muslim business owners have been identified to utilize 

Islamic names for their food labelling and branding such as “Pau Ahmad”, “Mi Cap Masjid” 

and “P.Ramly Burger”, which some of them are clearly non-halal foods. 

 

Therefore, this study aims to analyze the use of Islamic elements in marketing of food products, 

particularly in the Malaysian market. The outcome of this study could highlight some of the 

Shariah parameters relevant to the regulators in determining the permissible extent of this 

practice. 

 

Issue 1: The Use of Islamic Elements in Foods Branding and Marketing 

 

The use of Islamic elements in marketing and labelling of food products is increasingly popular 

and is becoming a widespread in the Malaysian market. There are so many examples of such 

practices e.g. labelling the food products as “Prophetic food”, “Quranic water therapy” and 

“Chicken with Quranic therapy”.  Based on the authors’ preliminary observations, the use of 

these Islamic elements could be categorized as follows: 

 

1. Quran-related such as ruqyah where Quranic verses are claimed to be recited or 

written on specific products. 

2. Sunnah-related such as “makanan Sunnah” or Prophetic foods with certain 

combinations between them or other ingredients in ways that are not reported in 

the traditions of the Prophet PBUH. 

3. Islamic icons and pictures such as pictures of mosques.  

4. Islamic performance of worships such as prostration in prayers and 

supplication/prayer. 

5. Islamic or Muslim names such as masjid, Sunnah and Ahmad. 

6. See the two below figures for examples. 
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Both rice and noodle are products of non-Muslim-owned company. 
 

Issue 2: The Misuse of Islamic Elements for Haram Foods Branding and Marketing 

 

The misuse on Islamic elements could also be found for non-halal foods. One of the major 

outcries in Malaysia on this subject was the misuse of a Muslim’s icon name and a well-known 

halal brand for burger to promote a pork burger. This case took place in 2016 where a local 

burger joint known as “Ninja Joe” naming its pork burger as “P.Ramly”. See the below figure.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Source: www.straitstimes.com 

Ninja Joe’s owner, Mr. Kelvin Tan claimed that the company chose the name “P.Ramly” as an 

admiration to the first well-known burger brand in Malaysia, i.e. Ramly Burger, as the pork 

Figure 1: White Rice with Masjid’s 

Name and Picture 

Figure 2: “Bihun Istimewa” with the 

Picture of Masjid 

Figure 2: A Pork Burger Named as “P.Ramly” in 2016 

 

http://www.straitstimes.com/
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burger was launched on the Malaysia’s Independence Day (31st August) [B Harian]. However, 

the owner of Ramly Burger’s brand did not welcome and appreciate the approach. The founder 

and owner of Ramly Group, a popular Malaysian food brand operator Ramly Burger, 

questioned Ninja Joe's actions. According to him, it was just misleading and wrong because the 

brand name would cause confusion to the public who may think that Ramly Burger also issued 

a non-halal burger. Ramly added that the actions of Ninja Joe could also cause other conflict 

due to his name's equality to the country's artist, Tan Sri P. Ramlee, who was also a Muslim. 

 

The Malaysian Islamic Consumer Association (PPIM) also opposed the actions of Ninja Joe 

and claimed that the name was capable of misleading the public, although the product poster at 

the shopping centre in Petaling Jaya clearly stated that it was pork burgers. (Malaymail online, 

October 25, 2016). The Muslim Consumers Association of Malaysia (PPIM) demanded the 

Malaysian government to take legal action on the company (Straits times). PPIM’s Activist 

chief Datuk Nadzim Johan described the restaurant’s misleading and illegal acts were against 

the Consumer Protection Act 1999, which should be dealt with immediately by the authorities 

[B Harian]. Consequently, Selangor Islamic Religious Department (JAIS) and Negeri 

Sembilan’s Islamic Affairs Department (JHEAINS) started investigation on the case based on 

two potential outlaws: (i) the use of misleading words, and (ii) deceit on Muslims to use non-

halal goods [B Harian]. The company could be charged RM5 million at maximum and RM10 

million at maximum for the respective outlaws. 

 

On the other hand, human rights lawyer, Fahri Azzat, said the product’s name does not show 

the halal status of a particular product; instead, a halal certificate and a halal logo would define 

the halal status of the product. According to him, the Trade Descriptions Act 2011 and its 

subsidiaries such as the Trade Description Act (Halal definition) 2011 apply only if the 

company or person puts a 'halal' label on their product, which means that they would only apply 

if Ninja Joe claimed its products as halal or edible by Muslims (Malaymail online, Oct 31, 

2016). 
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However, according to the Selangor Islamic Religious Department (JAIS), Ninja Joe was 

allegedly have violated Section 4 (1) of the Trade Descriptions (Halal Certification and 

Marking) Order 2011, which prevented any food from being described or indicated in other 

ways as halal and could be consumed by Muslims unless the product is authorized by a 

competent authority and marked with a halal logo. 

 

JAIS with the Negeri Sembilan Islamic Affairs Department (JHEINS) has investigated the 

Ninja Joe's shop following public complaints that the "P. Ramly" burger is said to have misled 

Muslims (Malaymail online, 31 Oct 2016). This case and its similar prove the needs of having 

a comprehensive legal standard to prevent the misuse of Islamic elements on food branding and 

marketing. 

 

Current State 

 

Until now, there is no specific law on the misuse of Islamic elements in food branding and 

marketing. There is only one legal verdict issued by the National Fatwa Council for Islamic 

Affairs in Malaysia related to this issue in 2015. The National Fatwa Council for Islamic Affairs 

in Malaysia, in its 108th meeting on 2-3 November 2015, has discussed the ruling for the use 

of ruqyah (recitation of selected Quranic verses for medical purposes) for commercial purposes. 

The Council has ruled that the use of ruqyah on any product for commercial purposes is not 

allowed either on labelling, advertising or promotion.  

 

As a result, the Malaysian Islamic Development Department (JAKIM) on February 4, 2016 

issued a 2-year 2016 Malaysian halal certification circular which addresses the prohibition of 

using the ruqyah verse, "sunnah food"/ “makanan Sunnah” and the like for labelling, advertising 

or promotion of products effective from 15 February 2016 for all Malaysian halal certification 

certificate applicant. The circular has been issued pursuant to the Trade Descriptions (Halal 

Certificate and Marking) Order 2011.Therefore, all companies or Malaysian halal certification 

applicants are required to observe and be aware of the implementation of this circular. But this 

circular only applies to products that apply for halal certification but does not apply to other 

products that do not apply for halal certification. This raises the question of non-exhaustive 

application of the law. The misuse of Islamic elements on food branding and marketing should 

be constrained prudently to prevent Halal consumers from being misled in making choices. The 

absence of specific law provisions led to this widely abused matter among the public. As a 
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country that places Islam as the official religion of the Federation, this issue should be given 

special attention to protect the sanctity of Islam.   

 

In Utusan Malaysia press dated May 30, 2017, there were more than 40 complaints received by 

the Malaysian Islamic Consumers Association (PPIM) on products and brands using the Malay 

or Islamic names to outline their goods. PPIM's activist Datuk Nadzim Johan said most of the 

terms used have caused confusion to consumers as the brand's status of the product is dubious. 

Subsequently, he called on the Companies Commission of Malaysia (SSM) and the Ministry of 

Domestic Trade, Cooperatives and Consumerism to look for new methods in addressing the 

issue. Among the suggestions given is that responsible parties can issue instructions to product 

manufacturers using classifications or labels to specify the product whether it is issued by a 

Muslim company or not. If the status of the product is known, it is up to the consumer to either 

purchase the item or not. According to Nadzim, the use of the product brand is also not in line 

with the aspect of halal expressions subject to the Trade Descriptions Act. In other words, the 

product brand per se should not lead to implying that the product is halal. Product brand status 

should be clarified so that it does not cause improper use.  

 

The Islamic Development Department of Malaysia (JAKIM), in responding to the above issue, 

has admitted that it is difficult to provide a new system to differentiate the products of Muslims 

with the non-Muslim products. On the other hand, JAKIM can only ask the relevant product 

manufacturers to choose the appropriate symbol for avoidance of confusion, while consumers 

are advised to only purchase products that have Halal JAKIM certificates or their accredited 

ones. JAKIM’s Director-General Tan Sri Othman Mustapha said it was difficult for Jakim to 

provide a system to differentiate the two products. (Ismaweb, June 2, 2017). 
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SHARIAH ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 

 
The need to extend the discussion of this issue from a Shariah perspective is deemed necessary 

as the misuse of Islamic elements might pose a reputational threat to the religion of Islam itself 

and jeopardize the halal industry. According to Kelantan Mufti Datuk Mohamad Shukri 

Mohamad, Islam does not encourage the names and terminologies of the religion to be exploited 

for marketing purposes, thus leveraging sales of products. This is because labelling products 

like ‘Prophetic Food’ or 'Makanan Sunnah' can confuse and deceive others. However, this act 

does not come to the destructive level of the faith, but it must be curbed because of the sun's 

phenomenon that causes each race to produce sunnah products whereas no one can make sure 

that it is really sunnah. Moreover, there is no clear justification to claim that the product meets 

the characteristics of the sunnah. This is alarming as more and more traders are daring to use 

the term solely in the pursuit of business including claims that their products have been used by 

Prophet Muhammad SAW. In Islam, any production that meets the concepts and rules of 

Islamic law has fallen in the category of sunnah because they are prepared according to 

Rasulullah's teachings. What is important is to seek the pleasure of God and therefore it is not 

necessary to claim any product as a sunnah with the intention of lining up the goods. It is 

important that the product does not have any deceiving elements or tricks that are associated to 

Islam; Islam does not specify that any product must be labelled with the word sunnah. This 

includes the claims of drinking water which has been laundered or read aloud with the verses 

of the Qur'an and so forth, while, in actuality, it is just mineral water alone. So, thesis not 

necessary to be associated with any act of worship and then sold at an expensive price. 

According to Datuk Mohamad Shukri Mohamad, if one product uses special materials so that 

the price is higher, then it is no longer the sunnah. (Utusan Online, February 8, 2017). 

 

Shariah Basis for Constraining the Use of Islamic Elements in Foods Branding and 

Marketing: An Analysis 

 

The Shariah bases for prohibiting the misuse of Islamic elements in food branding and marketing are: 

 

1. The Quranic provisions 

2. The Sunnah of the Prophet Muhammad PBUH in Prohibiting Deceitfulness in Business 

3. Siyasah Shar’iyyah for the protection of Maqasid al-Shariah (Shariah Objectives) 

4. Sadd al-Dhari’ah (Blocking the Means to Unlawful and Evil Consequences) 
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The Quranic Provisions 

 

The Quranic teachings emphasize on the values of honesty, fairness and mutual consent in 

business dealings. Mutual consent between the dealing parties is fundamental from an Islamic 

perspective.  This is illustrated by verse 29 of al-Nisa’ as follows: 

 

 

“O you who have believed, do not consume one another's wealth unjustly but only 

[in lawful] business by mutual consent.” 

 

The Quranic teaching also calls attention to the realization of fairness in all dealings. In this 

context, verse 90 of al-Nahl states: 

 

 

“Indeed, Allah orders justice and good conduct and giving to relatives.” 

 

Mutual consent and fairness in business dealings could not be built on malpractices. The misuse 

of Islamic element in food branding and marketing does violate the principles of mutual consent 

and fairness. False information or misinformation of products by the misuse of Islamic element 

may render a transaction as void or voidable or non-binding. Therefore, proper constraint 

should be enforced upon the misuse of Islamic elements in food branding and marketing.  

 

The Sunnah of the Prophet Muhammad PBUH in Prohibiting Deceitfulness in Business 

 

This misuse of Islamic element in marketing business products could be traced back to the era 

of Prophet PBUH. During his time, some merchants used to make oath by the name of Allah in 

order to persuade the customers to buy their products. In order to prohibit such practice, the 

Prophet PBUH was reported to say: 
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ْلَعِة ُمْمِحقَةٌ ِلْلبََرَكة  اْلَحِلُف ُمنَف ِقَةٌ ِللس ِ

“The oath may sell the product, but at the same time it nullifies the blessing” 

(al-Bukhari, No. 2087). 

 

The use of deceit in marketing is also condemned by the Prophet PBUH where he said:  

 

 َمْن َغشََّنا فَلَْيَس ِمنَّا

“Anyone who cheated us is not amongst us”  

(Ibnu Majah, No. 2225). 

 

The first hadith is one of the Shariah evidences for the prohibition on the misuse of Islamic 

element such as the name of Allah in business marketing. Furthermore, cheating and deception 

in business are critically condemned in Islam. The misuse of Islamic element in food branding 

and marketing carries both prohibited elements, hence, should be prohibited based on the 

Prophetic teachings in Islam. 

 

 

Siyasah Shar’iyyah for the Protection of Maqasid al-Shari’ah (Shariah Objectives) 
 

Protection of maqasid al-Shariah is one of the fundamental tasks held on the responsibility of 

the authorities and regulators. One of the paths for this function is through Siyasah Shar’iyyah. 

Siyasah Shar’iyyah refers to good practices in management and regulations that are compliant 

to the principles of Islam. The misuse of Islamic element in food branding and marketing could 

tarnish the image of Islam and mislead the halal-seeking customers. Therefore, Muslim 

regulators and authorities should consider Siyasah Shar’iyyah by constraining the use of Islamic 

elements in foods branding and marketing to preserve the sanctity of Islam and evade the unjust 

misconception of Islam due to badness of the products and services using Islamic elements in 

their branding and marketing. 
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Sadd al-Dhari’ah (Blocking the Means to Unlawful and Evil Consequences) 

 

Constraining of the use of Islamic element for food branding and marketing in several 

circumstances could also be based on the principle of sadd al-dhari’ah from the Shariah 

perspective. Sadd al-dhari’ah literally means blocking the means. This principle means 

that the Shariah may prohibit some matters due to their consequences, with several 

conditions laid down in the literatures of Usul al-Fiqh. The misuse of Islamic element in 

food branding and marketing could cause misunderstanding amongst halal-seeking 

customers. They may pay unreasonably higher price due to the appearance of Islamic 

element on the food. Although, in reality, the food does not satisfy the Islamic concept 

that it carries. Confusion, misconception and false selection could be the results of the 

misuse of Islamic element in food branding and marketing. Therefore, these practices 

could be prohibited and constrained based on the principle of sadd al-dhari’ah. 

 

 

Critical Need for Legal Standard Preventing the Misuse of Islamic Elements in 

Foods Branding and Marketing 

 

Based on the previous discussion, it is observable that Malaysian Halal industry does 

require specific enforceable legal parameters for constraining the misuse of Islamic 

elements in food branding and marketing. This need has its grounding in the Quranic 

injunctions, the Prophetic traditions, Siyasah Shar’iyyah, Maqasid al-Shari’ah and Sadd 

al-Dhari’ah. Some of the potential parameters for considerations are as follows: 

 

1. The use of Islamic element for non-halal food branding and packaging is strictly 

unlawful and punishable accordingly. 

2. The use of Islamic element which could tarnish the image and reputation of Islam 

is strictly prohibited. 

3. The use of ruqyah Shar’iyyah for differentiating food products and increasing their 

prices is prevented due to uncertainty element. 

4. The branding of food products as “makanan Sunnah” or “Prophetic foods” is 

disallowed due to non-clear definition and non-existence of guidelines for the 

practice.
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CONCLUSION 
 

Preventing the misuse of Islamic elements is in line with the first and main Shariah objective 

of protecting the religion (hifz al-din). Regulation on food branding and marketing with the use 

of Islamic elements is necessary to protect the sanctity and reputation of Islam. It is time for the 

regulators, particularly JAKIM (Department of Islamic Development Malaysia) and HDC 

(Halal Development Corporation), to come up with a comprehensive standard that provides 

guidelines on the use of Islamic elements in food branding and marketing, especially products 

with Halal logo and certification.  
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DISTURBING FACTS IN JAMIE OLIVER V 

MCDONALD: RE-EXAMINE THE LEAN FINELY 

TEXTURED BEEF (LFTB) FROM HALALAN 

TAYYIBA PERSPECTIVES 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

We have heard lines up of cases were brought against McDonald from several jurisdictions. In 

early 1990, a lawsuit was brought against McDonald for producing French fries that contains 

beef flavouring during the process. This suit has resulted with an apology letter issued by the 

management and a payment worth $100 Million to vegetarians and religious groups.5 In 2013, 

McDonald’s decided to take for granted serving the halal foods located in Dearborn, Michigan 

despite advertising for halal foods at the outlet. Despite serving halal foods as advertised, the 

customer claimed that the menu served were not consistently halal. In 2001, McDonald's sued 

a small restaurant named McCurry, a popular eatery serving Indian food in Jalan Ipoh, Kuala 

Lumpur, Malaysia. McDonald's claimed that the use of the "Mc" prefix infringed its trademark, 

while the defendant claimed that McCurry stood for Malaysian Chicken Curry (The Star, 2009). 

  

 
5 Block vs. McDonald's Corp., Sharma vs. McDonald's Corp., Bansal v. McDonald's Corp., Zimmerman v. 

McDonald's Corp. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jalan_Ipoh
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kuala_Lumpur
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kuala_Lumpur
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Malaysia
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In 2006, McDonald's won an initial judgment in the High Court. The judge ruled that the prefix 

Mc and the use of colours distinctive of the McDonald's brand could confuse and deceive 

customers. In April 2009, however, a three-member Appeal Court panel overturned the verdict, 

saying that there was no evidence to show that McCurry was passing off its own product as that 

of McDonald's. The Appeal Court also said that McDonald's cannot claim an exclusive right to 

the "Mc" prefix in the country. McDonald's appealed the decision to the Federal Court, the 

highest court in Malaysia. In September 2009, the Federal Court upheld the Appeal Court's 

decision. McDonald's appeal was dismissed with costs, and was ordered to pay RM10, 000 to 

McCurry. 

 

The court decision in Jamie Oliver v McDonald sent shockwave to the McDonald’s burger 

lovers. It was scientifically proven that the fatty parts of beef are “washed” in ammonium 

hydroxide and used in the filling of the burger. He contended that besides the low quality of the 

meat, the ammonium hydroxide used in the process is harmful to health. The process is known 

as the “the pink slime process.” 

 

Ammonium hydroxide is considered part of the “component in a production procedure”. The 

patty beef applies the lean finely textured beef (LFTB) process.  LFTB is a beef product 

developed by Beef Products, Inc. (BPI), in 1991 to provide more domestic lean beef. BPI 

purchases beef trimmings, mostly 50% lean or less, from USDA inspected beef processing 

plants, heats the trimmings, and sends them through a centrifuge process that separates the fat 

and the meat.  

 

The resulting product is LFTB that is 94% to 97% lean beef, according to BPI (Greene, 2012). 

Ammonia is responsible for the odour of urine, which exists in part to ferry ammonia waste out 

the body. That said, because ammonia is a waste product, the body is very good at getting rid 

of it. Consequently, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) lists ammonia as "generally 

recognized as safe" in the quantities used in pink slime. Ammonia is also found in puddings, 

baked goods, and other products. In fact, in a cheeseburger that contains pink slime, the cheese 

on top may contain more ammonia by weight than the beef patty (Concannon, 2012; Lisa, 

2012). 

 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/High_Courts_of_Malaysia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Court_of_Appeal_of_Malaysia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federal_Court_of_Malaysia
https://www.livescience.com/15576-urine-colors-smells-health.html
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Later, after being pushed on pink slime issues, finally McDonald claims that such pink slime 

are no longer used as part of their products’ ingredients (Reilly, 2015). For Malaysia case, 

McDonald’s® Malaysia release a statement that they never use the pink slime in their products 

(McDonald’s® Malaysia, 2017).  This paper starts with an introduction of the issues on LFTB 

and McDonald. Next, this paper elaborates on LFTB and the pink slime. Later, regulations on 

LFTB are explained especially from the FDA perspectives. Then, discussion and conclusion on 

LFTB from halalan tayyiba perspectives are made. 

 

LEAN FINELY TEXTURED BEEF (LFTB) AND THE PINK SLIME  
 

Lean finely textured beef (LFTB) is a process of meat extraction from beef trimmings that uses 

ammonium gas (anhydrous ammonia) as an antimicrobial intervention directed primarily at E. 

coli O157:H76, but also effective on Salmonella7. The ammonium hydroxide antimicrobial 

process, called pH enhancement by BPI, was approved by USDA in 2001. The process involves 

a mixture of LFTB with food-grade ammonia gas which creates ammonium hydroxide, which 

in turn raises the pH level in the LFTB and kills pathogens (Gerhardt, 2001). These processes 

are widely used as a way to boost the leanness of meat products. Besides ground beef, LFTB is 

also used in other products such as lunch meats, sausage, and canned meats. Normally LFTB 

processes are used in the fast food sectors. 

 

Pathogen or also known as bacterium, virus or other microorganisms, which can cause diseases. 

The usage of ammonium hydroxide is the main concern. Ammonium hydroxide has been 

widely used in food processing for many years. In 1970, the safety of ammonium hydroxide 

was examined by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Ammonium hydroxide is a 

processing aid in dairy products, confections, baked goods, breakfast cereals, eggs, fish, sports 

drinks, beer, and meat (Food Insight, 2009). The use of ammonium hydroxide is based on its 

status as an FDA “generally recognized as safe” (GRAS) substance that is used according to 

current good manufacturing practices (GMP). 

 

 
6 The worst type of E. coli, known as E. coli O157:H7, causes bloody diarrhoea and can sometimes causekidney 

failure and even death. E. coli O157:H7 makes a toxin called Shiga toxin and is known as a Shiga toxin-

producing E. coli (STEC). Available [Online] at, https://www.foodsafety.gov/poisoning/ 

causes/bacteriaviruses/ecoli/index.html(Accessed on 25 January 2018). 
7 They are many possible sources of a salmonella infection such asmeat. Some of our favourite proteins to cook 

and eat have the bacteria includingpoultry (chicken, turkey and duck), beef and vealpork.Available [Online] at, 

https://www.webmd.com/food-recipes/food-poisoning/what-is-salmonella#1 (Accessed on 25 January 2018). 

https://www.foodsafety.gov/poisoning/%20causes/bacteriaviruses/ecoli/index.html
https://www.foodsafety.gov/poisoning/%20causes/bacteriaviruses/ecoli/index.html
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FDA REGULATIONS 
 

Chapter 1 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21, Volume 3, Sec. 184.1139 on 

Ammonium hydroxide outlines that it is known as NH4OH, CAS Reg. No. 1336-21-6 and 

produced by passing ammonia gas into water. 

 

In accordance with Sec 184.1(b) (1), this ingredient is used in food with no limitation other than 

current good manufacturing practice. The affirmation of this ingredient as generally recognized 

as safe (GRAS) as a direct human food ingredient is based upon the following current good 

manufacturing practice conditions of use: 

 

1. The ingredient is used as a leavening agent as defined in sec 170.3(o) (17) of this 

chapter; containing a pH control agent as defined in 170.3(o) (23), a surface-

finishing agent as defined in 170.3(o) (30) of this chapter; and as a boiler water 

additive complying with 173.310 of this chapter. 

2. The ingredient is used in food at levels not to exceed current good manufacturing 

practice. The ingredient may also be used as a boiler water additive at levels not 

to exceed current good manufacturing practice. 

 

Prior sanctions for this ingredient different from the uses established in this section do not exist 

or have been waived (FDA, 2017). 

 

FSIS Directive 7120.18 that states “Safe and Suitable Ingredients Used in the Production of 

Meat, Poultry, and Egg Products” lists two uses of ammonium hydroxide: The first as a pH 

control agent in brine solutions, and the second as an antimicrobial agent for beef carcasses and 

boneless beef trimmings. Anhydrous ammonia is listed as an antimicrobial agent for LFTB 

when LFTB is quick-frozen and mechanically stressed. Whether it is used as a pH control or an 

antimicrobial agent, labelling is not required, because it is used as a processing aid (Burrows & 

Brougher, 2008). 

  

 
8 This directive provides inspection program personnel (IPP) with an up-to-date list of substances that may be used 

in the production of meat, poultry, and egg products. It also lists the approved On-Line Reprocessing (OLR) and 

Off-Line Reprocessing (OFLR) Antimicrobial Intervention Systems 
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FDA affirmed ammonium hydroxide as GRAS in 1974 after extensive review of the scientific 

literature and a rulemaking process.  Ammonium hydroxide was one of 235 substances that 

were subjected to a full safety review by the Select Committee on GRAS Substances (SCOGS), 

an independent committee of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 

(FASEB) that reported its findings to FDA.  The SCOGS report to FDA concluded that: 

 

“Ammonia and the ammonium ion are integral components of normal metabolic 

processes and play an essential role in the physiology of man…. the Select 

Committee concludes that: There is no evidence in the available information on…. 

ammonium hydroxide….. that demonstrates, or suggests reasonable grounds to 

suspect, a hazard to the public when [it is] used at levels that are now current or 

that might reasonably be expected in the future.” 

(FDA, 1974). 

 

GRAS status means that a substance is generally recognized, among experts qualified by 

scientific training and experience to evaluate their safety, as safe for its intended use. According 

to the Congressional Research Service, prior to the latest wave of publicity about LFTB, three 

of the largest fast food chains stopped using LFTB in their ground beef. McDonald’s, the largest 

buyer of ground beef; Burger King; and Taco Bell reportedly stopped using LFTB in 2011. 

USDA does not buy LFTB but allows ground beef suppliers to include LFTB in ground beef, 

up to 15% by volume. In 2011, USDA bought 117 million pounds of ground beef that included 

7.2 million pounds (about 6.2%) LFTB. According to USDA’s Undersecretary for Food, 

Nutrition, and Consumer Services, schools buy about 60% of their beef through USDA. 

Although LFTB or famously known as the pink slime, had received negative remarks since 

2012. ABC News broadcast reported that LFTB as “pink slime,” as “beef trimmings that were 

once used only in dog food and cooking oil (Lisa, 2012). 
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The next question is to determine whether the products incorporating the heat up of beef 

trimmings, and centrifuge out the fat, producing beef they claim to be 95 percent lean from 

halalal tayyiba perspectives. The products injected into small pipes along with ammonia gas, 

which makes the meat more alkaline and therefore inhospitable to bacterial growth (Yoquinto, 

2012). Yunus et al. (2010) refers the word tayyib can be aptly translated as ‘with quality’ or 

‘surpassed standard quality’ in the context of modern usage of the word quality. 

 

As pointed out by the scientist, ammonia is naturally produced in the body as a waste product. 

Ammonia is responsible for the odour of urine, which exists in part to irrigate ammonia waste 

out the body. Being declared safe by the FDA will this means halal and tayyiba? 

 

OBSERVATION AND CONCLUSION  
 

The concept of halalan tayyiba denotes good quality with sufficient minerals and vitamins as 

needed. These two aspects that are halal and of best quality will not only ensure physical health 

and alertness but will also be a push factor that will help to increase the quality of ones taqwa 

(God-fearing) and syukur (Gratefulness) toward Allah SWT (Yunus et al., 2010). The concept 

extends beyond restriction on pork or liquor. It is defined as something that must be avoided 

according to the Islamic law (Ibn Abdul Barr, 2000). 

 

The haram is caused by its face value. The harmfulness and defectiveness that are caused by 

the matter itself. It is defined as something that is prohibited by syari’at to begin with because 

it contains certain harm or defect that cannot be removed (Zaydan, 1997). Among those in these 

categories are flesh of swine, carcass, intoxicant and fornication. Harmfulness and 

defectiveness that are in reality stemmed by internal factor and definitely not external factor 

(Al-Zuhayli, 1986; Ahmad & Ahmad, 2002).  

 

In the fundamental of Islamic Jurisprudence, it is defined as something that is essentially 

permissible from the Islamic law to begin with but becomes haram due to external factors 

(Zaydan, 1997). For example, giving a knife to a chef in the kitchen as a gift is mubah and even 

commendable.  However, giving the same knives as gifts to two men who are in the middle of 

a fight is not allowed.  Even though the knife is not something haram in Islam but in the 

situation and condition as such would make giving the knives deemed to be forbidden. 

 

https://www.livescience.com/34876-antibiotic-resistant-mutating-bacteria-superbugs-100901.html
https://www.livescience.com/15576-urine-colors-smells-health.html
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Tayyib refers to a quality and standards in food production. Based on the categories of food 

above, Allah commands the believers to eat good and pure things that Allah has provided and 

be grateful if they really worship Him. Mohammad (1992) divided good and pure foods into 

two categories as follow:   

 

a) Good and pure in quality. 

b) Good and pure because it is halal.  

 

This paper proposes new categories to the above as suggested by Mohammad (1992) as follows: 

 

a) Haram and prohibited foods on its own (haram lizzatihi) such as pork and liquor. 

b) Halal foods and mubah on its face value and nature such as fruits and vegetables. 

c) Halal foods on its methods of execution, wajib in nature such as slaughtering on 

cows in order to get halal meat. 

d) Halal foods on its face value which is mubah in nature such as fruits and 

vegetables, however, prepared for consumption in harmful ways, such as coating 

apples with wax and injecting chemicals into fruits for them to be longer lasting and 

attractive. Insertion of chemicals to kill pathogens and bacteria’s using harmful and 

toxic materials which are harmful for human consumption for short and long term. 

e) Halal foods on its methods of execution, wajib in nature such as slaughtering on 

cows in order to get halal meat, however the methods of preparation is not tayyiban. 

 

For example, the wagyu beefthat are raised in Japans Hyogo region must conform to the strict 

standards imposed on these farms. Kobe beef is considered the most exclusive beef in the world. 

This beef comes from an ancient stock of cattle called “Kuroge Wagyu” a black-haired 

Japanese cattle. Today, they are raised on only 262 small farms; one pasture has less than five 

cows, and the largest of which runs only about 15 animals. Each animal is pampered and 

attended to like a spoiled child. Their diets are controlled under the strictest supervision and 

during the final fattening process; the cattle are fed huge quantities of sake and beer mash. And 

although it may be hard to believe, it is true that each animal does get a daily massage. 

According to the report, this is what is referred to as their legendary beer-massage practices. 

Kobe beef regularly feed on beer and are massaged daily to make them tender. Beer is fed to 

the cattle during summer months when the interaction of fat cover, humidity and temperature 
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depress feed intake. Beer is used to stimulate their appetite. It’s merely part of the overall 

management program designed to keep the cattle on feed in the heat of the summer.  

 

The massaging is to relieve stress and muscle stiffness. It’s believed that the eating quality of 

the meat is affected positively by keeping the cattle calm and content. The theory is that relaxed 

cows make great beef (The Pompous Palate, 2012). Indeed, relaxed cows produced great beef. 

However, the wagyu beef was prepared in a manner inconsistent with shariah. The word 

tayyiba must be read conjunctively and not disjunctively. Apparently, shariah requires foods to 

be ‘halal and tayyiba’ and not ‘halal or tayyiba’. The word tayyib in the holy Quran is always 

associated with the acceptance of a particular deed. It is linked closely with purity of one’s heart 

in doing something. For example, a Hadith narrated by Abu Hurairah RA stated that the Prophet 

Muhammad SAW said:  

 

"Verily Allah the Exalted is pure. He does not accept but that which is pure. Allah 

commands the believers with what He commanded the Messengers. Allah the 

Almighty has said: "O you Messengers! Eat of the good things and act righteously" 

[Al-Mu’minun 23:51-53]. And Allah the Almighty also said: "O you who believe! 

Eat of the good things that We have provided you with" [Al-Baqarah 2:167-172]. 

Then he (the Prophet) mentioned (the case of) the man who, having journeyed far, 

is dishevelled and dusty and who stretches out his hands to the sky (saying): "O 

Lord! O Lord!" (while) his food was unlawful, his drink was unlawful, his clothing 

was unlawful, and he is nourished with unlawful things, so how can he be 

answered?" 

 

(Hadith No.8348, Ahmad; Hadith No.2922, al-Tirmidhi;  

Hadith No.1015, Sahih Muslim). 
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Furthermore, based on halal regulations, the latest Draft Malaysian Standard: Halal Food – 

General Requirements (Third Revision) 2018 also highlights halalan tayyiba concept as part of 

halal foods and products. In fact, one of the conditions for halal foods and products is that they 

are not poisonous or hazardous to health (DOS Malaysia, 2018). The extent of halalan tayyiba 

concept in halal foods and products are explained as follow: 

 

…Halalan tayyiba encompass several elements including halal foods and 

beverages are obligation halal and both sources are obtained from a halal 

source, accepted by nature or fitrah, not shubhah (their status is not sure), 

clean, safe and nutritious. Related to these, halal is also covering preparation, 

processing and storage of consumable and non-consumable which must 

conform to rules and regulation stipulated under shariah law and fatwa. The 

halalan tayyiba concept is not only used in foods, beverages and daily 

consuming products such as cosmetics and pharmaceuticals, but is also extend 

towards trade and financial services, logistic, social and business transaction 

and investments… 

(DOS Malaysia, 2018) 

 

As compared to FDA, it does not regulate halal and what more on tayyiba. The standards and 

quality of foods recognised and standardised by FDA does not necessarily fits the values of 

halalan tayyiba, which states thatfoods of good quality contain mineral, nutrients that benefits 

and consequently does not and will not harm human for short or long term. Apart from religious 

commitment, apparently shariah teaches us about standards and quality of foods taken. This 

fact is undeniably important. A waste product naturally ousted from our body should not be 

taken in as human consumption. This paper urges strong coalition to reject any notion of non 

tayyiba ingredients for human consumption be it short or long term.  

 

Anything causes harm within short and long terms do not deserve halal certificates. The so 

called ‘internationally certified’ such as FDA or Codex Alimentarius is something to be 

pondered upon as these are not approved by ‘tayyiba’ concept. This paper reiterates tayyiba as 

something clean and brings benefits for human either in short or long term. 
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INTRODUCTION 

Work engagement becomes an important issue for organizations around the globe due to the 

massive benefits it offers. What makes it more special, this construct is positively associated 

with many outcomes for both individual and organizations. As employees are the most 

important asset, their positive feeling and emotion towards their jobs are the main key in 

attaining organizational goals. Hence, one of the best ways to get the result from employee is 

to ensure that they are engaged with their role performance. The same expectation is expected 

from public servants in Malaysia. In fact, the public sector has been identified as the major 

facilitator in charting Malaysia towards becoming a fully developed nation in 2020. This has 

been outlined in Government Transformation Programme (GTP) that was launched in 2010. 

However, there are lot of challenges in our quest to produce highly engaged workers. 

Employees are not simply engaged at the workplace without certain antecedents. Thus, 

achieving this objective is simply an arduous task. For public service employees, they need to 

portray strong commitment, show energetic performance and most importantly, consistently 

display superb performance to ensure all government initiatives are carried out successfully. 
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Despite of numerous benefits of work engagement, the shocking truth is the engagement 

level among employee’s worldwide remains poor. This is reported in many studies and thus, 

the issue is getting keen interest from scholars to have further research on this topic. In general, 

Gallup researchers divided engagement level into three categories namely engaged disengaged 

and actively disengaged employees. Engaged employees can be referred to those who are 

enthusiastic, committed, generate new ideas and drive innovations. On the other hand, 

disengaged employee are associated with those staff who are essentially ‘checked out’, or 

sleepwalking through their day and show little concern about productivity and purpose of the 

organization. The last category is actively disengaged employees who are simply unhappy at 

work; they drive the customers away and are hostile towards the organization. Studies done by 

Gallup consultancy revealed that there were only 13 percent of engaged employees worldwide. 

The other 63 percent fall under disengaged category and the remaining 24 percent are actively 

disengaged group (Gallup, 2013). 

 

In discussing about work engagement, the Job Demand-Resources (JD-R) model is the 

leading model and considered as the most cited theoretical model for work engagement 

measurement (Albrecht, Bakker, Gruman, Macey & Saks, 2015). This is due to its flexibility 

and comprehensive structure which enables hypotheses to be derived in studying work 

engagement. It also mentions that both job and personal resources are the key antecedents that 

have direct influence in fostering work engagement even with the presence of job demand. 

However, JD-R model does not highlight the role of leadership style in promoting work 

engagement at the workplace. This is another area that needs special attention as a leader 

has profound impact in motivating their employees towards attaining organizational goals. 

On top of that, the JD-R model also does not elaborate from the psychological perspective on 

what motivates employees to get engaged. This is important to explore as work engagement is 

a personal construct that is closely related to emotions and state of mind (Schaufeli, Pinto, 

Salanova & Bakker, 2002). Hence, extending the current JD-R model to study the 

engagement level among public servants is vital as the nature, scope and expectation of 

public sector are totally different from their private sector counterparts.   
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CONCEPT OF WORK ENGAGEMENT 
 

In principle, work engagement can be defined as a construct that is strongly related to a ‘state 

of mind’ which is characterized by vigour, dedication, and absorption. Vigour is associated 

with feeling energetic, mentally strong and able to put more effort than required in order 

to complete the task. Dedication can be referred to as having the feeling of importance, are 

highly committed, highly motivated and readily inspired. Meanwhile, absorption is being 

fully concentrated and heavily attached in the role performance at the workplace (Schaufeli, 

Pinto, Salanova & Bakker, 2002). For Kahn(1990) who is the pioneer in introducing the 

concept of engagement, he describes engagement as a concept with a special construct that 

is related towards employee psychological aspect. Here, employees really invest their 

physical, cognitive and emotional resources during work. Kahn (1990) also stated that 

employees are able to display strong job performance and becoming engaged in their work 

with the presence of three psychological conditions namely the feeling of meaningfulness, 

safety and availability. 

 

Many scholars agree in principle that work engagement is associated with enjoyment that 

employees feel in performing their daily duties. Thus, having this feeling of joy at the 

workplace will contribute significantly towards achieving both individual and 

organizational objectives (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2001).  This is well supported by Macey 

and Schneider (2008) and Schaufeli, Salanova and  Gonzalez (2002) in which they stated that 

work engagement are a powerful construct that are related to energy, involvement and 

passion among employees in meeting organizational goals and objectives. According to 

Schaufeli and Bakker (2010), they elaborated engagement as the special relationship that 

binds employees with their works. Here, employees display positive characters in the form 

of involvement, commitment, passion, enthusiasm, absorption and energy during role 

performance at the workplace. Saks (2006) explained that the term engagement is not an 

attitude but refers to an individual that is attentive and absorbed in his role performance at work. 

He further explained that engagement is a unique construct that is associated with cognitive, 

emotional and behavioural component that determine employees role performance. Based on 

various definitions given by scholars on this construct, it is simply hard to get the consensus on 

work engagement concept. However, it is agreed that work engagement is associated with 

energy, involvement and willingness of employees in meeting organizational goals 

(Bakker& Leiter, 2010). Interestingly enough, work engagement among employees will lead 
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towards the formation of engaged employees that is the ultimate dream of every organization 

including the public sector. 

 

 

ENGAGEMENT REPORT ON MALAYSIAN EMPLOYEES 
 

For the past five years, the engagement reports by several consultancy firms on Malaysian 

employees do not augur well. Citing an example, Gallup’s report (2013) listed Thailand, 

Malaysia, Indonesia and Singapore are having among the highest proportion of unengaged 

employees in the world. For the record, Malaysia was recorded with having only 11 percent of 

engaged employees. The remaining 89 percent categorized as disengaged (81%) and actively 

disengaged employees (8%). Having this high percentage of 89% unengaged workforce will 

have negative consequences towards both personal and organizational performances in 

Malaysia.  

 

Other related studies from different organizations also pointed towards the same conclusion 

that is low representation of engaged employees in Malaysia. For example, a study undertaken 

by International Data Corporation (IDC) in 2016 found out that only 23 percent of Malaysian 

professionals we reengaged and satisfied at work (Jiminez, 2016). The percentage recorded was 

the lowest engagement rate across the Asia Pacific region as compared to Australia (42%), 

Philippines (59%) and India (59%). Another separate survey undertaken by Jobstreet.com in 

July 2016found out that nearly 52 percent of Malaysians employees belongs to the disengaged 

group (New Straits Times, 2016). Finally, the latest study by AON Corporation regarding trends 

in global employee engagement report 2017 placed Malaysia and Singapore as having the least 

engaged employees among major Asian markets.  The engagement score for Malaysia is only 

59 percent as compared to other Asian countries such as India with 69 percent, China at 67 

percent, Thailand and Philippines at 65% (HR Asia, 2017).  

 

All these findings denote poor engagement rate among Malaysian employees. For the public 

sector, the consequences are quite massive. As our nation is gearing towards Vision 2020, 

having a large pool of disengaged workforce in the public service will not help at all. It is high 

time to explore and identify the antecedents that can bring back the spirit and motivation of 

public servants to serve the nation with pride, dignity and glory. This is the key for the 
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successful implementation of our national programmes, agendas and initiatives as the stake is 

high this time.  

 

 

JOB DEMANDS - RESOURCES MODEL  
  

Job-Demands – Resources (JD-R) model was introduced by Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner 

and Schaufeli in 2001. Then, Bakker and Demerouti (2007) revisited and revised this model as 

it stands now. The main idea of this model is that it assumes every occupation has its own 

specific work characteristics. Thus, they divided this characteristic into two general categories 

namely job demands and job resources. The main assumption of JD-R model is employees will 

experience job strain irrespective of their job category if they are facing high job demand and 

limited job resources at the workplace. However, work engagement is most likely to be created 

when there are ample job resources even with the presence of high job demand.  This finding 

is strongly supported by Hakanen, Bakker and Schaufeli (2006) that stated job stress occurs 

when there is unequal equilibrium between level of job demand that employees have to bear 

and limited work resources at their disposal.  

 

According to Schaufeli and Bakker (2004), job resources is related to psychological, social and 

organizational aspects of the job that (i) reduce job demands and the associated psychological 

costs; (ii) functions well in achieving work goals; and (iii) stimulate personal growth, learning 

and development. Examples of job resources are feedback, autonomy and social support. On 

the contrary, job demand refers to those physical, psychological and social organizational 

aspects of the job that requires sustained physical and/or psychological (cognitive and 

emotional) efforts and is therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological 

costs (Bakker, Demerouti & Schaufeli, 2003).Examples of job demands are work overload, 

interpersonal conflict and job insecurity. Therefore, JD-R model is considered as another 

alternative for a model of employee well-being. In general, JD-R model poses two parallel 

processes that are: i) health impairment process (what workers can do) and ii) motivational 

process (what workers will do). Health impairment process is associated with high job demand 

that exhausts employees mental and physical resources that lead to burnout and ill-health. On 

the other side, motivational process is related to work resources that are able to foster 

engagement and commitment. 
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Later on, scholars realized that JD-R model only cater resources concerning working 

environment. There should be factors that are related with the employees themselves. In 

addition, work engagement is strongly related between personal interaction and working 

environment at the workplace. Saks (2006) mentioned that engagement is about individual 

construct which is related towards individual level outcomes. According to him, there is a valid 

reason to believe that engagement is associated with individual attitudes, intentions and 

behaviours shown at the workplace. Hence, personal resources have been integrated into the 

JD-R model in studying antecedents that stimulate work engagement among employees. 

Personal resources are defined as the positive psychological characteristics of oneself that are 

generally linked to resiliency and their ability to control and succeed in their working 

environment (Hobfoll, Johnson, Ennis & Jackson, 2003). Examples of personal resources are 

optimism, resilience and self-esteem. The current JD-R model is shown in Figure 1 below: 

 

Figure 1: Job Demand – Resources (JD-R) Model 

 

 
Sources: Bakker & Demerouti, (2007)
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As shown in Figure 1, the JD-R model stated that both job resources and personal resources 

(motivational process) work hand in hand towards developing work engagement. Both 

resources intrinsically and extrinsically motivate employees by enhancing their potential for 

growth and enabling employees’ capacity to attain work objectives (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). 

Another study by Bakker and Demerouti (2008) confirmed that resources employees possess at 

work will play either an intrinsic motivational role in order to stimulate personal development 

or as an extrinsic motivational role in achieving the desired goals. As a result of having both 

extrinsic and intrinsic motivation, employees will be able to give their best performance at the 

workplace. As mentioned by Bakker (2011), there is convincing empirical evidence that shows 

that job and personal resources due to their extrinsic and intrinsic motivational potential are the 

most important predictors of work engagement. It can be said that the central theme of JD-R 

model is to emphasize the positive relationship between resources and employee well-being 

including engagement. 

 

Even though the presence of both job and personal resources are vital in fostering work 

engagement, the JD-R model also recognizes the existence of job demand in any type of 

work. In simple terms, job demand is associated with certain aspect of job that can cause 

job strain or job stress. Thus, it affects employees’ morale and emotions that can cause 

exhaustion at work. In explaining this aspect, Schaufeli and Bakker (2004) associate job 

demand as anything that involves physical, social or organizational aspects that required 

sustained physical and psychological efforts on the part of the employees. Therefore, it is 

associated with certain physiological and psychological costs. The main idea of the JD-R 

model as shown in Figure 1 is to recognize the demanding working environment in various 

forms such as work pressure, work overload, role conflict and emotional demands. This type 

of poor working conditions lead to health issues, absenteeism and disengagement (Schaufeli & 

Bakker, 2004). 

 

JD-R model proposes that having engaged workforce will lead to many positive outcomes 

such as improving both in-role and extra-role performances, promoting creative workers 

and reducing financial turnover. Interestingly, this model also includes a feedback loop 

which means employees who are engaged in their work are more able to create their own 

resources, which then, over time foster engagement. Due to its comprehensive structure and 

flexibility, JD-R model gains the momentum for work engagement studies as it is able to 

demonstrate the underlying motivational studies, able to formulate and conduct hypothesis 
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testing besides allowing any kinds of interventions for research development (Schaufeli & 

Bakker, 2010). On top of that, this model is able to explain how specific aspect of work 

environment is working through specific well-being indicators that lead towards various 

positive outcomes of job performance (Demerouti & Cropanzano, 2010). 

 

As such, the JD-R model has been widely chosen to study work engagement in many countries 

and in various occupational groups as it is able to cater the assumption of employees in different 

organizations that may be confronted with different working environments. At this point of 

time, the JD-R model has already been tested and found significant in various countries such as 

in Germany (Demerouti, Bakker, De Jonge, Janssen & Schaufeli, 2001), the Netherlands 

(Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004) and Finland (Hakanen, Bakker & Schaufeli, 2006). It has also been 

tested in various professional groups and produce significant result such as nurses profession 

(Demerouti, Bakker, Nachreiner & Schaufeli, 2000), home care professionals (Bakker, 

Demerouti, Taris, Schaufeli & Schreurs, 2003), dentists (Hakanen, Schaufeli & Ahola, 2008) 

and teachers (Bakker, Demerouti & Euwema, 2005). Therefore, the JD-R model has been 

recognized as the main model that has been used extensively to study employee wellbeing 

especially in the area of work engagement. 

 

 

EXTENDING JOB DEMANDS - RESOURCES MODEL:  

AN INTEGRATION OF MEANINGFUL WORK AND 

TRANSFORMATIONAL LEADERSHIP 

 

The current JD-R model simply states that work engagement will flourish if ample resources 

are provided to employees to perform their daily tasks. The truth is in many situations, 

employees will not simply engage without the involvement of their emotional sentiment and 

positive psychology towards their jobs and organization. This issue was raised by Albrecht 

(2013) when he mentioned that JD-R model donor explain clearly ‘how and why’ employees 

that have both job and personal resources at workplace are able to increase their level of 

engagement. According to Kahn(1990), the pioneer who introduced the concept of engagement, 

he stated that the tendency of employees to decide whether to engage or not at the workplace 

has strong connection with psychological aspect especially having the feeling of meaningful 

work. Kahn (1990) also explained that work engagement is about employees that are able to 

express themselves physically, cognitively and emotionally during role performance. He further 
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elaborated that these three behaviours are only shown at work once the employee is 

‘psychologically present’. 

 

Schaufeli and Bakker (2010) that said work engagement is a unique construct that deals with 

behaviours, belief, affective and psychological state. They also agreed that work engagement 

must be functional as a psychological state that mediates the impact of job resources and 

personal resources on organizational outcomes. Even the meaning of work engagement is 

concerning a ‘state of mind’ that is characterized by vigour, dedication and absorption 

(Schaufeli, Pinto, Salanova & Bakker, 2002). This statement is well supported by Fredickson 

(2004) when he said that formulation of work engagement among employees has strong 

connection with positive emotion of employees. Hereby, meaningful work is another important 

construct that plays a mediator role towards fostering engagement among employees. As such, 

it strongly needs to be taken into consideration in extending the current JD-R model. More 

importantly, this construct is relevant from the public service perspective.  

 

Another dimension that is worth to integrate in the JD-R model is regarding leadership style. 

This issue was highlighted by Skakon, Nielsen, Borg and Guzman (2010) that said JD-R donor 

integrate leadership in its model even though leadership has direct impact in determining level 

of engagement at the workplace. In reality, leaders have immersed impact towards employees 

in any organization. According to Schein (1985), leadership symbolizes the value of 

organization, acts as role model to employees and becomes influential in determining the flow 

of organizational resources to employees. Based on literatures, transformational leadership has 

been identified as having big influence in promoting work engagement (Brief and Weiss, 2002). 

This is due to the transformational leadership style that is based on influential and charismatic 

leaders that motivate and uplift employees’ spirit towards attaining organizational goals 

(Hayati, Charkabi & Naami, 2014; Bass, 1999).Hence, transformational leadership is selected 

to be integrated into JD-R model as the third independent variable after job resources and 

personal resources. 

 

Based on the above discussion, the extended JD-R model will consist of three independent 

variables (IV) namely job resources, personal resources and transformational leadership. Then, 

job demand will appear as moderator for both job and personal resources as mentioned in the 

current JD-R model. On top of that, meaningful work will act as a mediator between all three 

independent variables towards work engagement. This is vital in order to have better 
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understanding regarding employee psychological aspects in the extended JD-R model. As this 

study is concerning more on work engagement construct, it will end up with the work 

engagement as the dependent variable. Here, three dimensions of work engagement that form 

the dependent variable (DV) are vigour, dedication and absorption as stated in the original 

model. Therefore, the extended JD-R model is shown in Figure 2 below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: Extended JD-R Model  

 

 

Meaningful Work as Mediator towards Work Engagement 

 

Kahn (1990) defined the term of psychological meaningfulness as one’s feeling of being 

“worthwhile, useful, and valuable”. He further elaborated that this meaningfulness 

psychological condition is highly influenced by the task characteristics of a person’s work, 

which include challenging work and clearly identified, creative, and autonomous role. When 

something is meaningful, it helps to answer the question, “Why am I here?” (Ashforth & Pratt, 

2003). Therefore, the prime idea of Kahn is ‘employee psychology’ holds the key during 

employees’ role performances at the workplace. He reaffirmed that meaningful work is a 

necessary prerequisite for employees to experience work engagement. As such, meaningful 

work is thus an important indicator that determines whether employees are ready to get engaged 

or vice versa. This view is well supported by Schaufeli, Bakker and Salanova (2006) that stated 

‘work engagement is a key measure for positive psychology’. 

 

Meaningfulness is defined as ‘the value of a work goal or purpose, judged according to an 

individual’s own ideals or standards’ (May, Gilson & Harter, 2004). People who feel their work 
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are meaningful report greater well-being (Arnold, Turner, Barling, Kelloway & McKee, 2007), 

view their work as more central and important (Harpaz & Fu, 2002) and report greater job 

satisfaction (Kamdron, 2005). People who feel their work serves a higher purpose also report 

greater job satisfaction and work unit cohesion (Sparks & Schenk, 2001 ) Rosso, Dekas and 

Wrzesniewski (2010) and Steger, Dik and Duffy (2012) defined meaningful work as the 

significance of the job in which employees perceive it as important and has positive valence 

(meaningfulness). Fairlie (2010) describes meaningful work as job and other workplace 

characteristics that facilitate the attainment of one or more dimensions of meaningfulness. 

 

The truth is working in any organizations involves both emotional and psychological 

experiences that can influence employees’ attitudes at the workplace either in positive or 

negative way (Andrew & Sofian, 2012). A study done by Shuck, Reio and Rocco (2011) 

concluded that when employees are affectively committed during their job tasks, they would 

have a feeling that their work is meaningful. Employees who often feel enthusiasm, pride or 

joy while working are more likely to be interested in what they have to do. As a result, they 

may end up being in a more pervasive motivational state of energy, dedication and total 

immersion in their work (Salanova, Schaufeli, Xanthopoulou & Bakker, 2010). Sonnentag, 

Dormann and Demerouti (2010) stated that experiencing meaningful work leads towards work 

engagement as employees feel absorbed with their daily task. Moreover, research has proven 

that lack of need of satisfaction in job (meaningful work) lead to poor performance and affect 

both physical and psychological well-being including lack of engagement (Ryan and Deci, 

2000). 

 

Albrecht (2013) said that it is high time to conduct a study that place psychological experience 

of meaningful work as a mediator in studying the relationship between resources at 

organizational, job and personal level towards positive outcome such as work engagement. In 

fact, a previous study by Hackman and Oldham (1976) has conceptualized meaningful work as 

a psychological state that mediates the influence of certain personal resources (skill variety, 

task identity and task significance) on job outcomes including engagement. However, not many 

scholars have taken the initiative to conduct further studies on this relationship. Another study 

done by Humphrey, Nahrgang and Morgeson (2007) has identified employees that experienced 

meaningfulness as the most critical psychological state that mediates relationship between job 

characteristics and positive result including engagement. In another relevant research involving 

meaningful work by Yasin Ghadi, Fernando and Caputi (2013) found out that meaningful work 
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is partially mediated between transformational leadership and work engagement. Based on 

limited studies on this relationship, Albrecht and Su (2012) suggested that further research is 

required to have a better understanding on how different job resources influence level of 

engagement through meaningful work across different cultural contexts. Hence, there is strong 

justification to integrate meaningful work as a mediator towards work engagement in the 

current JD-R model.  

 

Transformational Leadership as Independent Variable towards Work Engagement 

 

The impact of a leader is undeniable as they have a special role in fostering work engagement 

among followers (Bakker, Van Emmeri & Euema, 2005). The most important thing is leaders 

must act as a role model for engagement (Schaufeli & Salanova, 2007). Leaders that fail to 

display dedication and absorption at work will have negative impact towards followers which 

will make their staff show lackadaisical approach in doing their daily task. Based on many 

studies, transformational leadership has been found to be an important antecedent to enhance 

work engagement at the workplace (Sonnentag, Dormann & Demerouti, 2010). Studies have 

confirmed that transformational leadership has been identified as key resources for the 

development of engagement among employees (Tims, Bakker & Xanthopoulou, 2011). Due to 

its positive impact on personal and organizational outcomes, transformational leadership has 

captured the interest of many organizations (Tucker & Russell, 2004). As work engagement 

involves both emotional and behaviour shown at work, the interaction of leaders and employees 

hold the key in ensuring employees are engaged throughout their job activities.  

 

Burn (1978) as the pioneer in introducing this transformational leadership style defined it as a 

special relationship that bind leaders and followers in which they motivate each other towards 

attaining organizational goals. Avolio, Bass and Jung (1999) described transformational leaders 

as charismatic and influential individuals in making employees perform more than what they 

are expected to do. As such, the main element of transformational leadership lies in the leader’s 

ability to motivate followers to accomplish more than what the follower planned to accomplish 

(Bass, 1999). Transformational leadership also is about bringing organizational transformation 

in terms of vision, mission, goals and culture that contributes significantly towards individual 

development. In recording successful results, transformational leaders must be able to generate 

commitment from followers in getting the desired results (Givens, 2008). It can be said that 

they are the leaders that are able to inspire, motivate and foster commitment among followers 
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in ensuring the successful implementation of tasks. Therefore, transformational leadership is 

proven to be an important leadership approach as employing it, leaders are able to motivate and 

‘energize’ followers in fostering work engagement.  

 

Shamir, House and Arthur (1993) elaborated that transformational leaders stimulate the sense 

of self-value, self-motivation, internal motivation and achievements among their followers that 

lead to job enrichment and job motivation. The unique characteristics of transformational 

leaders will initiate workers to think creatively at work and thus increase the level of work 

engagement (Terry, Carron, Pink, Lane, Jones & Hall, 2000). Kular, Gatenby, Rees, Soanne 

and Truss (2008) clarified that the cognitive aspect of employee engagement is concerned 

with the beliefs of employees about the organization, its leaders as well as the working 

conditions. They explained there is a strong emotional bond of employees on leadership 

style which will determine whether they would go for positive or negative attitudes 

(engaged or disengaged) towards the organization and its leaders. This positive leadership 

has been associated with transformational leadership that promotes positive organizational 

outcomes including fostering engagement at work (Kelloway, Weigand, McKee & Das, 2013). 

More importantly, transformational leadership has also been found to have negative relationship 

to burnout issues (Salanova, Lorente, Chambei & Martinez, 2011). This relationship is 

important to be studied from the public service perspective as leaders have direct influence on 

their followers in attaining many organizational goals and objectives.  

 

SIGNIFICANCE OF HAVING ENGAGED EMPLOYEES 

 
Studies have confirmed that engaged employees are leading the way for the betterment of 

employees’ and organizational performance. This is due to massive benefits of work 

engagement can offer for individual development and organizational growth. At the 

organizational level, engaged employees will pave the way for positive results such as having 

less turnover, improving the company’s financial position, improving long term performance 

and significantly contributing towards organizational success (Bazigos & Harter, 2016; 

Salanova, Agut & Peiro, 2005). They also mentioned that having engaged employees will lead 

towards increasing customer satisfaction and growth revenues as well as improving better 

products. At the individual level, engaged employees are associated with low absenteeism, 

small turnover and even improved employees well being (Boldani, 2013). What makes it more 

interesting, engaged employees are able to stimulate innovation at the workplace (Bazigos 
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&Harter, 2016). This is possible as engaged employees perform their duties with full of energy 

and enthusiasm (May, Gilson & Harter, 2004). 

 

The list of positive outcomes by having engaged employees is endless. For instance, a study 

undertaken by Leiter & Maslach (1988) found out that engaged employees are able to focus in 

their role performances and are strongly connected with their duties. In addition, they are able 

to overcome job demand and keep burnout in check. Macey and Schneider (2008) concluded 

that engaged employees are dedicated, energetic, and engrossed in their tasks and they often 

feel time flies during role performance. In addition, research undertaken by Jim Harter from 

Gallup Group found out that those who are engaged at the workplace have the feeling of 

indebtedness towards their organizations. Meaning to say, engaged employees always carry out 

their duties at the best possible manner, ensuring that their organizational objectives can be 

achieved.  

 

Based on literatures, it can be concurred that engaged workers perform far better than 

disengaged workers. In fact, engaged workforce performance is able to surpass expectations 

from their leaders and bosses (Bakker, Demerouti & Verbeke, 2004). This also proves that 

employees are the most important asset even with the presence of high technology advancement 

nowadays. As mentioned by Anitha (2014), a pool of engaged employees will lead towards the 

successful implementation of organizations’ programmes and initiatives. This is achievable as 

engaged employees display positive feelings, emotions, characters and behaviour in carrying 

out their duties. In addition, engaged employees are also satisfied with their work, 

appreciate their organizations and want to remain there for a longer period.  

 

In general, these engaged employees are very proud to be associated with their organization 

and this is echoed in their service contribution in daily tasks (Agrawal, 2015). Based on the 

above evidences, having engaged government staff is essential for the government ministries 

to get the desired result. This is a critical area that needs to be addressed urgently as public 

employees remain to be the backbone for successful implementation of various government 

projects and initiatives. Failure to recognise this issue will bring negative consequences to the 

overall performance of government machineries and contribute towardsthe inefficacy of public 

funds. Therefore, it can be concluded that engaged employees contribute significantly towards 

attaining both personal development and organizational objectives. 
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CONCLUSION  
 

Malaysia aims to become a fully developed nation by the year 2020. In realising this noble 

dream, public servants have to be proactive and fully engaged in their role performance at the 

workplace. It means public service employees cannot remain static and stagnant. As the global 

landscape is becoming more challenging, robust and volatile, highly engaged workforce are the 

key in driving the public service. As such, Malaysia is banking on public servants to perform 

their duties effectively as they are the backbone of this nation. However, fostering work 

engagement is simply not an easy task. Despite numerous benefits of this construct, several 

reports on the engagement level of Malaysian employees remain poor for many years. Public 

sector is not an exception.  

 

As the public service in Malaysia consists of more than 1.6 million employees who work at the 

federal, state and district level, they are diverse in nature and face different types of work 

challenges. Hereby, public service needs to identify certain factors and antecedents that are 

critical to get the best abilities from their employees. Extending the current JD-R model that 

has recorded significant result on studying work engagement in various countries and work 

sectors, the two additional constructs that must be given proper attention from public service 

perspective are meaningful work and transformational leadership. These additional two 

variables plus the other variables in the current JD-R model are vital as each construct has its 

own unique contribution towards fostering work engagement in the public service. The most 

important thing, having highly motivated employees who display positive emotions at work 

will motivate other public service employees to give their best shot for organizational 

excellence. Finally, there is little doubt that highly engaged workforce in public service holds 

the key in ensuring all government initiatives and programmes can be implemented successfully 

for the benefit of all Malaysians.  
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INTRODUCTION 

 

Training has always been a key factor in workforce development (Rashid Esoofi Manjawalla, 

1992; Saks & Haccoun, 2004; Svensons & Rinderer, 1992) as it promotes improvement and 

positive hope for people entering the occupational world as well as individuals facing 

challenges within the workplace due to rapid technological changes. Goldstein (1989) and 

Spector (2000) suggested that effective training opens up opportunities for workers to enhance 

both their performance and position.  

 

In Malaysia, the significant role of training and re-training to achieve the national agenda 

encourages the setting up of numerous public training institutions, such as public technical 

schools and polytechnics. Training and re-training strategies have also promoted collaborative 

efforts between the Malaysian government and the industrial sectors, public and private 

enterprises, and foreign governments. This has resulted in the establishment of several 

advanced skills training institutions, such as the German Malaysia Institute and the Malaysian 

Japanese Institute (Ministry of Human Resources Malaysia, 2004).  
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Malaysia’s awareness of the importance of training to strengthen HRD has made it an emerging 

Asian economic force moving towards technology-driven and high-tech production-based 

pattern of development following the steps of the newly industrialized economies of Asia such 

as Singapore, Taiwan, and the Republic of Korea (Lai & Yap, 2004). Consequently, the 

Malaysian Government has spent a great deal in training and preparing sufficient trainees to 

satisfy the needs of the nation. From 2001-2005, for example, the government spent 

RM4,450.9 million in 2006, (Ninth Malaysian Plan, 2006) and it is expected to be more in the 

future. Obviously, for such a huge budget, positive returns are expected.   

 

The key to the success of training programme initiatives is the extent to which trainees apply 

their training on the job and ultimately contributes to organization’s performances. Researchers 

and practitioners have long acknowledged that transfer of training must occur to enable 

improvement in an individual job performance (Holton, Bates & Ruona, 2000). Hence, the 

issue of training transfer is seen as one of the most important aspects in the HRD research 

agenda (Holton & Baldwin, 2002).  

 

 

RESERACH PROBLEM 

 

 
Despite the huge budget allocated for training programs, investigation to study the 

effectiveness of such efforts (Zulkarnain& Mazanah, 1998) within the industrial context is 

scarce.  

 

The available research mostly emphasizes the need for training activities organized by the 

Malaysian public sector (Abu Hassan, 1997; Kamarul Zaman &Raida, 2003). In relation to 

this, Razali and Farhad (1999, p.65) said that “most organizations seemed to be preoccupied 

with providing training rather than evaluating the effectiveness of the learnt skills, values and 

beliefs to the actual work environment”.  
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To ensure training is transferred, several factors must be considered. According to Baldwin 

and Ford’s Transfer Process Model (1988), training will be effective if three factors are in 

place, namely: a) Training Inputs, i.e. trainee characteristics, (ability, personality and 

motivation), training design, and work environment; b) Training Outputs, i.e. learning and 

retention; and c) Conditions of Transfer, i.e. generalization and maintenance.  

 

The model suggested that despite learning, if an environment does not support what was 

learned, it is unreasonable to expect the training to have much impact on job performance 

(Hawley & Barnard, 2005; Rouiller & Goldstein, 1993; Tracey, Tannenbaum, & Kavanagh, 

1995; Xiao, 1996).  In that sense, Kirkpatrick (1998) agreed that no positive change in 

behaviour could possibly be observed after training, mainly because the environment was not 

supported, or even discouraging it.  

 

Researches such as those by Ford, Quinones, Sego and Sorra (1992), Rouiller and Goldstein 

(1993), Seyler, Holton, Bates, Burnett and Carvalho (1998), and Xiao (1996) found that 

supervisors and peer support have a notable potential to promote or hinder the training transfer 

process. The fact that the supervisors and co-workers are accountable for the success of training 

transfer was also supported by Pidd et al. (2004, p.15)  

 

LITERATURE REVIEW 
 

Training Transfer 

 

Training transfer is considered as one of the key determinants to evaluate the effectiveness of 

any training programme on the job (Kirkpatrick, 1998).  The term ‘transfer of training’ may be 

defined as the degree to which a trainee effectively applies his knowledge, skills, and abilities 

(KSAs) obtained during training sessions to the work-environment (Dawkins, 1992; Holton & 

Baldwin, 2002; Tracey, Tannenbaum & Kavanagh, 1995).  

 

Baldwin and Ford (1988), Ford, Kozlowski, Krainger, Sales and Teachout (1997), Holton et 

al. (2000) and Subedi (2004) suggested further that  the success of training is related not only 

to the method used, but also to how the training and learning processes  are positioned, 

supported and reinforced by the organization.   
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Predictors of Training Transfer 

Within the literature, it is widely acknowledged that a number of variables are involved in 

training situations upon which the effectiveness of the activities may be contingent. 

Interestingly, many of these variables lie outside the actual experience of the training program 

(Ford et al., 1997; Roiller & Goldstein, 1993; Quinones, Ford, Sego & Smith, 1996 ;).  Many 

researchers have explained this area by positing a range of theoretical frameworks to map out 

the training transfer process (i.e., Baldwin & Ford, 1988; Holton& Baldwin, 2002). Figure 1.0 

depicts the idea: 

 

 
 TRAINING          TRAINING               CONDITION OF    

     INPUT           OUTPUT           TRANSFER 

 
 

Figure 1: Theoretical Model of Transfer Process (Baldwin & Ford 1988, p.65). 
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In agreement with other researchers (i.e., Hawley & Barnard, 2005; Rouiller & Goldstein, 

1993; Xiao, 1996; Yamnill & Mclean, 2002), individual performance according to Holton and 

Baldwin (2002) is not affected by learning on its own. Rather, it is also related to workplace 

environment support.  

 

Clarke (2002), in his qualitative research, used Baldwin and Ford’s (1988) Transfer Process 

Model to study work environment factors that influence training transfer within a human 

service agency. His findings supported Baldwin and Ford’s (1988) Transfer Process Model, 

specifically the variable associated with the dimension of social support and opportunity to 

use.  

 

Workplace-related Variables and Training Transfer  

 

Supervisor Support  

 

The literature review revealed that most research has typically focused on factors contained in 

formal training setting. It was not until the early 90s that interest in numerous work-

environment characteristics started to grow. It was then that researchers such as Baldwin and 

Magjuka (1991), Kontoghioghes (2001) and Tracey et al. (1995) recognized the importance of 

several environmental characteristics and came forward with their findings. They identified 

variables outside the immediate training program, such as organisation and supervisor support, 

that have important impact on the success of the training efforts.  

 

Noe and Schmitt (1986) suggested two types of transfer climate, namely social support and 

opportunity to use skills, as key dimensions influencing the use of training on the job. 

Correspondingly, there are studies that have included social support variables in the 

environment construct and for the most part demonstrated support for their role in mediating 

training transfer such as feedback and support from supervisors and peers (Lim & Johnson, 

2002; Rouillier & Goldstein, 1993; Seyler et al., 1998; Xiao, 1996).  

 

Positive results for the effect of social support on the transfer of training were found by 

Rouillier and Goldstein (1993) who examined the relationship between organizational transfer 

climate and positive transfer of training. The researchers examined organizational climate, 

learning transfer behaviour, job and unit performance, and concluded that in addition to how 
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much trainees learn in training, the organizational transfer climate, or the work situation also 

affect the degree to which learned behaviour would be transferred to the actual job.  

 

Tracey et al. (1995) extended the work of Rouillier & Goldstein (1993) by exploring two 

specific components of organizational climate and culture: the transfer of training climate and 

a continuous learning culture, and the influences of these components on the transfer of 

supervisory skills and behaviours learned in a formal training programme. Tracey et al. found 

that the relationship between climate and culture perceptions and post training behaviours 

support the theoretical importance of the condition of transfer.  

 

Xiao (1996), who studied learning transfer in four electronic companies in China, also found 

that work-related factors such as supervisor and peer support were the most influential 

variables to predict transfer of training.  Her investigation suggested that together with training 

achievements, the matching of trainees’ KSA with work design, supervisor and peer support 

explained 38% of total variance.  

 

Further empirical evidence for the central role of supervisory support was also demonstrated 

by Seyler et al. (1998) who examined factors affecting motivation to transfer computer-based 

training in a large petrochemical company. They found that peer and supervisory support as 

well as opportunity to use skills were related to variations in trainees’ levels of motivation to 

transfer training.  

 

Lim and Johnson (2002), in their qualitative study, examined factors influencing learning 

transfer among HRD professionals in Korea. They found supervisory support to be a significant 

factor influencing training transfer.  

 

Studies reviewed above concluded that supervisors’ behaviours will send the message that 

learning is important. Positive signals appear to encourage the application of newly trained 

behaviours to the job among newly trained workers. Despite the positive relationship between 

supervisors and peers to training transfer, there are studies that report the potential of 

supervisors and peers to discourage the application of newly acquired skills to the job 

(Brinkerhoff & Montesino, 1995; Ford, Quinones, Sego & Sorra, 1992; Hawley & Barnard, 

2005; Holton & Baldwin, 2002).  
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Ford et al. (1992) for example, found that elements in the work environment can affect the 

transfer of post-training behaviours. Their study examined Air Force graduates who had 

completed a technical training programme and were required to perform tasks on the job over 

a period of four months. Researchers found that the airmen obtained different opportunities to 

perform their trained tasks. The differences were related to supervisory attitudes: airmen who 

were perceived by their supervisors to be more competent received more tasks and work group 

support. Airmen who were assigned to a highly supportive work group were able to perform 

complex tasks. The opposite was true for those who were perceived as being less competent 

by their supervisor.  

 

Brinkerhoff and Montesino (1995) investigated the influence of supervisor support on the 

transfer and use of trained skills on the job. The study involved 91 trainees who were divided 

into two groups: Group 1 received supervisor support, while Group 2 did not receive any 

support. Results indicated that Group 1 had a higher “training use” and had more positive 

perceptions of transfer in comparison to Group 2.  

 

Moreover, Hawley and Barnard (2005) reported that there were managers who despite 

receiving training on how to improve performance, were not successful in applying what they 

had learned. The follow-up interviews, after one and three months revealed that the reason for 

the failure was the supervisors of the trained managers were not supportive of the goals of the 

training.  

 

In conclusion, these studies suggested that the more supportive the supervisor and co-workers 

were, the more possible it was for training to be transferred. On the other hand, whenever the 

supervisor and the peer were not supportive, the training transfer would suffer. Additionally, 

differing findings were also obtained.  Van der Klink, Gielen and Nauta (2001) investigated 

the effects of supervisory behaviour on training transfer in two banking organizations. Their 

report suggested that in both banks the researchers were unable to detect any effects of 

supervisory support on performance; however, such findings are rarely reported.  
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Peer Support  

 

As far as the current research is concerned, supervisor support and peer support will be treated 

as two different sub-constructs. The separation is based on reasons discussed in this section: 

Firstly, as compared with supervisor support, the review made by Baldwin and Ford (1988) 

did not specifically mention peer support as a factor that influences transfer. Nevertheless, later 

studies, although limited, suggest the importance of peer support as a channel for training 

transfer. Holton and Baldwin (2002) listed peer support as one of the 16 specific factors in the 

Learning Transfer System Inventory (LTSI) which they developed. Similar attention was also 

given by Pidd et al. (2004) when they developed the Work Practice Questionnaire (WPQ).  The 

inclusion, furthermore, was also adopted in the studies conducted by Cromwell & Kolb (2002), 

Goldstein and Ford (2002), Rouillier and Goldstein (1993), Tracey et al. (1995) and Xiao 

(1996). 

 

Secondly, the segregation is suggested because they are in fact distinct contracts. This notion 

was suggested by Yoon and Thye (2000) through a confirmatory factor analysis. In addition to 

this, supervisor support and peer support both have their own effects on training transfer 

(Kontoghiorghes, 2001; Xiao, 1996).  Their relational strengths and effects on training transfer 

also often differ. For example, in an exploratory study conducted by Chiaburu and Marinova 

(2005) which surveyed the perception of 186 trainees on factors that predict training transfer, 

peer support was reported to influence skill transfer more than supervisor support.  

 

A similar finding was reported by Facteau et al. (1995) who examined the extent to which the 

favourability of the training environment influences pre-training motivation and perceptions of 

training transfer. They studied four forms of social support (peer, subordinate, supervisor and 

senior management). They reported that whereas subordinate, peer and supervisor support were 

predictive of perceived training transfer, supervisor support was found to be negatively related 

to transfer. 

 

Further, an investigation by Hawley and Barnard (2005) on nuclear industrial workers also 

suggested similar results and provided evidence that support trainees’ peers is influential in the 

transfer process. Hawley and Barnard’s (2005) research further suggested that peer support, 

even across geographical distance, can have a positive effect on transfer of training. A 

qualitative study conducted by Cromwell and Kolb (2004) also reported the positive relation 
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between peer support and training transfer. Razali and Farhad (1999) on the other hand, 

reported a negative relationship between peer support and training transfer. They suggested 

that in the process of training transfer peer support was less important in comparison to the 

immediate supervisors.  

 

RESEARCH HYPOTHESES 
 

H 1: There are significant relationships between workplace related variables (e.g. 

supervisor support and peer support) and training transfer at Time 3 and Time 4)    

H1.1. Supervisor support pre-training is significantly and positively related to training 

transfer at Time 3 and Time 4 

H1.2. Peer support pre-training is significantly and positively related to training transfer at 

Time 3 and Time 4 

H1.3. Supervisor support at Time 2 is significantly and positively related to training transfer 

at Time 3 and Time 4 

H1.4. Peer support at Time 2 is significantly and positively related to training 

transfer at Time 3 and Time 4 

 

METHOD 

 

The Study Population 

 

The population from the industrial setting was selected based on the following characteristics: 

(a) the workers are from Malaysia's leading industrial sector, (b) the companies mostly employ 

more than 100 employees, (c) the companies provide standard and well-structured training 

programs for their workers. These characteristics were mostly fulfilled by private factories.  
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The private factories have been increasingly conscious of the need to determine the 

effectiveness of their training. Training transfer, in their view, could lead to the generalization 

of a competitive advantage for private enterprises (Dessler, 2005).  In short, they need to ensure 

that the investment made on training is worthwhile.  

 

 The Study Participants 

 

The participants who completed the four waves of data collection were newly appointed 

employees. Their age ranged between 19 and 35 and was employed in multi-national factories 

located at Nilai, Negeri Sembilan (F1), Kulim, Kedah (F2), Pusat Bandar Jengka, Pahang (F3). 

Most of them had SPM as the minimal education background and their main tasks were 

producing electrical and electronic components.  

 

Sampling procedure  

 

The purposive sampling procedure were adopted in selecting the participants for the study as 

it allowed the researcher to obtain information from specific groups of people who were able 

to provide the desired information (Uma Sekaran, 1992).   

 

Instruments 

 

A set of questionnaires that contains Supervisor, Peer Support Questionnaire (SPSQ) and 

Perceived Training Transfer (PTT) was employed to measure the observed variables.  The 

selection of instruments was due to its high validity and reliability, as assessed in the previous 

studies with alpha coefficient of .60 and above (Hair et al., 1998; Kerlinger, 1973; Nunnally, 

1978 ;). Given that the design of the study is longitudinal, the questionnaire was administered 

a few times as depicted in   Table 1. 0.  
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Table 1: Instruments Administration Schedule 

 

Before the training After the training Time frame 

Demographic  

a. SPSQ  

 A day before the training 

“First wave” 

  

a. SPSQ 

Immediately after the 

training 

“Second wave” 

  

a. SPSQ  

b. PTT 

Three months after the 

training 

“Third wave” 

  

a. PTT 

 

Six months after the 

training 

“Forth wave” 
 

 

Supervisor and Peer Support Questionnaire (SPSQ) 

 

The SPSQ is a scale extended from Holton and Baldwin’s (2002) Learning Transfer System 

Inventory (supervisor and peer support items) and Tracey and Taws (2005) General Training 

Climate Scale.  Participants completed the survey by responding to written statements on a 7-

point Likert-scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to a 7 (strongly agree). An example of 

items for supervisors’ guidance and help is: “After attending the training, my supervisor has 

allocated consultation hours for me to discuss any problem pertaining to my newly acquired 

skills”. 

 

Perceived Training Transfer  

 

Perceived training transfer was measured using a set of questionnaires adopted from Xiao 

(1996). The perceived training transfer scale has 6 items with a 5-point Likert–scale ranging 

from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). The validity and reliability of this measurement 

as reported by Xiao (1996) was .83 (Cronbach’s alpha) and .83 for standardized alpha. An 

example item for this measurement is “Using the new knowledge, skills and attitudes has 

helped me improve my work”. The higher the score of the participants, the higher they perceive 

themselves to transfer training. 
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The Training 

 

The training observed in this study was the one attended and completed by each participant at 

three organizations (F1, F2, & F3) mentioned earlier. It included general and specific training 

which lasted for four weeks. The training process employed by the participating factories is 

compatible with the process suggested by Bramly (1996). 

 

DATA ANALYSES  
 

All data was keyed in into SPSS 11.5 Windows programme. The data was then screened to 

check for accuracy of the data entry and to trace possible missing data.  

 

Preliminary Analyses: Data Screening  

Response rate, missing values and outliers  

 

There were more than hundred of newly appointed workers in each factory coded as F1, F2 

and F3. However, given that participation is voluntary and longitudinal in nature, participants’ 

drop-outs were unavoidable. According Gall, Gall and Borg (2003) as well as Vess and 

Skrondal (1997), participant’s drop-outs area normal occurrence in longitudinal studies.  

 

 

Statistical Analysis  

 

Two procedures were employed in analyzing the data to address the research questions of the 

study: 

 

1. Descriptive analyses were applied to obtain the socio-demographic characteristics of 

the participants. 

2. Bivariate correlation (Pearson’s r) was used to determine the strength of linear 

relationships between:  

 

Workplace-related variables were measured three months after the training (supervisor 

support, peer support) and perceived training transfer).



151 
 

RESULT 

 
Descriptive Analyses  

 

Demographic Variables:  

 

Two hundred and thirty-five (235) agreed to participate in this research. The factories were 

situated in the states of Negeri Sembilan (coded F1), Kedah (coded F2) and Pahang (coded 

F3). The participants were 1.7% (n = 4) males and 98.2% (n = 231) females. Education-

wise, most participants, 86% (n = 203) had SPM, 9.8% (n = 23) had SRP, 3.4% (n = 8) had 

technical certificates and only .4% (n = 1) had a diploma.  Most participants, 61.3% (n = 144) 

were teenagers aged 15 – 19, 35.7% (n = 84) were in their 20s, and only 3% (n = 7) were 31 

years and above. The participants comprised of 45.1% (n = 106) Malaysians and 54.5% (n = 

129) non-Malaysians. Of the participants, 51.1% (n = 120) represented F1, 11.9% (n = 28) 

represented   F2 and 37.0% (n = 87) represented F3.  

 

It is worth noting that, after the completion of the fourth data collection, the number of 

participants was dramatically reduced to only 198 and thus, changed the demographic profile.   

 

Bivariate correlation (Pearson’s r) 

Associations between Variables  

 

The correlation matrices for the observed variables in the exogenous constructs meant to 

indicate the construct validity of the variables used in the study. Concurrently it shows the 

relationship between the variables reported in this paper. The bivariate analyses looked at the 

associations between indicators of workplace support and perceived training transfer assessed 

at three months (TT3) and six months (TT4) after training. The outcomes of these associations 

are shown in Table 2.0).  

 

Workplace Support and Perceived Training Transfer 

 

Supervisor feedback (Sf1) and supervisor involvement (Si1) were not related to training 

transfer during the three months (r = .011, n.s; r = -.004, n.s) but were significantly related to 

training transfer after six months (r =. 170, p<.05; r =.151, p<.05). Supervisor feedback (Sf2) 

was also not related to training transfer at TT3 (r =.102, n.s), but was related to it significantly 

during the sixth month (r =.200, p<.01). 
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Supervisor involvement (Si2), on the other hand, was strongly related to training transfer, both 

during the third month (r =.356, p<.001) and during the sixth month (r =.258, p<.01).  Perceived 

supervisor feedback (Sf3) and supervisor involvement (Si3) were significantly related to TT3 

(r =.365, p<.01 and r =.282, p<.01), but not significantly related to training transfer TT4 (r 

=.125, n.s and r =.083, ns).  We can conclude that SS (T1), SS (T2) and SS (T3) were related 

to TT4 although the significant levels were deferred. 

 

Both peer feedback (Pf1) and peer guidance (Pg1) were not related to training transfer at PTT3 

or PTT4 (r =.038, n.s and r =.130, n.s) and (r =.013, n.s and r =.101, n.s).  Both peer feedback 

(Pf2) and peer guidance (Pg2) on the other hand, were related significantly to training transfer, 

both PTT3 (r =.251, p<.01 and r =154, p<.05) and during the PTT4 (r =.248, p<.05 and r =.159, 

p<.05), respectively. Peer feedback (Pf3) was related significantly to training transfer, both 

during PTT3 (r =.543, p<.01) and PTT4 (r =.220, p<.01). Peer involvement (Pi3) was correlated 

significantly with PTT3 (r =.320, p<.01) but not during PTT4 (r =.094, n.s). Simply put, PS 

(T1) was not related to PTT3 or PTT4, while PS (T2) was related to both PTT3 and PTT4. 

Finally, PS (T3) was related to PTT3 and partially related to PTT4. Table 2.0 summarizes the 

association between variables investigated in the study.  

 

 

Table 2: Correlation Matrix of Predictors of Training Transfer (N=198) 

 
           PTT3       PTT4     Sf1       Si1        Sf2        Si2      Sf3        Si3         Pf1      Pg1     Pf2       Pg2      Pf3     Pg3      

PTT3  

PTT4   .195** 

Sf1      .011      .170* 

Si1     -.004      .151*     .719**  

Sf 2     .102       .200**  .110      .176*     

Si 2     .356**    .258**  .243**  .222**   .577**   

Sf 3     .365**    .126     .122      .080      .281**   .346** 

Si 3     .282**    .083     .178*    .198**   .388**   .248**  .746** 

Pf 1     .038       .130      .399**  .466**  .165*     .167*    .174*     .224** 

Pg1     .013       .101      .403**   .472**  .156*     .198**   .228**   .261**   .821** 

Pf2      .251**    .154*   .069       .061     .523**   .449**  .232**   .248**    .124     .077 

Pg2     .248**    .159*    .141*    .132     .474**    .583**  .329**   .229**    .104    .149*     .457** 

Pf 3    .549**     .220**  .105      .036     .211**   .377**   .676**   .631**    .172*   .207**  .268**   .304** 

Pg3     .320**     .094     .055      .047     .221**   .214**   .695**   .744**    .150*   .186**  .226**   .208**  .694** 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________
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DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 

 

This article discusses an attempt to measure interrelations between workplace-related variables 

and training transfer, over a six-month period. The research was conducted as there is a scarcity 

of a field research in Malaysia, investigating issues related to training transfer, although huge 

amounts of money and resources were spent to provide an extensive variety of training.  

 

The current study was based on the frequently cited transfer model of Baldwin and Ford (1988). 

The transfer model includes three key training inputs, namely trainee characteristics, training 

design, and work-environment factors.  

 

The current study was looking specifically into the work environment factors which are the 

level of supervisor and peer support and explored two sub-factors for each variable (supervisor 

feedback and involvement, and peer feedback and guidance) as workplace supports which have 

been found to influence the transfer of training. Although, there is considerable interest in how 

quickly transfer occurs and how long learning is retained, only a few studies have collected 

transfer data at more than one point of time. Thus, this study took the challenge and assessed 

the workplace support at four points of time (before training, immediately after training, three 

and six months after training).  

 

The design was used to look at the sustainability of the information acquired during training 

and it is expected to fill one of the gaps in training transfer research in the Malaysian industrial 

setting. The study measured the perception of trainees’ training transfer at two points of time 

(three months and six months after training). Although there is no clear evidence in literature 

as to the best timeframe to measure transfer following training, it has been suggested (Cheng 

& Ho, 2001; Garavagli, 1993) that a three-month interval is sufficient to detect changes.  

 

The data gathered at all four time points was analyzed using a couple of statistical tools to 

answer the hypotheses for this research. Descriptive analyses were performed to describe the 

demographics of the participants, while Pearson bivariate correlations were obtained to identify 

whether the variables were associated in the expected ways.  
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The findings showed workplace support measured after training, were both directly related to 

training transfer. Peer support particularly, was shown to play a contextual role in facilitating 

the training transfer, in addition to supervisor support.  

 

The hypothesized direct relationship between work-related variables and training transfer at 

(TT3) and (TT4) was rejected at pre-training observation.  Yet, significant relationships 

between supervisor and peer support were obtained at the post-training assessment.  

 

Past studies verified support from supervisors, co-workers or peers (Ford et al., 1992; Foxon, 

1997; Russ-Eft, 2002), availability as a mentor (Richey, 1990), and positive personal outcomes 

(Holton, 2000) are the major transfer enhancing people-related factors and, according to Lim’s 

study (2006), among the many people-related work environment factors, three factors appeared 

to influence transfer more than others; namely (1) discussion with supervisors about using the 

new learning, (2) the supervisors’ involvement or familiarization of the training and, (3) 

positive feedback from the supervisors.  

 

Evidently, the findings of the current study support and extend past research as post-training 

supervisor support (feedback and involvement) and post-training peer support (feedback and 

guidance) investigated were found to be significantly related to perceived training transfer 

during TT3 and TT4.   

 

In a way, the findings of the current study  further support the notion projected by Broad and 

Newstrom (1992) and many other researchers (e.g., Baldwin & Magjuka, 1991; 

Kontoghioghes, 2001; Rouillier & Goldstein, 1993; Tracey et al., 1995) who suggested 

supervisors are significant contributors to a successful training programme, because they could 

reduce the three most significant barriers  to transfer; namely, (a) the lack of feedback on the 

job, (b) interference from the intermediate work environment, and (c) a non-supportive 

organizational work climate.  

 

The findings of the current study also support the research findings by Chiaburu and Marinova 

(2005), Chiaburu and Harrison (2008), Russ-Eft (2002), Seyler at al. (1998) and  Xiao (1996) 

who suggested the essential role played by peers in the transfer process, due to its informal and 

easily available nature, was capable of assisting trainees to use training and offered positive 

feedback to use the skills.  
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The uniqueness of the present research findings however, relates to the specific definition of 

support, where supervisor support is classified and defined as supervisor feedback and 

supervisor involvement while peer support is defined as peer support and peer guidance. 

 

IMPLICATIONS OF STUDY  

 

The findings of the present study offer theoretical and practical contributions to the body of 

knowledge concerning the predictors of training transfer among Malaysian industrial workers 

and can be summarized in the following manner:  

 

Implication for Theory  

 

The results of the current study strongly support the function of supervisor support as a 

predictor to training transfer. Moreover, as peer effect is rarely tested independently, or even 

unasked (Chiaburu and Harrison, 2008). This research supports the employment of peer 

support in Malaysian transfer literature, for it’s consistently effect transfer even before training.  

The findings of the present study support the training transfer model perpetuated by Baldwin 

and Ford (1988). The exclusivity of the current research however, is highlighted through the 

definition of the phrases ‘supervisor support’ and ’peer support’.  

  

Implication for Practice  

 

The current research offers some practical suggestions to be considered by HRD and training 

practitioners in relation to training transfer in the Malaysian industrial setting.  Three aspects 

are highlighted as follows:  

 

First; Specific attitude that trainees had towards the organization was strengthened through the 

training programme and had a strong effect on whether or not they were motivated to apply 

their new knowledge and skills to the workplace. Meaning, if trainees have positive attitudes 

toward the organization, has undergone relevant training and has immediate practice 

opportunity, then they are more likely to transfer the training knowledge (Haccoun,1997; 

Kraiger, 2002). 
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Second, the result of the current study reported that the effects of training on training transfer 

decreased after a period of time. This supported Ford’ set al. (1997) argument that transfer 

performance shortly after training may differ substantially in the longer run. The result here 

suggests a need for suitable post-training intervention for the respective trainee as an effort to 

ensure the acquired skills and knowledge are sustained. Meaning, some post-training 

intervention such as relapse prevention, self-management, post-training follow up and other 

techniques should be accommodated as part of the transfer strategies to ensure transfer are in 

place  across time (Martocchio, 1992; Tziner et al.,1991).  

 

Finally, the results of the current and past studies (i.e., Facteau et al., 1995; Seyler et al., 1998; 

Tracey, 1995; Xiao, 1996) suggested; we might need to think of having specific training for 

supervisors and peers. Meaning, exposure should be given as to how they should behave to 

manifest support, such as method and frequency of feedback, and the extent of their 

involvement in the training and coaching of subordinates.  

 

Recommendations for Future Research  

 

Future transfer research has to reflect the dynamic nature of training transfer by examining it 

longitudinally. A longitudinal investigation offers two things: (a) it measures the change of 

training transfer as endogenous variables; for example, post-training, exogenous construct that 

was shown to have strong effects on endogenous variables three months after training, yet the 

effect decreased after six months.  This result might be different if measured after a year as by 

then trainees may have made considerable efforts in applying the training content and may 

have gained experience with and from colleagues; and (b) it measures changing levels of the 

predictive variables affecting training transfer.  

 

In conclusion, more studies using similar predictors on a larger and more diverse scale, such 

as comparing banking sectors, hospitality sectors, or perhaps comparing executive groups and 

non-executive groups within the same organization would be useful as would as a longitudinal 

design, taking into account pre-training, during training and post-training. Following 

supervisors and their subordinates over a longer period would allow an in-depth analysis of the 

factors that influence transfer over time. This could fill the gap in the transfer literature that 

currently focuses on data collection at relatively short periods. It is indeed a challenge for future 

researchers to consider having an objective measure i.e., workers’ performance records, instead 
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of perceived ones, having a field experimental design to see if the workers who were exposed 

to pre and post training intervention differ in their levels of training transfer, instead of survey 

studies. Winning over challenges in doing field research might be possible if future researchers 

are able to build a smart partnership with prospective organizations. 

 

REFERENCES 

 

Abu Hassan. (1997). Transfer of training among teachers attending short courses. Unpublished Master 

Thesis. Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang.  

 

Baldwin,T.T., & Ford, K.J. (1988). Transfer of training: a review and directions for future research. 

Personnel Psychology, 41, 63-105. 

 

Baldwin, T.T., & Magjuka, R.A. (1991). Organizational training and signals of importance: linking pre-

training perception to intervention to transfer. Human Resource Development Quarterly,2(1), 

25 - 36.  

 

Baldwin, T.T., Magjuka, R.J., & Lohar, B.T. (1991). The perils of participation: effect of choice training 

on training motivation and learning. Personnel Psychology, 44, 51-66.  

 

Brinkerhoff, R.O., & Montesino, M. U. (1995). Partnership for training transfer: lesson from a corporate 

study. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 6(3), 263-274.  

 

Broad, M.L., & Newstorm, J.W. (1992). Transfer Of training:  action packed strategies to ensure high 

payoff from training investment.  N.J: Addison – Wesley.   

 

Cheng, E.W.L., & Ho, C.K.D. (2001). A review of transfer of training studies in the past decade. 

Personnel Review, 30(1), 102-118. 

 

Chiaburu, D.S., & Marinova, S.V. (2005). What predict skill transfer? An exploratory study of goal 

orientation, training self – efficacy and organizational support. International Journal of 

Training and Development,9(2), 110-123.  

 

Chiaburu, S.D., & Harrison, A.D. (2008). Do peers make the place? conceptual synthesis and meta-

analyses of co-worker effect on perceptions, attitude, OCB, and performance. Journal of 

Applied Psychology, 93(5), 1082-1103.  

 

Clarke, N. (2002). Job / work environment factors influencing training transfer within a human service 

agency: some indicative support for Baldwin and Ford’s transfer climate construct. 

International Journal of Training and Development, 6(3), 146-162.  

 

Cromwell, S. E., & Kolb, J. A. (2004).An Examination of work-environment support factors affecting 

transfer of supervisory skills training to the workplace. Human Resource Development 

Quarterly, 15(4), 449-471. 

 

Cromwell, S. E., & Kolb, J. A. (2002).The effect of organizational support and peer support on transfer 

of training. Transfer of learning symposium. Academy of Human Resource Development 

Conference Proceeding. Honolulu,22, 3-1 

 

Dawkins,B. (1992). Hello out there! Is Anybody listening? CMA Magazine, 66(6), 29. 



158 
 

 

Dessler, G. (2005). Human resource management. (7th Ed.). Practice Hall, Upper Saddler River: NY. 

 

Facteau, J.D., Dobbins, G.H., Russell, J.E.A., Ladd, R.T., & Kudisch, J.D. (1995). The influence of 

general perceptions of the training environment on pre-training motivation and perceive 

training transfer, Journal of Management, 21(1), 1-25.  

 

Ford, J.K., Quinones, M.A., Sego,D., & Sorra, J. (1992). Factors affecting opportunity to performtrained 

tasks on the job. Personnel Psychology, 45, 511 – 527. 

 

Ford, J.K., Kozlowski,S., Kraiger,K., Salas, E., & Teachout, M. (1997). Improving training 

effectiveness in work organization. Mahwah, N.J: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.   

 

Foxon, M.J. (1997). The influenced of motivation to transfer, action planning, and manager support on 

the transfer process. Performance Improvement Quarterly, 10(2), 42-63. 

 

Gall, M.D., Gall, J.P., & Borg, W.R. (2003). Educational research: an introduction,           

(7th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon. 

 

Garavagli, P.L. (1993). How to ensure transfer of training. Training and   Development, 47(10), 63 – 

67. 

 

Goldstein, I.L., & Ford, K.J. (2002). Training in organizations; need assessment development and 

evaluation. Canada: Thomson Learning.  

 

Goldstein, I.L., & Associates. (1989). Training and development in organizations. SanFranscisco, 

California: Jossey – Bass Publisher.  

 

Haccoun, R.R. (1997). Transfer and retention: let’s do both and avoid dilemmas. Applied Psychology: 

an International Review, 46, 340- 344.   

 

Hair, J.F., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L., & Black, W.C. (1998). Multivariate data analysis (5th Ed.). 

Englewood Cliffs, NY: Prentice Hall.  

 

Hawley, A., and Barnard, J.K. (2005). Work environment characteristic and implications for training 

transfer: a case study of the nuclear power industry. Human Resource Development 

International, 8(1), 65-80.  

 

Holton, E. F.iii., Chen, H.C., & Naquin, S.S. (2003). An examination of learning transfer system across 

organization settings. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 11(4), 333-360. 

 

Holton, E.F. iii., & Baldwin, T.T. (2002). Improving learning transfer in organizations.U.S.A: Jossey 

– Bass. 

 

Holton, E.F. iii., Bates, R.A., & Ruona, W.E.A. (2000). Development of a generalized learning transfer 

system inventory. HumanResource Development Quarterly, 11(4), 333-361.  

 

 

Kamarul Zaman Ahmad & Raida Abu Bakar. (2003). The association between training and organization 

between training and organizational commitment among white collar workers in Malaysia. 

International Journal of Training Development, 7:3 ISSN 1360-3736, 166-185 

 

 

Kerlinger, F. (1973). Foundation of behavioural research (2nd Ed.). London: Holt, Rinehart and 

Winston.  



159 
 

 

Kirkpatrick, D.L. (1998). Four level of evaluation. In  S. M. Brown, & C.J. Seinder, (Edn), Evaluating 

Corporate Training: Model And Issue (pp. 95-137). London: Kluwer Academic publishers.  

 

Kontoghiorghes, C. (2001). Factor effecting Training Effectiveness in the Context of the Introduction 

of New Technology – a US case Study. International Journal of Training and Development,  

5:4 ISSN 1360-3736, 248 – 260.  

 

Kraiger, K. (2002). Decision-based evaluation:creating, implementing and managing effective training 

and development (pp.13, 3-9). Sun Francisco:  Jossy Bass.  

 

Lai, M.C., & Yap, S. (2004). Technology development in Malaysia and the newly industrializing 

economies: A comparative analysis. Asia-Pacific Development Journal, 11(2), 53-80. 

 

Lim, D.H., & Morris, M.L. (2006). Influence of trainee characteristics, instructional satisfaction, and 

organizational climate on perceived learning and training transfer. Human Resource 

Development Quarterly, 17(1), 85-115. 

 

Lim, D.H., Johnson, S.D. (2002). Trainee perceptions of factors that influence learning transfer. 

International Journal of Training and Development, 6(1), 36- 48. 

 

Martocchio, J.J. (1992). Microcomputer usage as an opportunity: The influence of content in employee 

training. Personnel Psychology, 45, 529-552.  

 

Ministry of Human resource Malaysia. (2004). Retrieved December 13th, 2007. http://www.kementerian 

SumberManusia.gov.my 

 

Ninth Malaysia Plan, 2006-2010. (2006). Economic Planing Unit, Prime minister Department. Kuala 

Lumpur.  

 

Noe, R.A., & Schmitt, N. (1986). The influence of trainee attitude on training effectiveness: test of 

module. Personnel Psychology, 39, 497-523. 

 

Nunally, J.C. (1978). Psychometric Theory (2nd Ed.). NY: McGraw-Hill. 

 

Pidd, K., Freeman, T., Skinner, N., Addy,D., Shoobridge, J., & Roche, A.M. (2004). From training to 

work practice, change: An examination of factors influencing training transfer in the alcohol 

and other drugs field. Australia: National Centre for Education, Flinders University. 

 

 

Quinones, M.A., Ford, J.K., Sego, D.J., & Smith, E.M. (1996). The effect of individual and transfer 

environment characteristics on the opportunity to perform trained task. Training Research 

Journal, 1, 29-48.    

 

Rashid Esoofi Manjiwalla (1992). Role of industrial training institutes in the development of HR in 

industry:  Human resource perspective towards archiving vision 2020. Proceeding of National 

Seminar of Human Resource Development, Malaysia.  

 

Razali Hameed. & Farhad Analoi. (1999). The problem of transfer in management training and 

development: the case of an industry in Malaysia. Malaysian Management Review, 34 (2), 65-

75.  

 

Richey, R.C. (1990). The effects of organizational climate factors on industrial training outcomes. 

Paper presented at the convention of the association for education communications and 

technology. Lowa. 



160 
 

 

Rouiller, J.Z., & Goldstein, I.L. (1993). The relationship between organizational transfer climate and 

positive transfer of training. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 4(4), 377-399.  

 

Russ-Eft, D. (2002). A typology of training design and work environment factors affecting workplace 

learning and transfer. Human Resource Development Review, 1(1), 45-65.  

 

Seyler, D.I., Holton, E.F., Bates, R.A., & Corvolho, M.A. (1998). Factors affecting motivation to 

transfer training. International Journal of Training and Development, 2: 1 ISSN 1360-3736  

 

Spector, P.E. (2000). Industrial and organizational psychology: Research And Practice (2nd Ed.), New 

York: John Wiley and Sons.  

 

Subedi, B.S., (2004). Emerging trends of research on transfer of learning. International Education 

Journal, 5(4), 591-599. 

 

Svenson, R.A., & Rinderer., M.J. (1992). The training and development strategic plan work book. N.J: 

Prentice Hall, Inc.  

 

Tracey, J.B., Tews, J.M. (2005). Construct validity of a General Training Climate Scale (GTCS). 

Organizational Research Methods, 8(4), 353-374. 

 

Tracey, J. B., Tannenbaum S.I., & Kavanagh, M.J. (1995). Applying trained skills on the job: the 

importance of the work environment. Journal of Applied Psychology, 80(2), 239-252.  

 

Tziner, A., Fisher, M., Senior, T., Weisberg, J. (2007). Effect of trainee characteristics on training 

effectiveness. International Journal of Selection and Assessment, 15(2), 167-174.  

 

Uma Sekaran (1992). Research method for business: a skill building approach. (2nd Ed.). NY: John 

Wiley & Sons, Inc.  

 

Van Der Klink, M., Gielen, E., & Nauta, C. (2001). Supervisory support as a major condition to enhance 

transfer. International Journal of Training Development, 5:1 ISSN 1360- 3736.  

 

Vessand, O., & Skrondal, A. (1997). Validation of the NEO Personality Inventory & the five factor 

model: can findings from exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis be reconciled?. 

European Journal of Personality, 11(3), 147-166. 

 

Xiao Jian. (1996). The relationship between organizational factors and Transfer of training in the 

electronics industry in Shenzhen, China. Human Resource Development Quarterly, 7(1), 55-

73.   

 

Yamnill, S., & Mclean, G.N. (2002). Factors affecting transfer of training in Thailand. HRD 

Effectiveness and transfer of training. Paper presented in AHRD conference.  

 

Yoon, J., & Thye, S. (2000). Supervisor support in the work place: legitimacy and positive affectivity. 

Journal of Social Psychology, 140(3), 295-316.  

 

Zulkarnain, N.M., & Mazanah, M. (1998) Keberkesanan latihan: pengalaman sebuah agensi 

pengembangan di Malaysia. Kuala Lumpur:  Pertanika Journal. 



161 
 

Zurina Shafii 

Faculty of Economics and Muamalat,  

Islamic Finance and Wealth Management Institute (IFWMI) 

Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia.  

 

Shahizan Md. Noh 

Faculty of Economics and Muamalat 

Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia  

 

Izalina Isa 

Islamic Banking and Finance Institute Malaysia (IBFIM) 

3rd Floor, Menara Takaful Malaysia. 

 

 

 

PROFESSIONALISATION OF SHARIAH 

AUDITORS: INPUT FROM FOCUS GROUP 
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TRAINING PROGRAM 

 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 

Research and implementation of Shariah audit in Islamic financial institutions (IFIs) are 

comparatively recent exercises as compared to the Shariah review implementation. It was 

in2010 that Bank Negara Malaysia formally introduced Shariah audit function as a Shariah 

control function that has to be conducted within Islamic financial institutions.  Mohd Ali et al. 

(2015) studied the opinion on head of shariah auditors in Islamic banks in Malaysia on the 

dimensions of competencies of Shariah auditors. Earlier research conducted by (Nawal Kasim 

et al. 2009) on the competency of shariah auditor focuses on the desired and actual qualification 

of the shariah auditor in IFIs in Malaysia found that the practice lacked staff of both 

qualifications i.e. accounting and shariah qualification.  

 

As Shariah audit is an assurance exercise that provides assurance on the adequacy of internal 

control for Shariah compliance within Islamic financial institutions, the industry envisages 
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talents suitable as a Shariah auditor to be competent both in accounting and Shariah. Thus, the 

quality of the shariah audit will be empowered if the shariah auditor possess both accounting 

and shariah qualifications (Zurina Shafii, Supiah Salleh et al. 2013). There is also a strong need 

for proper training on Shariah concepts since most of the bank officers are trained from 

conventional background, thus they do not understand how to apply Shariah concepts and run 

the risk of providing the wrong explanation on the banking products to their customers (Abdul 

Rahim Abdul Rahman 2010). Findings of researches by PwC (2011) and Abdul Rahim Abdul 

Rahman (2010) highlighted the need to expand the talent pool with shariah audit knowledge 

and competencies. Prior empirical findings also seem to suggest that there is a need to integrate 

shariah audit as part of the curriculum offered to accounting students. Pakistan, another 

jurisdiction actively implementing Shariah audit is also facing the problem of lack of competent 

Shariah auditors.  

The implementation of Shariah audit is entering into a stable phase, after being mandatorily 

implemented since 2011. Handfuls of training initiatives are offered in the market by private 

training outlets, universities and training institutes that specialized in banking related training. 

These trainings are usually short term in nature, and lack of clear career progression, except 

for trainings offered by institutions that are accredited by the finance industry accreditor; 

Finance Accreditation Agency. One of such trainings is offered by Universiti Sains Islam 

Malaysia, (USIM) under the name of Shariah Audit Training (SAT). The training was offered 

since 2016 to the industry via in-house training.  As the training reputation grew as a result of 

positive feedbacks from the industry, the plan is for the training to be upgraded as a professional 

training for Shariah auditors, a program to be called Certified Professional Shariah Auditor 

(CPSA) to be offered by the Islamic Banking and Finance Institute (IBFIM) and USIM. 

This paper thus attempts to explore the industry expectation of the content of training program 

for would be Shariah auditors, namely CPSA Program. As this is an industry-wide initiative, 

identification of content for relevant sets of knowledge, skills and other competencies are 

critical towards the success of the training program to produce professional Shariah auditors 

for the market. This study applies a qualitative study which involves in-depth focus group 

discussion with thirteen subject matter experts, academicians and quality assurance personnel 

in the area of Shariah audit and Islamic finance. The input from focus group participants is 

sought after to validate that the key aspects of the training has been fulfilled and meet the 

industry expectations. The session is conducted too, in order to keep abreast with the latest 
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development of the industry and new guidelines from relevant authorities. In addition, input is 

sought from the practitioners to improve the learning process. This may include revising the 

method of teaching and delivering the subject, learning material, and the suitability of syllabus 

with participants.  

Shariah Audit Trainings and Shariah Auditors’ Competency:  

Literature Review  

The needs and challenges of implementing shariah audit (SA) in the IFI were discussed 

conceptually by Abdul Rahim Abdul Rahman (2008) and Hisham (2012) in a conclusive 

manner.  The current practices of the IFIs in Malaysia before the Shariah Governance 

Framework (SGF) implementation, highlight some challenges in practice; what to be 

established as shariah audit evidence as it is difficult to establish a criterion for subjective 

information, the development of audit programs and procedures; and the production of 

competent and independent shariah auditors as no specialized academic and professional 

education and training has been noted to be established in IFIs as compared to the expansion 

of the Islamic banking and finance industry worldwide (Abdul Rahim Abdul Rahman,2008).As 

for the needs of the shariah audit in IFIs, the audit is to provide independent assurance on the 

integrity and fairness of financial information together with complete assurance that the Islamic 

Bankings (IB) operation were shariah compliant, shariah audit to be performed by independent 

parties and thirdly the need for shariah supervisory council to be protected by law for the report 

on any contravention of the law to the IFI’s management. The study is supported by Hisham 

(2012) who outlined four (4) main challenges in performing SA i.e. independency of shariah 

auditor, establishment of shariah compliant overseer which shall include the Hisbah institution 

,the muhtasib or arbitrator to any issue related to shariah and lack of competent as well as 

accountable shariah auditor. 

The Islamic Financial Services Act 2013 (IFSA) establishment has made it compulsory for the 

IB to perform shariah audit on their banking operation though no specific clause mentioned on 

how the shariah audit is supposed to be governed (Malaysia 2013).   This act is just to 

strengthen the ruling by BNM (2011) through its Shariah Governance Framework (SGF) which 

did shed some light into the effective Shariah governance implementation in the IFIs in 

Malaysia.  With the rulings, every IFI needs to set their own Shariah Committee and specific 

guidelines on the characteristics of the shariah committee have also been outlined.  SGF 
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provides guidelines on how SA to be performed by the internal auditor of the existing IBs but 

there is still no specific guideline on how the scope of the shariah audit is to be performed.  

A research focusing on the training and development of human capital in the Islamic Banking 

(IB) industry in order to improve staff’s competency was performed by Norhanim Dewa, & 

Sabarudin Zakaria  in 2012.  Their study proposes the emphasis be made in the area of 

enhancing Shariah knowledge of practitioners, as this is where their niche lies.  They also 

postulate that highly trained employees whose career developments are effectively managed 

by the company are prone to demonstrate high levels of commitment, flexibility, invariably 

multi-skills and produce significant contributions to the quality of services the bank offers.   

A post implementation case study of the SGF in terms the impact of shariah audit function 

towards the role of shariah committee was later conducted by Zurina, Ahmad, Supiah, 

Kamaruzaman and  Nawal in  2013 involving a full-fledged Islamic bank through an in depth 

interview. The study revealed that the shariah audit function has an added value in ensuring the 

bank is operating in compliance to the shariah. 

Another interesting study compared the current practice of auditing in Islamic financial 

institutions in Malaysia and Indonesia in terms of scope of audit, regulatory framework used, 

qualification, & independence of the shariah auditor (Nawal, Tatik, Sigit & Zuraidah 2013). 

The study used questionnaire survey as well as in-depth interview involving respondents in 

Indonesia (mostly external auditor to the full-fledged IFIs) as well as respondents from 

Malaysia comprising mainly the top management of the IFIs.  The gap in practicing the shariah 

audit is wider in Indonesian as compared to Malaysia where in Indonesia, the four dimensions 

need to be implemented whilst in Malaysia only the scope of shariah audit need to be 

emphasized.  Although Indonesian practitioners of shariah audit has one advantage where they 

have a proper shariah audit manual to guide them, it is considered insufficient to guide them in 

performing their duties. In general, the shariah audit is concluded to be functioning better in 

the Malaysia’s IFI than their counterpart, Indonesia.  

Studies addressing the issue of shariah audit amongst the students were conducted by 

academicians in Brunei where the first exploratory study on shariah audit for instance, was 

conducted among postgraduate students in Brunei to determine the awareness and 

understanding of the students of the term and concept of shariah audit (Hisham Yaacob & Nor 

Khadijah, 2013).  The study involved a questionnaire survey distributed to over 27 students 
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from two (2) universities in Brunei. The findings which were mainly presented in descriptive 

statistics revealed that there was a low level of awareness and understanding of the term and 

concept of shariah audit among the students as those students have never been exposed to any 

shariah audit concept throughout their course syllabus (Hisham Yaacob & Nor Khadijah, 

2013). The same author has later extended the study so as to include 59 undergraduate students 

of three (3) universities from various majors namely accounting, business, finance and shariah 

in Brunei as the sample (Hisham Yaacob, Fathima & Hairul 2014).  The study has reached the 

same conclusion as the previous study as a majority of the students were unaware of what was 

the precise role of shariah auditor as no specific academic courses that taught them the concept 

to.  

Another study conducted in Malaysia confer the previous findings where, according to the 

study, a majority of the undergraduate students think they need to be equipped with Islamic 

finance knowledge in order to have better understanding on matters dealt in IFIs besides being 

competitive with other undergraduates from other local universities which impart more Islamic 

accounting subjects as part of their course curriculum. The findings also suggest that what is 

important is that students who have never learnt shariah audit as a subject are aware about the 

possible areas of interest in the Islamic banking area (Shafii, Mohd Ali & Kasim, 2014). The 

findings support the findings by (Hisham Yaacob & Nor Khadijah, 2013) and (Hisham Yaakob 

et al. 2013). 

 

Need for Certified Shariah Auditors Training Programme  

 

Mohd Ali et al. (2015) demonstrated that in order to fulfil the current needs on having a 

competent and qualified shariah auditor, there is a need for a certification program on shariah 

audit. Certification of auditing practices play a key role in most accountability processes as it 

is being viewed as an obligatory route point in producing legitimacy in the eyes of different 

range of stakeholders. Currently, there is no professional body or institution that offers shariah 

audit certification in Malaysia.  There are only few institutions that offer trainings on shariah 

audit such as Institute of Banking and Finance Institution (IBFIM), International Centre for 

Education in Islamic Finance (INCEIF), Centre for Research and Training (CERT) and 

REDMoney (CERT 2014; IBFIM 2014; INCEIF 2014; Redmoney 2014).  IBFIM for instance 
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has developed Certified Qualification in Islamic Finance (CQIF) which consists of three (3) 

levels, namely core, intermediate and advanced level.  An assessment will be conducted at the 

end of each level to assess the candidates understanding and ability to relate the knowledge 

gained to practice. The trainings are conducted on demand basis from the IFIs.  

Albeit various trainings in Shariah audit provided by these trainings institutions, the onus to 

ensure that IBs shariah internal auditors responsible for auditing the IBs have the right skills 

and knowledge to perform shariah audit competently lies with the top management of these 

IBs.  Without such support and continuous empowerment from them, these shariah internal 

auditors, throughout their performance, cannot internalize shariah audit in its true sense. 

The only certification of shariah advisor and auditor is offered by Accounting and Auditing 

Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) known as ‘Certified Shariah Advisor 

and Auditor’ (CSA); it offers technical understanding and professional skills on shariah 

compliance review processes for the international IB and finance industry.  The program also 

covers technical subjects that are essential to shariah compliance and review process and 

procedures such as AAOIFI’s shariah standards on Islamic products and practices, AAOIFI 

governance standards on shariah compliance and review processes, Islamic banking and 

finance supervision as well as the application of shariah and Fiqh (Islamic jurisprudence) to 

Islamic banking and finance practices (AAOIFI 2014).  

The call for professionalization of shariah auditor is not new. Syed Faiq Najeeb and Shahul 

Hameed Mohamed Ibrahim (2013), in their conceptual paper, suggested Malaysia to become 

the main player to accredit professional shariah auditor by establishing an accounting and 

auditing bodies such as Association of Chartered Shariah Accountants and Auditors (ACSAA) 

which can generate economic benefits which have long been dominated by the Western 

countries, for instance, through the establishment of ACCA and CIMA.  They also proposed 

two (2) models on the steps to professionalize the shariah audit profession i.e.  

 

1. a training module created through the collaboration of governing and 

advisory bodies such as Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA), 

Malaysia Accounting Standards Board (MASB), Malaysian Institute of 
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Certified Public Accountant (MICPA), Ministry of Finance (MOF) as well 

as BNM;  

2. a collaboration of professional bodies such as AAOIFI, Islamic Financial 

Standard Board (IFSB) and Organization of Islamic Countries (OIC) to 

issue professional certificate for shariah auditor (Syed Faiq Najeeb & 

Shahul Hameed Mohamed Ibrahim 2013). 

 

A study on the regulators, Shariah Committee members, Shariah Reviewers in the Islamic 

banks and undergraduate students also found that Shariah audit certification should at least 

cover the scope of Shariah audit outlined by Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM), financial 

statements and internal control systems of an Islamic bank (Shafii et al. ,2014). The contents 

of certification may also include the area of business policies, process and procedures, zakat 

calculation and payment, contracts and agreements, and assessment of financial resources. This 

study purported that certification in this area will uphold professionalism and improve the 

conduct of Shariah audit in the industry. The importance of certification to strengthen the 

stakeholder’s confidence over the operation of the IFIs in Malaysia and proposed for the current 

practice that was already in place to move to another stage, i.e. shariah audit certification of 

shariah auditors.   

Competency and Skills of Shariah Auditors  

Ali et al (2015), in her study on Shariah auditors’ competency found that the knowledge 

element that needs to be acquired by the shari’ah auditor should be the knowledge surpassing 

the normal knowledge that are required from the general internal auditors working in any 

sector, or internal auditors within the banking institutions.  According to them, the standard or 

normal internal auditors’ knowledge is expected to circle within the IPPF, whilst for the internal 

auditors working in banking institution, knowledge on banking business operation and 

regulation and guidelines pertaining to conventional banking such as Financial Services Act 

2013 are a necessity. Hence, additional to the knowledge requirement for general internal 

auditor or internal auditor within banking institution, a shari’ah auditor’s knowledge needs to 

be equipped with knowledge related to the shari’ah, especially the ones related to law of 

transactions (muamalat). The understanding too should include the codification of muamalat 

laws in Shariah governance, resolution by the Shari’ah Committee, and most importantly 
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regulation, acts or standards pertaining to Islamic banking operation such as IFSA 2013 and 

SGF. 

 

In terms of skills, Shariah auditors have to be able to apply the shari’ah knowledge on the IB 

products, in order to allow them to comprehend the operationalisation of movement of 

transactions within the series of transactions to detect any shari’ah non-compliant products or 

activities.  

 

In addition and specific knowledge and skills, Shariah auditors have to have a set of behavioral 

factors that represents traits which differs between them (Hoffmann et al. 2010). Other 

characteristics include personal development such as ethical responsibility, self-motivation, 

self-esteem, self-management and integrity also contribute to the elements needed as part of 

competency requirements are highlighted by Mohamed and Lashine (2003).These 

interpersonal skills assist the working process in teams besides facilitating other people from 

diverse backgrounds.  In addition, managerial skills such as the ability to organize and delegate 

tasks would be a value-added skill to the profession.  

  

Seol and Sarkis (2005) argued that other characteristics or the behavioral skills such as personal 

skills (handling oneself in challenging situation, under time pressure and organizational 

change), interpersonal skills (interpersonal interaction), and organizational skills through the 

use of organizational networks are also the attributes that need to be focused in selecting 

candidates for internal auditors’ position. This finding is later supported by Endaya and 

Hanefah (2016) who argued that internal auditor’s characteristics have a significant impact on 

the effectiveness of the internal audit function.  
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METHODOLOGY 

This paper explores the industry expectation of CPSA program, and at the same time validates 

the developed content. The input from focus group participants is sought after to validate that 

the key aspects of the training has been fulfilled and meet the industry expectations. The session 

is conducted too, in order to keep abreast with the latest development of the industry and the 

new guidelines from relevant authorities. In addition, input is sought from the practitioners to 

improve the learning process. This may include revising the method of teaching and delivery 

of the subject, learning material, and the suitability of the syllabus with the participants. 

The content of proposed CPSA program was initially conceptualized and developed by a 

research team in the Faculty of Economics and Muamalat (FEM), Universiti Sains Islam 

Malaysia in 2016. The training content is the product of an Industry Knowledge Transfer 

Program (KTP) grant of the Ministry of Higher Education of Malaysia.  The training 

program was offered under the name of Shariah Audit Training (SAT) conducted in 

several Islamic banks via in-house trainings. Within two years of its implementation, the 

reputation grew as a result of the positive feedbacks from the industry. Due to the demand 

for a comprehensive training program on Shariah audit, the training is now re-developed 

as a certified professional training for Shariah auditors, to be called Certified Professional 

Shariah Auditor (CPSA). The program is co-developed and to be offered by the Islamic 

Banking and Finance Institute (IBFIM) and USIM. 

The next stage of a product development is validation. As this training program is industry-

oriented, the content has to be validated so that the content will fulfill industry’s expectation 

on competency and other characteristics of Shariah auditor. Prior to the moderation session, a 

representative from industry accreditor, Finance Accreditation Agency (FAA) briefed the 

participants on the methodologies and the program objectives and outcomes of a training 

program. This exercise sets the expectation of the participants on how to assess and provide 

input to the proposed program at hand. 

The focus group participants recorded their feedback on the content of the proposed syllabus 

of the program in a booklet provided by the secretariat. The session is moderated by a chairman 

who is a Shariah Committee member of a subsidiary Islamic bank who has amassed ten years 

from her research, publication, trainings and advisory on Shariah audit since 2007. The 

validation session was held for the whole day, in April 2018. The validation session was held 
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in the format of in-depth focus group discussion among thirteen (13) subject matter experts, 

academicians and quality assurance personnel in the area of Shariah audit and Islamic finance. 

Details of the participants are depicted in the Table 1: 

 

Table 1: Designation of Focus Group Participants on the Content of Certified Professional 

Shariah Auditor (CPSA) Program. 

No Designation Organisation 

1 Head of Shariah Audit Subsidiary Islamic bank 

2 Head of Shariah Audit Full fledged Islamic bank  

3 Independent Director & Shariah Audit Committee 

Member 

Takaful Institution 

4 Senior Manager, Shariah Centre of Excellence  Full fledged Islamic bank 

5 Head of Shariah Audit Training Higher Education Institution 

6 Shariah Committee Subsidiary Islamic bank 

7 Shariah Audit Expert Higher Education Institution 

8 Instructional Design & Partnership Industry Training Institute  

9 Instructional Design & Partnership Industry Training Institute  

10 Instructional Design & Partnership Industry Training Institute  

11 Business Advisory Industry Training Institute  

12 Quality Assurance & Delivery Industry Training Institute  

13 Examination and Assessment Industry Training Institute  

 

The focus group that serves as an industry validation session is an essential activity for program 

development process to achieve the following objectives:  

1. To ensure the key aspect in offering training program has been fulfilled 

and meet the industry expectations.  

2. To keep abreast with the latest development of the industry and the new 

guidelines from the relevant authorities (if any). 

3. To improve the learning process. This may include revising the method of 

teaching and delivery of the subject, learning materials, and the suitability 

of the syllabus with the participants. 
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RESULTS AND FINDINGS 

The industry validation session thoroughly discussed the program; Title of the program, 

modules within the program, specific content of each the modules and other related issues. For 

program structure, focus group participants recommended for the program to be focused on the 

Shariah audit specific for Islamic Financial Institutions, rather than the open title as Shariah 

audit designation for all industries. In addition, the participants were in view that the initial 

structure is too long for the Shariah module. Thus, the participants suggested for the Shariah 

Module (Module 1) to include only the content on i. Fundamental of Shariah for Islamic 

Finance, and ii. Application of Shariah in Islamic Finance. This way, the module will focus on 

basics of Muamalat and its applications rather than to include extensive discussion on the 

philosophy of Shariah. Another critical area of improvement is the addition of a new module; 

Module 2: Fundamentals of Governance and Auditing, to the current structure. This is to 

accommodate candidates with Shariah background to be oriented to auditing fundamentals.  

In addition to inputs on the general structure of the program, comments are sought on specific 

modules of the program. Table 2 provided the recommendations and justifications provided by 

the focus group participants. 
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Table 2: Remarks, Comments and Recommendations by Focus Group Participants in 

Industry Moderation Session for Certified Professional Shariah Auditor (CPSA) Program. 

Modules  Learning Program 

Outcomes (LPO) of Initial 

Content   

Input and Recommendations 

to the Content  

Justifications  

Module 1:  

Fundamentals 

of Shariah in 

Islamic finance  

LPO1: To define the 

meaning of Shariah and its 

objectives 

LPO2: Explain the rule-

making process in Islamic 

Law and its Modern 

Application in Islamic 

Finance 

LPO3: Recognise Shariah 

principles in Muamalat  

LPO4: Describe and 

identify the main theories 

of Muamalat 

LPO5: Determine 

appropriate Shariah 

contracts and classification 

of contracts to facilitate the 

requirements of the clients. 

LPO6: Describe the 

commercial basis of the 

application of Shariah 

contracts in Islamic 

Banking and Financing 

 

The participants suggested 

for the Module to include 

only the content on i. 

Fundamental of Shariah for 

Islamic Finance and ii. 

Application of Shariah in 

Islamic Finance. Thus the 

removal of LPO1, LPO2 ad 

LPO4 from the original 

module 

The justification for 

the focus to i. 

Fundamental of 

Shariah for Islamic 

Finance and, ii. 

Application of 

Shariah in Islamic 

Finance is for the 

participants to be 

focused on 

muamalat and its 

application. 

Lengthy 

discussions on 

Shariah will take 

greater time which 

could reduce the 

focus of the 

participants on 

Shariah audit 

content.  

Module 2 : 

Fundamentals 

of Governance 

& Auditing  

 

None. This is a new 

module proposed by the 

focus group participants. 

i. To add in LPOs for 

the new Module:  

 

LPO1 : Describe the 

Fundamentals of 

Governance in Islamic 

Financial Institutions 

• Corporate 

Governance for 

Islamic Financial 

Institutions 

• Shariah 

Governance 

Framework 

 

LPO2 : Describe Overview 

of Auditing 

• Audit Functions 

• Roles and 

Responsibility of 

Auditor in Islamic 

Financial 

Institutions 

The establishment 

for a new module 

on basics of 

auditing is to 

accommodate the 

candidates with 

Shariah background 

to be oriented to 

auditing 

fundamentals.  
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• Auditing 

Standards 

• Code of conduct 

& Ethics 

- Ethical 

principles of a 

professional auditor 

– IIA code of ethics 

- Ethical 

principles of a 

professional auditor 

– AAOIFI code of 

ethics 

- Compare and 

contrast salient ideas 

of IIA and AAOIFI 

code of ethics 

 

LPO3 : Explain audit 

process and methodology 

• Audit process 

• Audit 

methodology 

• Sampling 

• Auditing 

techniques 

• Quality 

Assurance 

Review 

Accounting and 

Reporting For 

Islamic 

Financial 

Transactions 

Module 3) 

LPO1 : Apply Shariah 

principles, AAOIFI and 

MFRS to Islamic financial 

transactions in Islamic 

banking, takaful and 

Islamic capital markets  

LPO2: Analyze the 

elements of financial 

statements for Islamic 

Financial Institutions 

LPO3: Appraise the 

accounting issues 

pertaining to accounting 

and reporting of Islamic 

financial transactions 

 

i. To add sub-topics 

that specifyareas of 

application of 

specific guidelines 

and technical release 

related to Islamic 

financial 

transactions in 

LPO1 

ii. To add in LPO1:  

• Accounting and 

Reporting for Takaful 

• Accounting and 

Reporting for Islamic 

Capital Market - Sukuk 

• Accounting and 

Reporting for Zakat 

 

iii. To add sub-contents 

of LPO3  

iv. Appraisal of 

accounting issues 

v. Emerging Issues on 

Accounting and 

Reporting Islamic 

i. Introduction of 

Guidelines and 

technical releases 

on Islamic 

financial 

transaction is part 

of technical 

competency 

ii. The module is to 

include 

accounting in 

IFIs beyond 

banking  

iii. Addition of 

the discussion on 

emerging issues 

on Shariah audit 

provides 

discussions at 

higher order of 

thinking among 

the participants.  
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Financial 

Transactions  

vi. To delete LPO3  and 

the content is 

restructured to 

LPO1 (reported 

above)  

 

Shariah Risk 

Management 

and Internal 

Control 

(Module 4) 

LPO1 : Discuss the 

significance of Shariah 

risk management and its 

framework  

 

LPO2: Analyze Shariah 

non-compliance risks 

inherent in Islamic 

financial institutions and 

their severity level 

LPO3: Apply internal 

control elements for 

Shariah Compliance  

LPO4: Illustrate the 

requirement of Shariah 

non-compliance reporting 

and rectification strategies 

i. To add sub-topics for 

LPO3  

• Policies and Procedures 

• Elements internal 

control 

• COSO Framework 

ii. To add sub-contents of 

LPO4 

• Trade Based 

• Ijarah Based 

• Debt Based 

• Fee Based 

 

i. Focus of LPO3 

on internal 

control for 

Shariah 

compliance  

ii. The 

examinations of 

internal control 

now focused on 

these types of 

contracts 

Shariah Audit 

Process and 

Program 

(Module 5)  

LPO1: Discuss Key 

Considerations in 

Designing Shariah Audit 

Process 

LPO2: Discuss Shariah 

Audit Scope and Shariah 

Audit Universe 

LPO3: Develop Shariah 

Audit Program for Islamic 

Banking, Takaful and 

Islamic Capital Market 

Products and Services 

 

 

 

i.  To add subtopics under  

LPO1 : External Audit 

Process 

• Planning  

• Fieldwork 

• Management 

• Reporting 

 

ii. To add subtopics under 

LPO2 :  

• Shariah Audit Scope 

• Shariah Audit 

Universe 

 

iii.  To add topics and 

subtopics under LPO3 : 

Treasury 

• Liquidity 

Commodity Trading 

• Investment in Equity 

Market 

• Debt Market 

 

iv. To add sub-topics for 

LPO3 : Other Shariah 

Audit Programs 

• IT System 

• Media Communication 

Tools 

i. Adding of  

subtopics in 

LPO1, LPO2 

and LPO3 are 

justified to add 

technical 

competency of 

the participants 

on Shariah audit 

program  

ii. Shariah audit 

planning is part 

of fundamental 

understanding 

on Shariah 

audit, thus the 

participants 

recommended 

for the content 

to be covered in 

Module 2.  



175 
 

• Human Resources 

 

v. To move Topics and 

subtopics under LPO1 : 

Shariah Audit Planning 

move to module 2 (new 

module) 

Shariah Audit 

Fieldwork and 

Communication 

(Module 6)  

LPO1: Describe Methods 

in Performing Shariah 

Audit Fieldwork 

LPO2: Appraise the 

Approaches in Executing 

Shariah Audit Fieldwork 

LPO3 : Apply Effective 

Communication Skills, 

Channel and Reporting 

 

i. To add on topics for 

LPO2 of the 

module:  

Issues in Shariah 

Audit Fieldwork 

Survey 

- Managing Audit 

Resources 

- Inadequate 

Shariah Audit 

program 

Rectification and 

follow up strategies 

• Perspectives 

ii. To move topics and 

sub-topics under 

LPO1 to a module, 

suggested to be 

added 

• Ethical principles of a 

professional auditor – 

IIA code of ethics 

• Ethical principles of a 

professional auditor – 

AAOIFI code of 

ethics 

Compare and contrast salient 

ideas of IIA and AAOIFI 

code of ethics 

i. To include the 

discussion of 

issues, rather than 

the content to 

focus on the 

technical 

approaches of 

Shariah audit 

conduct. 

ii. The focus group 

participants 

thought that a 

separate module 

is needed to 

feature the 

significant need 

of ethics in 

auditing  
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The experts agreed that the content of the training should be comprehensive to cover the 

required knowledge and skills that are required of Shariah auditors. The knowledge elements 

includes Shariah and auditing knowledge, whilst the relevant skills that are required of Shariah 

auditors are accounting, auditing and risk management. The content of the training consists of 

these modules namely, i) Fundamentals of Shariah for Islamic Finance, ii) Fundamentals of 

Governance and auditing, iii) Accounting and Reporting for Islamic Financial Transactions, 

iv) Shariah Risk Management and Internal Control, v) Shariah Audit Planning and Program 

and vi) Shariah audit Fieldwork and Communication. This study discovered  the expected 

knowledge and skills expected of Shariah auditors from the perspective of Islamic finance 

practitioners. This will mould the professionalism of Shariah auditors who are providing the 

assurance for Shariah compliance in Islamic financal institutions.  
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CONCLUSION  
 

This study discovered  the expected knowledge and skills expected of Shariah auditors from 

the perspective of Islamic finance practitioners. This will mould the professionalism of Shariah 

auditors who are providing the assurance for Shariah compliance in Islamic financal 

institutions. This initiative will address the need of the industry for a professional Shariah 

auditor.  
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FATCA: THE OUTCLAWING LAWS THAT 

COMPEL LOCAL INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 

INSTITUTIONS IN BANKING COMPLIANCE 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Tax evasion and tax havens are the main reasons Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act 

(FATCA) comes into life. The tax evasion is deterred, detected with the aims of discouraging 

offshore tax abuses. This process has so far increased the transparency in reporting. Three 

pillars in FATCA consists of reporting, withholding and due diligence, which supports a good 

governance. As part of the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment (HIRE) Act, President 

Obama signed FATCA into law to help the Justice Department and the IRS to collect tax 

revenue more effectively and efficiently (Liazos & Solomon, 2013). 

 

A government, in order to run the country, uses taxes paid by individuals and corporations. 

Even though the tax is an obligation to be paid, there are ways in which it can be evaded through 

a tax haven and offshore accounts, among many other methods. Every year, tax evasion has 

caused a government to lost millions and billions of dollars and thus it leads to the introduction 

of legislation in order to deter tax evasion. 
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It all started with Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, which just focuses on the US and with 

just four years apart, Global Account Tax Compliance Act (GATCA), was established to focus 

on global tax scene. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act or most commonly known and 

abbreviated as FATCA is an initiative by the United Stated of America towards combating tax 

evasion by U.S. taxpayers holding assets in non-U.S. financial accounts or institutions as well 

as recouping the much needed tax revenues (STA, 2017). 

 

Forbes reported that an astounding of 77,000 banks and financial institutions have registered 

with FATCA (Wood, 2014). Even several institutions in Russia have registered under the 

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act. America’s global tax law requires foreign banks to 

reveal American accounts holding over $50,000. Non-compliant institutions could be frozen 

out of U.S. markets, so everyone is complying. The fact that 77,000 banks have registered and 

some 70 countries are providing government help to the IRS means almost no foreign account 

is confidential. 

 

Therefore, the purpose of this paper is to analyse FATCA and its importance on financial 

institutions. Besides, this paper also studies the effects and implications of non-compliance of 

FATCA on financial institutions as well. 

 

US LAWS ON FATCA 

 

The history of FATCA began with the Union Bank of Switzerland(UBS) scandal; the 

Switzerland's largest bank has helped thousands of American clients using Swiss accounts to 

avoid U.S. taxes (Hilzenrath & Goldfarb, 2009);tax evasion with a total of approximately $1.2 

billion through offshore accounts. Due to the scandal, UBS have paid $780 million to settle all 

criminal charges by the U.S. (The Economist, 2012). Even after paying a fine of $780 million, 

UBS did not learn their lesson and is exploring on bearer securities which can be another way 

to evade tax as there is no ownership trail and no forms are to be filed with the IRS (Wood, 

2015). 
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According to the Internal Revenue Service, as of 2016, there were 55,800 taxpayers that have 

to resolve their tax obligations, paying more than $9.9 billion in taxes, interest, and penalties. 

In addition, there were also approximately 48,000 taxpayers that have made some correction 

to prior non-wilful omissions and meet their federal tax obligations and as a result paying 

approximately $450 million to the government (IRS, 2016). 

 

The implementation of FATCA has created an image of the U.S. and IRS as being bullies not 

only to American citizens specifically but also towards the foreign financial institutions in 

general (WSJ, 2015). Due to the image of being bullies, foreign financial institutions have been 

less thrilled in having American citizen customers due to the complicated legal procedures that 

are costing them their money and time. 

 

FATCA was introduced as a law that deters tax evasion from US entities. Billions of dollars 

well up from the tax haven countries such as the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Bahamas, and 

many other countries. Every year the tax haven countries contribute to billions of dollars tax 

evasion by U.S. entities. FATCA requires foreign financial institutions (“FFIs”) to report 

directly to the Inland Revenue Services (IRS) on certain information about financial accounts 

held by U.S. taxpayers, or by foreign entities in which U.S. taxpayers hold a substantial 

ownership interest. To properly comply with these new reporting requirements, an FFI will 

have to enter into a special agreement with the IRS by June 30, 2013. Under this agreement a 

“participating” FFI will be obligated to undertake certain identification and due diligence 

procedures with respect to its accountholders; 

 

1. Report annually to the IRS on its accountholders who are U.S. persons or foreign 

entities with substantial U.S. ownership; and 

2. Withhold and pay over to the IRS 30 percent of any payments of U.S. source income, 

as well as gross proceeds from the sale of securities that generate U.S. source income, 

made to; 

 

a) Non-participating FFIs, 

b) Individual accountholders failing to provide sufficient information to 

determine whether or not they are a U.S. person, or 
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c) Foreign entity accountholders failing to provide sufficient information 

about the identity of its substantial U.S. owners. There are four key 

components that made up FATCA, which includes governance, 

withholding, reporting and documentation (IRS, 2012). 

 

THE OFFSHORE VOLUNTARY DISCLOSURE PROGRAM 

 

The Voluntary Disclosure Practice is a longstanding practice of IRS Criminal Investigation 

whereby CI takes timely, accurate, and complete voluntary disclosures into account in deciding 

whether to recommend to the Department of Justice that a taxpayer be criminally prosecuted. 

It enables noncompliant taxpayers to resolve their tax liabilities and minimize their chance of 

criminal prosecution. When a taxpayer truthfully, timely, and completely complies with all 

provisions of the voluntary disclosure practice, the IRS will not recommend criminal 

prosecution to the Department of Justice for any issue relating to tax noncompliance or failure 

to file Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts (commonly known as an FBAR reported 

on FinCEN Form 114, previously Form TD F 90-22.1). 

 

This current offshore voluntary disclosure program is a counterpart to Criminal Investigation’s 

Voluntary Disclosure Practice.9. Unlike the 2009 Offshore Voluntary Disclosure Program 

(OVDP) and the 2011 Offshore Voluntary Disclosure Initiative (OVDI), there is no set deadline 

for taxpayers to apply. However, the terms of this program may change at any time. For 

example, the IRS may increase penalties or limit eligibility in the program for all or some 

taxpayers or defined classes of taxpayers or decide to end the program entirely at any time 

(IRS, 2014). 

 

Taxpayers holding undisclosed foreign accounts and assets, including those held through 

undisclosed foreign entities, should make a voluntary disclosure because it enables them to 

become compliant, avoid substantial civil penalties, and generally eliminate the risk of criminal 

prosecution for all issues relating to tax noncompliance and failing to file FBARs. In contrast, 

taxpayers simply filing amended returns or filing through the Streamlined Filing Compliance 

 
9Like its predecessors, the 2009 OVDP, which ran from March 23, 2009 through October 15, 2009, and the 

2011 OVDI, which ran from February 8, 2011 through September 9, 2011, it addresses the civil side of a 

taxpayer’s voluntary disclosure of foreign accounts and assets by defining the number of tax years covered and 

setting the civil penalties that will apply 
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Procedures do not eliminate the risk of criminal prosecution. Making a voluntary disclosure 

also provides the opportunity to calculate, with a reasonable degree of certainty, the total cost 

of resolving all offshore tax issues. 

 

Taxpayers who do not submit a voluntary disclosure run the risk of detection by the IRS and 

the imposition of substantial penalties, including the fraud penalty and foreign information 

return penalties, and an increased risk of criminal prosecution. The IRS remains actively 

engaged in identifying those with undisclosed foreign financial accounts and assets. Moreover, 

increasingly this information is available to the IRS under tax treaties, through submissions by 

whistleblowers, and from other sources and will become more available under the FATCA and 

Foreign Financial Asset Reporting (IRC § 6038D) (IRS, 2014). 

 

Any FI which doesn’t comply with FATCA (or chooses to simply ignore the Act) will be 

subject to 30 percent withholding tax by the U.S. on any of their U.S.-sourced income. For 

example, dividends receivable from stocks of U.S.-based companies.  

 

The Inland Revenue Board (IRB) reached an agreement in substance on 30th June 2014, and 

has announced their plans to enter into an intergovernmental agreement with the U.S. by 31 

Dec 2014. Local laws and policy are expected to change to accommodate FATCA compliance 

- for example laws governing privacy protection to enable local FIs to report on their relevant 

customers’ status. 

 

There are four areas which FIs will have to address in order to comply with FATCA: 

 

1. Determining if they qualify as Foreign Financial Institutions under FATCA 

2. Performing due diligence procedures on customers to determine their FATCA status, 

covering both individual and entity customers 

3. Reporting on financial account balances and income paid on these financial accounts 

held by reportable persons 

4. Withholding obligations on entities which do not comply - FIs are subjected to a 30% 

withholding tax on U.S. sourced income. For customers of FIs who refuse to reveal 

their FATCA status (referred to as “recalcitrant” account holders), the FIs are obligated 

to withhold 30% on U.S. sourced income paid to them (PWC Malaysia, 2014). 

 



184 
 

Even though the U.S. has the upper hand in the collection of tax information of the U.S. citizens 

with the 30% withholding tax, it is still considered as a violation of a country’s data protection 

and privacy laws to send client information to a third party or government. When a financial 

institution violates the country’s privacy law they will be forced to shut down in the very 

jurisdiction where the financial institution was located. In a nutshell, FATCA is a unilateral 

approach that concerns only with U.S. citizen matters so, in order for the U.S. to convince the 

governments of other countries to be on board with FATCA, an Intergovernmental Agreement 

was implemented FATCA defines the term “United States Owned Foreign Entity” as any 

foreign entity which has one or more “Substantial United States Owners.” The term 

“Substantial United States Owner” is defined by FATCA: 

 

i. with respect to any corporation, any specified United States Person which owns, 

directly or indirectly, more than 10 percent of the stock of such corporation (by vote 

or value), 

ii. with respect to any partnership, any specified United States Person which owns, 

directly or indirectly, more than 10 percent of the profits interests or capital interests 

in such partnership, and (iii) in the case of a trust, any specified United States Person 

treated as an owner of any portion of such trust, or holds more than 10 percent of the 

beneficial interests of such trust. This would require the Foreign Financial Institution 

to determine the beneficial owners of each such foreign entity. This resolves the issue 

emphasized by the U.S. Senate Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations, of a U.S. 

Person trying to evade U.S. income taxes by owning a foreign entity and investing 

assets through that foreign entity (“Tax Haven Banks and U.S. Tax Compliance,” Staff 

Report, July 17, 2008). The 10 percent ownership test does not apply to a foreign entity 

that is a corporation, partnership or trust that is engaged (or holds itself out as being 

engaged) primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities, 

interests in partnerships, commodities or any interest (including a futures or forward 

contract or option) in such securities, interests in partnerships or commodities. This 

would include investments in foreign hedge funds, foreign private equity funds and 

other foreign investment vehicles. That is, any investment by a U.S. Person in such 

foreign entities would constitute a United States Owned Foreign Entity and is subject 

to FATCA, even if the investment is 10 percent or less. 
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FOREIGN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

 

The term “Foreign Financial Institution” generally means any “financial institution” which is 

a foreign entity. The term “Financial Institution” means any entity that 

 

a) Accepts deposits in the ordinary course of a banking or similar business; 

b) Is engaged in the business of holding financial assets for the account of others; or 

c) Is engaged (or holding itself out as being engaged) primarily in the business of 

investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities( as defined in [U.S. Internal Revenue] 

Code section 475(c)(2))…., partnership interests, commodities…., or any interest 

(including a futures or forward contract or option) in such securities, partnership 

interests or commodities. 

 

This would include foreign banks, foreign brokerage firms, and also foreign private - funds, 

foreign hedge funds, and other foreign investment vehicles. FATCA also applies to a foreign 

entity which is not a Foreign Financial Institution (“Non-Financial Foreign Entity”) if that Non-

Financial Foreign Entity is the beneficial owner of the payments, unless the Non-Financial 

Foreign Entity certifies that the Non-Financial Foreign Entity does not have a Substantial U.S. 

Owner, or provides to the U.S. Government the required information about any Substantial 

U.S. Owner of that Non-Financial Foreign Entity. The definition of Non-Financial Foreign 

Entity excludes 

 

a) Publicly traded corporations; 

b) Foreign governments or a political subdivision or wholly owned agency of any 

foreign government; 

c) International organizations; and 

d) Any foreign central bank of issue. 

 

In order to have flexibility in dealing with the government of other countries, there are two 

models of IGA created so that FFIs can provide the required reporting without violating their 

home country’s data protection and privacy laws (Danko, 2016). The IGAs with partner 

jurisdictions will also help to remove domestic legal impediments to compliance and also 

reducing the burden on FFIs located in partner jurisdiction (IRS, 2018a). 
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In order to provide ease to the transmittal of information from FFIs to IRS, there are several 

types of Inter-Governmental Agreements (IGAs) introduced by the U.S. Treasury Department. 

The IGAs are as follows: 

 

a) Reciprocal Model 1A Agreement, Pre-existing TIEA or DTC 

b) Nonreciprocal Model 1B Agreement, Pre-existing TIEA or DTC 

c) Nonreciprocal Model 1B Agreement, No TIEA or DTC 

d) Model 2 Agreement, Pre-existing TIEA or DTC 

e) Model 2 Agreement, No TIEA or DTC 

 

Countries implementing the Model 1 IGA will require FFIs to report directly to their own 

governmental agencies and then the government agency will report FATCA related 

information to the US IRS. The FFIs will not be subjected to a 30 percent withholding tax. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: IGA Models 1 & 2 

 

 

As highlighted in the above Table 1, FATCA comes into force utilising two models. Model 1, 

there are two types of Model 1 IGA: 

 

1. Reciprocal – U.S. provides information to the residents of the FATCA partner 

country to the government agency in that country and vice versa. 

2. Nonreciprocal – currently do not have an effect a Double Taxation Convention 

(DTC) or a Tax Information Exchange Agreement (TIEA) that provides automatic 

exchange of information. FATCA partner countries provide information to the US 

but no vice versa. 

3. In this case, there is no need to sign FFI agreement but need to register IRS’FATCA 

Registration Portal Online 
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Figure 2: Reporting Obligations 

 

The countries that have signed Model 1 IGA agrees to report to the IRS about the specified 

related information about the US accounts maintained by all relevant FFIs located under their 

jurisdiction. The FFIs is responsible to identify US accounts in accordance to the due diligence 

rules contained in Annex 1 of the IGA and to report specified information about US accounts 

to the partner jurisdiction. The partner jurisdiction will then in turn report the information to 

the IRS on an automatic basis (IRS, 2018a). 

 

Meanwhile, the countries in the Model 2 IGA, the FFIs are required to report directly to the 

IRS and they will also need to register with the IRS and sign an agreement modified to reflect 

the IGA (Danko, 2016). Similarly to the Model 1 IGA FFIs, they are responsible in identifying 

the US accounts in accordance to the due diligence rule and reporting specified information to 

the IRS. 

 

The US account holder of pre-existing account who does not consent to their account 

information being reported will also be reported to the IRS on the basis of which the IRS may 

make group request to the partner jurisdiction for more specific information (IRS, 2018a). 

There are a total of 113 jurisdictions that have signed an agreement under FATCA be it the 

Model 1 or 2 IGAs. Below are the lists of countries adopted FATCA via IGA.
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Figure 3: Overview of Countries Adopting FATCA in Their Jurisdictions 

 

Source:EY (2015) 

 

 

Table 1: Countries that have signed agreements with FATCA 

No. Countries Model Type 

1 Algeria Model 1 

2 Angola Model 1 

3 Anguilla Model 1 

4 Antigua and Barbuda Model 1 

5 Australia Model 1 

6 Azerbaijan Model 1 

7 Bahrain Model 1 

8 Barbados Model 1 

9 Belarus Model 1 

10 Brazil Model 1 

11 British Virgin Islands Model 1 

12 Bulgaria Model 1 

13 Cabo Verde Model 1 

14 Cambodia Model 1 
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15 Canada Model 1 

16 Cayman Islands Model 1 

17 China Model 1 

18 Colombia Model 1 

19 Costa Rica Model 1 

20 Curaçao Model 1 

21 Cyprus Model 1 

22 Czech Republic Model 1 

23 Denmark Model 1 

24 Dominica Model 1 

25 Dominican Republic Model 1 

26 Estonia Model 1 

27 Finland Model 1 

28 France Model 1 

29 Georgia Model 1 

30 Germany Model 1 

31 Gibraltar Model 1 

32 Greece Model 1 

33 Greenland Model 1 

34 Grenada Model 1 

35 Guernsey Model 1 

36 Guyana Model 1 

37 Haiti Model 1 

38 Holy See Model 1 

39 Honduras Model 1 

40 Hungary Model 1 

41 Iceland Model 1 

42 India Model 1 

43 Indonesia Model 1 

44 Ireland Model 1 

45 Isle of Man Model 1 

46 Israel Model 1 
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47 Italy Model 1 

48 Jamaica Model 1 

49 Jersey Model 1 

50 Kosovo Model 1 

51 Kuwait Model 1 

52 Latvia Model 1 

53 Liechtenstein Model 1 

54 Lithuania Model 1 

55 Luxembourg Model 1 

56 Malaysia Model 1 

57 Malta Model 1 

58 Mauritius Model 1 

59 Mexico Model 1 

60 Montenegro Model 1 

61 Montserrat Model 1 

62 Netherlands Model 1 

63 New Zealand Model 1 

64 Norway Model 1 

65 Panama Model 1 

66 Peru Model 1 

67 Philippines Model 1 

68 Poland Model 1 

69 Portugal Model 1 

70 Qatar Model 1 

71 Romania Model 1 

72 Saudi Arabia Model 1 

73 Serbia Model 1 

74 Seychelles Model 1 

75 Singapore Model 1 

76 Slovak Republic Model 1 

77 Slovenia Model 1 

78 South Africa Model 1 
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79 South Korea Model 1 

80 Spain Model 1 

81 St. Kitts and Nevis Model 1 

82 St. Lucia Model 1 

83 St. Vincent and the 

Grenadines 

Model 1 

84 Sweden Model 1 

85 Thailand Model 1 

86 Trinidad and Tobago Model 1 

87 Tunisia Model 1 

88 Turkey Model 1 

89 Turks and Caicos Islands Model 1 

90 Ukraine Model 1 

91 United Arab Emirates Model 1 

92 United Kingdom Model 1 

93 Uzbekistan Model 1 

94 Vietnam Model 1 

95 Armenia Model 2 

96 Austria Model 2 

97 Bermuda Model 2 

98 Chile Model 2 

99 Hong Kong Model 2 

100 Iraq Model 2 

101 Japan Model 2 

102 Macao Model 2 

103 Moldova Model 2 

104 Nicaragua Model 2 

105 Paraguay Model 2 

106 San Marino Model 2 

107 Switzerland Model 2 

108 Taiwan Model 2 

 

Source: IRS (2018a) 
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When a FFI does not enter into an agreement with the IRS, they must be prepared to have all 

U.S.-sourced payments that will also include Dividends and Interest paid by U.S. corporations, 

will, be subjected to a 30 percent withholding tax. Not only will the 30 percent withholding tax 

be applied to any U.S.-sourced payments but it will also be applied to the gross sale proceeds 

from the sale of relevant US property or stock investments (Danko, 2016). 

 

There are two types of forms that are required under FATCA, which are (i) Forms W-8; or (ii) 

W-9. The existence of too many forms can be a burdensome and time-consuming task that can 

be exposed to inaccuracies and viewed as intrusive to consumers (Deloitte, 2017). The Form 

W-9 is used specially for U.S. person categorized as individuals, U.S. citizens, U.S. green card 

holders and U.S. resident aliens, and entities that is organized under U.S. law. Meanwhile, the 

Forms W-8 is used for non-U.S. persons under the Chapter 3 categorized as individuals, non-

resident aliens and entities organized under the laws of the country other than the U.S. Under 

the Chapter 4 it also includes FFIs and Non-financial foreign entities (NFFEs). The table below 

is the purpose for different kind of form types under the W-8 or W-9 category (Marianne & 

Mary, 2016). 

 

Table 2: W-9 and W-8 Forms 

 

W-9 This form is generally used by all US incorporated entities and US 

persons. When applicable, the form will also be used by US persons 

to declare their US status and to claim an exemption form FATCA 

reporting. 

W-8BEN-E Non-U.S. Corporations and public sector entities that are not 

considered as non-financial institutions will be using this form. 

W-8IMY Financial institutions and partnership that is considered as a Non-U.S. 

will be using this form for the purpose of collecting information and 

reporting under FATCA. 

W-8BEN Non-U.S. individuals will use this form to certify their non-U.S. 

status. A non-US individual is not a U.S. citizen or a lawful 

permanent resident of the United States and does not have a 

substantial presence in the United States. 
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W-8EXP Foreign governments, international organizations, foreign central 

banks of issue, foreign tax-exempt organizations, foreign private 

foundations and governments of U.S. possessions will use this type 

of form. 

W-8ECI Non-U.S. banks that opened up a branch in the United States will be 

using this form. The source income of the entities is effectively 

connected with the conduct of a trade for business within the United 

States. 

 

Source: Marianne & Mary (2016) 

 

The FFIs located under the authority of the Model 1 IGA need to register to obtain a Global 

Intermediary Identification Number (GIIN) (IRS, 2018a). The GIIN is used by FFIs to identify 

themselves to withholding agents and tax administrators for FSTCA reporting purposes. The 

format of the GIIN must have a 19-character identification made up of several characters and 

never contain the letter “O” (IRS, 2017). Meanwhile, the FFIs listed under the Model 2 IGA 

must register with the IRS and agree to comply with the terms and conditions of a FFI 

agreement. The FFIs also need a GIIN. 

 

In a jurisdiction that is not treated as having an effect in IGAS must also register and agree to 

comply with the terms of an FFI agreement and to obtain a GIIN in order to avoid being 

withheld upon under chapter 410. FFI that is in agreement with the IRS will be treated as 

complying with their reporting obligation under FATCA and therefore will not be subjected to 

a 30% withholding tax. They must comply with the following requirements of identifying 

Financial Accounts that belongs to US personnel and report the information to the tax 

authorities of the FIs jurisdiction. The FIs must also do an annual report on the name and the 

aggregate amount of payments made (Linklaters, 2012). 

 

FATCA will have an impact on technology and operations through a variety of aspects as 

electronic search of databases on existing individual customers is required and it will also affect 

 

10 Chapter 4 also generally requires participating FFIs to withhold tax on certain payments to accounts held by 
recalcitrant account holders and payees that are nonparticipating FFIs. 
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the ongoing relationship with customer and what information is requested and stored (PWC, 

2012). 

 

Once considered as being compliant to FATCA, under the FFI agreement, an FI is required to 

enhanced due diligence procedures to identify existing US account holders, non US accounts 

that have substantial US owners as well as collect more information when a new account is 

created if there are any US indicia or other conditions are identified during the on boarding 

process. The FFIs must also report to the IRS if there are any identified US accounts, US-

owned accounts and account holders who do not provide the information. When account 

holders do not provide information and FFIs do not comply with FATCA, the jurisdiction must 

withhold US tax on certain payments and pay over to the US government (PWC, 2012). 

 

The FFIs that are required to register and report include: 

 

a) Depository institutions for example banks. 

b) Custodial institutions for example mutual funds. 

c) Investment entities for example hedge funds or private equity funds. 

d) Certain types of insurance companies that have cash value products or annuities 

(IRS, 2018b). 

 

In general, any non-U.S. alternative investment funds and holding companies with reportable 

US investors and certain reportable non-U.S. investors. The foreign financial institution is 

defined by FATCA as a custodial institution, depository institution, an investment entity or a 

specified insurance company. A custodial institution holds financial assets for the account of 

others as a substantial portion of its business if its gross income is attributable to such activities 

equals or exceeds 20 percent of the entity’s gross income. When an entity is operating primarily 

on the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities, partnership interests, 

commodities or any interests, it is then considered as an investment entity (EY, 2015). 

 

The Model IGA defined investment entity as an entity that conducts business or on a behalf of 

customers for the following activities: 

 

a. Trading in money market instruments, foreign exchange, exchange, interest rate and 

index instruments, transferable securities or commodity futures trading. 
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b. Individual and collective portfolio management. 

c. Investing, administrating or managing funds on behalf of other person. 

 

Certain types of insurance companies is not exempted from being compliant to FATCA, 

it includes all cash value insurance contracts and annuity contracts in which a policy holder is 

entitled to receive cash upon surrender or termination of the contract or under which the policy 

holder may borrow money (Linklaters, 2012). 

 

 

FATCA EXEMPTION 

 

There are a number of entities that are exempted from being obliged to FATCA: 

 

1. Exempted beneficial owners other than funds that include government entities, 

international organizations and central banks with no commercial banking activities. 

2. Retirement or pension funds. 

3. Any small and limited scope financial institutions with the following description: 

 

• Financial institution with a local client base that must not have any 

ties with customers or account holders outside FATCA partner 

country. 

• Local bank, bank or credit union, that operates without profit and 

does not have assets worth more than US$175 million. 

• Financial institution with only low-value accounts which does not 

have a financial account that has a value in excess of US$ 50, 

000.00 and does not have assets worth more than US$50 million. 

• Qualified credit card issuer. 

 

4. Investment entities that qualify as deemed-complaint FFIs that includes trustee 

documented trust, sponsored investment entity and controlled foreign corporation, 

sponsored closely held investment vehicle, investment advisors and investment 

managers and collective investment vehicle (EY, 2015). 

 



196 
 

In 2017, the IRS managed to get Credit Suisse to plead guilty to helping Americans evade taxes 

and to pay a fine of US$2.6 billion in retribution. Of that, US$1.9 billion goes to the federal 

government, the rest to the State of New York. That US$1.9 billion is about 15 percent of the 

IRS’s total budget for 2014. 

 

OBSERVATION AND CONCLUSION 

 

FATCA introduced a high standard in a reporting and exchange of information system. 

Individuals and entities are controlled for any tax avoidance in future. From the negative side, 

FATCA and GATCA seem to open floodgates of security threat through supplication of 

account information. Below are several observations and findings: 

 

1. Out clawing jurisdictions 

2. FATCA and GATCA open up adherence of higher complexity requirement of laws 

from other jurisdictions. This is obviously happens in FATCA when US laws being 

imposed and implemented on other jurisdictions. International treaties agreed by 

the government should be the soft law and not the hard laws. The imposition of 

withholding tax as penalty reflects the infringement of sovereignty and state 

concept. 

3. Infringement of economic freedom and rights 

4. The notion on freedom and economic rights triggers rights of individual liberty of 

economics. Whatever amount in the account demands privacy control. However, 

the privacy rights are waived with smart contract and waiver clauses in the pre-

signing contract executed by the customer. 
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5. Non-Reciprocal Exchange of Information 

6. Clear observation indicates that FATCA does not condone reciprocal exchange of 

information. Unlike GATCA, FATCA is a one way traffic supply of information. 

7. Secrecy and Data Protection Safety. The member countries are limited in exchange 

of information. As indicate above, the data and information supplied information 

triggers privacy and data protection threat. A polish guideline must be introduced 

in order to avoid any infringement of data protection in future. FATCA confronts 

the issue of secrecy/confidentiality laws in the jurisdiction where the Foreign 

Financial Institution maintains the financial account: in any case in which any 

foreign law would (but for a waiver described below) prevent the reporting to the 

U.S. government of any required information with respect to any United States 

account maintained by such FFI, the FFIs must attempt to obtain a valid and 

effective waiver of such law from each holder of such account, and if such a waiver 

is not obtained from each such account holder, the FFIs must close such account. 

 

In conclusion, FATCA is the continued evolution on innovative collaboration of 

intergovernmental agreement. However, this paper claims that the agreement may lead to 

security threat of FFI’s. Enhanced due diligence is required to ensure the outflow of 

information and the Exchange of information principles does not infringe the privacy of 

individuals and the FFI’s. Emphasis should be given to the  local non U.S. entities in terms of 

protection and data privacy not to be leaked out to the foreign jurisdiction that may open up to 

unexpected breach of stolen identity and privacy attachment. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 
Mergers and Acquisitions (hereafter M&A) has been in the mainstream news in the recent past 

(Massoudi & Fontanella-Khan, 2016). Global trend shows a record breaking of $5 trillion 

worth of deals worldwide in 2015 which was more than a one-third increase over 2014 and it 

was $4.4 trillion in 2007 (Liner, 2016). Globalization and financial deregulation of banking 

sector went through a period of considerable consolidation during 1990s. The financial world 

has experienced the down side of financial innovation and deregulation in the recent global 

financial crisis which leads to massive bank failures in the developed economies. Moreover, 

this effect has been spread in the developing countries as well.  

 

At the age of the competitive business arena, financial enlargement, technological innovation, 

structural modification of the financial system and demands for the financial products, all 

financial institutions have to face numerous problems and need to change their business 

approach accordingly. With a view to keeping face with this changing trend, all financial 

institutions need to espouse strategy to survive in the competitive business world.  

 

 

M&A is one of the most renowned strategies to make adoption with those changing businesses. 

According to the efficiency theory, the bottom line and special alchemy of the M&A is for the 

purpose of synergy. Even though the main bottom line of M&A is to have synergy, element of 

necessity is equally important for the target banks to be considered. In several cases for example 
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infant bank, bank that is incapable to compete, facing financial distress and unable to maintain 

requirement of common equity of risk weighted asset, M&A could become necessity in the 

first place rather than to acquire synergy. Hence, it becomes necessary for the banks to be 

merged or acquired by other matured and stable financial institutions before reaching the target 

of having synergy in the deal.  

 

As far as the M&A is concerned, today’s business is not bound within the domestic arena; it 

has crossed the national border. Efficient and well-built financial institutions tend to broaden 

their market or manoeuvre beyond national border through foreign direct investment (FDI) in 

the form of cross border M&A. This strategy creates direct or indirect external or spill over 

effect on the performance of the banks as well.  

 

The latest literatures show that bank M&A activities has been growing rapidly on the backdrop 

of global financial crisis, financial deregulation, and market competition in the developed and 

developing world. However, a recent comprehensive review on this vital issue is still not well 

documented especially for Islamic banks. 

 

The rest of the chapter is structured as follows. The next section presents a brief review of 

M&A underlying theories. Further discussion on the impact of M&A towards the performance 

of banking sector for conventional and its counterpart is presented in section 3. Sections 4 

extend the review on the factors associated with M&A deals. Finally, section 5 concludes the 

paper.  
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OVERVIEW OF UNDERLYING THEORIES OF M&A  

 

A number of theories have been applied in the previous studies to explain M&A such as, 

efficiency theory of merger (Daniya, Onotu, & Abdulrahaman, 2016; Weitzel,  & McCarthy, 

2011), neoclassical theory (Mitchell, & Mulherin, 1996; Polemis & Paleologos,2014; 

Petmezas, 2009) behavioural theory (Shleifer & Vishny ,2003;Polemis & Paleologos, 2014) 

and resource dependency theory (Kandil & Chowdhury, 2014; Das & Rao, 2011; Morris ,2004; 

Kiel & Nicholson,2003). 

 

Specifically, within the sphere of banking sector, many studies use efficiency theory and 

resource dependency theory (RDT). According to efficiency theory, it suggests that mergers 

are planned and it will only occur when they are expected to generate enough realizable 

synergies to make the deal beneficial to the parties, bidder and target. Similarly, several studies 

(i.e., Daniya et al. ,2016; Wadhwa & Syamala, 2015; Weitzel & McCarthy,2011) mention that 

the main motive of M&A is to gain synergy (operating and financial synergy). These synergies 

could be in the form of reduction in cost or increase in revenue. It is the symmetric expectations 

of gains which results in a 'friendly' merger being proposed and accepted. If the gain in value 

to the target is not positive, it is suggested that the target firm's owners would not sell or submit 

to the acquisition. Similarly, if the gains were negative to the bidders' owners, the bidder would 

not complete the deal. 

 

Whereas, RDT is defined as an explanation of how the external resources like, skilled worker, 

money, technology and raw materials etc. of an organization affect the behaviour of said 

organization.  Nair, Trendowski & Judge (2008) claim that resources of a firm consist of 

tangible assets, human and other intangible assets which are put to produce productive services 

planned by the firm. In addition, Rao-Nicholson (2003) notes that board members contribute 

to the important external resources and can maximize firm’s performance. Similarly, Morris, 

T. (2004) states that RDT could explain the impact of social action and organisational changes 

towards an organization. RDT offers an externally focused perspective of why an organization 

might acquire or merge with another organization.  

 

  



203 
 

IMPACT OF M&A TOWARDS THE BANKING PERFORMANCE 

 

While the importance of M&A is becoming crucial in addressing financial instability, there is 

relatively lacking, inconclusive and mixed evidence on the influence of M&A on banking 

performance.  

 

Using data from the US banking sector, Abbas et al. (2014) find a direct positive performance 

in banking productivity, profitability as well as shareholders’ value. Similarly, Daniya, Onotu 

& Abdulrahaman (2016) find that there is an improved and robust financial performance owing 

to merger and acquisition, leading to a more financial efficiency in Nigerian banks. In addition, 

Okpanachi (2011) implies that between pre and post M&A, post mergers and acquisitions 

period are more financially efficient than the pre- period. Similarly, using data from Malaysian 

banks, Sufian & Habibullah (2014) find that the acquiring banks have been relatively more 

productive as compared to the target banks. 

 

Whereas, several studies reveal that M&A deal has less important impact on the bank 

performance.  Kandil & Chowdhury (2014) and Gattoufi et al. (2014) show that M&A activity 

has no significant impact on operational performance of the banks involved. In the similar vein, 

Piloff & Santomero (1998) and Goyal & Joshi (2011) argue that acquisitions often have a 

negative impact on employees’ behaviour resulting in counterproductive practices, 

absenteeism, low morale, and job dissatisfaction. It appears that an important factor affecting 

the successful outcome of acquisitions is the top management’s ability to gain employee trusts 

(Amihud, et al., 2002).  

 

In addition, mixed result is also found in several studies. Using information from public listed 

companies from ASEAN countries, Rao-Nicholson et al. (2016) finds negative effect of M&A 

deal on the performance of the banks. With respect to domestic consolidation, however, they 

argue that friendly deals help to smoothen integration between the two companies and 

managers can work proactively to derive synergistic gains from the M&A activity. In the case 

of domestic deals, it can be quite costly to integrate institutions which are dissimilar in terms 

of their loan, earnings, and cost, deposit and size strategies. As for cross-border mergers, 

differences between merging partners in their loan and credit risk strategies are conducive for 

higher performance, whereas diversity in their capital and cost structure has a negative impact 

https://scholar.google.com/citations?user=Zra5ZdMAAAAJ&hl=en&oi=sra
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from a performance standpoint (Altunbaş & Marqués, 2008;Antoniadis, Alexandridis & 

Sariannidis, 2014).  

 

With regards to the announcement time of the size-adjusted combined performance of both the 

bidder and the target, Cybo-Ottone & Murgia (2000) find that this factor is important in M&A 

deal and it is economically relevant. They argue that only the combined value of domestic deals 

creates shareholder value, whilst cross-border deals do not capture positive expectations from 

the market.  

 

Furthermore, Antoniadis et al. (2014) review the literature for M&A in the European banking 

sector and state that there are positive abnormal returns for target banks due to investors’ 

expectations for better utilization of their assets. While, shareholders of acquiring banks suffer 

minor losses of value that leads to negative abnormal returns. This is due to investors’ disbelief 

on the motives and successfulness of the proposal. 

 

Table 1 summarizes the literature on the impact of M&A on performance of banks. 

 

Cross border M&A and its effect on banks performance 

 

Nowadays, business is not only bound within the domestic arena but also it crosses the national 

border. Efficient and strong financial institutions tend to broaden their market or manoeuvre 

beyond national border. This could be accomplished through foreign direct investment (FDI) 

which comes with two approaches namely green filed investment and new operation 

procurement. The second approach might involve cross border M&A. However, to a certain 

extent, FDI through cross border M&A contributes to an external or spill over effect on the 

performance of the banks.  

 

Amihud et al. (2002) asserts that there is a risk of insolvency in a cross border M&A. If the 

acquisition of the foreign target fails and the domestic bank’s (acquirer’s) solvency is 

threatened, the acquiring bank may be bailed out either by its own domestic regulator or by the 

host regulator (the regulator of the target bank). Hence, cross-border mergers may have less 

advantage for either one or both of the parties involved, i.e., the domestic (acquirer) and host 

bank regulators (target). This conventional wisdom is based on the traditional notion that it is 
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better for a bank to not put all its “eggs in one basket” and, thus geographic diversification is a 

natural risk that needs to be properly considered. 

 

Table 1: Summary of studies associated with the impact of M&A on performance of banks 

 
Author(s) Sample of study Variables Methodology Findings 

Piloff & 

Santomero 

(1998) 

Banks Theoretical  

discussion  

NA Managerial strategy of M&A give 

more impact towards banking 

performance other than marketing 

and accounting performance 

ratios.   

Cybo-

Ottone & 

Murgia 

(2000) 

European country, 

bank, 1988 to 

1997 

Theoretical  

discussion  

NA There is an abnormal return 

during announcement time of 

M&A. However, there is no 

significant change in performance 

after M&A is concluded. 

Amihud, 

DeLong & 

Saunders 

(2002) 

Worldwide banks, 

1985-1998 

Total risk 

(variance of firms 

stock return)  

Panel 

techniques 

Acquirers’ risk neither increases 

nor decreases.  

Altunbaş & 

Marqués 

(2008) 

 

European 

domestic and 

cross country 

banks, 1992-2001 

Efficiency, bank 

size, liquidity 

loan, credit ratios, 

credit risk, Target, 

bidder and bidder 

post and pre 

performance. 

 

 

Theoretical 

analysis  

In domestic deals, it is costly to 

integrate institutions which are 

dissimilar in loan, earnings, and 

cost, deposit and size strategies. 

Whereas, cross-border mergers, 

differences between merging 

partners in their loan and credit 

risk strategies are conducive to 

higher performance, whereas 

diversity in their capital and cost 

structure has a negative impact 

from a performance standpoint. 

Goyal  & 

Joshi 

(2011) 

Indian banks Human resources 

management and 

organization 

behaviour 

Theoretical 

analysis 

Motives are important in the 

M&A deal.  

Sufia & 

Habibullah 

(2014) 

Malaysian banks Income 

diversification 

and operating 

expenses 

Non-

parametric 

‘frontier’-

oriented 

Malmquist 

productivity 

index (MPI), 

central 

tendency 

ordinary least 

square (OLS) 

and fixed 

effects (FE) 

The acquiring banks have been 

relatively more productive as 

compared to the target banks and 

banks in the control group. 
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panel 

regression 

methods 

Abbas, 

Hunjra,  

Azam, Ijaz 

& Zahid, 

M. (2014) 

 

Islamic Financial 

Institutions (IFIs) 

in the UK, 1984-

2014 

Total accrual, 

total accounts 

receivable, 

Total inventories, 

total taxes 

payable, and, total 

other current 

liabilities. 

Regression as 

well as 

difference-in 

difference 

estimation 

Target firm  

 Increase earnings by cost cutting 

discretionary expenses. 

Gattoufi, 

Al-

Muharrami 

& Shamas, 

G. (2014) 

 

Banks in GCC 

countries,  

2003-3007 

Return on Equity 

(ROE), 

capitalization 

ratios, net 

financial margin 

(NFM), loan loss 

provision to total 

assets, loan loss 

provision to net 

interest revenue, 

cost to income 

ratio. 

Average of 

Market, 

merged 

without 

merged  

No significant impact on 

operational performance. 

Antoniadis, 

Alexandridi

s & 

Sariannidis  

(2014) 

 

Greek banking 

sector, 2014 

Financial and 

corporate 

governance 

characteristics 

Event study 

methodology 

The share prices of bank have 

risen for the period of time after 

the day the proposal took place. A 

few banks however displayed 

negative returns and was not 

influenced by the proposal. 

Kandil & 

Chowdhury 

(2014) 

UK, Banks, 1999 

to 2009 

ROA, ROI, bank 

size (bank’s 

revenue), 

Financial 

leverage.  

Regression 

model  

ROE and ROI increases after 

M&A. Target shareholder enjoy 

short term positive rerun. The 

announcement of M&A has 

immediate effect on the share 

price. 

Rao-

Nicholson, 

Salaber & 

Cao (2016) 

Banks in ASEAN 

Countries, 2001-

2012 

Return on Assets 

(ROA), sales 

margin    

Cross sectional 

OLS model. 

The industry-adjusted operating 

performance tends to decline in 

the years following an M&A deal. 

Daniya, 

Onotu & 

Abdulraha

man (2016) 

Nigerin banks, 

2002-2008 

ROA , ROE 

 

SPSS 

(descriptive 

statistics) 

Bank witnessed improved and 

robust 

financial performance. 

 

 

In addition, Gattoufi et al., (2014) argue that regional factors impede cross border M&A. Each 

region has different set of rules and regulations imposed by the regulators. By the same token, 
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Zou & Simpson (2008) claim that studies related to M&A in developing economies are 

relatively much lacking. M&A activity can be seen as a means of managing resource 

dependencies through absorption and integration at a low-cost base and acquiring or 

consolidating market power position. 

 

Furthermore, Nagano (2013) reports that both inward cross-border M&A and Greenfield FDI 

attract the host country (target) through opportunities such as to increase population size and 

per capita income as well as decrease in corporate tax rates. However, a home-country (bidder) 

firm tends to choose cross-border M&A rather than Greenfield FDI when the host country 

enforces intellectual property rights laws. Besides, Neto, et al., (2010) state that depending on 

the potential economic growth of the host country, M&A has a great potential to boost internal 

competition which could lead to high growth. 

 

The size of the bank is also equally important to have decision to invest abroad. This notion is 

supported by Focarelli & Pozzellolo (2001) which found that the size of the banks is the key 

determinant of the decision to expand business abroad. 

 

Table 2 provides summary of the impact of cross border M&A on performance of institutions 

discussed by the previous studies.  

 

 

M&A IN ISLAMIC BANKING SECTOR 

 

Due to several differences in terms of the concept, operations and methodology between 

Islamic and conventional banking system, it is almost impossible for the two banks to be 

merged. However, there is room for Islamic subsidiary of the conventional banks to merge with 

Islamic banks. Following are the argument for M&A in the Islamic banking sector.  

 

Datuk Seri Zukri Samat, former Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of BIMB Holdings Bhd. 

expressed his opinion in the press conference on the 28th& 29th of May 2017 by stating that the 

creation of mega Islamic banks through M&A could be a rival not only for other Islamic banks 

but also the “Big boys” or “Giants” from the conventional side. It would help the bank to 

survive in the competitive market, boost industry growth, huge potentiality to cross the border 

and able to be a global hub for Islamic banking sector. Similarly, Dr Alexander von Pock, 
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Principal of Financial Institutions Group mentioned that M&A offers a way to build more 

powerful players with better chances to compete. Likewise, Finance Minister of Bangladesh, 

AbulMaal Abdul Muhith stateed that there is a provision under the act to facilitate M&A deals 

for banks like BASIC bank and National Bank Bangladesh Limited which were facing financial 

problems due to the huge amount of non-performance loans (NPLS). 

 

However, empirical studies on this area are still much lacking. Ibrahim & Rizvi (2017) state 

that the size of the Islamic bank is smaller as compared to conventional banks, so, it becomes 

a concern of  being ‘too small to have the economies of scale and scope’. Islamic banks are 

expected to achieve both economies of scale and scope if M&A activities could be 

implemented.   

 

 

Table 2: Summary of studies associated with the impact of cross border M&A on 

performance of institutions 

 
Author(s) Sample of study Variables Methodology Findings 

Focarelli & 

Pozzellolo 

(2001) 

OECD countries, 

2500 banks, 1990 

to 1990 

ROA, ROE , total asset 

net income 

Regression analysis  Size of the banks is the 

key determinant of the 

decision to expand 

business abroad. 

Amihud, 

DeLong & 

Saunders 

(2002) 

General, Banks, 

(1985-1998) 

 

Total risk (variance of 

firms stock return)  

Panel techniques  Acquirers’ risk neither 

increases nor 

decreases.  

Zou & 

Simpson 

(2008) 

China, Industry, 

1991-2005 

Industry size, 

profitability. 

technological intensity  

Panel study  Deregulation, as a 

specific industry 

shock, affects 

acquisition activities 

significantly. 

Neto, 

Brandão & 

Cerqueira, 

A. (2010) 

53 Countries, FDI 

(Greenfield 

investment), 

1996-2006. 

Mode-encompassing 

variables (such as 

economy’s size, 

openness, governance 

and human development 

index) and 

mode-specific variables. 

Panel (fixed and random 

effect)  

Investor’s protection 

and cultural variables 

seem to play an 

important role in the 

explanation of M&A 

and Greenfields. 

Nagano 

(2013) 

Asia and 

OCENIA  

R&D, GDP, 

Populatiion, corporate 

tax, bilateral trade 

corporate tax 

Regresion analysis  - Investors choose green 

field investment if the 

intellectual property 

rights of host country 

are higher and have 

regional network. 
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- Investor chooses cross 

border M&A if there is 

a protection of 

shareholder value and 

extension of market.  

Gattoufi, 

Al-

Muharrami 

& Shamas, 

G. (2014) 

 

GCC countries, 

Banks 

2003-3007 

ROE, capitalization 

ratios, net financial 

margin (NFM), loan loss 

provision to total assets,, 

loan loss provision to 

net interest revenue,  

cost to income ratio. 

Average of market, 

merged without merged  

No significant impact 

on operational 

performance. 

Cortés, 

Agudelo & 

Mongrut, 

S. (2017) 

Latin America  

1995-2010 

Country specific 

variables: interest rate, 

unemployment rate, 

GDP, country risk, 

business freedom index, 

fiscal freedom index,  

Industry specific 

variables: ROE, Market 

to book value (MBV), 

standard deviation of the 

market to book value   

Methodology of Harford 

(2005) 

Two M&A waves have 

been found, first 

between 1995 and 

2002, second wave 

between 2003 and 

2010.   

 

 

 

According to Iqbal (2008), incentives are necessary to increase size through consolidation in 

order to lower the cost of funding and increase the value of shares. It is important to distinguish 

how M&A activities work in Islamic finance industry. Iqbal (2008) also claims that there are 

two matters that should be considered in M&A within Islamic financial institutions. Firstly, 

there should be benefits arising out of economies of scope and scale. Secondly, it is expected 

that risk management and risk sharing strategy are enhanced and diversified. A well-diversified 

bank has better expected return-risk trade-offs resulting in lower variability of profits and 

higher security for depositors. These are supported by a study done by Ibrahim & Rizvi (2017) 

who found out that larger Islamic banks are more stable, at least when they surpass a certain 

threshold size.  

 

Table 3 provides a summary of literature on M&A in Islamic banking sector. 
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Table 3: Summary of studies of associated with M&A in Islamic banking sector 

 
Author(s) Sample of study Variables Methodology Findings 

Iqbal, Z. 

(2008) 

 

General, Islamic 

Financial 

Institutions (IFIs) 

General discussion.  General 

discussion on 

IFIs.  

It is essential that IFIs 

expand the scope of their 

products and services to 

meet the challenges of 

domestic and international 

markets. 

Due to the small size of the 

economy, larger banks are 

unable to efficiently use 

resources and minimize the 

cost. 

Sufian, F., & 

Habibullah, 

M. S (2009) 

 

Malaysia, Bank, 

technical 

efficiency, 1997-

2003 

Total Deposits, 

Capital, Personnel 

Expenses, Loans, 

Investments, Non-

Interest Income 

DEA The merger programme 

among the Malaysian 

domestic commercial banks 

was driven by economic 

reasons. 

Kandil, T., & 

Chowdhury, 

D (2014) 

UK, Banks, 1999 

to 2009 

ROA, ROI, bank 

size (bank’s 

revenue), Financial 

leverage.  

Regression 

model  

ROE and ROI increases 

after M&A. Target 

shareholder enjoy short term 

positive rerun. The 

announcement of M&A has 

immediate effect on the 

share price. 

Ibrahim, M. 

H., & Rizvi, 

S. A. R. 

(2017) 

Bangladesh, 

Egypt, Indonesia, 

Jordan, Malaysia, 

Pakistan, Tunisia, 

Turkey along with 

GCC countries, 

Banks, 1993 to 

2004.   

Z-score (measure of 

stability) , bank size 

(total bank asset), 

regulations,  

Control variable 

lending activity, 

bank profitability, 

bank liquidity, 

economic growth, 

and inflation. 

GMM, cross 

country 

(dynamic 

panel)  

Larger Islamic banks are 

more stable, at least when 

they surpass a certain 

threshold size.  

Benefits of having bigger 

Islamic banks or mega 

Islamic banks. 

Improving the regulations.  

 

 

Kandil & Chowdhury (2014) argue that many acquisitions are not a failure from an ex post 

perspective and suggest that an acquirer may sell a business it has improved or a business that 

it once had synergies with but no longer does. M&A in Islamic banking sector could achieve 

efficiency which arises from economies of scale or scope. This could happen when there are 

changes in the market structure which in turn affects the Islamic banks’ profits.  
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In Malaysia specifically, the Central Bank of Malaysia promotes domestic banking institutions 

to merge (Sufian & Habibullah, 2009). Efficient bank is assumed to be well organized and has 

more capability in their banking management. Through M&A, the efficient bank will lead to a 

transfer of the better management quality to the inefficient bank. This will in turn boost the 

performance of the merged banks. 

 

FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH M&A ACTIVITY 

The decision to embark in M&A depends on several reasons. There are some influential factors 

that could either directly or indirectly affect the M&A deal. Factors that are associated with the 

M&A activity are reviewed as follows.  

 

Roberts, Wallace & Moles (2003) mention that the reasons of why one financial institution 

merged with another institution are due to the rationale and the drivers. Rationale indicates 

strategic implementation whereas, drivers indicates the control of the capacity from the 

economy. 

 

Besides, Barros & Caporale (2012) argue that size also creates further pressure on managers 

owing to the difficulty of managing large institutions. It is said that mergers are not always 

beneficial as they might make firms more aggressive when they compete in quantities. This is 

supported by Pinter (2011) who mentions that this is due to the fact that many of the cost of 

operation do not increase proportionally with the size of the company.  

 

According to Wadhwa & Syamala (2015), the main motivation behind M&A transaction is to 

have synergy but inconsistence result has been found. As far as motivational factors are 

concerned, many attempts have been made by previous studies to explain the motives of an 

institution to be involved in M&A. An institution involves in M&A with several intentions; to 

expand into new markets of both at national and international levels, to exploit strategic 

opportunities (challenges) through synergies and convergence of industries, to reduce the 

number of competitors, to enhance and obtain new integrated knowledge, to combine superior 

technology, to gain access to better and greater resources, to achieve greater efficiency through 

economies of scale and scope as well as to increase market power (Smirnova, 2014; Cigola & 

Modesti, 2008; Pasiouras & Zopounidis, 2008; Guo & Yang , 2013; Antoniadis.et al., 2014). 

Besides, Sufian (2011) mentions that M&A occurs to achieve economies of scope rather than 
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economies of scale. Furthermore, Linder & Crane (1993) assess the impact of mergers which 

are focusing primarily on operating income and its three components11. They find that bank 

can easily gain the economies of scope and economies of scale by holding cash (i.e., cash & 

other deposit to other bank) and security (i.e., security held for liquidity). This supports the 

view that merger programmes are driven by economic reasons (Sufian & Habibullah, 2009). 

 

In addition, Pinter (2011) highlights that there are two ways in which the acquirer may take 

over the target banks i.e. either through statutory merger or purchase of assets. They argue that 

this action could lead to the improvement of the shareholder value, efficiency enhancement 

and the boost of operating synergies and managerial motives. They categorised the factors into 

three broad types; shareholders wealth maximization goals, managerial self-interest and other 

factors which contribute to the conducive environment for M&A. The study supported by 

Focarelli &Pozzuoli (2001) which states that acquisitions are made for the purpose of 

improving the quality of portfolio of acquired banks by having larger bank size.  

 

Table 4 reviews the literature on the factors associated with M&A. (Refer page 219-220) 

 

CONCLUSION  

 

This paper is a humble attempt to review the literature on mergers and acquisitions, especially 

in banking sector.  The inner objective of the authors is to provide a better picture on the impact 

of M&A towards both conventional Dan Islamic banking performance as well as the factors 

associated with this activity. The observation of the previous studies concluded that M&A 

affects the conventional and Islamic banks in several different ways. This could be explained 

by different approaches in handling M&A (i.e., domestic or cross border) and various factors 

contributing to the decision of conducting the M&A activity. In addition, this study endeavours 

research on M&A in Islamic banking sector as there is little empirical research on this timely 

topic. In the next step, a systematic effort on conceptual analysis as well as data collections on 

M&A in Islamic banking need to be in place in order to efficiently analyse its performance, 

factors and issues.  

 

 
11 i.e., Operating Income = (Net Interest Income + Noninterest Income) – (Noninterest Expense). 
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Table 4: Summary of studies associated with factors contribute to M&A activity 
 

Author(s) Sample of 

study 

Variables Methodology Findings 

Linder & 

Crane (1993) 

Bank, New 

England, 1982-

1987 

ROA, operating 

income,  

Matched pair 

approach  

Bank can easily gain 

the economies of 

scope and economic of 

scale by holding cash 

(i.e., cash & other 

deposit to other bank) 

and security (i.e., 

security held for 

liquidity). 

Focarelli & 

Pozzolo 

(2001) 

OECD 

countries, 

Banks, cross 

boarder M&A 

GDP, bank credit, 

population, inflation, 

regulations 

Regression 

analysis.  

Size of the bank is the 

important factor for 

cross border M&A. 

Roberts, 

Wallace, & 

Moles (2003) 

N/A Theoretical 

discussion 

N/A Rationale and the 

drivers are the factors 

for M&A. 

Pasiouras & 

Zopounidis 

(2008) 

Greek banking 

industry, 1998-

2002 

Cost efficiency and 

liquidity ratios.  

Regression 

analysis 

Bank size is negatively 

related to the 

acquisition deal. 

Cigola & 

Modesti 

(2008) 

Firms Exchange ratios Stockhastic 

model   

There is expected gain 

within the time horizon 

of both former firm and 

combined firm.  

Sufian, F., & 

Habibullah, 

M. S (2009) 

 

Malaysia, 

Bank, 

technical 

efficiency, 

1997-2003 

Total Deposits, 

Capital, Personnel 

Expenses, Loans, 

Investments, Non-

Interest Income 

DEA The merger 

programme among the 

Malaysian domestic 

commercial banks was 

driven by economic 

reasons. 

Pinter, E 

(2011) 

Banking and 

insurance 

companies 

General discussion  N/A The success of M&A 

depends on the people, 

organisation, culture 

and financial assets. 

Barros & 

Caporale 

(2012) 

Nigeria, bank, 

2000-2010 

Price of capital, 

price of deposit, 

operational cost, 

customer loan and 

size 

Dynamic panel 

model 

Larger size of bank 

increases cost 

efficiency and vice-

versa. 

Guo & Yang 

(2013) 

Taiwan, banks, Economic state 

(stock price index), 

expended intention 

(growth of 

branches), capital 

adequacy, asset 

Regression 

analysis  

Banks with higher 

profitability and lower 

undue loan ratio have 

small tendency to be 

involved in M&A. 

Whereas, banks with 
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quality and 

performance.  

lower profit and poor 

loan quality have more 

tendency to engage 

with foreign banks.  

Smirnova 

(2014) 

Banks, 

Kazakistan , 

1991-2011 

Theoretical 

discussion 

N/A M&A depends on 

motives; external 

motives and internal 

motives. 

Antoniadis et 

al. (2014) 

UK, banks, 

2010 

Abnormal rae of 

return (ARR)-total 

deposit, otalassrt, 

total equity, deposit, 

loan, net operating 

income, employees, 

branches 

Event study 

methodology  

The formation of larger 

banks through M&As 

is supported by other 

aspects concerning 

liquidity and 

organisational issues. 

Wadhwa & 

Syamala 

(2015) 

India, firms  Profitability (ROA, 

ROE), efficient 

(sales/TA) and size 

(asset and sales) 

Regression 

analysis  

Profitability and 

efficiency are 

important factors in 

M&A. 
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HALAL SIMULATION TRAINING FOR HALAL 

EXECUTIVES: A NEW PARADIGM FOR 

TEACHING AND LEARNING 
 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Malaysia with consistent economic development and growth rate is known as the leader in the 

world’s halal industry. The halal industry started in 1974 when the Research Centre for the 

Islamic Affairs Division in the Prime Minister’s Office began to issue halal certification letters 

for products that have met the halal criteria at that time. The first halal standards released in 

2000 was an important milestone for Malaysia as Malaysia became the first country to have a 

documented and systematic Halal assurance system. The standards became the impetus to a 

new revolution that had transformed Halal, from strength to strength, from a traditional cottage 

industry to a vibrant new economy with an estimated global market value of USD2.30 trillion12. 

 

 

This rapid development of Halal certification in Malaysia has urged the Department of Islamic 

Development Malaysia (JAKIM) to extend its halal section into a much bigger organisation in 

 
12 Retrievd from http://www.itc.gov.my/tourists/discover-the-muslim-friendly-malaysia/malaysia-the-worlds-

leading-halal-hub/ 
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2005, officially named JAKIM’s Halal Hub. JAKIM was the world’s first halal certification 

body responsible for monitoring the halal industry, which gives JAKIM a much stronger 

mandate to regulate the halal industry. With the government’s full support and heavy 

involvements, Malaysia’s credibility and leadership in the halal sector is also recognised by the 

Organisation of Islamic Cooperation (OIC).  

 

According to Johnstone et al. (2000), one of the important factors to produce halal products, is 

the supply of trained and competent Muslim workers. These efforts are necessary as to ensure 

that these workers, as front-liners are knowledgeable throughout the whole halal supply chain. 

Many organizations have developed their own develop halal modules, training programs and 

services such as Halal Industry Development Corporation (HDC), Global Integrity Products & 

Services Sdn Bhd (GIPS), the Religious Affairs Department, Chemical Company of Malaysia 

Berhad (CCM) and Institute of Halal Research and Management (IHRAM). Based on a study 

by Hashim and Mohd Sharif (2016), there are several problems arise from Halal Supply Chain 

Management Training. The problems are; 

 

• Halal training programs are very much needed to provide new skills in halal 

management and syariah knowledge for human capital development for the halal 

industry in Malaysia; however there exist variations (durations, contents, 

coverage) and different types of halal training programs (Jamaluddin, Infoport, 

Kamarudin et al., 2015)   

• There are increasing number of Halal research and trainings done by the 

universities and training providers. However, some training programs are 

uncertified and lack of structure. (Halal Dialog Session with Industry, 2014; 

Hardiyanti, 2015) 

 

Hence, halal training programs are important so as to provide new skills in halal management 

and shariah knowledge in managing halal products and services. With this scenario, many 

training providers and consultants have evolved in Malaysia providing numerous halal training 

programs to cater to these halal human capital needs working for the food and beverage, food 

outlets, slaughterhouse, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and healthcare products and logistics 

industry. The main critical problems here are that the halal training program/modules/courses 

vary in content and syllabus, and training durations (Halal Dialog Session, 2014). The 
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relevancy of training also plays a role in establishing employee commitment. Employees enter 

into training programs with specific expectations and needs. The result of training programs 

that do not meet the expectations and needs of participants may be lower commitment, negative 

attitude change, and an increase in turnover. In order to use training as a mechanism to build 

commitment, organizations need to ensure that trainings are relevant, are communicated 

effectively, and are able to meet the expectations of the participating employees (Brum, 2007).  

 

There were many trainings conducted as to accumulate the workforce in halal industry, 

however, less research has been done to measure the effectiveness of these programme. Most 

of these trainings are conducted in a classroom, lecture style and the duration varies from 2 

days to a maximum of 6 months (Jamaludin et al., 2015). Other delivery techniques could also 

be adopted to make the learning as fun and interesting. This study is done to propose another 

delivery technique that could be enjoyable and effective as to ensure the transfer of knowledge 

by the approved trainers. In this study, the researchers had innovated a board game that 

emphasizes halal management process from the start of the business until the firm get their 

halal certification. 

 

A HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE 

 

Management and Simulation games are being used as an educational tool in fields ranging from 

humanitarian action to business management.  According to Kariya (2006), the use of 

simulation games began to spread after the Second World War, notably to teach business 

management. The most popular of the early games, "Top Management Decision Simulation", 

was projected in 1956 by the American Management Association.  Danny Saunders, who 

publishes The International Simulation and Gaming Yearbook, which first appeared in London 

in 1991, says the number of simulation games has doubled in recent years. In various premier 

business schools, simulation games are being used as an assessment technique.  Many 

companies now use simulation games to train their staff – from manual workers and technicians 

to executives – in such areas as marketing, production management and human resources.  In 

France, a consultancy firm, Proconseil, decided to tap the rapid expansion of this market by 

creating a subsidiary dedicated solely to the development of adult training games. In the last 

ten years, the company has designed 25 games in 10 languages and trained more than 10,000 

persons. 
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THE FUNCTIONS OF SIMULATION 

 

Board games employed in management education can be valuable educational tools (Eckhaus, 

Klein, & Kantor, 2017) where games and simulations are increasingly used as tools by group 

researchers and team development specialists.  Gussin (1995) explains simulation games to 

serve three business purposes namely; general training, operations and sales support tool. In 

this paper, it looks like simulation games applied for two purposes;  

 

 

1. A Tool for General Training - where managers use a game to understand a 

competitive environment 

2. An Effective Tool for Operations – where a game serves as a decision support 

and strategic planning tool, with connections to current and accurate data. 

 

 

Game is an activity providing entertainment or amusement.  For the purposes of learning, a 

game is meant to teach or instruct through fun or entertainment. However, simulation games 

differ from games in certain aspects (see Table 1).  

 

  



221 
 

Table 1: A summary of distinctions between games and simulation (Sauve et al. (2007) 

Game Simulation 

A fictitious or artificial situation which 

players are put in a position of conflict. 

A simplified, dynamic and precise 

representation of reality defined as a 

system. It is created with reference to 

reality not fictitious as in game. 

 

They are governed by rules that structure 

their actions in view of an objective or a 

purpose which is to win, to be victorious 

or to overcome an obstacle. 

It does not necessarily involve conflict or 

competition, and the users are not trying to 

win, as they are always doing in a game. 

They are integrated into an educational 

context when the learning objectives are 

associated formally to the content and the 

game enhances learning in the cognitive, 

affective and/or psychomotor domains. 

It defined as a simplified, dynamic and 

accurate model of reality that is a system 

used in a learning context. They are 

essential to its use in addressing 

educational objectives and to allowing 

learners to study complex and real 

phenomena, which is not the case with a 

game. 

 

 

As mentioned in table 1, simulation does not necessarily involve conflicts or competition and 

represent the dynamic reality; it is therefore adopted in developing a Halal management game 

for training and decision-making purposes.  
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A SIMULATION OF HALAL MANAGEMENT GAME  

 

The Halal management game for Halal executives is considered as a simulation game. A 

simulation game (also known as a game of status or mixed game) is a mixture of a game of 

skill, a game of chance and a game of strategy, a game of role-play, which results in an imitation 

of a complex structure.  The game simulation is the representation of the operation or features 

of one process or Halal licensing process by JAKIM.  In this case, the simulation is an imitation 

to represent certain features of the certification process.   

 

According to Kariya (2006),a game of skill is a game where the outcome is determined mainly 

by mental or physical skill. Its benefit is that it is a means of exploring one's own capabilities. 

Games encourage people to look at, understand, and experience things. They teach people 

lessons about themselves and possibly the world and allow such insights to be passed on to 

others. A game of chance is a game whose outcome is strongly influenced by some randomizing 

device, and upon which contestants frequently wager money. Some games of chance may also 

involve a certain degree of skill. This is especially true where the player(s) have decisions to 

make based on previous or incomplete knowledge. A game of strategy is a game where the 

outcome is influenced through interaction with the environment and other players. If played 

with pseudo artificial intelligence it often comes close to be a game of skills.  Its benefit is the 

open interaction with other people. The game partners have similar starting points and evaluate 

how other humans may react under the same conditions. So, game strategies evolve with more 

or less spirit to get advantages and/or protect artfully.  

 

A role-playing game (RPG) is a type of game where players assume the roles of fictional 

characters via role-playing. The role-playing games tend to focus on this aspect of 

behaviour.  The role-playing games engage the participants actively, allowing them to 

simultaneously be the audience, actor, and author.  In most role-playing games, participants 

play the parts of characters in an imaginary world.  Some newer role-playing games expand 

the players' powers beyond dictating the actions of their player characters.  RPGs usually have 

rules, which enable the players to determine the success or failure of their characters in their 

endeavours. Normally this will involve assigning certain abilities to each character. 
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Simulation is the process of designing a model of a real or imagined system and conducting 

experiments with that model. In this simulation game, the purpose of simulation experiments 

is to understand the behaviour of the system or evaluate strategies for the operation of the 

system.  For example, a business may be interested in getting Halal certification for their 

business entity but is unsure of the procedures. In this case, simulation would be used to provide 

the real scenario for the company on getting the halal certificate. The model would describe 

the stages involved, the requirements and the regulations set by JAKIM.  

 

Simulation runs would then allow the Halal executives or committee members to understand 

the procedure and provide an estimate of the production capacity and whatever costs incurred 

to the business owner. This type of information is valuable in making decisions on whether the 

company is ready or not to proceed for Halal JAKIM certification. 

 

HALAL SIMULATOR: FARM TO FORK MANAGEMENT 

SIMULATION 

 

The team has successfully designed and innovated a Halal Simulator which is known as Halal 

Farm to Fork as shown in Figure 1. It contains the actual standard, process and requirements 

to obtain Halal certification issued by the Malaysian authority, known as Jabatan Kemajuan 

Islam Malaysia (JAKIM). The simulator has been validated by JAKIM’s officers and went 

through several trainings to ensure its playability and ability to encourage understanding on 

Halal certification process.  The main reference in developing the simulator is Manual 

Procedure for Malaysia Halal Certification (3rd Revision) 2014. 
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Figure 1: Halal Procedures Simulator: Farm to Fork 

 

The simulator allows eight players from four different industries or schemes to experience the 

actual process for the application of Halal certification. It includes food product/beverages/food 

supplement, consumer goods, cosmetics and personal care and pharmaceutical. There are seven 

industries listed in the manual for certification purpose. However, for the simulator, only four 

industries have been listed whilst the other three; food premise/hotel, slaughterhouse and 

logistic require different setting for the purpose of designing the simulator.  

 

All the players have to experience setting up the business and show all the related documents 

for pre-Halal certification purpose as required in the manual. The players are to experience 

mandatory process for general requirements for certification.  The requirements as stated in the 

JAKIM’s manual are firstly items related to raw materials, ingredients and processing aids, 

secondly on the processing, third is on packaging and labelling, factory issue, the worker, its 

sanitation, Halal record, workers’ basic amenities and welfare, staff training, matters of 

supervision and monitoring and requirements related to tool and element of worship. 

 

Once the general requirements have been completely fulfilled, players are to receive partial 

certification card from the authority. The players then have to continue to get full certification 

by experiencing specific requirements boxes, where several situations are given according to 

their industry or scheme. The specific requirements are subject to specific needs and standards 
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(like MS1500 and others) related to the industries. Once the players have completely fulfilled 

all the requirements, another partial certification card will be given to the players.  

 

The completion of certification process where the players will receive final certification card 

is when they pay an amount of certification fee for each product, they apply for Halal 

certification. Once Halal certification is received, the players are subject to audit and 

monitoring and enforcement to ensure continuous compliance to Halal requirements as stated 

in the manual. Thus, by experiencing the last process, the players have completely experience 

one complete process for Halal certification procedure for one product. The next round of the 

simulator will continue with another product to maximum limit of five products for each 

industry.  

 

Besides experiencing Halal certification prcedures, the simulator also requires the players to 

properly record their Halal product application and their business activities. The simulator 

provided the documents for each player as shown in Figure 2. They have to ensure that the 

products are exported and able to gain profit of their business.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2: Halal Simulator Records 
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CONCLUSION 

 

Halal training programs are important to provide new skills in halal management and shariah 

knowledge in managing halal products and services. With this scenario, many training 

providers and consultants have evolved in Malaysia providing numerous halal training 

programs to cater to these halal human capital needs; such as people who are working for the 

food and beverage, food outlets, slaughterhouse, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and healthcare 

products and logistics industries. The main critical problems here are that the halal training 

program/modules/courses vary in content and syllabus, and are conducted in a classroom; 

lecture style and the duration vary from 2 days to the maximum of 6 months (Jamaludin et al., 

2015). Hence, simulation games are one of the important teaching methodologies for 

knowledge acquisition and up skilling for the participants. Simulation Enhanced Learning 

(SEL) supports the learning experience by making it real and relevant to the participant. The 

simulated business environment exposes participants to strategic challenges in a "laboratory" 

where they can explore new concepts and try new things.  While simulation is done to propose 

another delivery technique that could be enjoyable and effective; the Halal Simulator game 

promotes effective learning strategies, and it is fun for the participants too. In this study the 

researchers have innovated a board game that emphasizes halal management process from the 

start of the business until the firm get their halal certification. 
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WAQF INTEGRATED REPORTING (WAQIR) 

MODEL 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

 
The development of waqf institutions is consistent with the requirements of maqasid shariah. 

Ibn ‘Ashur has defined maqasid shariah as the meaning and secrets that can be understood from 

the Islamic shariah in the whole or part of the shariah process (Rahman, 2015). It can be 

categorized into three, via: (i) necessities (dharuriyyat); (ii) convenience (hajiyyat); and (iii) 

refinement (tahsiniyyat). There are five elements under necessities (dharuriyyat) consisting of 

religion, life, mind, offspring and wealth. Laldin et al. (2012) had discussed maqasid shariah in 

waqf context whereby it is under the protection of wealth (hifz al-mal). Muslims need to preserve, 

maintain and manage the economic and financial development parallel with shariah law 

including waqf management.  

 

The hujjah of waqf are to address ignorance, poverty, ill-health and creation of wealth. Waqf has 

demonstrated remarkable records as shown in historical developments in addressing the 

prevailing problems at that time. Waqf institutions has played a major role in providing social 

goods such as education and health, public goods (roads, bridges and national security), helping 

the poor, orphans and the needy, built commercial businesses, utilities (water and sanitation), 

infrastructure for religious services (building and maintenance of mosques and graveyards), 

creating employment, supporting agricultural and industrial sector without imposing any cost to 

the government (Mohsin, 2008). 
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Learning from the successes of the past, it is believed that waqf has great potentials in solving 

the problems faced by the ummah today. Waqf has a built-in dynamism to contribute to the 

socioeconomic development of the ummah. The dynamism of waqf is inherent in its basic 

characteristics viz. permanence and inalienability. All the schools of shariah “have stressed the 

importance of the creation of a waqf which had played an important role in ameliorating poverty 

and in furthering learning in the past and it is expected to play its role in the future provided this 

institution is reactivated and its management is placed on the sound footing” (Kahn, 2003). 

Besides, waqf is one of the mechanisms for wealth creation and distribution developed based on 

Islamic teachings and principles. 

 

However, lately in Malaysia, as elsewhere, there has been an increased public interest in waqf 

institutions transparency, particularly concerning their outcome, impact, effectiveness and 

efficiencies. The public has continued to demand the best standard of services and greater 

transparency. Besides, a number of recent cases on Islamic faith-based institutions in Malaysia 

were reported in the local media that has given rise to a big question especially on the 

accountability of Islamic faith-based institutions including waqf institution. These include 39 

reports on manipulation and misappropriate use of public funds during flood crises in 2015 

received by the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission (MACC) (Astro Awani, 2015). 

Moreover, there were allegations and negative perceptions regarding the spending method, 

which became one of the factors for the cancellation of contributions by 32,934 regular donors 

to Yayasan Pembangunan Ekonomi Islam Malaysia (YAPIEM), an Islamic organisation in 

Malaysia from February 2015 until February 2016 (Teng, 2016). Moreover, there were many 

Islamic non-profit organisations that focus on humanitarian aids including the one who are based 

in Malaysia accused of being involved in financing terrorism (Othman & Ameer, 2014). Last but 

not least, an arrestment of Islamic non-profit organisation’s top management for embezzlement 

issue (Hassan, 2017). 

 

In order to respond to the public interest, there is a need to examine the reporting practices by 

these Islamic faith-institutions in Malaysia. Specifically, this study aims to study and propose a 

waqf integrated reporting (WAQIR) model concerning financial and non-financial, governance, 

performance and socio-economic impact aspects. In the next section, waqf reporting aspects such 

as financial and non-financial, governance, performance and socio-economic impact are 

discussed. Based on the discussions and past research, a WAQIR model is proposed for waqf 

institutions reporting practices.  
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WAQF REPORTING  

 

Current Waqf Reporting Practices in Malaysia 

 

It is undeniable that reporting for waqf is still weak among waqf institutions especially in 

Malaysia. Besides, scholars and practitioners are still continuously debating the proper and 

suitable measurement that should be used in order to evaluate waqf institutions in Malaysia. 

However, it is not an easy task to define, conceptualise and measure waqf projects and activities 

(Arshad & Zain, 2017). This is due to the complexity of the measurement as non-profit 

organization including waqf institution focuses and emphasizes achieving their missions, in 

which the accomplishments are difficult to measure (Epstein & McFarlan, 2011). 

 

Moreover, previous studies on waqf reporting show that there was no specific guideline in 

maintaining waqf reports, and there was no explanation of what kind of information should be 

provided by a waqf institution (Ihsan, 2007; Ihsan&Adnan, 2009; Nahar & Yacoob, 2011). 

Furthermore, general accounting standards such as International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and even Islamic reporting standard 

such as Financial Accounting Standard (FAS) issued by Accounting and Auditing Organization 

for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and local Islamic reporting standards such as 

Financial Reporting for Islamic Banking Institutions (FRIBI) issued by Bank Negara Malaysia 

(BNM) and Technical Release (TRi-3): Presentation of Financial Statements of Islamic 

Financial Institutions issued by Malaysian Accounting Standard Board (MASB) are not wholly 

appropriate especially for waqf reporting. Hence, depending solely on current accounting and 

reporting standards for waqf reporting is proven to be problematic as it leads to measure the 

performance based on financial numbers which are insufficient for waqf institutions (Nahar & 

Yacoob, 2011).  
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Therefore, there is a need for more comprehensive waqf reporting to ensure financial and other 

information are communicated to the waqf stakeholders’ in an effective and transparent manner. 

Information disclosed are what the stakeholder’s desire rather than what mutawalli (waqf 

manager) want to disclose. In order to remain relevant and trusted, non-profit organizations 

including waqf institutions need to have the capabilities in evaluating and measuring their own 

performances(Medina-Borja & Triantis, 2006). This is due to positive relationship between 

fundraising activities with performance and impact including waqf (Said et al., 2013; Sulaiman 

et al., 2008; Siciliano, 1996). 

 

Next, the discussion on the best waqf reporting practices is divided into four aspects, which are: 

(i) financial and non-financial disclosure; (ii) governance disclosure; (iii) performance 

disclosure; and (iv) socio-economic impact disclosure. 

 

Financial and Non-Financial Disclosure 

 

It is undeniable fact that financial and non-financial disclosure is important for organisations 

including for waqf institutions. The importance of comprehensive report which consists of 

financial and non-financial information has been highlighted by Hooks et al. (2012). In order to 

have such comprehensive report, there are five financial and non-financial information 

components that need to be reported, which are (i) corporate information; (ii) strategic 

information; (iii) financial reviews and highlights; (iv) financial information (income statement, 

balance sheet and other financial statements); and (v) non-financial information (Masruki et al., 

2016). The following Table 1 list all 57 proposed financial and non-financial information 

indicators for the best waqf reporting practices. 
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Table 1: Financial and Non-Financial Information Measurements for the Best Waqf 

Reporting Practices 

 

Corporate Information 

1.1 Establishment and operation  

1.2 Purpose and objectives  

1.3 Structure of organisation  

1.4 Board of directors   

1.5 Ethical operational policies  

1.6 Personnel  

1.7 Personnel development   

1.8 Governance information  

Strategic Information 

2.1 Chairman report  

2.2 Performance and achievement   

2.3 Summary facts and figures  

2.4 Government borrowing/grants/guarantee  

2.5 Forward-looking information   

2.6 Statistics  

Financial Review and Highlights 

3.1 Financial review  

3.2 Investment  

3.3 Actual to budget comparison  

3.4 Financial performance ratios  

3.5 Administration expenses/total expenses  

3.6 Program expenses/total expenses  

3.7 Net rental income and expenses/rental income  

3.8 Investment income/average investment  

3.9 Expenditure by activities/income by activities  

 

Income Statement 

4.1 Revenue by source of funds  

4.2 Revenue by services rendered   

4.3 Other incoming revenue  

4.4 Total revenue  
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4.5 Expenditure by services  

4.6 Expenditure by functions   

4.7 Administration and governance costs  

4.8 Total expenditure  

4.9 Other recognised gains/losses  

4.10 Surplus/deficit  

4.11 Total fund brought forward (bf)  

4.12 Total fund carried forward (c/f)  

Balance Sheet 

5.1 Total Non-current assets at cost  

5.2 Long-term investments  

5.3 Long-term debtors  

5.4 Current assets  

5.5 Current liabilities  

5.6 Long-term liabilities  

5.7 Deferred liabilities  

5.8 Deferred credits from government grants  

5.9 Reserves  

Other Financial Statements 

 

6.1 Statement of Assets and Liabilities  

6.2 Statement of cash flows  

6.3 Notes to the accounts  

6.4 Audit Certificate  

6.5 Auditor index rating  

Non-Financial Information 

 

7.1 Performance target and objectives  

7.2 Input  

7.3 Output   

7.4 Outcome  

7.5 Efficiency  

7.6 Effectiveness  

7.7 Productivity measures  

7.8 Beneficiaries/Waqif’s satisfaction measures  
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Compared with for-profit entities who are obliged to produce financial reports compliant with 

international financial reporting standards, non-profits are exposed to ‘minimal’ regulation and 

‘under-developed’ financial reporting requirements (Cordery & Baskerville, 2007). 

 

Conceptually, Ihsan and Ayedh (2015) studied waqf governance structure to promote waqf 

managers accountability when managing waqf. They examined governance and accountability 

in waqf by: (i) reviewing the discussion on governance and accountability in waqf institution; 

and (ii) examining the tawhid theoretical underpinnings relating to Islamic accountability and 

governance that builds up upon the concept of (one of God), amanah (accountability), adalah 

(fairness), and syura (collective/consultative decision-making). Their study on waqf 

governance is exploratory and conceptual in nature, which is deficient of the discussion on 

waqf governance and performance mechanisms. 

 

In this case, several factors are identified as crucial elements in governance reporting including 

for waqf. These factors include board background and composition, systems, procedures, 

objectives and goals (Yasmin & Haniffa, 2017). For instance, board composition such as board 

size, board professionalisms and also board members with political connection significantly 

affects accountability for waqf institutions (Arshad et al., 2012). Moreover, limited financial 

management background among board also make them difficult to understand and improve 

organisation’s financial performance (Siciliano, 1996). In addition, number of meetings by 

board members also influenced decision making quality as time taken expended by board 

members to reach good financial decision making (Scholten et al., 2007). 

 

Besides, establishment of codes of conduct is also related with good governance practices in 

waqf institutions. By complying with codes of conduct set by waqf institution (self-regulation), 

it will increase stakeholders’ trust and confidences waqf is managed accordingly and not being 

misused (Lee, 2004; Lloyd, 2005). In addition, standards and guidelines in managing waqf fund 

are also believed to give significant impact toward good governance practices by waqf 

institution. Therefore, Table 2 shows proposed governance indicators based on previous studies 

for the best waqf reporting practices. 
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Table 2: Governance Indicators for the Best Waqf Reporting Practices 

No. Waqf Indicators Past Studies 

1 Roles and responsibilities of the waqf institution SC (2017); Yasmin & 

Haniffa (2017) 

2 Code of conduct and ethics of the waqf institution SC (2017) 

3 Reporting structure of the waqf institution Yasmin & Haniffa 

(2017) 

4 Board members’ background of the waqf institution SC (2017); Abdullah 

(2015) 

5 Board’s nomination, composition and remuneration of 

the waqf institution 

SC (2017); Abdullah 

(2015) 

6 Audit committee report of the waqf institution 

(including risk management and internal control 

statements) 

SC (2017) 

7 Direction and strategic vision of the waqf institution Noor et al. (2014) 

8 Establishment of shariah committee board in waqf 

institution and shariah committee report 

Masruki& Shafii 

(2013); Noor et al. 

(2014) 

9 Appointment of external auditor and independent 

auditor report 

Noor et al. (2014) 
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Table 3: Performance Indicators for the Best Waqf Reporting Practices 

No Ratios Description Indication Literature 

1 

 

Program 

Efficiency 

 

Programme 

expenses to total 

expenses 

 

Recommended ratio is 65%. Low 

ratio indicates that fewer 

beneficiaries receive the assistance 

or the total expenses are much too 

high. Higher ratio indicates that 

more expenses are disbursed to run 

programs. 

Sulaiman 

et al. 

(2009) 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

 

2 Cash 

Availability 

Cash and bank 

balances to total 

assets 

Indicate the amount of idle cash and 

bank balances. The higher the ratio 

tells that the organization maintain 

high amount of idle cash. 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

 

3 Return of 

Investment 

Investment income 

to average 

investment 

Indicate the return of investment on 

waqf assets. 

Sulaiman 

et al. 

(2009) 

4 Fundraising 

Efficiency 

 

Total fundraising 

expenses to total 

funds raised 

 

Indicate the extent to which the 

organization is able to generate 

surplus from the donation. 

 

Sulaiman 

et al. 

(2009) 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

5 Operating 

Income 

Core income to 

expenses 

Indicate the extent to which the 

income generated from core 

activities. 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

6 Objective 

Achieved 

Index 

 

Disbursement 

(output) 

to proceeds (input) 

 

Indicate the degree of achievement 

that mutawalli has fulfilled waqif 

designated objectives. If the ratio is 

closer to one, this indicates that there 

is a balance between disbursement 

and proceeds. 

Hossein 

Pirasteh 

(2011) 

 

7 Expected 

Income 

Achieved 

Index 

The balance 

remaining for the 

year to total earning 

Indicate better income acquisition if 

the ratio is close to one. 

 

Hossein 

Pirasteh 

(2011) 
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8 Equity 

Balances 

Ratio of equity to 

revenue 

Indicate financial sustainability if the 

ratio is high. 

Sulaiman 

& 

Zakari 

(2015) 

9 Revenue 

Concentration 

Square of the 

percentage share 

that each revenue 

source represents of 

the total revenue 

 

Indicate that organization has equal 

revenue from diverse sources if each 

ratio is close to zero. Revenue that 

has ratio close to one show that it is 

dependent on one single source of 

income which is not healthy to the 

organization. 

Sulaiman 

& 

Zakari 

(2015) 

10 Administrative 

Efficiency 

 

Ratio of 

administrative 

costs as a 

percentage of total 

costs 

Determine the ability of the 

organization to control expenditure 

and impact of the control on service 

delivery. 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

Sulaiman 

& 

Zakari 

(2015) 

11 Operating 

Margin 

Net income (or loss) 

divided by total 

revenue 

Indicate the organization is 

financially stable if the ratio is high. 

Sulaiman 

& 

Zakari 

(2015) 

12 Income 

Growth 

Income year n - 

Income year (n-1) 

divided by Income 

year (n-1) 

Indicate the extent to which the 

organization is able to generate 

income from its activities from time 

to time. 

Shafii et al. 

(2014) 

 

Source: Arshad and Zain (2017) 

From Islamic perspective, good governance practices are encouraged. This is based on the 

following hadith narrated by Ibnu Umar which is: 

 

“...Holy Prophet (May be upon him) said: Beware. Every one of you is a shepherd 

and everyone is answerable with regard to his flock. The Caliph is a shepherd 

over the people and shall be questioned about his subjects (as to how he 

conducted their affairs). A man is a guardian over the members of his family and 

shall be questioned about them (as to how he looked after their physical and 
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moral well-being). A woman is a guardian over the household of her husband 

and his children and shall be questioned about them (as to how she managed the 

household and brought up the children). A slave is a guardian over the property 

of his master and shall be questioned about it (as to how he safeguarded his trust). 

Beware, every one of you is a guardian and every one of you shall be questioned 

with regard to his trust...” 

(Hadith No.4496, Book 20, Sahih Muslim). 

 

Performance Disclosure 

 

For waqf performance disclosure, both financial and non-financial performance indicators must 

be used (Arshad & Zain, 2017; Shafii et al., 2014). Unless performance measures are in place, 

it will be difficult for non-profit organization including waqf institution to answer criticisms on 

ineffectiveness and lack of impact (Connolly & Kelly, 2011). Therefore, Table 3 shows 

proposed performance indicators for the best waqf reporting practices. 

From Islamic perspective, performance evaluation is encouraged. This is based on the 

following verse which is 

 

“Say: Consider what is it that is in the heavens and the earth; and signs and 

warners do not avail a people who would not believe”. 

 

(Yunus, 10:101) 

 

Based on the above verse, Islam encourages people or organisations to evaluate every activity 

in this world including waqf matters. This is to ensure that Muslims are learning and 

understanding how each thing in this world is created and how it functions. In this case, suitable 

performance measurements are used to evaluate waqf projects and activities in order to 

understand its impact on both social and economic settings. This is based on the following 

verses:  
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“And give full measure when you measure out, and weigh with a true 

balance; this is fair and better in the end”(Al-Isra’ 17:35).“Surely We have 

created everything according to a measure” 

 

(Al-Qamar 54:49). 

 

Socio-Economic Impact Disclosure 

 

Normally, there are five disclosure elements for socio-economic impact, which are: (i) input; 

(ii) output; (iii) throughput; (iv) outcome; and (v) impact (Arshad & Zain, 2017; Nordin et al., 

2017; Shafii et al., 2014). Inputs consist of all possible elements needed in order to carry out 

waqf institution’s objectives through its activities and programs. Evaluation on outputs refers 

to quantity and quality of products or services delivered. In the throughput stage, the 

performance evaluation includes both efficiency and effectiveness measures for waqf 

institution. Evaluation on outcomes relates to results of non-profits organisations that are linked 

to its objectives. Lastly, evaluation at impact stage is an evaluation on the consequences of 

organization’s activities toward community targeted.  

In addition, the result of inputs and outputs are referred to as the efficiency of waqf institution, 

while the result in evaluating throughputs, outcomes and impacts are referred as the 

effectiveness of waqf institution (Medina-Borja & Triantis, 2006). Efficiency of waqf 

institution is measured on how economically all resources are utilised in providing social and 

economic contributions. Meanwhile, effectiveness of waqf institution is measured on to what 

extent each waqf institution’s objective and goal is achieved (Beamon & Balcik, 2008). The 

following Table 4 shows proposed socio-economic impact indicators for the best waqf 

reporting practices as suggested by Nordin et al. (2017). 
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Table 4: Socio-Economic Impact Indicators for the Best Waqf Reporting Practices 

Inputs 

What goes in 

Activities 

What happens 

Outputs 

What results - 

immediate 

Outcomes 

What results 

– medium 

and long-

term 

Impacts 

What results - effects on 

root causes; sustained 

significant change 

Cash 

 

Delivery of basic 

needs (e.g. foods, 

shelter and medical 

supplies). 

People fed, 

treated and 

sheltered. 

Improved 

living 

standard, 

health etc. 

Constant declines in 

poverty. 

 

Real 

Property  

 

Construction of 

mosque, cemetery, 

road and hospital. 

Infrastructure 

and hospitality 

built. 

Increased 

income. 

Islam is widespread 

around the world. 

Equipment 

and 

Supplies 

Provision of 

microfinance. 

People trained 

and educated. 

Expansion of 

Muslim 

community. 

Strong Muslim 

brotherhood. 

Knowledge 

(Modern 

and Islamic) 

Sponsoring 

disabled, orphans 

and refugees. 

Microenterprises 

formed. 

 

 Fair income 

distribution (reduced 

gap between rich and 

poor). 

Technical 

Expertise 

Awarding 

scholarship and 

research. 

Disaster and 

accident relief. 

Conducting training 

and educational 

programs. 

Sponsoring 

religious activities 

(da’wah, Islamic 

forum etc.) 

Religious 

activities held. 

 

 Significant changes 

in social norms and 

attributes (social 

justice, freedom, 

governance, 

transparency etc. 

Achieving objectives 

of Islamic economic 

system. 

 

 

Source: Nordin et al. (2017) 
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WAQF INTEGRATED REPORTING (WAQIR) MODEL 

 

After earlier discussion, it can be summarized that there are four types of disclosures that need 

to be reported in order to achieve the best waqf reporting practices, which are: (i) waqf financial 

and non-financial; (ii) waqf governance; (iii) waqf performance; and (iv) waqf socio-economic 

impact. Based on the discussion, there are 57 indicators for financial and non-financial, 12 

indicators for performance and 9 indicators for governance. Meanwhile, as for the socio-

economic measure, it involves input (type of waqf activities, programs or projects), output 

(immediate result), outcome (impact), effectiveness (output to objectives), efficiency (input to 

output) and productivity (benefits to ummah). In view of the above measures, this research 

proposes the WAQIR model for best waqf reporting practice. The model is illustrated in the 

following Figure 1. 

 

 

Figure 1: WAQIR Model 
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The WAQIR model consists of financial and non-financial, performance, governance and 

socio-economic impact disclosures that need to be used as tools to achieve accountability, 

transparency and sustainability. Previous studies on accountability in waqf institutions 

specifically in the Malaysian context such as by Ihsan (2007), Osman (2010) and Siraj (2012) 

agreed that waqf reporting is a crucial tool in order to discharge accountability by waqf 

institution towards its stakeholders. In this case, the waqf manager or known as mutawalli is 

responsible and accountable to the stakeholders. The mutawalli is responsible and accountable 

for all their actions and decisions made especially on waqf funds and assets.  

 

Islam also emphasizes the notion of accountability. Man is a trustee of Allah’s resources on 

earth. His prime duty is to safeguard all resources bestowed uponhim by Allah. As a khalifah 

on this earth, he is accountable to all actions and doings including managing waqf funds and 

assets (Ibrahim, 2000). As a mutawalli, he is accountable not only to the stakeholders but also 

to Allah. According to Hameed (2001), man also has primary and secondary accountabilities 

which are: (i) accountability to Allah (hablum minallah); and (ii) accountability among people 

(hablum minannas). This dual accountability concept is based on the following verse:  

 

“Abasement is made to cleave to them wherever they are found, except under 

a covenant with Allah and a covenant with men, and they have become 

deserving of wrath from Allah, and humiliation is made to cleave to them; 

this is because they disbelieved in the communications of Allah and slew the 

prophets unjustly; this is because they disobeyed and exceeded the limits” 

(Ali Imran 3:191). 

 

In line with accountability, transparency can be achieved when waqf institutions disclose all 

relevant and needed information towards their stakeholders without hiding the truth. However, 

full disclosure does not mean that an organisation should disclose everything. It should disclose 

everything that is believed important and needed by both internal and external users from 

financial disclosures (Baydoun & Willet, 1997). In this case, Abdul Rahman (2003) explained 

that waqf institutions must disclose its financial information under four disclosure objectives 

which are: (i) avoiding riba’; (ii) obligation to pay zakat; (iii) social accountability; and (iv) 

full disclosure. The concept of transparency is emphasized in the following Quranic verse: 
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O you who believe! when you deal with each other in contracting a debt for 

a fixed time, then write it down; and let a scribe write it down between you 

with fairness; and the scribe should not refuse to write as Allah has taught 

him, so he should write; and let him who owes the debt dictate, and he should 

be careful of (his duty to) Allah, his Lord, and not diminish anything from it; 

but if he who owes the debt is unsound in understanding, or weak, or (if) he 

is not able to dictate himself, let his guardian dictate with fairness; and call 

in to witness from among your men two witnesses; but if there are not two 

men, then one man and two women from among those whom you choose to 

be witnesses, so that if one of the two errs, the second of the two may remind 

the other; and the witnesses should not refuse when they are summoned; and 

be not averse to writing it (whether it is) small or large, with the time of its 

falling due; this is more equitable in the sight of Allah and assures greater 

accuracy in testimony, and the nearest (way) that you may not entertain 

doubts (afterwards), except when it is ready merchandise which you give and 

take among yourselves from hand to hand, then there is no blame on you in 

not writing it down; and have witnesses when you barter with one another, 

and let no harm be done to the scribe or to the witness; and if you do (it) then 

surely it will be a transgression in you, and be careful of (your duty) to Allah, 

Allah teaches you, and Allah knows all things 

(Al-Baqarah 2:282). 

 

The above verse states that every transaction must be written to avoid injustice. All transactions 

must be transparent to all parties. Transparency is the key for openness in managing and 

reporting public affairs like waqf funds. Transparency allows stakeholders to gather 

information that may be critical to uncovering abuses and defending their interests (Chapra, 

1992).  

 

Last but not least, by achieving both accountability and transparency, it also will indirectly to 

achieve sustainability. As waqf institutions is a type of endowment, high accountability and 

sustainability will lead towards stakeholders’ trust and this will help in sustainability matters. 

Basically, stakeholders will trust and continue to support waqf institutions as long as they keep 

on being accountable and transparent in their waqf management practices. The concept of 

sustainability is emphasized in the following Quranic verse: 
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“And if We had decreed upon them, "Kill yourselves" or "Leave your homes," 

they would not have done it, except for a few of them. But if they had done 

what they were instructed, it would have been better for them and a firmer 

position [for them in faith]” 

(An Nisa’ 4:66). 

 

 

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

It is crucial for the management of waqf institutions to improve their current waqf reporting 

practices especially on financial and non-financial, governance, performance and socio-

economic impact disclosure. For financial and non-financial disclosure, WAQIR model 

suggest for waqf institutions to disclose all 57 indicators proposed under 5 components, which 

are: (i) corporate information; (ii) strategic information; (iii) financial reviews and highlights; 

(iv) financial information (income statement, balance sheet and other financial statements); and 

(v) non-financial information. These financial and non-financial indicators are believed will be 

able to make stakeholders be informed on the current state of waqf funds and assets. 
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Table 5: Summary of Waqf Outcomes and Impacts Disclosed in MUIS Annual Reports 

 

Projects Measurements/Impacts 

Enhancing the Community’s 

Religious Life – Adult Islamic 

Learning (ADIL) Program 

▪ No. of mosques offering ADIL program 

▪ No. of classes offering ADIL program 

Strengthening Madrasah 

Education 

▪ Professional development hours provided 

▪ Hours of weekly lesson plan discussions conducted 

▪ No. of teachers completed Understanding by Design 

(UBD) training 

▪ No. of teachers identified to be UBD pioneers 

Supporting Asatizah 

Development 

▪ Asatizah registered on Asatizah Recognition Scheme 

(ARS) 

▪ Hours of training 

Strengthening Religious 

Resilience Via Quality 

Islamic Education 

▪ ADIL enrolment – increase in registration percentage 

▪ Percentage of ADIL module satisfaction – enrich and 

relevant 

Islamic Education for the 

Young 

▪ Young involved during the year 

Assistance for Low Income 

Families 

▪ No. of families assisted 

▪ Waqf spent for poor and needy families 

Social Trust & Community 

Engagement – Harmony 

Centre 

▪ No. of visitors hosted during the year 

▪ Percentage of non-Muslim visitors during the year 

▪ Percentage of Muslim visitors during the year 

Fostering a Culture of 

Blessings to All – F.A.I.T.H 

Project 

▪ No. of refugees benefited 

▪ No. of backyard vegetable gardens growth 

▪ No. of relief pack provided to refugees 

Service Beyond Our 

Community – Lets Share a 

Meal Program (LSMP) 

▪ No. of residents received LSMP 

▪ No. of volunteers involved with LSMP 

Our Mosques – More Prayer 

Space Added 

▪ No. of new mosque built 

▪ No. of prayer space (in capacity) added during the year 

Asset Development –Waqf 

Education Fund (WaqfIlmu) 

▪ No. of waqf fund raised from public  

▪ No. of investment return from waqf fund during the 

year 

▪ No. of fund distributed toward beneficiaries during the 

year 

 

Source: MUIS (2017) 
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Next, governance disclosure for waqf is also important as stakeholders will feel more confident 

with the mutawalli based on how they govern waqf funds and assets entrusted to them. In this 

case, WAQIR model lists nine governance indicators including (i) roles and responsibilities; 

(ii) code of conduct and ethic; (iii) reporting structure; (iv) board members’ background; (v) 

board’s nomination, composition and remuneration; (vi) audit committee report; (vii) direction 

and strategic vision; (viii) establishment of shariah committee board; and (ix) appointment of 

external auditor and independent auditor report. These governance indicators are believed to 

be able to make stakeholders understand on the current waqf management practices. Besides, 

waqf institutions also may refer to waqf guideline issued by Securities Commission of Malaysia 

(SC) (see Appendix A) in order to have the best waqf governance reporting practices.  

 

Meanwhile, for performance disclosure, waqf institutions should adopt all 12 suggested 

performance indicators as proposed by WAQIR model, which are: (i) program efficiency; (ii) 

cash availability; (iii) return of investment; (iv) fundraising efficiency; (v) operating income; 

(vi) objective achieved index; (vii) expected income achieved index; (viii) equity balances; (ix) 

revenue concentration; (x) administrative efficiency; (xi) operating margin; and (xii) income 

growth. It is believed that these performance indicators will make stakeholders able to 

recognise the performance of waqf institutions in managing waqf funds and assets. Last but not 

least, for socio-economic impact disclosure, it is suggested for waqf institutions to disclose all 

waqf activities/programs/projects for all five reporting elements starting from input, output, 

throughput, outcome and impact as proposed by WAQIR model. It is believed that these socio-

economic impact indicators will make stakeholders be informed on how waqf funds and assets 

are utilized by waqf institutions. In this case, examples on socio-economic impact disclosure 

by Majlis Ugama Islam Singapore (MUIS) on its waqf activities/programs/projects can be 

referred to, which are summarized in the Table 5. 
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APPENDIX A: WAQF GUIDELINE, SECURITIES COMMISSION OF MALAYSIA 

 

Guideline on waqf was issued by the SC in 2014. The guideline has set several criteria for 

retention of a licensed or supervised intermediary to professionally manage waqf assets. Such 

an intermediary must (i) adopt international best practices and standards, (ii) have technical 

knowledge and resources, (iii) must be subjected to strong governance providing adequate 

level of investor protection and (iv) must have an established technology infrastructure. The 

SC has also come up with a range of principles and recommendations to be implemented by 

the waqf institutions. The principles are as follows:  

 

Principle 1: Strengthening the Oversight of Waqf Institutions 

 

Recommendation 1.1: The waqf trustee should establish clear roles and responsibilities 

reserved for them and those delegated to the waqf institutions. 

Recommendation 1.2: The waqf trustee should ensure that the waqf institutions are governed 

by a satisfactory code of conduct. 

Recommendation 1.3: The waqf trustee should oversee and monitor the business operations 

and conduct of the waqf institutions. 

Recommendation 1.4: The waqf trustee should be given access to information and advice. 

 

Principle 2: Strengthening the Effectiveness of Waqf Institutions 

 

Recommendation 2.1: The waqf institutions should have the necessary expertise to manage 

waqf assets. 

Recommendation 2.2: The waqf institutions should have a clear strategy in managing waqf 

assets. 

Recommendation 2.3: The waqf institutions should have in place adequate internal controls, 

including risk management and internal audit. 

Recommendation 2.4: The waqf institutions should produce an annual report which is made 

public. 
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Principle 3: Strengthening the Engagement with Stakeholders 

 

Recommendation 3.1: The waqf institution should continuously engage its stakeholders. 

Recommendation 3.2: The waqf institution should establish a clear and effective 

communication policy to manage relationships with its stakeholders. 

 

Performance monitoring of waqf management is outlined by Securities Commission in its 

Recommendation 1.3, which states that the waqf trustee should oversee and monitor the 

business operations and conduct of the waqf institutions. The following annotations further 

clarify the monitoring requirements:  

 

1. The waqf trustee, together with its waqf institutions, should clearly establish and agree 

on the objectives in managing the waqf assets, including performance target to be met 

by the waqf institutions. Regular review of the waqf institutions’ performance should 

be conducted to ensure that the interest of stakeholders is protected and met.  

2. The waqf trustee should oversee and monitor the performance of its waqf institutions 

and ensure that the waqf assets are being properly managed. It should have in place 

appropriate measures to assess the waqf institutions’ performance and effectiveness. 

The obligation to oversee the performance of the waqf institutions reflects a collegial 

relationship that is supportive yet vigilant.  

3. In the event a decision is made to distribute the profit, this should be fairly undertaken 

to preserve the altruistic purpose of waqf institutions. The waqf trustee and waqf 

institutions are encouraged to agree on a profit-sharing arrangement, which should be 

formalised and made transparent.  

4. The profit-sharing arrangement should outline the proportions of the returns on 

investments that will be utilised as:  

 

a. Trustee fee for the waqf trustee; 

b. Management fee for the waqf institutions, where the amount should reflect the 

extent of responsibilities and expertise of the waqf institutions as well as 

complexity of the activities undertaken by them in managing the waqf assets; 

c. Re-investment; and  

d. Distribution to beneficiaries, including charitable organisations. 
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THE ROLES OF PRODUCT INVOLVEMENT IN 

PURCHASING HALAL SKIN CARE PRODUCTS 

AMONG USER AND NON-USER. 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The process of understanding the reasons for planning behaviour intention is not an easy path. 

Intentions are provoked by an individual’s attitude which effect on how individuals making 

per purchase decision (Blackwell, Miniard & Engel, 2001). Human beings are complex, and 

this complexity helps in having contradictions in an individual’s attitude. Moreover, studies 

on human attitude have been widely acknowledged in purchaser behaviour and social 

psychology literature for many decades (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1969; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975) 

and most often for a firm, they areas basis for understanding their purchaser’s behaviour. 

Much of this effort operates under a common paradigm that firms should conceptualised the 

customer’s attitude in performing a behavioural intention in purchasing the product by 

evaluating individual’s positive or negative self-performance of a particular behaviour 

(Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975).Even more, it is quite impossible to conceive the marketing 

strategies without trying to understand the purchaser. 
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Halal scope in Malaysia – skin care 

 

The world Muslim population is approaching 1.6 billion people and expected to increase by 

30% of the world’s population by 2025. Today's global cosmetics market scenario is 

increasingly open and welcomes the needs of Halal cosmetics; as almost one fourth of the 

world's population is Muslims (Razak N., 2017). Malaysia has good potentials to be the 

world’s top player in the lucrative Halal industry, which is valued at USD2.3 trillion (RM9.56 

trillion) annually (Ahmad Z. H., 2016). According to statistics, cosmetic is one of five 

Malaysian exports of the lifestyle industry with a value of RM1.25 billion in 2016, and 

between 2011 and 2016, the total export value was RM12 billion, making Malaysia the 

second top Halal cosmetic producers after Singapore. 

 

Malaysia saw real GDP increase of 5% in 2017, which conduced to an improvement in 

consumer opinion. As Malaysians were more confident in making purchases of various 

beauty and personal care categories such as colour cosmetics, skin care and fragrances, the 

sales of these items showed signs of recovery. The rising importance of halal-certified 

products amongst the Muslim population in Malaysia led to a growing demand for halal 

products in beauty and personal care in2017 (International, 2017).  

 

Today, Malaysia is becoming more mindful about the development of halal skin care products 

and markets because the halal consideration is new and an attractive market segment for the 

cosmetic industry, especially in Muslim countries (Husain & Ghani et al., 2012). Halal 

awareness and product that have qualified halal certification have been major constructs 

which help to improve the reputation of brands; and firms should focus more on an intensive 

halal promotional campaign to model the purchase intention towards halal brands (Majid et 

al., 2015) 

 

Halal-certified beauty and personal care products are constructed in conformity with good 

manufacturing practice (GMP) provided by the Department of Islamic Advancement of 

Malaysia (JAKIM).This can be shown by the demand on the exact needs and wants that 

comprise natural ingredients in skin protection (Swidi & Hassan, 2010). The customers 
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initiate demand and eagerness to compensate more if the product obtained are of higher 

quality and offer more benefits. The lifestyle among Malaysians has changed since the 

population number in urban areas grew rapidly (International, 2016). 

 

Product Involvement (PI) 

 

Product involvement is theoretically concise to ego involvement. Ego involvement occurs 

when an issue or object is related to the unique set of attitudes and values that comprise an 

individual’s self-concept. Likewise, product involvement occurs when a product category is 

linked to a person’s centrally held values and self-concept (P Warrington, S Shim, 2000).The 

concept of product involvement has been examined by numerous researchers in consumer 

behaviour and it is offered as a utilitarian means to read the characteristics of various 

purchaser groups as easily as their behavioural trends. Zaichkowsky (1985) defines 

involvement as “a person’s perceived relevance of the object based on inherent needs, values, 

and interests”. Originally, involvement was meant to describe the intensity of mental or 

cognitive elaboration. Some refer it as the personal relevance or importance of a perceived 

product or situation (Musa, 2004). Bloch (1981) presents the definition of involvement as 

one’s internal state, which is manifested by the amount of interest of attention paid towards a 

product. Consumer behaviour is a vast field of research and can be approached from many 

different perspectives. An overall aim of this study is to examine the important factors of PI 

in influencing purchaser in purchasing halal skin care products.  

 

The relevance of involvement to purchaser purchase behaviour 

 

This research highlights new frameworks which will modify the Planned Behaviour Theory 

(TPB) and research evidence has revealed that attitude is critical to the understanding of 

consumer behaviour and an essential determinant in realising viability to evaluate outcome 

in identifying individual’s needs (Jones & Sasser, 1995). Many researchers regard attitude as 

the focal construct in influencing customers in planning their intention behaviour to purchase 

certain products.  It should be clear that since different variables are involved, the theories 

described also deal with different relationships (Ajzen, 1991). Thus, some theories are 

concerned only with the relations between attitudes (Staats & Staats, 1985), but others are 

concerned with relations between beliefs (dissonance theory). 
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Most theories, however, deal with the relations between beliefs and attitudes (Ajzen, 1991). 

Interestingly, Ajzen (1991) conceptualised attitude to be a predictor relationship when 

consumers continue to purchase, and it reflects the future behaviour which has been 

established in consumer behaviour (Alam & Sayuti, 2011). It can be considered as emulating 

an individual’s responsibility to purchase the product. As stated by Jones and Sasser (1995), 

product loyalty, customer continues to purchase, is the most important goal for a company’s 

achievement in marketing. Furthermore, Rosenberg and Czepiel (1984) advocate that: 

 

The cost of generating a new customer is believed to be approximately 

“six times”, the cost of keeping an existing customer.  As a result, firms are 

refocusing their efforts on keeping existing customers or making them 

repurchase, rather than focusing entirely on gaining new customers 

p.25 

 

It takes on the position to facilitate purchase decision involvement, which refers to the degree 

which the purchaser sees that purchasing the product and the purchase decision as the inner 

component of their lifespan. This activity is a meaningful and engaging one in their life and 

vital to them (Cass & Coast, 1989). It is not involving or dictating that it can only be levied 

at the time of purchase.  Notably, this view is not identical with the situational involvement 

or response involvement. The concept concerns a purchaser’s mind-set about the purchase 

and related tasks.   

 

Therefore, one would look for involvement with purchasing to determine attitudes and 

behaviours in purchasing the object. Mittal (1989) states that much of the earlier work on 

involvement emerge to focus on product rather than purchase decision involvement (Cass & 

Coast, 1989).  
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METHODOLOGY 

 

The data for this research were collected from 470 respondents who were the users and non-

users of Halal skin care products in Klang Valley. This city generally has higher number of 

shopping malls and where most of the shopping activities take place. The questionnaire was 

distributed via drop off and collects survey technique. 

 

RESULT/ FINDING 

 

The results demonstrate that the hypothesised positive relationship between product 

involvement and attitude (H1 and H2) was supported and was in the appropriate direction (+). 

Product involvement, engages a constant commitment on the component of the purchaser 

through feelings and behavioural response to a product category (Miller & Marks, 1996; 

Gordon et al., 1998). Table 1.1 shows the findings concerning the hypothesised relationships 

associated with the Product Involvement construct. 

 

Table 1.1: Hypotheses H1 and H2 

Product Involvement 

 Standardised estimates Result 

H1 (Users) 0.18 Supported  

H2 (Non-users) 0.14 Supported  
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The purchaser with high product involvement would give forth the products attractive and 

this would occupy the purchasers’ thoughts without the stimulus the direct purchase (Richins 

and Bloch, 1986). Numerous researchers contain argue on product involvement in a 

dichotomous form when determining the construct, although the risk over generalization 

which possibly will require. Furthermore, terms such as high or low product involvement are 

semantically imprecise because products are not intrinsically involving or un-involving, 

“Only purchasers can be involved” (Musa, 2004; Traylor & Joseph, 1984). This proposes that 

a dichotomous measure would be insufficient, and that product involvement would be greatly 

conceptualised based on purchaser’s individuality. 

 

There is much literature that represents causal link between the concept and purchaser 

behaviour (Bloch, 1981; Celsi & Olson, 1988; Musa, 2004; Zaichkowsky, 1985), and 

therefore play a credible role in predicting behaviours connected to consumption. The review 

of the literature also gives previous highlights, which is high product involvement is tacitly 

measured by a condition towards continue to purchase (Hanzaee et al., 2011). For product 

categories that are extremely connected, Dick and Basu (1994) propose to facilitate 

purchasers’ (favourable) relative attitudes by providing precise offerings of a product which 

probable to repeat purchase and exist less vulnerable to circumstantial influence.  

 

The literature obtained   provides insights to product involvement and product loyalty which 

are positively related and that high product involvement leads to the advancement of product 

loyalty (Hanzaee et al., 2011). It can be concluded that there is sufficient evidence to show 

that, in the halal skin care setting, relationship involvement plays an essential role to influence 

relationship outcome, particularly individual’s attitudes towards intention to purchase



258 

 

Figure 1.1 demonstrates that the product involvement is another important factor that can 

influence the attitude and lead to decision-making process. 

 

Figure 1.1: The relationship between product involvements towards attitude 

 

 

Product involvement can be in terms of timing in adoption of the product, the way in which 

the users wishes to use the product and preferences regarding the halal product as well as their 

perceptions of alternatives in the same product category and brand loyalty (Bauer et al., 2006; 

Brisoux & Cheron, 1990; Celsi & Olson, 1988; Charters & Pettigrew, 2006; Iwasaki & 

Havitz, 1998; Leclerc & Little, 1997; Lin & Chen, 2006; Musa, 2008; Park, 2003; Park & 

Young, 1986; Ram & Jung, 1994; Traylor, 1981). As portrayed visually in Figure 1.1 both 

group sample (users and non-users) agreed that product involvement has been established to 

be a significant factor of purchaser’s attitude.  

 

  

Product 

Involvement  

(users) 

Product  

Involvement  

(non-users) 

Attitude 

Note: 

**** significant at p< 0.001 (t > ± 3.29) 

*** significant p< 0.01 (t > ± 2.57) 

** significant p<0.05 (t > ± 1.96) 

* significant p<0.10 (t > ± 1.65) 

3.814**** 

3.147*** 



259 

 

CONCLUSION  

 

According to Te’eni-Harari et al., (2009), if users perceived the halal skin care products as 

relevant and meaningful (a high level of product involvement), their attitudes were influenced 

to a significantly higher degree. Even the non-users have a low level of product involvement 

in which the attitude measured was influenced to a significantly lower degree. However, the 

t-values show that product involvement is significant in influencing attitude. Nonetheless, 

previous study had proposed that product involvement could be put forth as a moderating 

variable in the TPB framework, but this aspect is not within the scope of the current 

investigation. 

 

Both groups (users and non-users) agreed that research is to be done in order to gain the 

insightful information with regards to the halal skin care products prior to their purchasing 

decision. They are more concerned with the options and range of skin care products available 

in the market and tend to evaluate the pros and cons of the product. This can be told and 

proven by the previous study whereby product involvement will be positively influenced by 

subjective knowledge of the individual. Besides, the finding reveals similar results among 

adults in purchasing cosmetic products (Greenwald and Leavitt, 1984; Lutz et al., 1983) 

which indicate a tendency for younger women to be more involved with cosmetics than older 

women. 
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SUSTAINABILITY OF HALAL PARKS IN 

MALAYSIA: ISSUES AND CHALLENGES 
 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Malaysia aims to become a Halal hub in this region by year 2020. To become a Halal hub in 

this region, Malaysia should have the capability to fulfill demand and sustain in providing Halal 

product and services. The situation has encouraged investors and the government of Malaysia 

to develop new industrial areas (Halal parks). Halal parks are being developed to open new 

opportunities in the Halal market and enhance the ability of SMEs' company (Che Omar, 2013). 

Besides that, the development of Halal parks will fulfil demand from Islamic customers around 

the world (Nifa, Ismail, & Saad, 2017). Halal parks also play a role in assisting SMEs and 

multinational companies to improve performance, be competitive, maintain the integrity and 

sustain in global markets. However, in the last few years, most of the previous researchers 

suggested to implement sustainability aspect to improve the organization performance.  
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Sustainability is becoming a global issue where it is the heart of organizational strategy in 

maintaining their performance. Sustainability has three main areas of performance such as 

economic, environmental and social performance. The Malaysian government also developed 

Halal parks based on eco-friendly blueprint (HDC, 2009) to become a Sustainable Country by 

2020. Halal Industry Development Corporation (HDC)) also emphasizes that Halal parks in 

Malaysia are developed in parallel with the sustainable development base (Ramli, Mokhtar, 

Abdul Aziz, & Azman Ngah, 2014). However, most studiesarefocusing on sustainable only for 

maintaining the environmental performance, without maintaining the other two main factors 

(economic and social). Besides that, most of entrepreneurs in the manufacturing industry also 

failto remain sustainable. 

 

Based on the observation of the Halal parks, companies in the Halal parks may have difficulties 

to sustain in the long run. Why? This may probably due to the lack of benchmarks or best 

practices (Goyal, Rahman, & Kazmi, 2013). To ensure all companies in Halal parks are able to 

sustain their performances, they need a set of best practices in ensuring that the industry within 

the Halal park remains sustainable in exploring opportunities in the market. 

 

The level of sustainability practices in developing countriessuch as Malaysia is still minimized 

(Despeisse, Mbaye, Ball, & Levers, 2012; Goyal, Rahman, & Kazmi, 2013) as compared to 

developed countries. Furthermore, research on determining the best practices for sustainable 

development in Halal Park also has not yet been implemented (Ramli, et al., 2014). The lack 

of empirical study and expertise brings a negative impact towards the sustainable development 

of Halal parks. Hence, this study aims to fill this gap by identifying issues and challenges of 

Halal parks and proposing the connection between Halal parks best practices and sustainability 

performance in Malaysia.  
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

 

Halal parks 

 

In Malaysia, the Halal industry plays an important role in the economic growth of the nation. 

The high demand for Halal products and services has encouraged businesses to produce Halal 

products and services. The Halal industry contributes, at least 5 to 6.8 percent to Cumulative 

Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) (Pew Research, 2015). Due to the increasing demand for Halal 

products and services, the Malaysian government has established the Halal industrial parks 

under the management of the Halal Industry Development Corporation (HDC). HDC (2017) 

defines Halal park as a community of manufactured and services business located in one area. 

It is also known as a  business zone with production, distribution, services, banking and other 

elements (Umihanic, 2009). Other countries that have similar parks include Brunei (Bio-

Innovation Corridor), China (Qinzhou), UK (Birmingham and Norfolk), Thailand (Pattani) & 

Philippines (Mindanao) (Tieman, 2015).  

 

Due to concerns about the potential of the Halal market, most of the countries feel that Halal 

certification alone is not enough to maintain the Halal business (Nifa, Ismail, & Saad, 2017). A 

systematic way for ensuring Halalness throughout the supply chain is found as a better long-

term approach. For example, Thailand has its own Halal certification as an added value to their 

products as well as complying with food safety standards and making them a Halal center in 

science and testing (Rezai, Mohamed, Shamsudin, & Chiew, 2010). The construction of the 

Halal business center of Port Rotterdam is also being developed as 'HalalDistriPark' to serve 

the Muslim community in Europe, while the 'Super Halal Industry Park' in the United Kingdom 

in South Wales was proposed (Mohamad, & Backhouse, 2014) for the same reason. In addition, 

in terms of Muslim Halal food processing materials, Ningxia also built 15 Muslim food 

processing zones. The park is a core comprising a comprehensive supply chain link for their 

Halal manufacturing activities.  

 

The development of Halal parks has been strategized to establish entrepreneurs’ skill of 

producing Halal product based on the international standard for processing and food production 

(Tieman, 2015; Che Omar, 2013). Malaysia has a big potential and opportunity of producing 

Halal products and services through the development of Halal parks. Furthermore, the 
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development of Halal parks in Malaysia is fundamental for sustainable development (Ramli, et 

al., 2014). It can be demonstrated by “green design of park infrastructure, cleaner production, 

pollution prevention, availability and accessibility of raw materials and ingredients, energy 

efficiency, intercompany linkages, consolidated services from public agencies and linkages for 

marketing” (HDC, 2017). In other words, the Halal parks are living proofs that the Malaysian 

government is committed to the Halal agenda in the long run.  

 

Issues and Challenges of Halal Parks 

 

Sustainability  

 

Sustainability concept is well established and commonly accepted (Edwards, 2005) around the 

world. Sustainability is often defined in the context of sustainable development (Dutta, Lawson, 

& Marcinko, 2012). The term of sustainability becomes more popular after the Brundtland 

Commission in the year 1987, defined sustainability as “the development that meets the needs 

of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs”. 

Various definitions have begun to be translated to suit with the current situation. Therefore, in 

this paper, the concept of sustainability can be defined as the organizational capability within 

the Malaysia Halal park, ensuring the necessary needs today can be used by future generations 

and ensure all three aspects of sustainable performance (economic, environmental, social) are 

not negligible. These three aspects of sustainability are better known as the ‘triple bottom line’. 

 

The concept of Triple Bottom Line has been introduced by John Elkington when the book 

'Cannibals with Forks: The Triple Bottom Line of 21st - Century Business' was released in 

1997. The triple bottom line concept explains that, the business ideas, not only involve a single 

goal (economic) but it has an advanced set of goals like combined with social responsibility 

and environmental goals as well. Elkington (2004) explains the environmental aspect refers to 

the natural resources that are used and do not spoil the demand of future generations. In an 

economic perspective, it is retaining the company's profit rather than affecting its economic 

development. Meanwhile, the social aspect refers to the issue of social justice which aims for 

good relationships with all stakeholders. 

 

The combination of the three pillars of sustainability encouraged businesses to adopt 

sustainability. The corporate interest towards sustainability issues has emerged and getting 
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bigger attention in the literature over the past decade (Freeman & Gilbert, 1988; Rowe & 

Enticott, 1998; Friedman & Miles, 2001). This shows the importance and the need for 

businesses to integrate sustainability principles into their corporate strategic policies and 

business processes. The company's willingness to integrate the sustainability aspects of the 

organizational strategy is mainly due to increased global consumers pressure, higher risk of 

disaster, and corporate responsibility for future generations (Schaefer, 2004; Epstein & Roy, 

2003; Shrivastava, 1995).  

 

The development of Halal Park needs also to be parallel with the sustainability performance. 

Sustainability has been recognized as a business theory for the development of various 

contemporary management models and business process initiatives (Gao & Zhang, 2006). 

Baumgartner (2014) also explained that sustainability is a source of success, innovation, and 

profitability for the company, especially in energy use in heavy industries, manufacturing and 

transport industries (Enkvist, Naucler, & Oppenheim, 2008). Even the sustainability practices 

help organizations to achieve success performance, however, until now, there are still 

companies that fail to sustain its operations in the Halal park.  

 

In addition, issues related to the concept of corporate sustainability are complex (Amini & 

Bienstock, 2014). These complexities require an approach aimed at integrating various 

corporate sustainability views into an inclusive definition through a framework description 

(Christen & Schmidt, 2012). This approach toward sustainability requires all elements of 

sustainability to be handled simultaneously (Vázquez, Jesús, Cedano, Martínez, & Ensen, 

2015). This is because, the achievement will be achieved through systematic methods (Muller 

& Pfleger, 2014) or by applying the best practices towards sustainability (Bocken, Short, Rana, 

& Evans, 2014). For this reason, the best practices or strategic methods should be practiced in 

the Malaysian Halal parks. 

 

Malaysia is one of the countries that isexpected to build a competitive edge that can sustain 

strong economic performance in the future (Jiangong, 2015). Malaysia has considered 

implementing a new strategy for Halal industry solutions that provide quality products or 

services to the world-recognized Halal standard system and have similar functions to develop 

sustainability in the industrial sector (Nifa, Ismail, & Saad, 2017).  
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In addition, the concept of 'Halallan thoyyiban' is actually well related to sustainability. In fact, 

this aspect of sustainability is needed in the Halal industry. 'Halallan Thoyyiban' as described 

by JAKIM is to ensure that the product is Halal, clean, safe and of quality, as described in the 

Trade Descriptions Act 2011 (Halal Definition), Trade Descriptions (Halal Definition) 

(Amendment) 2012, MS1500: Manual of Procedures for Malaysian Halal Certification (Third 

Review) 2014 (Othman, Md. Shaarani, & Bahron, 2016). This proves that sustainability is in 

line with the purpose of 'thoyyiban' itself. Therefore, there is a gap that needs to be studied in 

identifying the sustainable performance of Halal parks in Malaysia (Zain, Adesta, Ismail, & 

Ahmad, 2016) and further identifying the best practice to improve sustainability (Baumgartner, 

2014).  

 

Halal Integrity 

 

Halal integrity is an extremely important agenda in halal industries. As a result, the issues 

related to end-to-end or from farm-to-fork have increased on the news these days. Halal 

integrity has to be maintained throughout the entire supply chain activities. In Australia, for 

instance, Halal integrity is the key component of Australia’s national economy (Geneva, 2015). 

The issue related to halal integrity becomes a major challenge for halal manufacturers because 

it is related to a complex supply chain activity. In other words, the longer the supply chain is 

the more complex the issue of integrity will be. The Halal certification needs to be assessed in 

all key processing, transportation, material and ingredients, packaging, and storage before the 

final products reach the end customers.  The complex supply chain activities besides 

unauthorized use of the non-Halal processes has imposed a challenge to manufacturers to 

sustain it.  

 

Additionally, the issue related to halal integrity has raised a major outcry from Muslim 

consumers. There are increasing number of cases on the fraudulence of halal certification and 

physical contamination of halal food products. Halal integrity in logistics is important because 

91 percent of meat and live animal are imported from the Non-Organization of Islamic 

Cooperation (OIC) countries.  

 

Additionally, the variety of universal logo of Halal certification in the market will result in 

greater difficulties in maintaining Halal integrity throughout the supply chain (Ab Talib, Rubin, 

& Zhengyi, 2013). In fact, there are cases of the misuse of Halal certification logo on the 
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packaging (Talib & Johan, 2012). Halal logo not only signifies the product is halal but it also 

indicates the product to be clean, safe, and not harmful for consumption (Ab Talib, Rubin, & 

Zhengyi, 2013). However, thereare still cases of companies that abuse the halal logo without 

getting certification from the halal certification body. This will certainly impose a higher 

challenge to companies operating in the Halal Parks.  

 

Financial implication  

 

Most of the manufacturers in Halal parks in Malaysia are SMEs companies. These SMEs have 

fewer financial resources to obtain the necessary funding for marketing research and 

development, exporting, internationalization activities (Lee, C., Lee, K., & Pennings, 2001; 

Sapienza, Autio, George, & Zahra, 2006) and more importantly maintaining halal certification. 

This poseeven a higher challenge for newly established SMEs which require a lot of financial 

resources to start up their business due to unavailability of past proven track record to convince 

their investors. According to Luostarinen and Welch (1990), limited financial resource is one 

of the major barriers to SMEs companies internationally. It became a challenge for 

manufacturers to manage when such resources are not available. Furthermore, it is difficult to 

expand for companies as it requires substantial capital or investment.  

 

Financial resources are crucial elements for firms (Morgan, Vorhies, & Schlegelmilch, 2006). 

Financial capability will enable firms to enter foreign market and sustaincompetitive advantage 

from other firms more efficiently (Kuivalainen, Puumalainen, Sintonen, & Kyläheiko, 2010). 

Furthermore, there is a negative perception among manufacturers that Halal certification will 

add more costs to them (Ab Talib, Rubin, & Zhengyi, 2013). As a result, they are reluctant to 

apply the certification in their daily operational processes. This has somehow reduced the 

interest of companies to come to the Halal Parks. 

 

  



270 

 

Technology Adoption 

 

Due tofastand rapid technology, organizations are required to adopt a new technology in order 

to sustain the competitive advantage. In the International Trade Centre 2015 report, 

technologies are highlighted as one of the key drivers of halal market growth (Geneva, 2015). 

Technology adoption is an important factor to create standard processes from slaughtering to 

food processing, ingredient and other additives. In the modern era, information is accessed 

online real time (24/7), so information technology (IT) capabilities are required in every firm.  

Based on a studyconducted by Ringim, Razalli and Hasnan (2015) in Nigerian banks, the firms 

were able to deal effectively with global competition that offered low priced products/services 

with high quality service level by using IT. Furthermore, Geneva (2015) emphasizes without 

technology adoption in the supply chain process, halal integrity is impossible to succeed. 

 

Technology adoption is a challenge to companies operating in the Halal park due to amount of 

money needed for the investment in technology. Most of the SMEs are still using the traditional 

methods in term of raw material storage, supply chain activity, operation and networking. This 

lack of technology adoption limits the possibility of these firms to compete and reach to global 

audiences more efficiently. In order to sustain the competitive advantage, technology adoption 

is important and Halal parks need to keep abreast with the new technology.  

 

Logistics  

 

Halal logistic is a growing industry worldwide. Fortunately, Malaysia is among the pioneer in 

the development of Halal logistics. However, the number of Halal logistics providers in 

Malaysia is still limited. Furthermore, there are not many Halal logistics providers use the right 

handling method (Ab Talib, Rubin, & Zhengyi, 2013).  

 

Logistics is the management of the flow of things between the point of origin and the point of 

consumption in order to meet the requirements of customers or corporations. This has imposed 

a huge challenge for Halal logistics because in order to avoid contamination, segregation 

between halal and non-halal products must be highly practiced (Riaz & Chaudry, 2004). Talib, 

Zailani, and Zanuddin (2010) also emphasize, tools that are used for halal products must not be 

shared with the non-halal products to avoid contamination. However, Ab Talib, Rubin, and 
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Zhengyi, (2013) stated, not all Halal firms follow this ruleas the Halal and non-Halal products 

are still stored in the same warehouse and being transported in a single truckload. 

 

Besides that, during the delivery and distribution stage, the Halal chain can be easily broken 

(Jaafar, Endut, Faisol, and Omar, 2011) at any point. Logistics activities are very challenging 

for Halal providers if only one party that practice Halal logistics while the other parties are not 

practicing the Halal approach. It will temper the halal integrity issue. Hence, it became 

achallenge for Halal providers, especially companies in Halal parks in ensuring the process of 

logistics and warehousing tocomply with the Halal standards.  

 

The importance of sustainability of halal parks 

 

Malaysia is one of the countries which is expected to build a competitive edge that can sustain 

a strong economic performance in the future (Jiangong, 2015). Halal business will certainly 

provides an edge to the nation due to strong support from the government. Furthermore, the 

halal business model is a strategic model that can be used to enhance the sustainability firms, 

and to ensure responsible business practices as stated in the Qur’an (Karia & Asaari, 2016). 

Sustainable industrial parks are developed to maintain the sustainability of the country 

(Khodakarami, Shabani & Saen, 2014) related to economic, environmental and social settings 

simultaneously (Li, 2013). For example, Khodakarami, et al., (2014) pointed out thata 

sustainable industrial park would provide lucrative returns on investment, while proving the 

form of eco-friendly industrial development. Another reason of halal business practice set out 

in the Qur'an shows that strategic halal services drive firm sustainability in terms of maximizing 

profits, products / services, ensuring human and planetary wellbeing, observing religious 

demands and minimizing costs or risks (Karia & Asaari, 2016). It is also a comprehensive way 

to improve service (Karia & Asaari, 2016). Therefore, there is a gap that needs to be examined 

in identifying the sustainable performance of halal parks in Malaysia (Zain, Adesta, Ismail & 

Ahmad, 2016) and further identify the best practice aspects for improving sustainability 

(Baumgartner, 2014). 

 

 

  



272 

 

Best practices of sustainability halal parks 

 

“Best practices” are activities repeatedly performed by businesses in providing competitive 

advantage through customer service, better asset utilization, or cost reduction (Webb, 2000). 

Best practices will enable us to understand the aspect of sustainability more profoundly 

(Baumgartner, 2014). Idris and M. Ali (2008) advised that anorganization should have diversity 

in best practices to achieve the status of world-class organizations. In fact, research in 

manufacturing strategies, also shows that implementing best practices are essential for 

achieving world-class performance (Brown, Squire, & Blackmon, 2007). To enhance the 

competitiveness of the halal industry in Malaysia, the industry needs to incorporate more 

advanced business processes and practices to provide better services to their customers, 

suppliers and stakeholders (Bohari, Cheng, & Fuad, 2013). 

 

These practices have gained a lot of empirical attention in the literary surveys and practices that 

may potentially provide a value (Kogut & Zander, 1992; Ooi, 2012), the whole system (Porter, 

1996) and serve as a cross-developed and developed manufacturing practice (Maritan & Brush, 

2003). Empirically, several studies have been carried out on sustainable manufacturing 

practices in Malaysia. Most of these have been carried out in the automotive industry (Zubir & 

Habidin, 2012; Amrina & Yusof, 2011) and the electrical and electronics industry (Heng, Lee, 

Foong & San, 2012). Among the literature on sustainable manufacturing practices in Malaysia, 

Nordin, Ashari, and Rajemi (2014) found that responsive product strategies, lean practices, 

restructuring of supply chains and sustainable materials and designs are a practice towards 

sustainable manufacturing in Malaysia. Hence, it seems that there is still a lack of empirical 

study related to sustainability of halal parks especially in Malaysia.  

 

Hong, Dobrzykowski, Won Park, Hong, Jungbae Roh and Rawski (2012) illustrate that the 

practice of supply chain management is an example of a sustainable practice. Furthermore, the 

comprehensive quality practice is also one of the most sustainable and recognized long-term 

management methods that continue to add value to organizational achievement 

(Khanchanapong, Prajogo, Sohal, Cooper, Yeung & Cheng, 2014). Besides that, the halal 

certification also has been introduced to ensure that products and services meet the halal 

requirements (Latif, Mohamed, Sharifuddin Abdullah and Ismail, 2014). Garbie (2013) has 

investigated practices such as leadership, regulatory pressure, relationship management 

practices and manufacturing strategies that will impact environmental performance, social 
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performance and economic performance. In addition, Dubey et al. (2015) outlines some factors 

such as leadership, employee engagement, regulatory pressure, supplier relationships, 

configurable remodeling systems, lean manufacturing and agile manufacturing as best 

practices. In relation to Halal practices, Halal Development Corporation (HDC) has highlighted 

practices such as green park infrastructure design, cleaner production, pollution prevention, 

availability and access to raw materials and materials, energy efficiency, inter-company 

relations, unified services from public agencies and the relationship to marketing as a factor of 

Halal parks success (HDC, 2017). This paper, therefore, suggests the following framework to 

be further examined by future research. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Proposed Conceptual Framework 

 

 

 

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION 

 

The development of Halal parks in Malaysia is in-line with the sustainable development. 

Hallstedt, Ny, Robert, and Broman (2010) suggest that if organizations intend to maintain 

effective sustainability, sustainability aspects need to be incorporated into organizational goals, 

internal incentives, evaluation systems and organizational decision support systems. Michelon, 

Boesso and Kumar (2013) also find that sustainability initiatives have more positive effects on 

the company's performance if they integrate sustainability with organizational strategy, analysis 

of corporate culture and corporate sustainability. However, there is a lack of empirical studies 

on Halal parks (Tieman, 2015) encourage current researchers to investigate this relationship.  

Halal Parks Best 

Practices  

Sustainability 

performance  



274 

 

In order to sustain the Halal parks, those issues discussed above need to be addressed properly. 

We have highlighted issues and challenges into five areas on concerns such as (1) Halal park 

sustainability, (2) Halal integrity, (3) Financial implication, (4) Technology adoption and (5) 

Logistics.  

 

As a recommendation, we suggest a study on best practices of Halal operations to be conducted 

among the Halal parks participants. 'Best practices' are activities repeatedly performed by 

businesses in providing competitive advantage through customer service, better asset 

utilization, or cost reduction (Webb, 2000). Cortada (1997) defines best practices as' collection 

of activities performed in an organization well and ultimately recognized by others as practices 

that may have usability to other organizations. The concept of "practice" includes elements such 

as routines, behaviors, models, guidelines and grounds (Hallgren & Söderholm, 2010; Hallgren 

& Söderholm, 2011). Cortada (1997) summarizes best practices to empower organizations to 

overcome their competitors as well as add value to customers, employees and shareholders. 

Voss, Blackmon, Hanson, and Oak, (1995) also support that companies with best practices are 

capable of achieving high performance in their competitive areas. 

 

At this moment we could not find any past studies related to best practices on the Halal park 

industrial areas. Practices such as leadership, regulatory pressure, relationship management 

practices, manufacturing strategies that have a profound impact on the environmental 

performance, social performance and economic performance (Garbie, 2013) are worth to be 

further investigated.  

 

In conclusion, sustainability of Halal parks is a major concern and studies on this issue need to 

be carried out extensively. The study will help to determine the success of the Halal parks 

participants to be sustained in the long run. The future research should be focusing to determine 

the best practices in ensuring the performance of halal parks can be sustained in the long run.   
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INTRODUCTION 

 
 

Managing Business Process Reengineering (BPR) requires commitment from everybody in the 

organization. BPR is a change management approach that aims for radical improvement and 

innovation in the organization. BPR fosters organizations to do things in a better way that would 

result in better performances in terms of quality, speed, customer service, and costs (Goll & 

Cordovano, 1993). Due to liberalization and the globalization of the banking sector in Malaysia, 

many banks have adopted BPR for performance improvement.  Despite the unique features of 

the Islamic banks, many of the previous studies have only investigated critical success factors 

of BPR in the conventional banks and their link to performance, but none has researched the 

Islamic banks. This paper is filling this gap. Furthermore, this paper attempts to pinpoint the 

importance of people in managing the BPR instead of the method and technology. The main 

questions include (1) What are factors related to people management, and (2) how a BPR project 

could be improved by effective people management in the organization?  
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Islamic Banking 

 

In 1999, the Malaysian banking institutions have merged to consolidate operations by merger 

or acquisition to be able to improve their performance and compete effectively with the foreign 

banks. This development, however, has led to drastic changes in operations and services that 

resulted in unreliable bank performance (Wei & Nair, 2006). Customer service is the key to 

improve performance in the service industry. In fact, the quality of customer service becomes 

a driving force in ascertaining business survival in the banking industry (Tang & Zairi, 1998). 

 

Good customer service can be achieved by customizing products to the needs of customers. The 

majority of Malaysians are Muslims who have to follow Shari’ah law in their lives. Banking 

activities are no exception.  

 

The Islamic banking in Malaysia has started since 1963 with the establishment of Lembaga 

Tabung Haji and later enhanced with the founding of Bank Islam Malaysia in 1983.  From 1993 

onwards, other financial institutions were also allowed to offer Islamic banking products under 

the Islamic Banking Scheme (IBS). Because of this positive development, now the sector has 

grown to 16 full-fledged licensed Islamic financial institutions (Bank Negara Malaysia, 2014). 

Further, this sector is expected to reach a value of USD 2 trillion in 2014 (Saudi Gazette, 

2014).Table 1 below lists the Shari’ah-compliant banking products in Malaysia. Among banks 

that offer these products include Affin Islamic Bank, Al-Rajhi Bank, Alliance Islamic Bank, 

Am Islamic Bank, Bank Islam, Bank Muamalat, Bank Rakyat, BSN Perbankan Islam, CIMB 

Islamic, Citibank Islamic Banking, EONCap Islamic Bank, Hong Leong Islamic Bank, HSBC 

Amanah, Kuwait Finance House, Maybank Islamic Banking, OCBC Islamic Banking, Public 

Bank Islamic Banking, RHB Islamic Bank, and Standard Chartered Islamic Banking.  
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Table 1: Products of Islamic Banking 

 

No Type Islamic concept Example of Products 

1 Deposit Al-Wadiah Yad-Dhamanah Saving Account 

Current Account 

2 Investment Mudharabah (profit sharing) Investment Account 

Fixed Deposit 

Saving Account 

3 Loan Ijarah Thumma Bai’  Leasing 

Hire purchase 

4 Loan Bai’ Al-Inah  Personal Loan 

5 Loan Bai’ Bithaman Ajil (installment) Home financing 

6 Loan Istisna’(Progress payment) Project Financing 

7 Loan Wakalah (agency) & Murabahah (cost 

increase profit)  

Cash line facilities 

 

8 Loan Ijarah  Leasing 

9 Loan Musyarakah (join venture) Home financing 

10 Loan/Deposit Wakalah & Hibah (Gift) 

 

Saving Account 

11 Loan Kafalah (collateral) Hire purchase 

 
Source: e-Muamalat (http://www.islam.gov.my/muamalat) 

 

 

Differences between Islamic Banking and Conventional Banking 
 

Islamic banking has different substantial characteristics as compared to the conventional 

banking. First, fundamentally, the Islamic concept is from God (Allah) while the conventional 

banking concept is created by human thinking. Hence, Muslims view Islamic banking is the 

right way because it is rooted from the Quran. Moreover, this belief has led to other Islamic 

concepts such as submission to God, faith & taqwa, responsibility, and fairness. Note that profit 

is not the ultimate goal of the Islamic banking.  

 

Secondly, the governance and operations (process) of Islamic banking have also significant 

differences. Figure 1 and Table 2 illustrates these main differences in terms of the governance 

and operations.  

http://www.islam.gov.my/muamalat
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Figure 1: Differences between Islamic Banking and Conventional Banking 
 

 

Table 2: Differences between Islamic Banking and Conventional Banking 

 
 Perspectives Islamic Banking Conventional Banking 

1 Monitoring The activities will be monitored 

by the Shari’ah Advisory 

Board/Audit. 

There is no Shari’ah 

Advisory Board/Audit. 

2 Shari’ah-compliance Transactions are based on the 

Shari’ah principles 

There is no need to follow 

the Shari’ah principles. 

3 Excess is profit, not riba Profit is the result of buying and 

selling contract and profit 

sharing/investment. Riba 

(interest) is not allowed. 

Profit-oriented where 

interest is treated as the 

excess/ income from the 

loan.   

4 Customer relationship The relationship is developed 

from the banking transaction, 

investment or profit sharing 

between the bank and the 

customer. 

The relationship of lender 

and borrower is developed 

from the loan transaction.  

5 Late payment fee The charge is based on the actual 

cost or 1% as set by Bank Negara 

Malaysia (as compensation). 

The charge is not based on 

the actual cost. The fee is 

compounded, which may 

result in increasing debt.   

6 Zakat The bank needs to pay zakat. The bank does not need to 

pay zakat. 

7 Islamic Dakwah (preaching) The bank is responsible to preach 

the society about Islamic 

banking.  

The bank is not responsible 

for Islamic preaching. 

8 Aqad 

 

The operation is founded from 

the Shari’ah-oriented aqad 

(contract) between the bank and 

the customer.  

The operation is not 

founded from Shari’ah-

oriented aqad and many 

involve in the interest-

oriented loan.  

1. Monitoring

2. Syariah 
compliance

3. Excess is 
profit not riba

4. Customer 
relationship

5. Late 
payment fees

6. Zakat

7. Dakwah

8. Aqad

 

Governance 

and 

Operations 
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PEOPLE MANAGEMENT IN BUSINESS PROCESS REENGINEERING 

(BPR) OF ISLAMIC BANK 

 

Previous section shows that Islamic banks indeed have additional or even completely different 

operational processes as compared to the conventional banks. This, in turn, would likely to 

affect the business process reengineering as well. In other words, any project of radical 

improvement in the process in the Islamic banks must be Shari’ah-compliant as well. For 

example, the changes in the products offered should be referred to the Shari’ah Advisory Board 

for compliance assessment.  

The success of a BPR project depends on various factors. These factors can be categorized as 

hard and soft factors. Examples of the hard factors would include technology, organizational 

structure, and project management. The soft side, on the other hand, is concerning the human 

aspect in the organization, which is the focus of this paper. It has been noted that human factors 

or culture contribute to the success of quality programs (Rad, 2006). This section highlights the 

best practices of BPR for Islamic banks related to people management, namely:  

(1) management of change, and (2) top management commitment. 

 

Management of change 

 

Reengineering is not downsizing, restructuring, or automation. Reengineering eliminates 

works, not jobs or people. It is concerned with how work is done not how organizations are re-

structured. Reengineering enables processes to be re-designed, rather than providing a new 

mechanism for performing old ones. This, in turn, results in major or drastic changes in an 

organization.   

Due to BPR, organizations must change, and this change must be properly managed. Change 

management can be referred to as a practice of an organization in aligning the changes of 

organizational activities in order to keep abreast of challenges and for meeting the needs of 

customers (Moran & Brightman, 2000). Change management is the discipline of managing 

process. These changes in the organization should be managed by the leader or manager by 

incorporating the employees into the process to achieve a positive goal. 
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Unfortunately, not all changes can be accepted by employees. In fact, resistance to change is 

the main factor why many BPR projects fail (Marjanovic, 2000). Hence, people management 

is substantial. Most improvement projects underestimate the cultural impact of the major 

process and structural change, and, as a result, do not achieve the full potential of their change 

effort. 

Therefore, before any changes are made, the banks should measure the organizational readiness 

to change. BPR is a highly risky initiative. Lack of comprehensive examination of the current 

organizational readiness would likely to result in BPR failure.  Among human-related indicators 

to assess readiness may include egalitarian leadership, collaborative working environment, top 

management commitment, supportive management system, and resistance to change 

(Adolvand, Albadvi, & Ferdowsi, 2008). 

Resistance to changes in organizations can be overcome through best practices such as reward 

and motivation, effective communication, conducive organizational culture, stimulating 

receptivity to change, employee empowerment, human involvement, and training and education 

(Ringim, 2012). Based on the above discussion, this study hypothesized that: 

H1a: Change Management has a positive significant effect on the organizational 

performance in terms of educating individuals. 

 

H1b: Change Management has a positive significant effect on the organizational 

performance in terms of establishing justice. 

 

H1c: Change Management has a positive significant effect on the organizational 

performance in terms of public interest.  

 

Top Management Commitment 

 

Secondly, people management also relates to the behaviour and attitude of the top management 

of the bank.  It is the most evident that managerial practice directly affects the success of the 

organization (Guimaraes & Bond, 1996). The commitment from the top management and 

effective leadership will ensure that employees contribute towards the successful achievement 
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in the organizational performance. A lack of commitment from the top management in 

organizations may result in BPR failure.  

 

As mentioned earlier, egalitarian leadership and top management commitment are the key 

success factors for a BPR project (Adolvand, Albadvi, & Ferdowsi, 2008).Egalitarian 

leadership means that top management should have a shared vision, open communication, 

confidence and trust in subordinates, and constructive use of subordinates’ ideas. They should 

provide a clear direction or vision in order to help BPR team members to be directed towards 

the desired results (Sung & Gibson, 1998).  

 

Meanwhile, the top management commitment reflects the knowledge of the top management 

about the BPR project, the expectation of the BPR results, and communication with other 

employees. They should have enough knowledge of the project, a realistic expectation of the 

results, and frequent communication. If they do not provide strong and consistent support, most 

likely, one of these three elements (money, resources, or leadership) will not be present over 

the life of the project and will severely cripple the chances for success. It may be true that 

consultants and reengineering managers are responsible for BPR, as most current models of re-

designing business processes use staff functions and consultants as the change agents, and often 

the targeted organizations are not inviting the change. Without top management sponsorship, 

implementation efforts can be strongly resisted and ineffective. 

The above argument leads to the following hypothesis of the study: 

H2a: Top Management Commitment has a positive significant effect on the 

organizational performance in terms of educating individuals. 

 

H2b: Top Management Commitment has a positive significant effect on the 

organizational performance in terms of establishing justice. 

 

H2c: Top Management Commitment has a positive significant effect on the 

organizational performance in terms of public interest.  
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METHODOLOGY 

 

This study used the quantitative approach to achieve its objectives. It was exploratory in nature 

due to the new area in the Islamic banking performance, especially in Malaysia (Sekaran & 

Bougie, 2013). This was also a cross-sectional survey where questionnaire was used as the 

research instrument to answer the hypothesis of the study. Questionnaires were distributed to 

banking HQs by hand as well as emails.  

The unit analysis of this study was at the organizational level. The organization was used as 

unit analysis because it relates to the organizational performance (Sekaran & Bougie, 2013). 16 

Islamic banking HQs were involved in this study. Because of the small populations and to avoid 

bias, four (4) sets of questionnaires were distributed to every bank. The total set of 

questionnaires distributed was 64 sets. It was parallel to other researchers where, they are 

suggested to use multiple respondent to avoid bias, balanced the perspective of BPR variables, 

and concern with negative or positive feeling about the research topic (Cheng & Chiu, 2008; 

Ringim, Razalli & Hasnan, 2012; Ringim, Osman,  Hasnan  & Razalli, 2013; & Sung & Gibson 

1998). From 64 sets of questionnaires, only 42 sets or 65% were returned.  

After the collection of completed questionnaires, the quality control of data from the survey 

was essential as it was a complicated task. In this matter, the researcher needed to ensure that 

all questions were answered. Referring to Hojstrup (1993), it would be very helpful, especially 

for experienced person to simply distinguish the good or bad data with sufficient amount of 

time which obtained from the respondents. From 42 sets, only 35 sets questionnaire was used 

to make an analysis after the process of data cleaning and elimination. 

The Partial Least Squares (PLS), Smartpls version 3.0, was used to analyze the causal 

relationship between exogenous and endogenous variables. Significant value and t-value were 

used to determine the significance of the relationship. The PLS analysis was appropriate 

because it can analyze all paths simultaneously. In addition, the bootstrapping method was used 

to derive the statistical significance. The size of sub-samples to run bootstrapping technique 

was based on the suggestion by Hair, Hult, Ringle and Sarstedt (2014). 
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FINDINGS 

 

Descriptive statistics 

 

Out of the 64 distributed questionnaires, only 35 sets were used for further analysis. The 

descriptive analysis showed that there were 51.4% male and 48.6% female respondents. All 

respondents had a significant experience in the business process projects in their career life in 

the banking sector. These managers also held various positions in banks such as 37.1% as the 

executive director/general manager, 5.7% as the deputy general managers, 40% as the senior 

managers, and the remaining 17.1% as the head of departments. The next sections discuss the 

findings of the study in terms of (1) measurement model and (2) structural model. 

 

Measurement model 

 

Figure 1 shows the overall results of the reflective measurement model. The indicators loadings, 

Composite Reliability (CR) and AVE of the constructs were assessed to establish reliability, 

convergent and discriminant validity of the model. Table 2 shows the results of the analysis. 

Composite reliability is recommended to be higher than 0.7 (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). In the 

case of this study, the CR values for the constructs were all above the recommended 0.7 level. 

The AVE, on the other hand, denotes the amount of variance that a construct captures from its 

indicator relative to the amount due to measurement error (Chin, 1998). The recommended 

critical value for AVE is 0.5 (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). The AVE values were for this model 

also above the recommended value of 0.5 indicating that the measures are capable of explaining 

more than 50% of the variance in constructs. In addition, the convergent validity was also 

assessed through the loadings of each indicator. The standardized loadings should be greater 

than 0.7 (Hair et al., 2014). As shown in Table 2, the loadings for most of the indicators were 

above the 0.7 cut-off point. The indicators which had a lower loadings were retained due to the 

AVE values of the respective construct had met the thresholds.  
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Figure 1: The measurement model for human factors of BPR on the performance of Islamic 

banks. 

 

 

 

Table 2: Convergent validity and reliability of the constructs 
 

 

Latent variable Indicators Loadings AVE CR 

Change Management 

(CM) 

  

  

A3 0.77 0.60 0.82 

A8 0.75     

 A9  0.81     

    

Top Management 

Comitment (TMC) 

  

  

C1 0.82 0.65 0.85 

C2 0.79     

C3   0.83     

C4 0.63   

C5 0.69   

C6 0.71   

C7 0.62   
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Educating Individual 

(EI) 

  

  

  

L1 0.79 0.64 0.88 

L3 0.83     

L5 0.81     

      

Public Interest (PI) L10 0.77  0.62  0.91 

L11 0.72   

L12 0.84   

L7 0.79   

L8 0.83   

L9 0.75   

    

Establishing Justice 

(EJ)  

L13 0.77 0.53 0.89 

L14 0.64   

L16 0.95   

L18 0.81   

 

 

Discriminant validity, on the other hand, was evaluated using the Fornell-Larcker criterion and 

the heterotrait-monotrait (HTMT) ratio (Henseler, Ringle & Sarstedt, 2015). As illustrated in 

Tables 3 and Table 4, discriminant validity was established using the Fornell-Larcker criterion 

such that the square roots of AVE are greater than the off-diagonal elements in the 

corresponding row and column (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). The HTMT ratio was also calculated 

given its high level of accuracy in detecting discriminant validity problems for reflective 

measures (Henseler et al., 2015). The results suggested that discriminant validity was 

established at HTMT.85 which means the values for inter-construct ratio are below 0.85 and 

that the confidence intervals do not contain the value of 1.0 (Henseler et al., 2015). 

 

Table 3: Discriminant validity of constructs 

 

  Change 

Management 

Educating 

Individual 

Establishing 

Justice 

Public 

Interest 

Top 

Management 

Commitment 

Change Management 0.775 
    

Educating Individual 0.572 0.808 
   

Establishing Justice 0.439 0.476 0.801 
  

Public Interest 0.598 0.708 0.414 0.785 
 

Top Management Commitment 0.608 0.459 0.388 0.250 0.729 
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Table 4: Heterotrait-Monotrait Ratio (HTMT) Criterion 

 

  Change 

Management 

Educating 

Individual 

Establishing 

Justice 

Public 

Interest 

Top 

Management 

Commitment 

Change Management 
     

Educating Individual 0.786 
    

Establishing Justice 0.582 0.631 
   

Public Interest 0.732 0.828 0.487 
  

Top Management Commitment 0.789 0.534 0.418 0.269 
 

 

 

 

Structural model 

 

Table 5 shows the multicollinearity assessment on the constructs of the study. The variance 

inflation factor (VIF) values for all constructs were 1.59, which were substantially lower than 

the offending value of 5.0 (Hair et al., 2014) and 3.3. (Diamantopoulos & Siguaw, 2006). The 

results indicate that collinearity is not a concern in the present study. 

 

 

Table 5: Multicollinearity Assessment 

 
  Educating 

Individual 

Establishing 

Justice 

Public 

Interest 

Change Management 1.587 1.587 1.587 

Top Management Commitment 1.587 1.587 1.587 

 

 

 

In assessing the structural model, a 500 bootstrap resampling of the data was performed. Table 

6 depicts the output of the assessment which includes results for path coefficient assessment. 

The results showed that change management was found to be positively and significantly 

related to organizational performance in terms of educating justice (ß=.465, p < .05). Change 

management also was found to be positively related to the performance in terms of public 

interest (ß=.708, p < .01). Hence, H1a and H1c were supported. The rest of hypotheses were 

not supported due to the insignificant relationships found between the constructs.  
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Table 6: Structural model results 

 

  Beta Standar

d Error 

t-

value 

P 

Values 

Decision 

H1a: Change Management -> Educating 

Individual 

0.465 0.225 2.073 0.019 Supporte

d 

H1b: Change Management -> Establishing 

Justice 

0.322 0.215 1.500 0.067 Not 

Supported 

H1c: Change Management -> Public Interest 0.708 0.202 3.502 0.000 Supporte

d 

H2a: Top Management Commitment -> 

Educating Individual 

0.175 0.251 0.698 0.243 Not 

Supported 

H2b: Top Management Commitment -> 

Establishing Justice 

0.192 0.243 0.788 0.216 Not 

Supported 

H2c: Top Management Commitment -> 

Public Interest 

-

0.180 

0.324 0.557 0.289 Not 

Supported 

 

 

Overall, change management and top management commitment explain 35% variance of 

organizational performance in terms of educating individual, 22% in terms of establishing 

justice, and 38% in terms of public interest (Table 7). This model can be considered to achieve 

a substantial level of predictive accuracy (Cohen, 1989).  

 

 

Table 7: R2, Q2, and Effect size (f2) 

 

 R2 Q2 Effect Size f2 

Educating 

Individual 

(EI) 

0.35 0.18  EI EJ PI 

Establishing 

Justice (EJ) 

0.22 0.10 Change 

management 

0.21 0.08 0.51 

Public 

Interest (PI) 

0.38 0.17 Top 

Management 

Commitment 

0.03 0.03 0.03 

 

 

Next, the effect size (f2) was examined to determine the substantive effect of change 

management and top management commitment of each of the organizational performance.  

Cohen’s (1988) computation of effect size was used in which 0.02, 0.15, 0.35 represent small, 

medium and large effects respectively. Change management was found to have medium to 

substantial effect on organizational performance in terms of educating individual (0.21) and 

public interest (0.51). On the other hand, top management had a weak effect on all aspects of 

organizational performance. 
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To assess the predictive relevance (Q2) of the model, the cross-validated redundancy approach 

using the blindfolding procedure with an omission distance of 6 was deployed. The predictive 

relevance value of EI (0.18), EJ (0.1), and PI (0.17), which were larger than 0, indicated that 

the model had predictive relevance with regard to reflective endogenous construct (Hair et al, 

2014).  

 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

Discussion  

 

In general, business process management has a significant relationship with the organizational 

performance (Ahmad, Francis, & Zairi, 2007; Cheng & Chiu, 2008; Khong & Richardson, 

2003; Ringim, Razalli, & Hasnan, 2012). This particular study is in line with those findings. As 

a matter of fact, we have found that change management is an important key determinant for 

business process improvement in banks in Malaysia. Our findings show that change 

management leads to better performance in terms of aspects of the Maqasid Al-Shariah, namely 

educating individual as well as public interest. These results are new contributions, as most of 

the previous studies have focused on organizational performance from the perspective of 

financial and non-financial performances.  

Additionally, change management is about activities implemented to adapt to any change in the 

organization. It is also about initiatives taken to make people change to the new organizational 

processes. This study highlights the importance of managing people’s resistance in order to 

make them more receptive to changes in an organization. To succeed in the change management 

program, organizations should also focus on people management as well as the leadership 

commitment towards the change. Organizational culture also plays an important role in 

ensuring appropriate change is taking place in an organization.     

This study is the extension of past studies on the success factor of BPR implementation and 

bank’s performance. However, this study specifically examines the performance from the 

perspective of Maqasid Al Shari’ah. This study focuses on findings that show the influence of 

the human factor of BPR on the performance of Islamic banks.  
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Specifically, the results show that human factor, particularly change management has positive 

effects and significantly related to the performance of Islamic banking. Based on the result, 

Islamic banking should carefully plan and adopt the change management initiatives before 

starting their business process reengineering.  

Limitation 

Several limitations have been pointed out by the researcher. The limitation of the study 

includes: 

• This study only focuses on a survey / questionnaire method without combining it 

with the interview.  

• The study is only focusing on full-fledged Islamic banking and Islamic window 

of conventional banks without involving all of Islamic finance companies. Hence, 

the sample size is small and limited.  

 

Suggestion for future research 

The present study used quantitative techniques and analyzed with a small sample size. In future 

research, we suggest a mixed method study to incorporate the qualitative information about 

business process reengineering. The results of such approach are more meaningful and would 

give a better answer in understanding the relationship. Moreover, future researchers will be able 

to understand the role of Islamic finance companies. 

The findings also raise questions about the role of culture in influencing the performance. One 

particular study in Hong Kong found that customer focus is important (Cheng & Chiu, 2008) 

while in Nigeria (Ringim, Razalli & Hasnan, 2012) and the current study found that top 

management is insignificant. Hence, further research should examine the impact of culture or 

the location of the study.  
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CONCLUSION 

These days, Malaysians either Muslims or non-Muslims are beginning to accept Islamic 

banking as an option for their finance and banking. The increasing demand from customers may 

result in the efficiency of the operations. Hence, many financial institutions start to implement 

business process change in order to be more competitive. There is scant evidence with regard 

to BPR factors in Islamic banks, especially the soft factors. Hence, in this paper, we highlight 

the soft side of BPR, which includes the change management and top management 

commitment. Change management is the critical factor to be focused by management when an 

organization is planning to embark on business process reengineering project.  
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AN EXPERIMENT ON HALAL EXECUTIVE 

TRAINING USING A HALAL SIMULATOR GAME: 

AN OBSERVATION 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Simulation gaming has become a demanding trend in providing educative and interactive ways 

to understand certain procedures in the workplace as well as helping students to have better 

understanding in the classroom in variety disciplines. These changes of learning preferences 

and approaches have become important in order to meet the needs of generation Y (also called 

“millennial”). Generation Y, which is also known as the millennial generation, refers to 

individuals born between 1982 and 2005 (Howell et al., 2009). Other studies such as (Mangold, 

2007; Carver & Candella, 2008; Purdue & Morgan, 2008) also showed that their learning 

process is fundamentally different to previous generations where most of the students prefer to 

work in groups with hands-on experiences and enjoy trial and error procedure.  
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In the case of professional practices on certain procedures, simulation games help to mimic 

actual life situation in view to provide wide array of professional skills (Nassar, 2002).  One-

way communication in normal classroom training setting is no longer interesting especially to 

this millennial group. Furthermore, they do not highly value reading and listening to lectures as 

the norms in traditional education. They expect the learning process to be creative, interactive 

and fun. Millennial have grown up with technology as a central part of their lives, and most 

have used the internet and computers throughout their education. Because they have grown up 

in this environment, millennial may require a more interactive and stimulating approach to 

learning than a traditional teaching approach could offer. Thus, the use of simulation games has 

been evidenced as a highly effective teaching approach which provides a unique way to 

reinforce the theory discussed in the classroom environment (Frazer, 1975). 

 

Simulation game is not a substitute for more formal approaches in explaining the theories and 

method; however, it complements these approaches.  The integration between these approaches 

and simulation game would produce an effective teaching method.  In this paper we discuss 

simulation game in general and survey the Halal-specific simulator game. The objective of this 

paper is to empirically test whether by employing this Halal simulator which is using a board 

game concept can be used as an educational tool for learning in halal-related industry players 

specifically for the processes involved in acquiring Halal certification.  Whether or not this 

Halal simulator could improve their understand ability in the subject matter, this study will 

prove it. 
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LITERATURE REVIEW 

A board game can be defined as a tabletop game that involves counters or pieces moved or 

placed on a pre-marked surface or "board", according to a set of rules (Wikipedia). The aim of 

each game can vary depending whether it is based on pure strategy, chance or a mixture of the 

two. Games are enjoyable and interactive, and learners respond naturally to this type of learning 

dynamics. Playing games can be useful for students as they acquire skills, which may not 

otherwise be taught. It has been accepted that in spite of the element of chance, business games 

polish the players' entrepreneurial skills as they learn to deal with incomplete information, 

predict rival's strategies and understand human psychology (Johnson, 2013).  

However, the usage of games as learning tools may not be acceptable to all. Some might 

consider games as not serious and informal ways in teaching students. Nonetheless, previous 

studies have shown the effectiveness of games as teaching tools for students (Sandford, et al., 

2006; Hays, 2005; Hergeth & Jones, 2003). O’Leary (2005) found that a group of medical 

students that used Jeopardy group (games) reported higher levels of faculty/student interaction, 

enjoyment of the class format and engagement in class content. The students described this 

method as a ‘‘fun and rewarding’’ way to conduct a review session. Others have used a 

commercially available board game in a marketing classroom to improve the students’ skills 

(Hays, 2005). In each of these different disciplines, the students enjoyed the change in class 

format and felt that the games enhanced their learning.  

In study conducted by Kennedy et al. (2004), found that more than 70% of the students who 

played the interactive board game felt that it helped with their learning to counsel geriatric 

patients. Whereas in Roche et al. (2004) and Patel (2008), the findings revealed that the students 

enjoyed the subject and more than 60% felt it enhanced their classroom learning. For the 

purpose of this study, we propose the following research hypothesis: Players involved in 

playing a board game will experience greater levels of understanding the subject matter. 
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MALAYSIA’S HALAL CERTIFICATION 

Malaysia is the only country in the world whereby the government provides full support in 

promoting the Halal Certification process on products and services. Halal certification bodies 

in other countries are either developed by individual provinces or states or backed by their non-

governmental organizations (NGOs). 

Halal Certification provides assurance to all Muslim consumers because it fulfils the Shariah 

law, which is a must for Muslims. To the non-Muslims, Halal products are quality products, 

simply due to the concept of halalan thoyyiban (Halal and wholesome) as Halal Industry 

Development Corporation (HDC) strongly advises all Halal certification applicants to comply 

with GMP and HACCP requirements. Thus, products certified Halal by JAKIM are Halal 

products which are safe to consume or use, nutritious and with quality. 

Department of Islamic Development Malaysia (JAKIM) is the competent authority being 

responsible for halal certification in Malaysia.  The responsibility of JAKIM is to ascertain the 

halal status of the products involved not only on the official site inspection of plants but also 

on the examination on how the halal status of the raw material is maintained and monitored at 

all times. 

The Malaysian certification procedures and both the Malaysian Halal Standards MS1500:2009 

and MS2200: Part 1:2008 are continuously utilized because they have received widespread 

recognition for maintaining excellence in the field of Halal-compliance. As a result, the 

Malaysia’s Halal Logo is recognized and well-accepted worldwide. 
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Halal Simulator Game: Halal Universe: Farm to Fork 

Halal Universe: Farm to Fork is one unique innovation in the form of board game simulation 

about the process of acquiring halal certification from JAKIM. This game represents the actual 

scenario and exposes the players to some contemporary issues related to administration of 

JAKIM’s halal certification. It offers the players certain level of awareness and understanding 

on the halal certification process focusing on 3 main areas on administration of halal 

certification, business administration and philanthropic activities such as donation, sadaqah and 

waqaf. 

Halal Universe: Farm to Fork will also provide the players with the actual hands on experience 

on halal certification process as well as current business administration. It is not only an added 

value to the existing process of halal certification; this game simulator would be able to increase 

the halal administration process to the highest level of efficiency. It makes the processes more 

organized and will help to reduce some inefficiency cost. 

Halal development in Maldives. 

The republic of Maldives, an archipelago situated in the Indian Ocean, consists of 1,190 islands 

had set its popularity as a major tourist destination. Only 195 islands are inhabited and about 

90 have been developed as tourist resorts. During the visit by former Prime Minister of 

Malaysia, Datuk Sri Najib to Maldives in December 2017, he was so amazed that Maldives had 

succeeded beyond expectations and had been able to bring in some big names to operate hotels 

in the island nation and set its popularity tourist destination.  Thus, he was so keen to team up 

with Maldives government on Halal industry since Malaysia’s halal certification had become 

the global benchmark. 

Maldives aspires to become an Islamic finance and halal industry hub in South Asia and is 

currently developing the infrastructure required. As part of the vision of His Excellency 

President Yameen Abdul Gayyoom’s government, soon a financial district in the newly 

reclaimed land of Hulhumale’ will be developed focusing on Islamic finance.  Hence, we found 

that it is very crucial to conduct a study on Halal management system as to be part of helping 

them in achieving their objectives of becoming an Islamic finance and halal industry hub in 

South Asia. 
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RESEARCH METHOD 

This present study employed the utilisation of primary data which was collected via a focus 

group that consists of 7 halal industry players from Republic of Maldives. The players age range 

between 25 and 40 years old during the focus group session.   

Before the halal simulator games were introduced, the players were asked to complete a pre-

test questionnaire. It was explained to them that filling out the questionnaire were mandatory. 

They were asked to provide their demographic information such as age, gender, number of 

years working in the industry, their current position as well as how many halal training have 

they attended so far.  

The questionnaires were set based on the Malaysian scenario to be replicated in 

Maldives.Survey questionnaires consisted questions regarding the player’s level of 

understanding about general requirements on halal administration, registration and licensing. 

All items were measured by asking respondents in the form of true and false structure.   

At the end of game session, the players were required to fill in the post-test questionnaire. It 

was also mandatory for the players to answer the questions. The objective waste test their 

understanding on halal adminstration and halal certification processes before and after playing 

the game. 
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RESULT AND DISCUSSION 

For this pilot study, the respondents are from the Republic of Maldives, and most of them are 

below 35 years old. All of them are well educated and have a good salary in their home country 

as summarized in Table 1. 

 

Table 1: Descriptive Demographic 

Demographics and background questions Descriptive Frequency 

Gender Male 6 

Female 1 

Age Below 30 years old 2 

30-35 years old 3 

Above 36 years old 2 

Highest Education  Diploma 1 

Degree/Master 4 

Professional/PhD 2 

 

 

The respondents were also asked whether they like playing board games, which only 4 

respondents indicate their likeness for board games. All of them except one have halal training 

as shown in Table 2. 

 

Table 2: Halal Training and board games 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Questions Answer  Frequency 

Have you had any halal training before? Yes 1 

 No 6 

Do you like playing board games? Yes 4 

 No 3 
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The respondents were also being exposed to several questions related to the time, rules and their 

overall knowledge on halal after playing the board games. The respective answers are shown 

in Table 3. All except one respondent agreed that the name is suitable for this board game. They 

(5 respondents) also agreed that the time allocated to play the game is adequate. Overall the 

game is fairly easy to understand and this also account to the rules and regulation attached to 

the game. Most importantly most of them agreed that their knowledge on halal is improved 

after playing the game. 

The next series of questions in the questionnaires concentrated on the halal management 

processes and procedures by JAKIM. These processes were divided into 7 elements; 

 

1. The registration and license of the business  

2.  Halal Certification and Standardization 

3.  General Requirements-Factory, Processing & Food Premise 

4.  General Requirements-Worker Personal & Basic Amenities & Welfare 

5.  General Requirements-Halal Record, Tools & Element of Worship 

6.  General Requirements-Sanitation System 

7.  General Requirements-Training, Supervision & Monitoring 

 

 

Table 3: Board Games  

 

Questions Answer  Frequency 

Do you think the name reflects the simulator? Agree 1 

 Disagree 6 

The time allocated is adequate Agree 5 

 Disagree 2 

The rules and regulations is easy to understand Agree 5 

 Disagree 2 

The game in general easy to understand Agree 6 

 Disagree 1 

My knowledge on halal is improved after 

playing the game  

Agree 6 

 Disagree 1 
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These questions are related to the process of getting the halal certification and also the audit 

process by JAKIM in Malaysia. All these questions were construed using the JAKIM manual 

and were given to the respondents to measure the level of understanding of these procedures.  

 

Due to the limited number of respondents of 7, a statistical testing will not be able to be 

performed as the conditions of at least 30 respondents are required. As a result, this study only 

performed descriptive analysis. This study is important to the researchers as to evaluate the 

effectiveness of the board game in imparting knowledge to the players. In other word, this 

simulation could shed some light on whether the board games can really help them in the 

understanding of JAKIM Halal Certifications and procedures. 

In table 3, most respondents agreed that the board improved their understanding on halal 

training. This result is further supported by the specific 7 elements as stated above. Many simple 

questions such as questions 4, 9, 13 and 15 have shown that there was no effect after playing 

the game. This result is rather predictable. 

Nonetheless, many questions have shown the number of respondents that displayed 

understanding slightly increased after playing the game as shown from the questions 1, 2, 12 

and 14. 

 

Table 4: Results on JAKIM processes and procedures 

 

Processes and 

procedures 

Questions Freq   

Pre 

Test 

Freq   

Post-

test 

 

 

 

 

1. Registration 

and License 

Question 1:  

The applicant for Malaysian Halal Certification must 

register with the Companies Commission of 

Malaysia (SSM) before submitting their application 

6 7 

Question 2 

The applicant could be partially operated to qualify 

for Malaysian Halal Certification 

 

4 5 
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Question 3 

It is not a compulsory for the applicant for Malaysian 

Halal Certification to hold a business license from 

the Local Authorities (PBT) 

5 4 

 

 

2. Halal 

Certification 

and 

Standardization 

Question 4 

The ingredients sourced from animal used in making 

the Halal product must have valid Halal certificate 

7 7 

Question 5 

Every packaging label is not be necessary to be 

printed with Malaysia Halal Logo with the Malaysia 

Standard (MS) number as long as the Halal 

certificate already received from JAKIM 

6 6 

3. General 

Requirements-

Factory, 

Processing & 

Food Premise 

Question 6 

The preparation, handling, processing, packaging, 

storage or transfer of products shall be in compliance 

to requirements by the Shariah law and remain clean 

but not necessary comply to Good Manufacturing 

Practices (GMP)/ Good Hygienic Practices (GHP) 

4 3 

Question 7 

Appliances/ brushes from animal hair are allowed 

3 3 

Question 8 

Workers are allowed to live in the same building of 

the factory or factory compound if they comply to 

health and safety requirements 

4 4 

4. General 

Requirements-

Worker 

Personal & 

Basic 

Amenities & 

Welfare 

Question 9 

Workers shall practice code of ethics and Good 

Hygienic Practices (GHP) as stated in the Food 

Hygiene Regulations 2009 and other related 

regulations 

 

7 7 

 

Question 10 

It is not a requirement that the management to 

6 6 
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CONCLUSION 

The data obtained from the pilot study indicated that the use of halal simulator games in 

exploring new experience for better understanding in the whole process of halal administration 

and halal certification is a success. The result has proved that all the players have shown better 

performance in terms of understanding the process flows of halal administration and 

certification compared to before they play the simulator game.  

provide basic amenities such as prayer place 

5. General 

Requirements-

Halal Record, 

Tools & 

Element of 

Worship 

Question 11 

Applicant shall provide a proper file to keep related 

documents which can be referred to when inspection 

is conducted 

7 7 

Question 12 

Tool and elements of worship are allowed if it is not 

the processing area 

4 7 

6. General 

Requirements-

Sanitation 

System 

Question 13 

It is not necessary for the applicant to have records 

of regular pest control system conducted by the 

company or contracted externally as long as the 

environment is clean and free from pollution 

6 6 

7. General 

Requirements-

Training, 

Supervision & 

Monitoring 

Question 14 

The management shall ensure that all workers 

attended halal related training 

5 6 

Question 15 

The management shall ensure the supervision and 

monitoring of Halal Assurance System is well 

recorded with reference to the HAS 2011 

7 7 



308 

 

REFERENCES 

 

Carver, L., & Candela, L. (2008). Attaining organizational commitment across different generations of 

nurses. Journal of nursing management, 16(8), 984-991. 

Frazer, R. (1975). Business Decision Simulator. Reston Publishing Company, VA: A Preston Hall 

Company, 125-135. 

Grady, S. E., Vest, K. M., & Todd, T. J. (2013). Student attitudes toward the use of games to promote 

learning in the large classroom setting. Currents in pharmacy teaching and learning, 5(4), 263-

268. 

Hair, J.F, Black, W.C., Babin, B.J. & Anderson, R.E. (2010). Multivariate Data Analysis (7thEd.). 

Eaglewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall. 

Hays, R. T. (2005). The effectiveness of instructional games: A literature review and discussion. Naval 

Air Warfare Center Training Systems Division.  

Hergeth, H. H., & Jones, M. R. (2003). Board games and teaching textile marketing and finance. 

Developments in Business Simulation and Experiential Learning, 30, 126-130. 

Howell, L. P., Joad, J. P., Callahan, E., Servis, G., & Bonham, A. C. (2009). Generational forecasting 

in academic medicine: a unique method of planning for success in the next two 

decades. Academic Medicine, 84(8), 985-993. 

Johnson, L. (2013, September 3). Games we play make us better at work. Financial Times. Retrieved 

from https://www.ft.com/content/5f7fdf7e-13cf-11e3-b0b4-00144feabdc0 

Kennedy, D. H., Fanning, K. D., & Thornton, P. L. (2004). The age game: an interactive tool to 

supplement course material in ageriatricselective.American Journal of Pharmaceutical 

Education, 68(5), 115. 

Khan, A. and Pearce, G. (2015). A study into the effects of a board game on flow in undergraduate 

business students. The International Journal of Management Education, 13(3), 193-201. 

Mangold K. (2007). Educating a new generation: teaching baby boomer faculty about millennial 

students. Nurse Educator, 32(1), 21–23.  

Nassar, K. (2002). Simulation gaming in construction: ER, the equipment replacement game. Journal 

of Construction Education, 7(1), 16-30. 

O'Leary, S., Diepenhorst, L., Churley-Strom, R., & Magrane, D. (2005). Educational games in an 

obstetrics and gynecology core curriculum. American Journal of Obstetrics and 

Gynecology, 193(5), 1848-1851. 

Pardue, K. T., & Morgan, P. (2008). Millennials considered: a new generation, new approaches, and 

implications for nursing education. Nursing Education Perspectives, 29(2), 74-79. 

Patel, J. (2008). Using game format in small group classes for pharmacotherapeutics case 

studies. American journal of pharmaceutical education, 72(1), 21. 

Roche, V. F., Alsharif, N. Z., & Ogunbadeniyi, A. M. (2004). Reinforcing the relevance of chemistry to 

the practice of pharmacy through the Who Wants to Be a Med Chem Millionaire? Learning 

Game. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 68(5), 116. 

Sandford, R., Ulicsak, M., & Facer, K. (2006). Teaching with Games: using computer games in formal 

education. Futurelab, Bristo

https://www.ft.com/content/5f7fdf7e-13cf-11e3-b0b4-00144feabdc0


309 

 

 

 

 


	Part 1
	Part 2
	Part 3
	Part 4

